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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, or Form 10-K, @ins “forward-looking statements” within the meamiof Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, dExisbange Act, which are subject to the “safe hdrb@ated by that section. The forward-
looking statements in this Form 10-K are contaipgdcipally under “Item 1. Business,” “Item 1A. Rifactors” and “Item 7. Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &websults of Operations.” In some cases, you cartifgdarward-looking statements by the
following words: “may,” “will,” “could,” “would,” “ should,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “anticipate,™believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “project,”
“potential,” “continue,” “ongoing” or the negative these terms or other comparable terminologhoalyh not all forward-looking statements
contain these words. These statements involve, nisicertainties and other factors that may causactual results, levels of activity,
performance or achievements to be materially difiefrom the information expressed or implied bgstn forward-looking statements.
Although we believe that we have a reasonable ias&ach forward-looking statement contained is Borm 10-K, we caution you that these
statements are based on a combination of factéaatals currently known by us and our projectiohthe future, about which we cannot be
certain. These forward-looking statements inclimg,are not limited to, statements concerning tiewwing:

” ” w ” w ” ” ” o

* our expectations regarding the results andithiag of clinical trials in our development of RTDfor the treatment of crow’s feet
lines, hyperhidrosis or other indications;

* our expectations regarding the results andithiag of clinical trials of RT002 for the treatmenitglabellar lines, movement disorders
or other indications;

* our expectations regarding our future developmé&RT®01 and RT002 for other indications, includihgrapeutic indication

» our expectation regarding the timing of our degary submissions for approval of RTOO01 for treatment of crow’s feet lines in the
United States, Europe and other countries or &attnent of hyperhidrosis in the United States;

» the potential for commercialization of RT001 and0RZ, if approved, by u

* our expectations regarding the potential maskag, opportunity and growth potential for RTOOH &T002, if approved for
commercial use;

e our belief that RTO01 and RT002 can expand theadMeotulinum toxin marke

e our ability to build our own sales and marketaagpabilities, or seek collaborative partners idirig distributors, to commercialize our
product candidates, if approved;

e our ability to transfer manufacturing from thjpdrties to our facility and to scale up our mantifeing capabilities if our product
candidates are approved,;

» estimates of our expenses, future revenue, capijairements and our needs for additional finan

» the timing or likelihood of regulatory filings aragpprovals

e our ability to advance product candidates into, suctessfully complete, clinical trie

« the implementation of our business model, stratplgins for our business, product candidates arfthtdogy

» the initiation, timing, progress and results offet preclinical studies and clinical trials, and cesearch and development progre

» the scope of protection we are able to establighmaintain for intellectual property rights comg our product candidates and
technology;

» our ability to establish collaborations or obtadd#ional funding

* our expectations regarding the time during whighwill be an emerging growth company under thrapstart Our Business Startups
Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act;

» our financial performance; a

» developments and projections relating to our coitgrstand our industr

In addition, you should refer to “Item 1A. Risk Fais” in this Form 10-K for a discussion of thes& ather important factors that may cause
our actual results to differ materially from thaseressed or implied by our forward-looking statataeAs a result of these factors, we cannof
assure you that the forward-looking statementhimForm 10-K will prove to be accurate. Furthereaf our forward-looking statements
prove to be inaccurate, the inaccuracy may be mhtér light of the significant uncertainties ingse forward-looking statements, you should
not regard these statements as a representatiwar@anty by us or any other person that we willi@eh our objectives and plans in any
specified time frame, or at all. Also, forward-ldg statements represent our estimates and asansoinly as of the date of this Form 10-K.
We undertake no obligation to publicly update amard-looking statements, whether as a resuleof mformation, future events or
otherwise, except as required by law.
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PART |

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

Revance Therapeutics, Inc. is a clinical-stageiafigiopharmaceutical company focused on the bgreent, manufacturing and
commercialization of novel botulinum toxin produéis multiple aesthetic and therapeutic indicatiovg are leveraging our proprietary
portfolio of botulinum toxin type A compounds, coméd with our patented TransMTS® peptide deliverstem to address unmet needs in
large and growing neurotoxin markets. Our proprief@aansMTS technology enables delivery of botutmtoxin type A through two novel
dose formulations, topical product candidate RT&0d injectable product candidate RT002. We areymngsclinical development for RT001
and RT002 in a broad spectrum of aesthetic andleertic indications. We hold worldwide rights fdrindications of RT001, RT002 and our
TransMTS technology platform.

RTO001 has the potential to be the first commergiallailable non-injectable dose form. We are stuglyopical RTOO1 for aesthetic
indications, such as crow's feet lines (wrinklezuad the eyes, also known as lateral canthal liaed)therapeutic indications such as
hyperhidrosis (excessive sweating). RT002 is a havjectable formulation of botulinum toxin desigghto be more targeted and longer lasting
than currently available injectable botulinum topimducts. We are studying injectable RT002 fottesti indications, such as glabellar
(frown) lines and therapeutic uses, such as musoleement and other disorders. Both products woale lthe potential to expand into
additional aesthetic and therapeutic indicatiorthefuture.

We are developing and plan to commercialize RT@dirfdications where topical application providem@aningful advantage over
injectable administration. We are evaluating RT00& broad clinical program that includes aesthietiécations such as lateral canthal lines
and therapeutic indications such as hyperhidrosiexcessive sweating, and chronic migraine headd@®h001 has the potential to be the first
approved non-injectable botulinum toxin producttfoe treatment of crow's feet lines. RTprimary advantages may include painless to
administration, ease of use and limited dependena@dministration technique by physicians and maeditaff. We believe these advantages
should improve the experience of patients undeggbwtulinum toxin procedures and make RT001 moitalse for many more indications
than currently approved injectable botulinum topinducts.

The first indications we are pursuing are in theddfiof dermatology. If approved, we believe RT0@h expand the overall botulinum
toxin aesthetic market by appealing to new patieiits would prefer a needle-free approach to treatmiehe aesthetic dermatology market is
attractive because we believe that patients innttsigket tend to be open to trying new productsaredwilling to pay for aesthetic procedures
out of pocket, reducing reliance on reimbursem@fe.are focused on this market not only becausts gize and growth potential but also
because, in the United States and Europe, thisehaak be easily accessed by a specialty sales &mat distributor network.

We are in a Phase 3 development program of RTOBIbith America for the treatment of crow’s feeteli Following the successful
completion of an open label clinical trial desigriedest the efficacy of our RTO01 drug productha first half of 2015, we expect to
commence a pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial of RT@@1l report efficacy data from this Phase 3 studirénsecond half of 2015. To date, we hav
conducted sixteen clinical trials with RT0O01 foettieatment of crow's feet lines, with a total @€01,500 subjects.

We are also developing RT001 for therapeutic apfibos where botulinum toxin has shown efficacy drat are particularly well suited
for needle-free treatments. We have successfuliypbeted initial Phase 2 clinical trials for theatment of primary axillary, or underarm,
hyperhidrosis, and for the prevention of chronigraine headache. We expect to initiate and repsttlis of an additional clinical trial for the
treatment of hyperhidrosis in the second half df®20

We are developing RT002, an injectable formulatbbotulinum toxin type A, for indications whereageer delivery of the botulinum
toxin is required and a longer lasting effect isiced. We believe RT002 can provide more targe&didery of botulinum toxin to intended
treatment sites while reducing the unwanted spoédtulinum toxin to adjacent areas. We believe] aur preclinical and clinical studies
indicate, that this targeted delivery, enabled byproprietary peptide technology, may permit safministration of higher doses of botulinum
toxin and can result in longer lasting effect. WWadndemonstrated these properties in preclinicalies and have tested RT002 in a foahort,
dose escalating, open-label Phase 1/2 clinicdlduitside of the United States for the treatmerdlabellar lines, the vertical lines between the
eyebrows and above the nose. Data from this clitvied indicated that RT002 is well-tolerated agfficacious at all four doses. We also
reported duration of effect of seven months fromltst cohort of this trial, the only one whereadiam of effect was measured. Based upor
results to date, we are further developing RT002He treatment of glabellar lines and have
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initiated BELMONT, a Phase 2 active comparatoricéihtrial against the market leader BOTOX® Cosmdti addition, we plan to study
RTO002 in therapeutic indications already approwdibtulinum toxin, such as muscle movement dissrdehich account for a large
proportion of neurotoxin therapeutic sales glohallpng with other therapeutic uses.

The Botulinum Toxin Market

Botulinum toxin is a protein and neurotoxin prodditey Clostridium botulinum Since 1989 botulinum toxin in an injectable dfgen
has been used to treat a variety of aestheticlardpeutic indications in the United States. Botuti toxin has been approved for a variety of
therapeutic indications including cervical dystonipper limb spasticity, blepharospasm, strabisasseciated with neurological movement
disorders, hyperhidrosis, migraine headache andt rroently, overactive bladder conditions. Inltheted States, botulinum toxin has been
approved to treat two aesthetic indications, glabéhes and lateral canthal lines, although wigele that botulinum toxin is widely used for
other aesthetic indications. Only three productiergan’s Botox® Cosmetic, Ipsen and Galderma’s Dysportand Merz's Xeomi® , each
of which is delivered in an injectable form, haweh approved for the treatment of glabellar limethé United States.

According to Global Industry Analysts, Inc. (GlAhe global market for botulinum toxin is estimatede $3 billion in 2014 and has an
estimated compound growth rate of 11.3% from 2@13020, reaching $5.6 billion by the end of thisalte. The market is split into aesthetic
($1.3 billion in 2014) and therapeutic indicatidqf4.7 billion in 2014). We expect continued growftthe botulinum toxin market to be driven
by new indications and product launches in new ggages. According to the National Library of Medig, there are over 100 active clinical
trials for a wide range of uses of botulinum toxirth more than one-third of these identified aggen Phase 3 clinical development. While
we are unaware of any clinical trials for poteryi@lompetitive topical products that may reachrieket before RT001, it is possible that
clinical trials for such potentially competitivepical products have occurred or are occurring.

The Opportunity for Botulinum Toxins for Aesthetimdications

Today'’s culture places significant value on phyisiggearance, leading to widespread adoption dfagitg and aesthetic treatments.
The aesthetic market has grown dramatically inlthiéed States, driven by a large population of comsrs who are looking to delay signs of
aging and improve general appearance.

Injectable botulinum toxin treatments are the srigtgest cosmetic procedure in the United Statdgtze rest of the world. According to
the American Society for Aesthetic Plastic SurgeryASAPS, a strong consumer preference for nogisailroptions and the increasing
availability of effective alternatives have prongbdoption of non-surgical aesthetic procedurea byoader patient population. These trends
have made non-surgical procedures the primary dof/growth in the aesthetic medicine market, aotiog for 83.5% of the total number of
procedures performed in 2013, per the ASAPS arstatitics. Injectable botulinum toxin was the mostjuently performed non-surgical
procedure in 2013, with 3.8 million proceduresha US, a 16% increase over 2012.

Despite the fact that, according to ASAPS annuisdics, injectable botulinum toxin treatments dialmost doubled in the past ten
years, a significant number of consumers who hageived other cosmetic procedures, such as lasenfaeing and chemical peels, h:
resisted trying an injectable botulinum toxin treaht. GIA estimates that in 2014, clinicians sanestimated $1.3 billion globally on
injectable botulinum toxin for aesthetic procedusssd such spending is expected to grow at a congealiannual growth rate of 10% from
2013 through 2020.

We commissioned consumer-market research in 20festahe RTO01 product concept. As part of théeaech, a third party surveyed
630 women who were 30 years old or older with hbokkincome of $50,000 or higher and who would @ersaesthetic treatments. We
believe these consumers were representative &meillion women in the United States who fit tdesmographic profile. The participants
were recruited and interviewed online. Based ordtita collected:

*  40% of the participants found the RT001 produgeicept either “extremely appealing” or “very appen”

e among those consumers who found the RT001 ptaauncept appealing and had previously receivethetis treatments other
than injectable botulinum toxin treatments (repnéisg 6.6 million women in the United States), 588ted injection and pain
associated with injections, 54% listed aversiohawing a toxin in their bodies, and 52% listed detd maintain natural facial
expressions as one of the reasons for not getijegtable botulinum toxin treatments;

» the participants expected lack of pain (76%) @oc# of bruising (73%) to be the most likely batefrom the RT001 product
concept and also listed these benefits as the tost appealing benefits of the RT001 product concapt
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» the participants most frequently listed price @ treatment (24%) as a potential reason why theymoause RTOO:
According to this research, the three key bartieesntry cited by consumers are:

» desire for a natural look without the “frozerdd associated with injectable treatments, paridylin the delicate eye area where
crow’s feet lines are naturally visible even whéildren and teenagers smile;

* aversion to pain, bruising and other adversasvassociated with needbased treatment; a

» desire not to have a “toxinfijected into their bodie

We commissioned two additional studies in 2009 giire same third party to gauge physician and coesinterest in the RT001
product concept. The first was among 201 physicéamess the range of aesthetic specialties andvaitying level of cosmetic revenue. The
data showed that 82% of these practitioners wénereéxtremely or very interested in using RTOOfhiir practices. This data was consistent
across specialties (79% among dermatologists; 88&hng plastic surgeons) and the range of practiventge dedicated to aesthetic procedt
Additionally, this study showed that 20% of theipats in these offices had received injectable lbuim toxin procedures and that these
physicians would recommend RT001 to 43% of theligpés. The second study was among consumers \idtbua on users of injectable
botulinum toxin products. Among these consumer$p 8aid that they were either extremely or veryrggéed in using RTO01. Importantly,
two-thirds of these consumers said they would afi@i(R to their current injectable treatment reginsggesting incremental usage.

We believe that the botulinum toxin market coulgaxd beyond the current patient base with theduitton of a topical formulation
such as RT001. Based on our market research, @atdamatment would address key consumer barngrsijectable botulinum toxin products.
We believe that a topical treatment could expareduge of botulinum toxin to a wider range of phigsis and allow those physicians who
currently perform botulinum toxin procedures tostioon a larger number of patients. Additionally; msearch indicates that a topical
treatment can improve the profitability of physitapractices by increasing the number of procedpee patient.

Based on feedback from key opinion leaders acradSple aesthetic specialties, we also believe aorers will find a longer lasting,
more targeted injectable botulinum toxin produetferable to those currently available. Based orpoeliminary market research, thought
leaders assert that the greatest unmet need withntly marketed products is a longer-lasting botuh toxin. In 2014, through in-depth one-
on-one meetings and an advisory board, we presémeeldT002 product concept and data from our falect, dose escalating, open label
Phase 1/2 clinical trial for the treatment of glddodines to over 30 physicians across the rarfgeesthetic specialties to gauge interest in the
RT002 product concept. These physicians indictitatithey were very impressed by the clinical datdact, if RTO02 demonstrated similar
results in larger trials, the increased duratioefédéct would cause them to change their treatrhahbits from currently available botulinum
toxins to RT002. While potentially increased safeéitye to decreased spread to adjacent muscles veggpanling benefit in cosmetic
indications, duration of effect would be the prigndriver of adoption in this cosmetic indicationpfoduct that showed meaningful consumer
benefit at six months (as RT002 did where 60% tiEpés still retained “none” or “mild” wrinkle sefity scores) would fit very well into the
current treatment regimen and consumer habits. Bwsumers only come in twice per year for treatrand the longer duration would mean
that they would remain satisfied between treatmekdslitionally, a longer lasting botulinum wouldgit more closely with the duration of
dermal filler treatments which often are administeat the same time as botulinum toxin treatments.

The Opportunity for Botulinum Toxins for Therapeutilndications

While currently approved botulinum toxin productayrbe better known for their aesthetic applicati@sording to GIA, the fastest-
growing segment of the botulinum toxin market ia thnited States and Europe is actually for therap@udications. This growth has been
driven largely by the approval of botulinum toxirogucts in new indications such as preventive tneat of migraine headache in 2010,
urinary incontinence in 2011, and overactive bladd€013. Botulinum toxin’s ability to affect neamuscular junctions, muscle activity or the
release of neuropeptides, neurotransmitters andmadiators in a controlled manner has enabladbttdeveloped and used in a wide range
of therapeutic indications. Botulinum toxin prodsiat their injectable form have been approved fattiple therapeutic indications including:

* hyperhidrosis

» chronic migraine headacl

» urinary incontinence and overactive blad

* movement disorders, such as cervical dystonia apérdimb spasticity; ar

» uncontrolled blinking
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In addition to these approved therapeutic indicetjdotulinum toxin products are being evaluatediirical trials in multiple other
therapeutic indications including acne, rosacei, @akd wound healing, scar reduction, hair losattnents, plantar fasciitis and several
muscular-skeletal conditions.

While botulinum toxin products have been very diferin the treatment of many conditions, therelaniations to the use of the
currently approved products in their injectablarioFFor example, in the case of hyperhidrosis, tajgle botulinum toxin products require up to
30 injections in the underarms, an area that isquéairly sensitive to pain, and a procedure thatimbursed to physicians at a low rate rele
to the time required to perform the procedure. Assallt, the use of Bota& , which is the only injectable botulinum toxin prad currently
approved for hyperhidrosis, has been limited. Bnaase of chronic migraine headache, injectablalibam toxin products require as many as
31 injections in different parts of the head andkne

Due to the pain associated with injections andrdihetations associated with injectable botulintmwin products, we believe that there
is a significant need for a painless, topically adstered and highly effective botulinum toxin. \@so believe that there is an opportunity to
develop and seek approval for a botulinum toxirdpa in therapeutic indications, such as allerginitis, where there are currently no
approved botulinum toxin products.

We also believe there is opportunity to improvedatgble botulinum toxin use in neurological movethserd other disorders. Muscle
movement disorders are neurological conditions dfffatt a person’s ability to control muscle adtivih one or more areas of the body. Muscle
spasticity happens after the body’s nervous sys$igsrbeen damaged, most commonly by a stroke, diseagauma. Muscle spasticity can be
painful and may have a significant effect on a peisquality of life. Some tasks, like getting dsed or bathing, become difficult, and a
person’s self-esteem may be affected by their ababposture. Common muscle movement disordersdecbervical dystonia (excessive
pulling of the muscles in the neck and shouldgupear or lower limb spasticity (stiffness in armleg muscles), and blepharospasm
(involuntary closing of the eyelids). Botulinum toxype A has proven safe and effective for suasyuas the most common treatment for
muscle movement disorders is to relax the musclajbgting it with botulinum toxin. However, suchjéctions must be repeated every 3-4
months and require large doses, typically more #3hBOTOX® units each treatment. As a result efdiscomfort associated with muscle
movement disorders and the associated demandetantent that currently requires up to four visis year, we believe that there is a
significant need for a longer-lasting and more ésed injectable botulinum toxin.

Our Product Candidates

We are developing two proprietary product candislatntaining botulinum toxin type A as the activaglingredient. RTOO01 is a topical
gel formulation of botulinum toxin type A. RTO01applied to the skin and uses our proprietary VA ® peptide technology to enable
delivery of botulinum toxin across the skin, elimiimg the need for injections. RT002 is our injetéformulation of botulinum toxin type A,
also using our proprietary peptide technology, Whie believe can result in longer lasting effea arore targeted delivery. Unlike currently
available injectable botulinum toxin products, heitformulation of our product candidates contaitieimin or any other animal or human-
derived materials. We believe this reduces theafgke transmission of certain viral diseases.pléa to develop these two product candidate
for multiple aesthetic and therapeutic applications

PRE-
PIPELINE CLINICAL PHASE 1 PHASE 2 PHASE 3
RT001 TOPICAL PRODUCT CANDIDATE 2015 MILESTONES
. Upon successful completion of open-label study,
Lat?éarl()f,:ﬁ:?:étlsmes initiate 1st Phase 3 pivotal program in the US 2H.
Report efficacy data 2H.
Hyperhidrosis
(Excessive Sweating) Initiate Phase 2 study and report Phase 2 resdlts 2
Other Therapeutic
Indications
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RT002 INJECTABLE PRODUCT CANDIDATE 2015 MILESTONES

. Report interim duration results from BELMONT

Glabellar (Frown) Lines Phase 2 active comparator study late-2015.

Muscle Movement Disorder Initiate Phase 2 study and report interim resuits 2
Other Therapeutic Indication

RT001 — Our Topical Formulation of Botulinum Toxin

RTOO01 is a topical gel formulation of botulinum texype A in a proprietary single-use administratapparatus. The botulinum toxin in
RTO001 blocks neuromuscular transmission by bindlingeceptor sites on motor or sympathetic nervaiteals, entering the nerve terminals
inhibiting the release of specific neurotransméttéror example, when applied topically around tye ®T001 produces partial interruption of
the nerve signaling to the orbicularis oculi musadsulting in a localized reduction in muscle attiand improvement in crow’s feet lines and
may offer improvement in skin texture and luminpsif the skin. When applied topically for the tmeant of hyperhidrosis, RTO01 produces
temporary interruption of the nerve signaling te fiweat glands, resulting in local reduction inativey. When applied topically for the
prevention of migraine headache, we believe tha@d®RTinhibits release of neuropeptides and otheratensmitters relevant to migraine pain
and in our Phase 1/2 clinical trial showed a reidnan both the frequency and intensity of migraimeadache following a single treatment with
RTOO1.

RTO0O01 is applied to the skin and uses our propsiefaansMTS® technology consisting of a proprietary peptidestable delivery of
botulinum toxin across the skin, eliminating theddor injections. We plan to supply RT0O01 in egruse apparatus for reconstitution and
administration that contains a vial of lyophilizext,freezedried, drug product and a vial of diluent for restitution. When the contents of th
vials are combined, all within the single-use app#s, the diluent reconstitutes the freeze-drieg) groduct back to its original form to allow
administration. In our crow's feet clinical triaRT001 is administered as a gel and spread ovdrghment area with a gloved finger, where it
remains for 30 minutes. The application processssnple procedure which requires minimal timerepare and can be applied by either
physician or medical staff. The gel is then remolrga series of gentle cleansing wipes, deactivatetdisposed.

The development of RT0O01 in the United States le@s lzonducted under an Investigational New Drugliéation, or IND, filed with
the FDA in 2008. This IND covers the treatment mmive's feet lines and primary underarm hyperhidro8isecond IND for prevention of
migraine headache was filed with the FDA in Octab@t2. Clinical development in other territories;luding Mexico, Canada, Europe,
Singapore and Australia, is conducted under appkcaational clinical trial applications.

We also intend to file a European Union Marketingtorization Application, or MAA, and to submit nkating applications, on our ov
or through partners, in key Asian countries, Mexaoal Canada. We anticipate that approval in Mewitiosupport other Latin American
approvals.

Crow’s Feet Lines

Crow’s feet lines are skin wrinkles in the outerrar of the eye area, which are commonly causeagbyg. Consumers in general, and
women in particular, believe that the eye arehasfirst place where they notice the signs of agB@gnsumers also believe that the perception
of aging is affected by the quality of the skinlakge segment of the ar&ging topical cosmeceutical market is targeted tda/anprovement i
skin texture and luminosity of the skin in the eyea. Despite the fact that prior to September 204& were no botulinum toxin products
approved for crow’s feet lines, we believe thatr¢hieas been significant use of botulinum toxintfas indication given the desire of consumers
to address the condition.

We believe that RT001 may provide the following &#fs to patients and physicians for treatmentrofws feet lines, as compared to
traditional botulinum toxin treatments that are audstered by injection:
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 The RTOO01 procedure is painless and has not shawmee@dence of bruising, swelling or any of thecothdverse events
associated with injectionsThe RT001 procedure consists of a clear gel agpb the skin, remaining on the skin for 30 misute
and then removed with a series of gentle cleansipgs.

* RTOO1 relaxes the cr(s feet wrinkles appearance at “rest,” when thedas in a neutral expression, while still allowiag
natural smile. Data from our Phase 2b clinical trials indicdtattRTO01 improves the appearance of crow’s feeslat rest. This
improvement is visible to both the consumer andptingsician. By targeting only the muscles necesgaachieve this effect,
treatment with RTOO01 allows for natural expressabsmile. In comparison, injection involves a breradrray of muscles, which
can lead to an unwanted frozen face appearancea¢sanile.

» Consumers distinguish between products that aeciafl into the body and those that are placed erskin. Of the participants
surveyed in consumer market research performedthiycaparty on our behalf in 2012, a majority bése who responded that
they have not received injectable botulinum tox@atments in the past but who did find the RTOGidpct concept appealing
listed their aversion to having a toxin in theidiEs as the reason why they have not previousy the injectable botulinum to»
treatments. The responses in this survey, includpenended questions, suggest that 63% of consumehg igroup surveyed a
more likely to use RT001 over injectable options.

We believe that RTO01 may provide the following &fits to physicians:

» RTO001 has been shown to be -tolerated with no significant safety concerrnhere has been no report of the spread of
botulinum toxin away from treatment site. Such agreould cause droopy eye, loss of strength anadl-muscle weakness in
cranial nerves surrounding the eye, double vidituryred vision or changes in pupillary reactionsatseness or change or loss of
voice, trouble saying words clearly, loss of bladdentrol, trouble breathing or trouble swallowing.

» RTO0O01 is simple to use and results are not teclentgpendent. RT0O01 comes in a-filled applicator that contains the proper
dose for the treatment of crow’s feet linddinimal training is required because there arexposed needles or complicated
reconstitution mixing and preparation processesdated with currently available injectable botulin toxin products. A
physician or medical staff applies droplets of gleéfrom our pre-filled applicator to the treatmant¢a and uses a gloved finger to
ensure that the entire area is covered. In contagteat deal of physician skill is required towately and precisely inject curre
needle-based botulinum toxin products into smatterte superficial muscles to achieve a naturalilmplkppearance. According
to our market research data collected by a thirtypasearch organization in 2009 through intetveeted surveys and interviews:
82% of the 204 physicians surveyed with existingneetic revenues said that they were either “extlgmeerested” or “very
interested” in purchasing the RTO01 product conéaptise in their patients; and 76% of the 204 ptigas surveyed mentioned
the benefits of topical administration, including meed for needles and easy and convenient adrainst, as why they liked the
RTO01 product concept. These benefits were moshaifted (88%) among physicians with low percerdagfecosmetic revenue
in their practice (0-10%), and the least oftenc{{g0%) among physicians with high percentage®osiretic revenue in their
practice (more than 50%). We believe these resuligest that physicians with less injectable bt toxin experience found
the convenience and ease of use characteristR3@d1 particularly appealing.

» RTO0O01 is very appealing to both key physiciansgadtice groups who perform the majority of cosmptiocedures in the Unitt
States and physicians who have less injectabldiboto toxin experienceWe believe that RT0O01 can expand the use of
botulinum toxin to a wider range of physicians afldw those physicians who currently perform betuin toxin procedures to ¢
so on a larger number of patients. RT001 can atpodve the profitability of practices by increasihg number of procedures a
given patient receives per visit. Importantly, thiggansion can come without any increase in thebeurof patients that the
physician has in their practice. In addition, bessathe RTO01 procedure for the treatment of créees lines would be paid for
directly by patients, physicians would not be enbared by managed care and government payor reiethers restrictions
applicable in the United States and similar reirsbarent-related constraints outside the United State

Development of RT0O01 for Treatment of Crow’s Féetd

We have conducted sixteen clinical trials, witlotak of over 1,500 subjects, for the treatmentrofics feet lines. In two of our Phase 2
clinical trials, RTO01 demonstrated a statisticallynificant and clinically meaningful reductionénow’s feet lines visible to both physicians
and patients. After completing our Phase 2b clirtigals, we modified the formulation of the RTO6Biluent by adding two ingredients to
improve its stability. We then conducted a Phaskngcal trial with this new diluent formulation tevaluate efficacy and safety of RT001. Date
generated from this clinical trial were inconsistesth the
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data from our previous three Phase 2b clinicalstfiar the treatment of crow’s feet lines. Spedifig, we observed no improvement from
baseline in either the placebo or RT001 group. Bag®n a thorough analysis of possible causeseimdined that the addition of the two
ingredients to the diluent was the likely caus¢hefloss of efficacy in our Phase 3 clinical tridle have since obtained stability data to con
that the Phase 2b formulation has adequate comahetability. Our clinical and other studies haeasistently indicated that RTOO01 is well
tolerated with no serious adverse events relatetuy drug or study treatment procedures or cthfaty concerns.

Phase 3 Clinical Trials.Based on our discussions with the FDA, the EMA atfetr regulatory authorities, we believe that the

investigational plan outlined below for the RTO(1aBe 3 core program will support approval of RTB0Othe United States, Canada and
European Union for the treatment of moderate teseerow’s feet lines.

RTO001 Global Phase 3 Program for Crow’s Feet Lines

Estimated Number of Subjectq
Trial Trial Type Primary Objective (Trial Location)
250
Phase 3 Pivotal Trial #1 Single Dose, Placebo-Controll{Efficacy and Safety (U.s)
250
Phase 3 Pivotal Trial #2 Single Dose, Placebo-@tatl |Efficacy, Duration and Safety (U.s)
200
Phase 3 Pivotal Trial #3 Single Dose, Placebo-Controll{Efficacy and Safety (Europe)
1,800
New and Rollover
Phase 3 Open Label Trials Open Label Safety @htiSafety Databasp (U.s)

The two U.S. pivotal trials will utilize the samadic study design and evaluate efficacy and safe®T001 after single administration
compared to placebo. Our second U.S. pivotal wikhlalso measure duration of effect. A third piabtlinical trial will be conducted in the
European Union to support European Union markedjpgications. The European trial will evaluate edfiy and safety of RT001 after single
administration compared to placebo with a threetiméwilow-up for safety.

We have designed the long-term clinical trialsuport a safety database adequate for both donaegtimternational marketing
applications, and will continue to conduct clinit@ls with periodic, thorough analyses of bersefind risks. The number of subjects propose
for safety studies may be substantially higher ti@nanticipated number of subjects needed to dstraie efficacy. Therefore, we anticipate
studying more than 2,000 subjects at dosage lavielsded for commercial use.

Assuming successful completion of our Phase 3adirtrials, we plan to file marketing applicatidnghe United States, European Union
and Canada. We anticipate that approval in theddrfitates and the European Union would then suppprovals in Latin America, such as
Brazil and certain other territories in Asia.

In the first half of 2014, we initiated an opendaPhase 3 safety clinical trial. This clinicabtrivas designed to evaluate the safety of
multiple treatment cycles with repeat-dosing wheljacts revert to moderate or severe crow's faeslat intervals of not less than 90 days.
Drug product in the open label Phase 3 study wadlstalerated, but we decided in 2014 to end thendpbel safety study to allow us time to
perform further testing of our RT0O01 drug produahdidate as described below.

In the second half of 2014, we conducted an opeeal lstudy to confirm the successful transfer ofdpiciion of the topical RT001 drug
product to our commercial manufacturing facilittaggd upon this open label study, we decided to faatwre additional drug product and p
to initiate and conclude an open label study infitts¢ half of 2015. Following the successful coetn of the 2015 open label study, we
expect to commence a Phase 3 pivotal study in thietl States and report efficacy results in thesédalf of 2015.

European Union Agency Interactiong/e requested scientific guidance from the EMA andbvelopment of RT0O01 for the treatment of
crow’s feet lines and the proposed Phase 3 progrdviarch 2012. The EMA scientific guidance for trew’s feet lines Phase 3 program was
completed following a meeting with the EMA in Aug@2912. The EMA provided comments on Quality, Namichl and Clinical programs.
Overall, the EMA agreed with the proposed programd provided




Table of Contents

details and suggestions to be considered for ouketiag application. We have taken the EMA commaemits consideration in the Phase 3
program and will provide data to support the vasioeguests in the marketing application.

End-of-Phase 2 After our Phase 2 clinical trials, we used the FOPormal Dispute Resolution process and obtainetlen
confirmation in May 2012 from the FDA that we hathieved End-of-Phase 2 and that our proposed itidicgrimary endpoint assessment
and primary endpoint measurement were acceptablhfase 3 clinical trials. We have incorporatedRbBbé\’s comments during this process
into our Phase 3 program. Specifically, the primafficacy assessments are being conducted atriéstdditional assessments are being
obtained at smile.

RT001 Safety

Clinical Program. Subjects have received doses of RT001 containih¢pl25 ng/mL of botulinum toxin per subject angtite
exposures up to 23 mcg/mL per subject for thermeat of crow's feet lines. Repeat doses of RTO@® baen administered in the Phase 2
and the Phase 1 trial with cumulative exposure® U ng per subject. In all concentrations of Epand botulinum toxin studied, RTO01 v
well tolerated with no serious adverse eventsedl& study drug or study treatment proceduresifetys concerns. In particular, there were no
systemic or local safety concerns at the site pfiegtion or evidence of spread and no signifiddifferences in the incidence of treatment-
related adverse events.

Nonclinical Program.In accordance with international guidelines andansultation with the FDA, we have also conductédoad
nonclinical development program for RT001. The pang included preclinical efficacy, safety bioavhilay and single and repeat dose
toxicity studies of RT001, including chronic stuslief up to nine months duration. Genotoxicity, ldoterance and formulation bridging
studies were also conducted, along with reprodedtxicity testing. Together, these studies supgbttie clinical development and anticipatec
future safety labeling of RT001 for the treatmeintmw’s feet lines.

Development of RT001 for Treatment of Hyperhidrosis

According to published medical articles, hyperhgilsaffects an approximately nine million peopléha United States (or 2.8% of the
current population), approximately 4.5 million ohem have axillary, or underarm, hyperhidrosis. Blemnce in the United States is slightly
higher among men than women, but women are moeylth take action to have the condition treatad2014, the International Hyperhidrosis
Society or IHHS fielded a survey among its emaflsswibers. While it is recognized that consumers vegularly read newsletter from the
IHHS are likely to be more severe sufferers andeheho are more likely to treat their disease,ghisey does provide up to date information
on this population. Additionally, we believe thhese consumers may likely be early adopters oftreatments. In this population,
hyperhidrosis is a multi-focal disease where thgnitg of people (81%) suffer in more than one floagea in additional to their underarms,
most commonly the hands and feet. Among this gafigpnsumers, 90% have sought assistance from a&ahg@dofessional (compared to 3!
cited in medical literature that describes the galn@opulation of hyperhidrosis sufferers). Of 8886 who seek medical assistance, 79%
receive a diagnosis of hyperhidrosis and of thd¥ 8eek some type of treatment. The most commady treatments and percentage of
respondents that use each are:

e Over-theeounter antiperspirants (78

e Prescription antiperspirants (77

e Oral medication (53%

» lontophoresis, or the use of electrical currenskin (38%
e Botulinum Toxin Injections (419

* Surgery (13%

» Other (10%

Most of these treatments have low levels of sattafa. Specifically, OTC antiperspirants, preséaptantiperspirants and oral
medications have satisfaction rates of 5%, 11%24&9d respectively. Only botulinum toxin injectionave a higher satisfaction rate versus
dissatisfaction (53% versus 35%). Allergan’s Botowas approved in 2004 for underarm hyperhidrosisranthins the only botulinum toxin
approved for the treatment of hyperhidrosis. Howetre treatment requires up to 30 injections emuhderarms. Additionally, in qualitative
research consumers who have tried botulinum teayrtisat often the injections will “stop working” cause compensatory sweating in other
focal areas.

Severe primary underarm hyperhidrosis affects apprately 1.5 million individuals in the United S¢éstand similar proportions global
This condition has a negative impact on the oveyadllity of life of patients due to the debilitagin
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psychosocial and emotional consequences of exeessigating as well as significant medical dermaiiclonpact. Despite this dramatic
impact on quality of life there is a large unmeg¢ddor effective treatment given the low leveldreiitment satisfaction. In fact, even among
most involved consumers survey by the IHHS alm6%b 4f them either don’t treat or had stopped treptheir disease and were coping with
lifestyle adjustments (e.g. clothing choices, lediphysical activity and avoiding social contact).

Injected delivery of botulinum toxin has been vatield as a therapeutically effective pharmaceugigaht for the treatment of
hyperhidrosis. However, the injected treatmentriideen widely embraced by hyperhidrosis patibatause of significant pain and trauma
associated with the large number of required ipest

Having a topical solution could encourage moregudti to seek treatment without having to sufferghi@ of numerous injections.
Additionally, a topical solution may more readignb itself to treatment of other focal areas like palms where injections are barely tolerable
From the physicians’ standpoint, injections areywtame-consuming and reimbursement for the procedutow. RTO01 could significantly
decrease the physician time and effort necessathégprocedure and potentially make the procethoee profitable for a physician’s practice.

We also believe that the appeal of RTO01 may goheyhe sufferers of hyperhidrosis and appealémtie-third of all U.S. adults who
believe they have too much underarm sweat. Accgridira 2008 survey by the International Hyperhigr&ociety, 60% of all U.S. adults
reported that they would be “embarrassed” or “v@nparrassed” by visible underarm sweat stains 786 of those U.S. adults who believe
they have too much underarm sweat took steps #thiir condition.

Data from our initial Phase 2 dose escalation Hyigessis clinical trial suggest the feasibilitytoéating primary underarm hyperhidrosis
with RTOO1. As the dose of RT001 increased, patishbwed reduced sweating and improvement in se#filassessed sweating severity. To
test for sweat production, the skin was first tedawith iodine solution that is allowed to dry, ahén followed by dusting of corn starch and
sweat assessment period of ten minutes. The ocoéria sweat causes the starch and iodine to desg@rmitting their reaction to form the
dark staining pattern observed. Reduction in thi& geining intensity signals a reduction in sweat.

This initial Phase 2 clinical trial was a doublénbl randomized, placebo-controlled multi-centeidgtevaluating the safety, tolerability
and efficacy of using RT001 to treat primary underayperhidrosis in adults. This clinical trial wdssigned to enroll 36 subjects, with twelve
subjects in each dosing group, or cohort. The pafieéach cohort was evaluated by an independeatsddiety committee prior to escalating
dose to the next level. Subjects were randomizeddeive a single treatment of RTO01 or placebsaich cohort. After receiving the treatment,
the patients were followed for 28 days in the chitrial.

Based on data generated from clinical trials t@ dak plan to initiate additional clinical trialsrfthe treatment of hyperhidrosis with
RTOO01. These future trials will evaluate the effigaf a higher dose of 25 ng/mL or more as comp&rgdacebo and permit evaluation of the
RTO001 dose response to treatment of signs and syngpdf primary underarm hyperhidrosis. These tralsassess the quality of life measure
Hyperhidrosis Disease Severity Scale and the chemgeduction of underarm sweat by gravimetric surament and Investigator Global
Assessment of underarm sweating. We expect taiaid Phase 2 study in mid-2015 and report predirgiefficacy data from this trial in the
second half of 2015. This study will establish wWigetthis new botulinum toxin dose is adequate cetivr further dose escalation in this
clinical indication is needed prior to definitivafsty and efficacy testing.

Development of RT001 for Prevention of Migraine ¢tezhe

Migraine headache is a central nervous systemabsaharacterized by moderate-to-severe headachefim includes additional
symptoms such as nausea and vomiting. The globdlenfor treatment of migraine headache was eséichtt be $3.8 billion in 2009.
Migraine headache affects 36 million people inlttmited States, 14 million of whom suffer from chimmigraine headache. In the United
States, this debilitating condition results in Thlion lost workdays and costs employers $13.0drileach year, according to the Migraine
Research Foundation. Injected delivery of botulirtowin has been validated as a therapeuticallyctife pharmaceutical agent for the
preventive treatment of migraine headache. B@tovas approved for the treatment of chronic migréieadache in 2010. However, the
treatment requires up to 31 injections in a pasedmtad and neck and may have significant sidessfféancluding the potential for injected
botulinum toxin to diffuse to neighboring sites seng muscle weakness and pain, sometimes evemrtitggmigraine headache attacks.

We have generated preliminary data that suppoetéetdssibility of treating chronic migraine headaetith topical application of RT0OO01.
In our initial Phase 2 clinical trial, RT001 wassin to be effective for the preventive treatmentiofonic migraine headache. In this trial,
RT001 was applied topically to five areas on thadhéeft on for 30 minutes and
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removed by a series of cleansing wipes. This twhich used a 25 ng/mL dose, demonstrated statilstisignificant improvement (43.8% for
RTOO01 versus 10.5% for placebo) of the compositipeimt of a Headache Impact Test-6, or HIT-6, scouenber of migraines and migraine
intensity.

RTO0O01 for Treatment of Other Indications

Based on the results of our current preclinicadlietsiand clinical trials, we will determine furtrggvelopment of other indications for
RTO01, such as:

* Neuropathic pair. This condition may arise as a result of a lesiodisease affecting the nervous system and, aliextion of
syndromes, is often chronic in nature causing §iarit negative impact to quality of life. Existitiggatments include
antidepressants, serotonin inhibitors and calcibemoel agonists, each of which require daily dosing are often accompanied
by side effects and modest efficacy. More receimigcted botulinum toxin has been shown to addnessy forms of neuropathic
pain and provide extended relief, of approximatbhge months, in line with the known duration piefor botulinum toxin
treatment of other targets. RTO01 represents aeadipg alternative with its topical delivery, allowg relatively large areas to be
treated without injection pain while maintaining thotential benefit of extended duration from gkdrtreatment of botulinum
toxin. RTOOL1 is currently in preclinical developméor neuropathic pain.

» Rhinitis. Rhinitis is a global health problem associatethwasal inflammation and symptoms of congestinaeging and itchini
According to a third party report, rhinitis affectp to 30% of adults and 40% of children in thetdaiStates. Current treatments
may require frequent administration, often one orertimes per day, and typically come with sideef, including
desensitization to the treatment. There is earigance that applying botulinum toxin can be effeiin reducing rhinitis
symptoms. However, because of procedural difficatig the potential pain, swelling, bleeding, tendss or possible infection
associated with nasal injections of botulinum toxire treatment has not been widely accepted ardargians and patients. Our
preclinical studies using animal models suggegtapplying RT001 topically can be a potentiallyesahd effective treatment for
the symptoms of allergic rhinitis. We conductedreall Phase 2 clinical trial to assess RT001 fortthatment of symptoms
associated with allergic rhinitis, which demonstdathat RTO01 was safe.

RT002 — Our Injectable Formulation of Botulinum Tax

In addition to our topical product candidate, we developing an injectable formulation of botulintowin type A, which we refer to as
RT002, for indications where deeper delivery of aéulinum toxin is required and a longer lastifiget is desired. We believe RT002 can
provide more targeted delivery of botulinum toxinintended treatment sites while reducing the utedapread of botulinum toxin to adjacent
areas. We believe this could permit longer laséffgct and safe administration of botulinum toxmen with higher targeted doses. These
properties, longer lasting effect and less spré&RiT®02, have been demonstrated in preclinicalistudnd in a four-cohort Phase 1/2 clinical
dose escalation trial outside the United Statefiprovement of glabellar lines. Data from the feahorts, which included an aggregate of
48 patients, indicates that RT002 is safe andafitais. This data showed that 98% of the studypegtiachieved 1-point improvement, 67%
achieved 2-point improvement and 96% achieved “honémild” scores on the Glabellar Lines Sever@gale. The last cohort of this trial, the
only one where duration of effect was measuredywsloa median duration of 29.4 weeks, or seven nsadlassessed by both the subject anc
the investigator. Based upon the data analyzednitvated a Phase 2 active comparator trial agahesimarket leader BOTOX® Cosmetic in
late 2014. In addition, we plan to study RTOOZherapeutic indications already approved for botutirtoxin, such as movement disorders ant
other uses.

Glabellar Lines

Glabellar, or frown, lines are the result of gathgrthe tissue between the eyebrows into a fol@éyTdre caused by the repeated action o
underlying muscles associated with facial expressi@ars of squinting and frowning tend to leavemerinkles in the skin between the
eyebrows and on the bridge of the nose, acrodetbbead and at the corners of the eyes. On mamyl@drown lines produce an angry or sac
look that detracts from a pleasant facial appea&ahysical, emotional and social reasons foritrgdtown lines and forehead furrows include
improved appearance and enhanced self-esteem. d$tecommon cosmetic use of the market leader, BOB@Xsmetic is for the treatment
of glabellar lines. In general, consumers enjoyttéeefits of botulinum toxin injections and theseihigh rate of satisfaction. Longevity or
duration of effect is the one area where consumersess satisfied and desire longer duration.

Primary market research among over 30 leading estbhysicians indicated that they were very irspeal by the clinical data genera
in the Phase 1/2 study. In fact, if RTO02 demomsttaimilar results in larger trials the increased
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duration of effect would cause them to change theatment habits from currently available botufintoxins to RT002. While potentially
increased safety due to decreased spread to atljaosnles was an appealing benefit in cosmeticatiins, duration of effect would be the
primary driver of adoption.

A product that had still showed meaningful consubmefit at six months (as RT002 did where 60%atigmts still retained "none" or
"mild" wrinkle severity scores) would fit very nilgeinto the current treatment regimen and consumadits. Most consumers only come in
twice per year for treatments and the longer domatiould mean that they would remain satisfied leetwtreatments. Additionally, a longer
lasting botulinum would align more closely with theration of dermal filler treatments which oftee administered at the same time as
botulinum toxin treatments.

We believe that RT002 may provide the following &#fs to patients and physicians for treatmentlabgllar lines, as compared to the
market leader, BOTOX® Cosmetic:

e RTO002 can permit longer lasting effect «7 months, the ideal duration for a botulinum totteatment

» RTO002 can provide more targeted delivery of botutfirtoxin to intended treatment sites while redutirgunwanted spread
botulinum toxin to adjacent areathis could potentially decrease unwanted side &ffidee eyelid ptosis (droopy eyelids) and
patient dissatisfaction which is critical in a sp#fy environment.

We believe that RT002 may provide the following s to physicians:

* RTO002 is simple to use and consistent with admdatish of currently available marketed producMinimal training is required
because administration would be similar to curgeatlailable marketed products.

» RT002 would lead to more sustained patient satigfadetween treatments, which is critical for «pay procedures

* RTO0O02 could potentially expand their practices ppealing to consumers (particularly men) who aréwiling to come ir
multiple times per year to sustain the benefitsedtment.

* Physicians would be willing to pay more for RTO@Enpared to currently available neurotoxins as theiieve that they coul
easily pass that cost along to their patients, wioald be willing to pay for increased duration.

» RTO002 has been shown to be well tolerated withgrifeant safety concern

Development of RT002 for Treatment of Glabellaekin

Phase 1/2 Clinical Trialswe believe RT002 can provide more targeted delieétyotulinum toxin to intended treatment sites levhi
reducing the unwanted spread of botulinum toxiadfcent areas. We believe this could permit lotaging effect and safe administration of
botulinum toxin, even with higher targeted dosdsese properties, longer lasting effect and lessagpof RT002, have been demonstrated in ¢
four-cohort Phase 1/2 clinical dose escalation digside the United States for improvement of gl lines. In the study, RT002 met its
primary efficacy and safety endpoints. The opemllatose escalating, Phase 1/2 study enrolled diésaid four cohorts. All subjects had
Severe or Moderate wrinkles at baseline, measusie) the 4-point Global Line Severity Scale (GLI8)summary, the data showed:

*  96% of subjects were rated with None or Mildnide severity at maximum frown 4 weeks post-treathusing the GLSS as
assessed by the clinical investigator.

* 83% of subjects assessed themselves as achievimg &dMild wrinkles at maximum frown at the sanradipoint

* Inthe final cohort, the only one where duratajreffect was measured, RT002 achieved a medigatida of 29.4 weeks or seven
months based on both investigator and subject sipsgss.

* In this final cohort, 60% of subjects maintainediar Mild wrinkle severity at 6 montl

« RTO002 was well tolerated, and there was no exadef spread beyond the treatment site at any, ddsitionally, adverse event
rates did not change in frequency, severity, oe tyjth increasing doses.

Based on the results of this study, Revance inli@ELMONT, a Phase 2, Randomized, DouBléind, DosE Ranging, Active and P acebc
Controlled,M ulti-Center Study to Evaluate the Safety and Effjcand Duration of Effedd f RT002, a BotuliN um ToxinT ype A for
Injection, to treat glabellar lines. The BELMONTi@Y will evaluate the safety, efficacy and duratifrthree doses of RT002, the labeled dose
of the current market leader BOTOX® Cosmetic ampdbaebo control. BELMONT is expected to enroll appmately 250 subjects at up to 10
sites in Canada. The primary endpoints for theystud the investigator's assessment of glabetiardeverity at maximum frown at Week 24
and median duration of effect from the date ofttremnt back to baseline severity.
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RTO002 for Treatment of Therapeutic Indications

Based on the results of our current preclinicadligtsiand clinical trials, we will determine furtrégvelopment of other indications for
RTO002, such as neurological movement and otherdiss. Muscle movement disorders are neurological conulitihat affect a person's
ability to control muscle activity in one or moneas of the body. Muscle spasticity happens dfebbdy's nervous system has been damage
most commonly by a stroke, disease, or trauma. &\ftat life-threatening, spasticity can be painfud anay have a significant effect on a
person's quality of life. Some tasks, like gettilngssed or bathing, become difficult, and a pesssgif-esteem may be affected by their
abnormal posture. Common muscle movement disoideltede cervical dystonia (excessive pulling of thescles in the neck and shoulder),
upper or lower limb spasticity (stiffness in mus}leand blephorasm (involuntary closing of the iglg}! Botulinum toxin type A has proven
safe and effective for such uses, as the most cantraatment for muscle movement disorders is @xr#le muscle by injecting it with
botulinum toxin. Spasticity was the first approwedication for BOTOX®.

We plan to provide information on the selected nmoest disorder indication and its clinical trial dgsand anticipate reporting of the
related clinical results in the second half of 2015

RT002 Safety

RTO002 has been shown to be generally safe andelethted with minimal adverse events in our PHaRdrial. An independent Data
and Safety Monitoring Board, or DSMB, composedxgferts from neurology, dermatology, and internatiiciee, reviewed the data of our
four-cohort Phase 1/2 clinical dose escalatior foiathe treatment of glabellar lines after eachart and confirmed the safety of dose
escalation prior to each successive higher doseersd events were generally mild, localized andsient. The most common adverse events
observed were headache and injection site reacfldrese was no evidence of spread beyond the tegdtsite at any dose. There were no
serious adverse events or evidence of any sysexpiasure based on clinical laboratory results afated evaluations. Adverse event rates di
not change in frequency, severity, or type withréasing doses.

Our Technology
Our Proprietary TransMTS® Technology Platform

Our TransMTS® peptide technology serves different purposes depgraih whether it is used in a topical formulatisach as in RT001,
or in an injectable formulation, such as in RTO®2a topical formulation, the TransMT&peptide technology enables transmembrane delive
of large macromolecules, such as our botulinummtdype A, to the targeted tissue and eliminatesthed for injections or other invasive
procedures. In an injectable formulation, the TRRS ® peptide technology may restrict the active macreule to the target site and reduce
unwanted spread to other neighboring tissues.

The TransMTS® proprietary peptides are single, straight-chaimptipes which have two distinct types of domains:

e The peptide backbone core is a sequence of cotige lysine residues that are positively chargeder physiologic conditions.
The purpose of this positively charged core isotonfa non-covalent (electrostatic) bond with thgatwely charged
macromolecule to be transported across the skin.

e The second part of the peptide is a Protein TrastsmuDomain, or PTD, which is responsible for deling the macromolecule
the target site. There are two identical PTDs aheand of the peptide.

We believe our TransMT® peptide technology could be applied to a rangectifaingredient molecules. We have begun to leyera
our TransMTS® platform to develop additional products throughtparing arrangements and may use our technologfppiato develop
additional proprietary products.

Our Proprietary Botulinum Toxin-Peptide Complex

Our proprietary botulinum toxin-peptide complex s components that contribute to overall activitirst, our TransMT® peptide
provides the mechanism of delivery across the akihrestricts the toxin molecule to the target Stcond, the botulinum toxin type A
provides the mechanism of pharmacologic actionisunesponsible for the drug effects demonstratezbinclinical trials.
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RT001 Botulinum Toxin-Peptide Complex

In RTOO1, our proprietary peptide, RTP004, carsed releases botulinum toxin to a defined deptbesietration targeting the mid-
dermis, which is an appropriate depth of skin pexiein for the treatment of crow’s feet lines, hshpdrosis, migraine headache, pain
syndromes and other conditions.

Our nonclinical and clinical data show that theaption enhancer peptide is necessary for the inotul toxin to cross the skin and have
pharmacologic effect. Our data also show that #y#tige alone does not have pharmacologic actiorttatdhe botulinum toxin molecule
without the peptide cannot cross the skin to achits/effect.

RTO0O01 is applied to the skin as a clear gel. THésgemperature-triggered so that it is liquidhatbient temperature and forms a gel as i
warms upon contact with the skin. RTO01 quicklyctezs a viscosity sufficient to remain in placehia defined treatment area.

RT001 Mechanism for Delivery of Botulinum Toxin

The absorption enhancer peptide has two pathwaythdadelivery of the botulinum toxin. The firsttpavay is energy independent and
can occur in non-living cells, such as the strabmmeum, which is the outermost layer of the skims pathway allows the molecule to bind
and traverse the stratum corneum where the moléshigtles” across the surface of the lipid layiara process called “lipid rafting.”

The second pathway is energy dependent and caroooly across living cells. It is an active procebere transcytosis, the process by
which molecules are transported across the intefiarcell, takes the molecule from one side ofdiléto another. The peptide triggers the cel
to fold around the peptide, carrying the targetenole with it. This pathway releases RT001 on eigide of the cell. When returned to the
original side, no net change occurs; but when nettito the opposite side, the contents have crdbsezkll. The result is a net flow of RT001
from high to low concentration across the cells.

Administration of RTO01 on the Skin

The proprietary apparatus for delivering RT0O01 tdtiple locations was developed to provide for diengtorage, reconstitution and ease
of applying RT001 to the skin with minimal training

Botulinum toxin is not stable in liquid form; théoee it must be lyophilized, or freeze-dried, fefrigerated storage and distribution.
Injectable botulinum toxin products are distribugedlyophilized powders in sealed vials. Beforeg/it@n be injected into a patient, the prod
must be reconstituted by a trained healthcare des\by drawing a precisely measured volume of saloiution into a syringe through a nee
and then transferring it into the botulinum toxialthrough the needle.

We designed our proprietary apparatus in collabmratith Duoject Medical Systems, Inc., or Duojexsupplier of medical devices and
provider of design and development services, wittr @5 years of developing medical devices for degpnstitution and delivery. The design
of our apparatus has several features focusedfety smd ease-of-use, and is covered by pendirenfsat

We plan to only supply RT001 within this recondiitn, activation and application, or RAA, devicénig single-use administration
apparatus contains a vial of our lyophilized drugduct and a vial of diluent for reconstitution.eTial of drug product is protected within the
RAA device to reduce potential for misuse as aedgble, and to eliminate the potential for neatilsk injuries as could occur when
reconstituting currently available injectable batum toxin products. The pre-filled amounts of dprgduct and diluent ensure accurate
preparation of the intended concentration and dofagtreatment. We believe this will eliminate @wsion that is associated with the
preparation of injectable botulinum toxin products.

Once reconstituted, the RAA device allows for sgeraf the dose within the RAA device for up to ¢ibburs, and then provides a me
to easily administer the dose of RTO01. RT0OO01 iea over the treatment area with a gloved fingbgre it remains in place for 30 minutes
and is then removed by a series of gentle cleangipgs, deactivated and disposed. The entire agifuit process is a simple procedure which
requires minimal time to prepare and apply by ptigsi or medical staff.
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RT002 Mechanism of Action

RTO002 utilizes our proprietary botulinum toxin-pigiet complex in a saline-based formulation. In RT.G82 RTP004 peptide interacts
with both extracellular structures and cell surfeseeptors in the targeted muscle. This interaatstricts the toxin molecule to the target site
and reduces unwanted spread to other neighborisglesis We believe that by limiting the spread oDBJ to neighboring muscles, RT002 is
likely to be tolerated at higher doses than Baa@osmetic. Additionally, at doses where the sprddgiobox ® Cosmetic and RT002 were
compared, RT002 appeared to be more targeted avitiel duration in our preclinical studies. Nondaliand clinical data taken together
suggest that RT002 may provide longer duratiorffeceat the target muscle and reduce spread ergetied muscles.

Our Strategy

Our objective is to be a leading provider of batutn toxin products across multiple aesthetic ardagpeutic indications in both topical
and injectable dose forms and to expand the méwkéotulinum toxin products. To achieve this oliee, we plan to develop and
commercialize two proprietary, patent-protecteddpicd candidates: RT001, our topical botulinum toxind RT002, our injectable botulinum
toxin.

Key elements of our strategy are:

» Advance RT002 Clinical Developmeln late 2014, we initiated BELMONT, a Phase 2 aettomparator against the market
leader, BOTOX® Cosmetic, for the treatment of glkdvdines. We are also currently exploring indioas in muscle movement
disorders, which account for approximately halhetirotoxin therapeutic sales globally, along witheo therapeutic uses. We
plan to provide information on the selected movenaésorder indication of our clinical trial desigmd anticipate reporting the
related clinical results in the second half of 2015

* Complete Development And Seek Regulatory Approv&T001 We are in the advanced stages of our developprenéss of
RTO0O01 for the treatment of crow's feet lines. Wpeet to report results from the first of two U.$aBe 3 pivotal clinical trials in
the second half of 2015 and plan to initiate antamdhl Phase 3 trial in the United States andad im Europe subsequently. We
expect to file for regulatory approvals for theatraent of crow's feet lines in the United State$ Barope. We chose to focus on
these markets not only because of their size amdtfrpotential but also because, in the UnitedeStand Europe, the market can
be easily accessed by a specialty sales force.

» Assess And Prioritize Future Therapeutic Indicagidor RT001. We have conducted clinical trials evaluating RT@®underarm
hyperhidrosis and migraine headache. We expeditiate a Phase 2 clinical study using topical RT @ the treatment of
hyperhidrosis in mid2015 and report preliminary efficacy results frdrstrial in the second half of 2015. In the future expec
to continue developing RTOO1 for therapeutic intlmas where injectiodrased botulinum toxin dose forms are poorly toksiabi
have higher risk of adverse events. We believetttestommercial potential of RT001 in therapeuiidi¢ations could be
substantial given the number of indications thatceeld pursue and the significant advantages @i@gss, topical approach.

»  Build Our Own Sales And Marketing Capabilities Ten@nercialize RT001 and RT002 in North Amerlf RT001 is approved
for the treatment of crow's feet lines or RT002pproved for the treatment of glabellar lines by BDA, we intend to build our
own sales force and commercial organization todaun North America. Specifically, we plan to buddspecialty sales force to
target key physicians who perform the majority e$thetic procedures, including dermatologists tig@sirgeons, facial plastic
surgeons, and oculo-plastic surgeons.

» Expand The Global Market For Botulinum Toxin Proti. We believe RT001 can expand the overall botuliioxin market
beyond the current patient base by bringing in patients who would prefer a needle-free approacdreaiment and a more
tolerable procedure. RT001's profile may also nibgeeferable for aesthetic indications where flk of toxin spreading to
adjacent muscles can cause undesired outcomessuhising, droopy eye and unwanted frozen facebdlieve RT002 also
has the ability to expand the botulinum toxin matkgeappealing to patients who seek a longer lgstifect.

» Establish Selective Strategic Partnerships To M&ermThe Commercial Potential Of Our Product Cantiédaand TransMT®
Delivery Technology Platfort. Outside of North America, we plan to evaluate thibeeto commercialize our product candidates
on our own or in collaboration with potential pants and distributors. Specifically, assuming retgujaapproval of RT001 and
RTO02 outside of the United States, we will evaduahether to build in-house commercial capabilitiesne or more foreign
countries or to seek commercialization partnermaximize the profitability of RTO01 and RT002. Addnally, the TransMTS®
peptide delivery technology platform can be usedriolecules other than botulinum toxin. We plaropportunistically
partnering or licensing the technology to develup tapability.
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* Maximize The Value Of Our Botulinum Toxin Cell LAred Manufacturing Asse. We have developed an integrated
manufacturing, analytics, research and developfaeility that is capable of producing proprietagyrhs of botulinum toxin
combined with TransMTS® peptide for Revance andfatyre partners.

Manufacturing and Operations

We have established capabilities for the produatidimotulinum toxin type A, including bulk drug ssthnce and both topical and
injectable finished drug product. Botulinum toxéregulated as a Select Agent under authorityefbnters for Disease Control and
Detection, or CDC, and as such requires that weperour operations in compliance with CDC reguas. We have invested in constructing
the appropriate facilities to accommodate our petida activities and are in good standing under®elect Agent license. We have assemble
a team of experienced individuals in the techniistiplines of chemistry, biology and engineerimgl dave appropriately equipped laboratory
space to support ongoing research and developrffertsén our botulinum toxin product developmerdtform. We have the ability to
manufacture our own botulinum toxin product to sappur clinical trial programs and eventually, @ammercial production. We believe that
having direct control over our manufacturing praess from drug substance to finished product,eviible us to develop additional
pharmaceutical product configurations effectiveiy avith a competitive cost structure.

We manufacture and perform testing for both bulkgdsubstance and finished dose forms of drug ptddusupport our topical RT001
and our injectable RT002 product candidates. Tligtiadal components required for our topical RT@ake form, the peptide, diluent and
delivery apparatus, are all manufactured by thadigs under contract with us. See the sectiotlemtiOutsourced Components” below for
additional information.

Drug Substance

The manufacture of the drug substance for RTOO1IRAF@D?2 is based on microbial fermentation follovisdproduct recovery and
purification steps. The process is entirely freamimal and human-derived materials and dependsanmlard raw materials available
commercially. The process is already scaled to suh future commercial demands. Bulk drug subsgsis stable when stored for extended
periods, which allows us to establish reservesaf dubstance and allows periodic drug substaraduption to replenish inventories as
needed.

Drug Product

Manufacture of topical and injectable dose formsupport RT001 and RT002 is currently performeduatpilot fill-finish facility. The
manufacturing process consists of bulk compoundiqgid fill and freeze-drying to support accepeBhelf-life duration. We are building a
larger capacity fill-finish line dedicated to theptcal non-aseptic dose form which will be instdlend validated to support our regulatory
license applications and future commercial demandRfTO01. Further scale-up of RT002 drug produchufiacturing will be performed to
meet anticipated commercial demand. The RT0O01 iootwl toxin and diluent has shown stability to diat will support commercial launch.

Outsourced Components

We contract with third parties for the manufactaféhe additional components required for RT00ldalpdose form, which includes the
manufacture of bulk peptide through American Pep@Gdmpany, Inc., or American Peptide, diluent tigfotdospira Worldwide, Inc., or
Hospira, and our delivery apparatus through Duoject

Our agreement with List Biological Laboratories;.lror List Laboratories, a developer of botulintoxin, includes certain milestone
payments related to the clinical development oftmtulinum toxin products and the toxin manufactgrprocess. There is a royalty with an
effective rate ranging from low-to-mid single-digiércentages of future sales of botulinum toxint @greement with List Laboratories will
remain in effect until expiration of our royalty lafations and may be terminated earlier on mutgat@ement or because of a material breac
either party.

Our agreement with Hospira includes product devaleqt services and manufacture and supply servicésegjuires that we provide
Hospira with advance forecasts of our product neghiis agreement also includes minimum purchaseirements once we have
commercialized our products. Our agreement withgitaswill remain in effect for seven years, subjecextensions, after we commercialize
our products and may be terminated earlier by ejthety following advance notice and good faith sutation.

Our agreement with Duoject includes developmenkvemid manufacture and supply services. This agreeaiso includes a royalty of
less than one percent of future sales of produbistwinclude the delivery apparatus, in the eveade
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not use Duoject to manufacture the delivery apparadur agreement with Duoject will remain in effantil the later of April 30, 2020 or the
expiration of the last patent issued to us fordakvery apparatus and may be terminated earliealrme of a material breach by either party.

Our agreement with American Peptide includes dewraknt, manufacture and supply of peptide in accarelavith certain specificatior
This agreement also includes certain quality cdmind inspection provisions through which we casuea the satisfactory quality of our
peptide. Our agreement with American Peptide \ithain in effect until May 20, 2020 and may be teated earlier by either party following
advance notice or a material breach by either party

Competition

We expect to enter highly competitive pharmaceutiod medical device markets. Successful compstitothe pharmaceutical and
medical device markets have the ability to effegdgvdiscover, develop, test and obtain regulat@gyravals for products, as well as the ability
to effectively commercialize, market and promotpraped products, including communicating the effentess, safety and value of produc
actual and prospective customers and medical $taffierous companies are engaged in the developmanyfacture and marketing of health
care products competitive with those that we arkeldping. While we are unaware of any potentiabynpetitive topical products that may
reach the market before RTOO1 for the treatmewt@i/’s feet lines, it is possible that such a pt&dily competitive topical product is being
developed.

Many of our competitors have substantially greatanufacturing, financial, research and developnmsonnel and marketing
resources than we do. Our competitors may also tmmre experience and expertise in obtaining margetpprovals from the FDA and other
regulatory authorities. In addition to product depenent, testing, approval and promotion, other petitive factors in the pharmaceutical and
medical device industries include industry consalmh, product quality and price, product technglagputation, customer service and acces:
to technical information. As a result, our commastmay be able to develop competing or superatelogies and processes, and compete
more aggressively and sustain that competition avenger period of time than we could. Our tecbga@s and products may be rendered
obsolete or uneconomical by technological advancestirely different approaches developed by anmare of our competitors. As more
companies develop new intellectual property inmarkets, the possibility of a competitor acquirpagent or other rights that may limit our
products or potential products increases, whichdclaad to litigation.

Upon marketing approval, the first expected useunfproducts will be in aesthetic medicine, follal\®y potential use to treat excessive
sweating, migraine headache and other therapentidittons. The technologies with which we expeatdampete directly are injectable and
topical neuromodulators, and to a lesser extemindkfillers.

Injectable and Topical Neuromodulators

Our primary competitors in the pharmaceutical magke companies offering injectable dose formsatéinum toxin, including:

e BOTOX® and BOTOX Cosmetic®, marketed by Allergan, Inmgcsiits original approval by the FDA in 1989, hagt
approved for multiple indications, including glalbellines, crow’s feet lines and hyperhidrosis.

 Myobloc®, a neuromodulator currently marketed by US WorldMaag approved by the FDA in 20

« Dysport®, an injectable botulinum toxin for the treatmehtervical dystonia and glabellar lines, which iarketed by Ipsen
Ltd., or Ipsen, and Galderma, a Nestle companydé&ala acquired rights to market the product inth#ed States and Canada
from Valeant Pharmaceuticals International, Indi4. Dysport® was approved by the FDA in 2008etphad previously
received marketing authorization for a cosmetiéaation for Dysport® in Germany in 2006 and, in 2007, Ipsen granted
Galderma an exclusive development and marketimgpsée for Dyspor® for cosmetic indications in the European Union, $tais
Eastern Europe and the Middle East, and first sigiithegotiation for other countries around theldjaexcept the United States,
Canada and Japan. In 2008, Galderma became Is#a’distributor for Dyspor in Brazil, Argentina and Paraguay. In 2009,
the health authorities of 15 European Union coastéapproved Dyspogt for glabellar lines under the trade name Azzafirdn
2011, Ipsen and Syntaxin engaged in a researciibaolition agreement to develop native and engiddermats of botulinum
toxin.

« Xeomin® , marketed by Merz Pharma, or Merz, and approvetth®&yDA in 2010 for cervical dystonia and bleplsgasm in
adults previously treated with Botax. In the third quarter of 2011, Xeom@nwas approved by the FDA and in Korea for
glabellar lines. Xeomim is also currently approved for therapeutic indimasi in most countries in the European Union as all
Canada and certain countries in Latin America asdABocoutur®
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(rebranded from Xeomi® ), marketed by Merz and received approval for dlabénes in Germany in 2009. In 2010, Bocouture
® was approved in significant markets within the Ea@an Union. Xeomim is also approved for glabellar lines in Argentimal a
Mexico.

We are aware of competing neuromodulators currdrgigg developed and commercialized in Asia, Séuttterica and other markets.
These lightly regulated markets may not requiresagifice to the FDA’'s cGMPs or the regulatory requésts of the European Medicines
Agency or other regulatory agencies in countries #ie members of the Organization for Economicp@éoation and Development. While th
products are unlikely to meet stringent U.S. rejuiastandards, the companies operating in theskeatzamay be able to produce products at
lower cost than United States and European manuggst In addition to the injectable botulinum toxiose forms, we are aware that other
companies are developing topical neuromodulatarsdemetic and therapeutics indications and arewating clinical trials for acne and fac
aesthetic and hyperhidrosis.

Aesthetic Medicine

We anticipate that the first use of our products lvé in the professional facial aesthetic medigimerket which includes neurotoxins and
dermal fillers, as well as polymer-based injectablhese and other products experience indirecpettion from procedures, such as laser
treatments, face lifts, chemical peels, fat infatsi and cold therapy. In the United States, defiflel products, including Allergan’s Juvéderm
® Ultra and Ultra Plus, compete with Galderma’s prddiRestylan® and Perlane™. In 2010, the FDA approved Allergdo'sédern® Ultra
XC and Ultra Plus XC products containing lidocasizewell as new formulations of Galderma's Restytaaad Perlane™ also containing
lidocaine and Restylar@ without lidocaine for lips. Additional competitoirs the filler category include Radies®e a calcium hydroxylapatit
from BioForm, which was acquired by Merz in 2016ulptra® from Valeant Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and BelotertauBze® from Merz.
Internationally, competitive products include Q-Nerhnge of Restylan® and Perlane™ products, as well as products froneiénEiloraga,
Teoxane, Galderma and a large number of other tomiluacid, bioceramic, protein and other polymasdxd dermal fillers.

Sales and Marketing

We currently have limited marketing capabilitiesiaro sales organization. Assuming successful cdinplef clinical trials and receipt
of marketing approval for RTO01 for treatment afwls feet lines or for RT0O02 for treatment of gldhelines, by the FDA, we plan to launch
in North America with our own sales force and comigé organization. Specifically, we would access North American market through a
focused, specialized sales force that targetsdre mhysicians (dermatologists, plastic surgeardaf plastic surgeons and oculo-plastic
surgeons) who perform the majority of the cosmgtacedures. Assuming approval to market in theadntates, we will focus our initial
marketing of RTO01 and RT002 on these core spesalt

After European approval to market, we anticipatekating RT001 and RT002 through either our own caruial infrastructure or a
combination of our own infrastructure and that of possible future partners. For future uses of (RAT&nd RT002 outside of aesthetic
medicine, we are evaluating launching on our owthmyugh partner relationships.

Strategic Partnering

We plan to focus our efforts on developing and cemuializing RT001 and RT002 in North America. Weeimd to seek partners to fund
development of our products outside of specialtgiciae and outside of North America to maximize toenmercial potential of our product
candidates and delivery technology.

We also plan to leverage our TransM®$echnology platform outside of our core focus itutiaum toxin by partnering with other
companies. For example, in June 2013 we enteredaimexclusive technology evaluation agreement thighProcter & Gamble Company to
co-develop a peptide and explore applications efftansMTS® delivery technology in two classes of over-the-deugosmetic compounds.
If successful, this partnership would enable uzteive royalty revenue.

Intellectual Property

Our success depends in large part on our abiligbtain and maintain intellectual property protectfor our drug candidates, novel
biological discoveries, and drug development tetdmoand other know-how, to operate without infilrgyon the proprietary or intellectual
property rights of others and to prevent othermfinfringing our proprietary and intellectual properights. We seek to protect our proprietary
position by, among other methods, filing U.S. amakign patent applications related to our propnetachnology, inventions and
improvements that are important to the developraadtimplementation of our business. We also relikraaw-how, copyright, trademarks and
trade secret laws, continuing technological innimrat
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and potential in-licensing opportunities to devedo maintain our proprietary position. Such pridtgcis also maintained using confidential
disclosure agreements. Protection of our technetoigi important for us to offer our customers pedpry services and products unavailable
from our competitors, and to exclude our competifoom practicing technology that we have developiecbmpetitors in our industry have
access to the same technology, our competitiveipnsnay be adversely affected.

It is possible that our current patents, or pateritich we may later acquire, may be successfulgllehged or invalidated in whole or in
part. It is also possible that we may not obtasuésl patents from our pending patent applicatiomdgher inventions we seek to protect. Due tc
uncertainties inherent in prosecuting patent apfibos, sometimes patent applications are rejeamddve subsequently abandon them. It is
possible that we may develop proprietary productechnologies in the future that are not pateetablthat the patents of others will limit or
altogether preclude our ability to do businessaddition, any patent issued to us may provide uis litile or no competitive advantage, in
which case we may abandon such patent or licetisaitother entity. For more information, please ‘$&am 1A. Risk Factors —Risks Relate
to our Intellectual Property.”

As of February 25, 2015, we held approximately®iied patents and approximately 151 pending papgiications, including foreign
counterparts of U.S. patents and applications. ¥evef our patents are issued in the United Statiks,the rest issued in Australia, Canada,
China, various countries in Europe, Hong Kong,dkrdapan, Malaysia, Mexico, New Zealand, SingapockSouth Africa. In addition, we
have pending patent applications in the UnitedeStas well as in Australia, Brazil, Canada, Chihappe, Hong Kong, Israel, India, Japan,
Korea, Mexico, New Zealand, Singapore and Taiwdmre darliest that any of our patents will expirdufy 20, 2021 for U.S. Patent
No. 7,807,780. Because approval for RTO01 is stiliding before the FDA, one of these patents latea granted Revance patent, may
eligible for a patent term extension of up to figars, provided the total period of market exclitgivased on the extended patent does not
exceed 14 years. For more information, please Basitiess — Government Regulation — U.S. Patent TRestoration and Marketing
Exclusivity.”

We will continue to pursue additional patent prtitetas well as take appropriate measures to obtainmaintain proprietary protection
for our innovative technologies.

Our registered and pending U.S. trademarks indREFEANCE ® , TRANSMTS® , MOTISTE, XOTIKIS and JANTYNG.

Government Regulation
Product Approval Process in the United States

In the United States, the FDA regulates drugs aolddic products under the Federal Food, Drug aasn@tic Act, or FDCA, its
implementing regulations, and other laws, includinghe case of biologics, the Public Health Se\Act. Our product candidates, RT001 anc
RTO002, are subject to regulation by the FDA asofobic. Biologics require the submission of a BldAthe FDA and approval of the BLA by
the FDA before marketing in the United States.

The process of obtaining regulatory approvals ammercial sale and distribution and the subseqge@mpliance with applicable feder.
state, local and foreign statutes and regulatiegaire the expenditure of substantial time andnfina resources. Failure to comply with the
applicable U. S. requirements at any time duriggfoduct development process, approval proceafiesrapproval, may subject an applicant
to administrative or judicial civil or criminal sations. These sanctions could include the Fbwfusal to approve pending applications, lice
suspension or revocation, withdrawal of an appradwgbosition of a clinical hold on clinical trialgjarning letters, product recalls, product
seizures, total or partial suspension of produotiodistribution, injunctions, fines, refusals @igrnment contracts, restitution, disgorgement
or civil or criminal penalties. The process reqdiby the FDA before a biologic may be marketechisWnited States generally involves the
following:

« completion of preclinical laboratory tests, aalmstudies and formulation studies performed iroedtance with the FDA'’s current
good laboratory practices, or GLP, regulations;

« submission to the FDA of an IND which must becorfieative before human clinical trials in the Unit8tates may begi

« approval by an independent review board, or IRRa&h clinical trial site before each trial mayitigated.
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» performance of adequate and well-controlled huglimical trials in accordance with the FDA'’s cemt good clinical practices, or
GCP, regulations to establish the safety and efficd the product candidate for its intended use;

» submission to the FDA of a BL.

» satisfactory completion of an FDA inspectionthié FDA deems it as a requirement, of the manuffang facility or facilities
where the product is produced to assess compliaitbeghe FDA'’s current good manufacturing practitandards, or cGMP,
regulations to assure that the facilities, methaout$ controls are adequate to preserve the proddetiity, strength, quality and
purity, as well as compliance with applicable QyaBystem Regulations, or QSR, for devices;

» potential audits by the FDA of the nonclinical attihical trial sites that generated the data inpguwpof the BLA
* review of the BLA by an external advisory committeghe FDA, whose recommendations are not bindimthe FDA; an

» FDA review and approval of the BLA prior to any comrcial marketing or sa

Preclinical Studies

Before testing any compounds with potential thestiperalue in humans, the product candidate enkergreclinical testing stage.
Preclinical tests include laboratory evaluationpmfduct chemistry, stability and formulation, aslvas animal studies to assess the potential
toxicity and activity of the product candidate. Tdenduct of the preclinical tests must comply wébteral regulations and requirements
including GLPs. The sponsor must submit the resfltee preclinical tests, together with manufaictwiinformation, analytical data, any
available clinical data or literature and a prombskénical protocol, to the FDA as part of the INChe IND automatically becomes effective 30
days after receipt by the FDA, unless the FDA misancerns or questions about the conduct of thieal trial, including concerns that human
research subjects will be exposed to unreasonaalightrisks. In such a case, the IND sponsor aadFEPA must resolve any outstanding
concerns before the clinical trial can begin. TBEFmMay also impose clinical holds on a product d¢daté at any time before or during clinical
trials due to safety concerns or non-compliancégoother reasons.

Clinical Trials

Clinical trials involve the administration of theggluct candidate to human patients under the sigi@nvof qualified investigators,
generally physicians not employed by or under thrécal trial sponsor’s control. Clinical trialseiconducted under protocols detailing, amon
other things, the objectives of the clinical triddising procedures, subject selection and exclusiteria, and the parameters to be used to
monitor subject safety and effectiveness. Eaclopmtmust be submitted to the FDA as part of thB.IRlinical trials must be conducted in
accordance with GCPs. Further, each clinical triabt be reviewed and approved by an IRB at or s@gyieach institution at which the clinic
trial will be conducted. An IRB is charged with peoting the welfare and rights of clinical trialrpeipants and considers such items as whe
the risks to individuals participating in the ctial trials are minimized and are reasonable irtiogldo anticipated benefits. The IRB also
approves the form and content of the informed coneat must be signed by each clinical trial sabge his or her legal representative and
must monitor the clinical trial until completed. Man clinical trials are typically conducted in thrgequential phases that may overlap or be
combined:

* Phase 1 The product candidate is initially introduced irstdimited population of healthy human subjects tasted for safety,
dosage tolerance, absorption, metabolism, distdbwnd excretion. In the case of some productsdate diseases, or when the
product may be too inherently toxic to ethicallyradister to healthy volunteers, the initial humasting is often conducted in
patients with the disease or condition for whioh pinoduct candidate is intended to gain an eadication of its effectiveness.

* Phase 2 The product candidate is evaluated in a limiteliepa population, but larger than in Phase 1, amtdy possible adverse
events and safety risks, to preliminarily evaluhteefficacy of the product for specific targetadications and to assess dosage
tolerance, optimal dosage and dosing schedule.

* Phase 3.Clinical trials are undertaken to further evalud¢sage, and provide substantial evidence of climificacy and safety
in an expanded patient population, such as seliaraired to several thousand, at geographicallyedégul clinical trial sites.
Phase 3 clinical trials are typically conducted wkdhase 2 clinical trials demonstrate that a dasge of the product candidate is
effective and has an acceptable safety profiles&higals typically have at least 2 groups of pasievho, in a blinded fashion,
receive either the product or a placebo. Phasmigal trials are intended to establish the overak/benefit ratio of the product
and provide an adequate basis for product labeGemerally, two adequate and well-controlled Pl8asknical trials are required
by the FDA for approval of a BLA.
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IND sponsors may dispute FDA decisions concernliimgcal development. For example, we engaged irFtrenal Dispute Resolution
process with the FDA for the proposed indicatiamnary endpoint assessment and primary endpoinsurement of RTOO01 for crow’s feet
lines. In May 2012, we received a determination tha End-of-Phase 2 had been reached for thedtidicof lateral canthal lines.

Post-approval trials, sometimes referred to asdé#Aadinical trials, may be conducted after initizrketing approval. These trials are
used to gain additional experience from the treatroépatients in the intended therapeutic indmato further assess the biologic’s safety anc
effectiveness after BLA approval. Phase 4 trials loa initiated by the drug sponsor or as a condibioBLA approval by the FDA.

Annual progress reports detailing the results efdlmical trials must be submitted to the FDA awritten IND safety reports must be
promptly submitted to the FDA and the investigaforsserious and unexpected adverse events oriaing from tests in laboratory animals
that suggests a significant risk for human subjects

Concurrent with clinical trials, companies usuabmplete additional animal studies and must alselde additional information about
the chemistry and physical characteristics of tléohic and finalize a process for manufacturing fimoduct in commercial quantities in
accordance with cGMP requirements. The manufaguyincess must be capable of consistently produpiradjty batches of the product
candidate and, among other things, must developadstfor testing the identity, strength, qualityl grurity of the final biologic product.
Additionally, appropriate packaging must be seléeted tested and stability studies must be conduotdemonstrate that the product
candidate does not undergo unacceptable detedpratier its shelf life.

U.S. Review and Approval Processes

The results of product development, preclinicatligs and clinical trials, along with descriptiorfdlee manufacturing process, analytical
tests, proposed labeling and other relevant inftionare submitted to the FDA in the form of a Bk#questing approval to market the proc
for one or more specified indications. The submisgif a BLA is subject to the payment of substdniser fees.

Once the FDA receives a BLA, it has 60 days toaewhe BLA to determine if it is substantially colete and the data is readable, be
it accepts the BLA for filing. Once the submissisraccepted for filing, the FDA begins an in-depgiliiew of the BLA. Under the goals and
policies agreed to by the FDA under the Prescrhipboug User Fee Act, or PDUFA, the FDA has twelvanths from submission in which to
complete its initial review of a standard BLA andke a decision on the application, and eight mofitm submission for a priority BLA, and
such deadline is referred to as the PDUFA date.FIbve does not always meet its PDUFA dates for eih@ndard or priority BLAs. The
review process and the PDUFA date may be extengdlorée months if the FDA requests or the BLA spommherwise provides additional
information or clarification regarding informati@ready provided in the submission within the thsée months before the PDUFA date.

After the BLA submission is accepted for filingetRDA reviews the BLA to determine, among othendsi whether the proposed
product is safe and effective for its intended as&, whether the product is being manufactured¢dom@ance with cGMP to assure and
preserve the product’s identity, strength, quadityl purity. The FDA may refer applications for nlogreig or biological products or drug or
biological products which present difficult quesiioof safety or efficacy to an advisory committgpjcally a panel that includes clinicians and
other experts, for review, evaluation and a recondagon as to whether the application should beamgu and under what conditions. The
FDA is not bound by the recommendations of an asyisommittee, but it considers such recommendataamefully when making decisions.
During the approval process, the FDA also will detiee whether a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation 8igges, or REMS, is necessary to assur
the safe use of the product. If the FDA conclud®EMS is needed, the sponsor of the BLA must submitoposed REMS; the FDA will not
approve the BLA without an approved REMS, if regdirA REMS can substantially increase the costbtdining approval.

Before approving a BLA, the FDA can inspect thaliiées at which the product is manufactured. TH2ARwill not approve the BLA
unless it determines that the manufacturing praseaad facilities are in compliance with cGMP reguients and adequate to assure consi
production of the product within required specificas. Additionally, before approving a BLA, the ROvill typically inspect one or more
clinical sites to assure that the clinical trialsresconducted in compliance with GCP requiremeéhtlke FDA determines that the application,
manufacturing process or manufacturing facilities ot acceptable, it will outline the deficiencieghe submission and often will request
additional clinical testing or information beford8&A can be approved.

The FDA will issue a complete response letteréf digency decides not to approve the BLA. The compésponse letter describes all of
the specific deficiencies in the BLA identified the FDA. The deficiencies identified may be mirfor,
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example, requiring labeling changes, or majorgbample, requiring additional clinical trials. Atidnally, the complete response letter may
include recommended actions that the applicant make to place the application in a conditiondpproval. If a complete response letter is
issued, the applicant may either resubmit the Baddressing all of the deficiencies identified ie tatter, or withdraw the application.

If a product receives regulatory approval, the apal may be significantly limited to specific disea and dosages or the indications for
use may otherwise be limited, which could resttiet commercial value of the product. Further, tB&Fnay require that certain
contraindications, warnings or precautions be igetlin the product labeling. In addition, the FDAywequire post marketing studies,
sometimes referred to as Phase 4 testing, whiashias clinical trials designed to further assesgydrafety and effectiveness and may require
testing and surveillance programs to monitor tHetgaf approved products that have been commézeidl After approval, certain changes to
the approved biologic, such as adding new indiaationanufacturing changes or additional labelimgnmts$, are subject to further FDA review
and approval. Depending on the nature of the chpmgeosed, a BLA supplement must be filed and apgtdefore the change may be
implemented. For many proposed post-approval ctsaatmya BLA, the FDA has up to 180 days to revieavdpplication. As with new BLAS,
the review process is often significantly extentigdhe FDA requests for additional information tariication.

Post-Approval Requirements

Any biologic products for which we or our collabtwes receive FDA approvals are subject to contiguegulation by the FDA,
including, among other things, record-keeping regpaents, reporting of adverse experiences withptbduct, providing the FDA with updated
safety and efficacy information, product samplimgl aistribution requirements, complying with cemntalectronic records and signature
requirements and complying with FDA promotion addextising requirements, which include, among athegstrictions on direct-toensume
advertising, promoting biologics for uses or inigat populations that are not described in the pctd approved labeling, known as “off-label
use,” industry-sponsored scientific and educati@atvities, and promotional activities involvinigetinternet. The FDA closely regulates the
post-approval marketing and promotion of biologarsd although physicians may prescribe legallylalebe drugs for off-label uses,
manufacturers may not market or promote such tfllases. Failure to comply with these or other FBduirements can subject a
manufacturer to possible legal or regulatory agtsuth as warning letters, suspension of manufiagtuseizure of product, injunctive action,
mandated corrective advertising or communicatioitls iealthcare professionals, possible civil ominal penalties or other negative
consequences, including adverse publicity.

We currently manufacture our own clinical drug diggpto support both of our product candidatesad to do so on a commercial
scale if our product candidates are approved. diitiad, we also contract with third party manufaets for certain components necessary to
produce RTOOL1 in clinical quantities and expeatdntinue to do so to support commercial scale ol if RTO01 is approved. Our future
collaborators may also utilize third parties fomsoor all of a product we are developing with soohaborator. We and our third party
manufacturers are required to comply with appliedtIDA manufacturing requirements contained in tB&B cGMP regulations. cGMP
regulations require among other things, qualitytc@rand quality assurance as well as the corredipgrmaintenance of records and
documentation. Drug manufacturers and other estitieolved in the manufacture and distribution pp@ved biologics are required to regis
their establishments with the FDA and certain ségtencies, and are subject to periodic inspectigrtie FDA and certain state agencies for
compliance with cGMP and other laws. Accordinglhgmafacturers must continue to expend time, monay gdfort in the area of production
and quality control to maintain cGMP compliance.

U.S. Patent Term Restoration and Marketing Exclugiv

Depending upon the timing, duration and specificdhe FDA approval of our biologic product candiglatome of our U.S. patents may
be eligible for limited patent term extension untex Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restora\ct of 1984, commonly referred to
as the Hatch-Waxman Amendments. The Hatch-Waxmaen@iments permit a patent restoration term of Ujvéyears as compensation for
patent term lost during product development and-BA regulatory review process. However, patenntegstoration cannot extend the
remaining term of a patent beyond a total of 14y&am the product’'s approval date. The patemhterstoration period is generally one-half
the time between the effective date of an IND dredstubmission date of a BLA plus the time betwéernsubmission date of a BLA and the
approval of that application. Only one patent aggllie to an approved product is eligible for thieegion and the application for the extensior
must be submitted prior to the expiration of theepa The United States Patent and Trademark Qfficeonsultation with the FDA, reviews
and approves the application for any patent terrareston or restoration. In the future, we may idtemapply for restoration of patent term for
one of our currently owned or licensed patentddth @atent life beyond its current expiration dd&pending on the expected length of the
clinical trials and other factors involved in thkniy of the relevant BLA.
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Market exclusivity provisions under the FDCA casaatlelay the submission or the approval of cedpplications of other companies
seeking to reference another company’s BLA. Speadlfi, the Biologics Price Competition and InnowatiAct of 2009, or BPCIA, established
an abbreviated pathway for the approval of biogimiind interchangeable biological products. The abbreviated regulatory pathway
establishes legal authority for the FDA to reviavd approve biosimilar biologics, including the pbksdesignation of a biosimilar as
“interchangeable” based on their similarity to ¢xig brand product. Under the BPCIA, an applicafimna biosimilar product cannot be
approved by the FDA until twelve years after thigioal branded product was approved under a BLAveleer, an application may be
submitted after four years if it contains a cettfion of patent invalidity or non-infringementdae of the patents listed with the FDA by the
innovator BLA holder. The BPCIA is complex and idybeginning to be interpreted and implementedhgyFDA. As a result, its ultimate
impact, implementation and meaning are subjechtedainty.

Product Approval Process Outside the United States

In addition to regulations in the United States,wibe subject to a variety of foreign regulat®ogoverning manufacturing, clinical
trials, commercial sales and distribution of ouufe products. Whether or not we obtain FDA apprfmaa product candidate, we must obtain
approval of the product by the comparable regwadnithorities of foreign countries before commeagaditinical trials or marketing in those
countries. The approval process varies from couotgountry, and the time may be longer or shdhtan that required for FDA approval. The
requirements governing the conduct of clinicallgsi@roduct licensing, pricing and reimbursememy\greatly from country to country.

Under European Union regulatory systems, marketingorizations may be submitted either under arakred, decentralized or mutual
recognition procedure. The centralized proceduogiges for the grant of a single marketing authatian that is valid for all European Union
member states. The decentralized procedure inckelesting one “reference member state,” or RM8,submitting to more than one member
state at the same time. The RMS National Compétatitority conducts a detailed review and prepareassessment
report, to which concerned member states provideneent. The mutual recognition procedure providesrfatual recognition of national
approval decisions. Under this procedure, the lafla national marketing authorization may subanitapplication to the remaining member
states post-initial approval. Within 90 days ofai@ing the applications and assessment report, m&chber state must decide whether to
recognize approval.

Federal and State Fraud and Abuse and Data Privanyd Security Laws and Regulations

In addition to FDA restrictions on marketing of pimaceutical products, federal and state fraud dodelaws restrict certain business
practices in the biopharmaceutical industry. THages include anti-kickback and false claims staut®e will be subject to these laws and
regulations once we begin to directly commerciatine products.

The federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits, amanger things, knowingly and willfully offering, pag, soliciting or receiving
remuneration to induce, or in return for, purchgsieasing, ordering or arranging for the purchéesese or order of any item or service
reimbursable under Medicare, Medicaid or other fedeealthcare programs. The term “remuneratiors’ieen broadly interpreted to include
anything of value, including for example, giftsscbunts, the furnishing of supplies or equipmergdit arrangements, payments of cash,
waivers of payment, ownership interests and pragdinything at less than its fair market value. Anhé-Kickback Statute has been
interpreted to apply to arrangements between phaauial manufacturers on one hand prescribershpsers and formulary managers on the
other. Although there are a number of statutoryrgténs and regulatory safe harbors protectingaoedommon activities from prosecution,
the exemptions and safe harbors are drawn narr@anty our practices may not in all cases meet di@triteria for statutory exemptions or
safe harbor protection. Practices that involve neenation that may be alleged to be intended todadguescribing, purchases or
recommendations may be subject to scrutiny if dhe@yot qualify for an exemption or safe harbor.&al/courts have interpreted the statute’s
intent requirement to mean that if any one purpgissn arrangement involving remuneration is to celteferrals of federal healthcare coverec
business, the statute has been violated. The mfabke AntiKickback Statute was also broadened by the Pd@mtection and Affordable Ca
Act as amended by the Health Care and EducationriRéi@tion Act of 2010, or collectively, the ACAyhich, among other things, amends the
intent requirement of the federal Anti-Kickback tita. Pursuant to the statutory amendment, a pensentity no longer needs to have actual
knowledge of this statute or specific intent tolate it in order to have committed a violation aldition, the ACA provides that the
government may assert that a claim including itemservices resulting from a violation of the fealeknti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false
or fraudulent claim for purposes of the civil Fal3aims Act or the civil monetary penalties statwthich imposes penalties against any perso
who is determined to have presented or caused podsented a claim to a federal health programttigaperson knows or should know is for
an item or service that was not provided as claiorad false or fraudulent. The federal transpayaequirements under ACA require certain
manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologics and
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medical supplies to annually report to the Depantnoé Health and Human Services information reldatedayments and other transfers of
value to physicians and teaching hospitals andiptaysownership and investment interests.

The federal False Claims Act prohibits any persomfknowingly presenting, or causing to be presgradalse claim for payment to the
federal government or knowingly making, using ausiag to be made or used a false record or statematerial to a false or fraudulent claim
to the federal government. Pharmaceutical and dtbalthcare companies have been prosecuted ureder s for allegedly providing free
product to customers with the expectation thattetomers would bill federal programs for the pid®ther companies have been prosec
for causing false claims to be submitted becauskeo€ompanies’ marketing of the product for unappd, and thus non-reimbursable, uses.
Also, many states have similar fraud and abusatstabr regulations that apply to items and sesvieambursed under Medicaid and other ¢
programs, or, in several states, apply regardieseqayor.

In addition, we may be subject to data privacy security regulation by both the federal governnaerd the states in which we conduct
our business. The Health Insurance Portability Aaccbuntability Act, or HIPAA, as amended by the Hlednformation Technology and
Clinical Health Act, or HITECH, and its implemengimegulations, imposes certain requirements rejdtirthe privacy, security and
transmission of individually identifiable healtHfanmation. Among other things, HITECH makes HIPAASvacy and security standards
directly applicable to “business associates,” tHndependent contractors or agents of coveredesithat receive or obtain protected health
information in connection with providing a servioe behalf of a covered entity. HITECH also increbes civil and criminal penalties that
may be imposed against covered entities, busirssexiates and possibly other persons, and gaweaitatneys general new authority to file
civil actions for damages or injunctions in federalrts to enforce the federal HIPAA laws and saéirney’s fees and costs associated with
pursuing federal civil actions. In addition, stite/s govern the privacy and security of health iinfation in certain circumstances, many of
which differ from each other in significant waysdamay not have the same effect, thus complicatomptiance efforts.

Because of the breadth of these laws and the naesswof available statutory and regulatory exemgtid is possible that some of our
business activities now and in the future couldligiect to challenge under one or more of such.l#wesir operations are found to be in
violation of any of the federal and state laws dégsd above or any other governmental regulatibasapply to us, we may be subject to
penalties, including criminal and significant ciwlonetary penalties, damages, fines, imprisonnesetusion of products from reimbursement
under government programs and the curtailmentsirueturing of our operations, any of which cout¥ersely affect our ability to operate our
business and our results of operations. To thene#tat any of our products are sold in a foreigardry, we may be subject to similar foreign
laws and regulations, which may include, for ins@rapplicable post-marketing requirements, inclgdiafety surveillance, anti-fraud and
abuse laws and implementation of corporate comgdigomograms and reporting of payments or transfievalue to healthcare professionals.

Environment, Health and Safety

We are voluntarily assessing and publicly reporting greenhouse gas emissions and water usagbaaadegun to take action to
reduce such emissions and usage. For example veecdstablished employee commuter programs, evaltiaeehergy efficiency of our
buildings and installed low-flow water fixtures. Naus laws and regulations have been implementedeounder consideration to mitigate the
effects of climate change caused by greenhousergassions. For example, the California Air ResosiBeard is in the process of drafting
regulations to meet state emissions targets. Basedirrent information and subject to the finali@atof the proposed regulations, we believe
that our primary risk related to climate changthésrisk of increased energy costs. However, becenesare not an energy intensive business,
we do not anticipate being subject to a cap ardktsystem or any other mitigation measures thatdMikeely be material to our capital
expenditures, results of operations or competjpivsition.

We are also subject to other federal, state aral fegulations regarding workplace safety and ptaia of the environment. We use
hazardous materials, chemicals, viruses and varamisactive compounds in our research and devedopactivities and cannot eliminate the
risk of accidental contamination or injury from sieematerials. Certain misuse or accidents involtfiege materials could lead to significant
litigation, fines and penalties. We have implemdrieactive programs to reduce and minimize tHeafdhazardous materials incidents.

Research and Development

Conducting research and development is centralitdhesiness model. We have invested and expeciriincie to invest significant time
and capital in our research and development opasatOur research and development expenses werg 1888on and $27.8 million during tl
years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respgctWel plan to increase our resea
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and development expenses for the foreseeable futuniiate and complete clinical trials and otlassociated programs relating to RT001 for
the treatment of crow’s feet lines and therapentiecations such as hyperhidrosis, and to initeatd complete additional clinical trials and
associated programs related to RT002 for the tresatiwf glabellar lines and therapeutic indicationareas such as muscle movement
disorders.

Employees

As of December 31, 2014, we had 83 full-time empks; Of these employees, 62 employees were engageskarch and development
and 21 employees were engaged in finance, humannees, facilities, information technology, genaralnagement, and administration
activities. We plan to continue to expand our reseand development activities. To support thisagho we will need to expand managerial,
research and development, operations, finance tlugd functions. None of our employees are represelny a labor union, and we consider
employee relations to be good.

Other Information

We were incorporated in Delaware on August 10, 198%er the name Essentia Biosystems, Inc. We comedenperations in June 2002
and, in April 2005, changed our name to Revanceafeitics, Inc. Our principal executive offices meated at 7555 Gateway Boulevard,
Newark, California 94560, and our telephone nunidés10) 74-3400. Our website address is http://www.revanga.cthe information
contained in, or that can be accessed throughyebsite is not part of this Form 10-K.

We file electronically with the SEC, our annualagg on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 1Qz@rent reports on Form 8-K, and
amendments to those reports filed or furnishedyaursto Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange.Alte make available on our website at
www.revance.com (under “Investors-Financials &gs”), free of charge, copies of these reportas ss reasonably practicable after filing
these reports with, or furnishing them to, the SEC.

We are an "emerging growth company," as definadénJumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012"@0OBS Act"). We will remain
an emerging growth company until the earlier oftfi) last day of the fiscal year (a) following fifeh anniversary of our initial public offering
in February 2014, (b) in which we have total anrgraks revenue of at least $1.0 billion, or (cjvirich we are deemed to be a large accele
filer, and (2) the date on which we have issuedentiban $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt durthe prior three-year period. References
herein to "emerging growth company" shall havertfeaning associated with it in the JOBS Act.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Investing in our common stock involves a high degrferisk. You should carefully consider the ridkscribed below, as well as all other
information included in this Form 10-K, includingioconsolidated financial statements, the notesettoeand the section entitled
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€aindition and Results of Operations,” before youaide to purchase shares of our
common stock. If any of the following risks actpaltcurs, our business, prospects, financial camliand operating results could be
materially harmed. As a result, the trading prideoar common stock could decline and you could &iser part of your investment. Additior
risks and uncertainties not presently known to uthat we currently deem immaterial may also impair business operations and stock pr

Risks Related to Our Business and Strategy

We are substantially dependent on the clinical andommercial success of our product candidates, primmdy our topical product
candidate RT001 and our injectable product candida¢ RT002.

To date, we have invested most of our efforts amahtial resources in the research and developafdRT001, our topical formulation
botulinum toxin. We are in a Phase 3 developmengnam for RTOO01 for the treatment of crow's feeedi. In October 2014, we initiated an
open-label study designed to confirm successfakfea of the production of our topical RT001 drugduct to our manufacturing facility.
Following a comprehensive analysis of the dataiobthin such study, we plan to commence and comethe first half of 2015 a new open-
label study using RTOO1. In addition, we also expednitiate a Phase 2 clinical study using topR&001 for the treatment of hyperhidrosis in
mid-2015. To date, we have conducted sixteen d@initals for RT001, with a total of over 1,500 gedis, for the treatment of crow's feet lines.
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We have also invested in the research and develupohan injectable form of botulinum toxin, RTO®ased on the results of our Ph
1/2 study of RTOO02 for the treatment of moderatsaweere glabellar (frown) lines, we initiated BELMWO, a Phase 2 active comparator trial
against the market leader BOTOX® Cosmetic in |&&42 We are also exploring therapeutic indicatisunsh as muscle movement disorders,
which account for a large proportion of neurotottiarapeutic sales globally, using RT002.

Our near-term prospects, including our abilityitmhce our company and generate revenue, will depeavily on the successful
development, regulatory approval and commerciatimatf RTO01 and RT002, as well as any future pobdandidates. The clinical and
commercial success of our product candidates wleshd on a number of factors, including the folloyvi

» timely completion of, or need to conduct additif) clinical trials, including our clinical triafer RT001, RT002 and any future
product candidates, which may be significantly goar cost more than we currently anticipate aritldepend substantially upt
the number and design of such trials and the atzarad satisfactory performance of third party wetors;

» our ability to demonstrate the effectiveness dmction of effect of our product on a consistesiis as compared to existing or
future therapies;

» our ability to demonstrate to the satisfactionhaf United States Food and Drug Administration, DAFthe safety and efficacy
RT001, RT002 or any future product candidates thinozlinical trials;

» whether we are required by the FDA or other kinforeign regulatory agencies to conduct addélatinical trials to support the
approval of RT001, RT002 or any future product édates;

» the acceptance of parameters for regulatoryamarincluding our proposed indication, primandpaoint assessment and primary
endpoint measurement relating to our lead indicatimf RT001;

* our success in educating physicians and patsdrdst the benefits, administration and use of RT@&I002 or any future product
candidates, if approved,

» the prevalence and severity of adverse events iexqoexd with our product candidates or future apgdoproduct:
» the timely receipt of necessary marketing approfrais the FDA and similar foreign regulatory autities;
« the ability to raise additional capital on accepgabrms and in the time frames necessary to aetoav goals

e achieving and maintaining compliance with ajutatory requirements applicable to RT001, RT0Oary future product
candidates or approved products;

« the availability, perceived advantages, relativet ceelative safety and relative efficacy of al&ime and competing treatmel

» the effectiveness of our own or our future ptitdrstrategic collaborators’ marketing, sales drsdribution strategy and
operations;

e our ability to manufacture clinical trial supgdi of RT001, RT002 or any future product candidatesto develop, validate and
maintain a commercially viable manufacturing prectéat is compliant with current good manufacturingctices, or cGMP;

» our ability to successfully commercialize RTO®I,002 or any future product candidates, if appdofee marketing and sale,
whether alone or in collaboration with others;

» our ability to enforce our intellectual propertghis in and to RT001, RT002 or any future prodactdidates
» our ability to avoid third party patent interferenar intellectual property infringement clait

» acceptance of RT001, RT002 or any future prodantidates, if approved, as safe and effectivedbignts and the medical
community; and

» acontinued acceptable safety profile of RT001, ®T6r any future product candidates following appit
If we do not achieve one or more of these factoiamy of which are beyond our control, in a timelgrmer or at all, we could experience

significant delays or an inability to successfudymmercialize our product candidates. Accordinglg,cannot assure you that we will be able
to generate sufficient revenue through the saRTd01, RT002 or any future product candidate taiool our business.

We may be unable to obtain regulatory approval forRT001, RT002 or future product candidates under apficable regulatory
requirements. The denial or delay of any such appral would delay commercialization and have a mateail adverse effect on our
potential to generate revenue, our business and owesults of operations.

25




Table of Contents

To gain approval to market a biologic product sastRT001 and RT002, we must provide the FDA aneidorregulatory authorities
with data that adequately demonstrate the safetjtypand potency of the product for the intendedi¢ation applied for in a Biologics License
Application, or BLA, or other respective regulatdiling. The development of biologic products itoag, expensive and uncertain process, an
delay or failure can occur at any stage of anyusfatinical trials. A number of companies in theapimaceutical industry, including
biotechnology companies, have suffered signifisatibacks in clinical trials, including in Phasee¥elopment, even after promising results in
earlier preclinical studies or clinical trials. Heesetbacks have been caused by, among other, tfimdisgs made while clinical trials were
underway and safety or efficacy observations maddinical trials, including previously unreportadverse events. Success in preclinical
testing and early clinical trials does not enshet tater clinical trials will be successful, ame tresults of clinical trials by other parties nmay
be indicative of the results in trials we may coctdin particular, we have conducted two positita$e 2b controlled clinical trials of RT001,
in which RT001 met the primary efficacy and all@edary endpoints. We have also conducted one @tah IPhase 2b safety trial, which
demonstrated that sequential applications of RMéEe safe and well tolerated, even at an accetéfegquency. However, we have conduc
one Phase 3 clinical efficacy trial using a modifaluent formulation, the results of which wereadnsistent with our previous Phase 2b clir
trials and which did not show improvement from Iiasein either the placebo or RT001 group. In OetoP014, we conducted an open-label
clinical trialdesigned to test the efficacy of @apical RTO01 drug product. . The efficacy analysisn the 43 patients enrolled in the open-
label trial showed clinically meaningful efficacyeasured by the one-point investigator's global sssent, or IGA, and the one-point patient
severity assessment, or PSA, as well as in theeggtg for the composite one-point assessment.\idvpdint response rates for the individual
IGA and composite IGA and PSA assessments, howdigenot meet the endpoints for the patients eadoih the trial. Following a
comprehensive analysis of the data obtained in sialhwe determined that the preliminary compasésults were not adequate to move
forward with our Phase 3 pivotal trial at such tirdée plan to commence and complete in the firstdfa2015 an open-label trial using RT001
drug product manufactured in our facility. If anfyoar clinical trials do not demonstrate the safatyl efficacy to our satisfaction, or to the
satisfaction of the FDA, the timing and our abilityobtain regulatory approval for RT001 could batenially and adversely affected.

Our topical product candidate RT001 is currentlPirase 3 development, and our injectable produnctidate RT002 is in Phase 2
development. Our business currently depends suimtpaion their successful development, regulatmpproval and commercialization. We
currently have no drug or biologic products apptbfar sale, and we may never obtain regulatory @gdrto commercialize RT001 or RT002.
The research, testing, manufacturing, labelingrapg, sale, marketing and distribution of drug &#mlogic products are subject to extensive
regulation by the FDA and other regulatory autlesiin the United States and other countries, antl segulations differ from country to
country. We are not permitted to market RT0O01 008X in the United States until we receive appra¥a BLA from the FDA. We are also
not permitted to market RTO01 or RTO02 in any fgrecountries until we receive the requisite apprénean the regulatory authorities of such
countries.

The FDA or any foreign regulatory bodies can delayit or deny approval of our product candidaiesjuding RT001 and RT002, for
many reasons, including:

e our inability to demonstrate to the satisfactidrihe FDA or the applicable foreign regulatonydipghat RT001, RT002 or any
future product candidates are safe and effectivéhrequested indication;

« the FDA's or the applicable foreign regulatogeacy’s disagreement with our trial protocol or ihterpretation of data from
preclinical studies or clinical trials;

« our inability to demonstrate that clinical arttier benefits of RT001, RT002 or any future prodiarididates outweigh any safety
or other perceived risks;

» the FDA's or the applicable foreign regulatogeacy’s requirement for additional preclinical or clinistudies

» the FDA's or the applicable foreign regulatogeacy’s non-approval of the formulation, labelingloe specifications of RT001,
RTO002 or any future product candidates;

» the FDA's or the applicable foreign regulatogeacy’s failure to approve our manufacturing preessor facilities, or the
manufacturing processes or facilities of third pananufacturers with which we contract; or

» the potential for approval policies or regulati@ighe FDA or the applicable foreign regulatory mgies to significantly change
a manner rendering our clinical data insufficiemtdpproval.

Of the large number of drugs, including biologicsgdevelopment, only a small percentage succegsfolinplete the FDA or other
regulatory approval processes and are commerdiali¥e do not plan to conduct our U.S. Phase 3ddlrtrials for RTO01 under a Special
Protocol Assessment, or SPA. In the absence ofjaed SPA, there can be no assurance that the RIDAgnee with our Phase 3 clinical trial
protocol.

Further, after our Phase 2 clinical trials, we usedFDA’s Formal Dispute Resolution process t@obtonfirmation from the FDA that
our proposed indication, primary endpoint assessaneth primary endpoint measurement were acceptable
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for continued clinical trials. At the end of thisopess, the FDA indicated that the final indicatieould depend on the patient populations
studied, the data collected, and the interpretaifdhe data during the BLA review process. The F&}go indicated its expectation for
demonstration of botulinum toxin effect mechanisnaation of RT0O01 to be assessed at maximum cdigraor "at smile”, to inform its
analysis of the risk benefit of RTO01. Our clinidaivelopment program for RTO01 measures effecdrtalie” as an additional assessment
endpoint to demonstrate botulinum toxin's effectelaxation of muscle at maximum contraction. Hoerewage-related crow's feet lines of the
upper face are the lines visible "at rest" andpti@ary endpoint of our clinical development pragrmeasures the efficacy of RT001 by a 2-
point composite of physician and patient scalesé'sit"

In August 2014, the FDA issued a Draft Guidanceared by the Division of Dermatology and Dentald®icts of the FDA entitled
"Upper Facial Lines: Developing Botulinum Toxin @ré&roducts”. The Draft Guidance, among other thirgsommends assessing the prin
endpoint measurement for efficacy at maximum cetiva, recommends defining treatment success asra sf 0 or 1 and at least a two grade
reduction on both investigator and subject assassmnand recommends that review of photographsaatmum contraction by a masked
independent committee be a required secondaraeffimeasurement. We responded to the FDA's retprgstiblic comment on the non-
binding Draft Guidance on October 30, 2014 andresponse was filed as an exhibit to our CurrentiRem Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
November 4, 2014. We do not know when the guidavitde finalized, if at all, or the recommendat®that will be contained therein. Ever
final guidance is issued by the FDA, industry mayspie approval using an alternative approach iaffgoach satisfies the requirements of
applicable statutes and regulations. After consiahiawith our regulatory consultants, and baseplart on the outcome of our Formal Dispute
Resolution and related written confirmation frora #DA that we could proceed with Phase 3 developmenplan to complete our RT001
clinical trials using our current primary endpao@iEsessment by a 2-point composite of investigatdmpatient assessments "at rest"
supplemented by our additional assessment "at 'stoildemonstrate the mechanism of action is a batoi toxin effect.

While the FDA provided written confirmation thatrquroposed indication, primary endpoint assessmaedtprimary endpoint
measurement were acceptable for Phase 3 cliniald,tthe FDA has not confirmed that our proposetication, primary endpoint assessment
and primary endpoint measurement are acceptabledatatory approval. Further, while we did obtairitten confirmation with respect to
these aspects of our Phase 3 clinical trial desttpese is no assurance that the FDA will appraveRi A for RT001, will agree that the
benefits of RTO01 outweigh its risks or will notsanew concerns regarding our clinical trial desig

Even if we eventually complete clinical testing ardeive approval of any regulatory filing for RIQ@RT002 or any future product
candidates, the FDA or the applicable foreign ratpuy agency may grant approval contingent on gréopmance of costly additional post-
approval clinical trials. The FDA or the applicalideeign regulatory agency also may approve RT&XIQ02 or any future product candidates
for a more limited indication or a narrower patipopulation than we originally requested, and tBér applicable foreign regulatory agency
may not approve the labeling that we believe ireary or desirable for the successful commeratédiz of our product candidates. Any de
in obtaining, or inability to obtain, applicablegidatory approval for any of our product candidated RT001, in particular, would delay or
prevent commercialization of RT001 and would maigriadversely impact our business, results of afens and prospects.

We will require substantial additional financing to achieve our goals, and a failure to obtain this re@ssary capital when needed on
acceptable terms, or at all, could force us to deyalimit, reduce or terminate our product developmaet, other operations or
commercialization efforts.

Since our inception, most of our resources have bledicated to the preclinical and clinical devebept of our topical product
candidate, RTOO1. In particular, our U.S. clinipedgrams for RTO01 and RT002 will require substdritinds to complete. We have recorded
net losses of $62.9 million , $52.4 million and $5illion for the years ended December 31, 202@13 and 2012 , respectively, had an
accumulated deficit through December 31, 2014 &8%2 million and had a working capital surplus &63.5 million as of December 31,

2014 , primarily as a result of our initial pubtiffering and our follow-on public offering. We hafutinded our operations primarily through the
sale and issuance of convertible preferred stamkingon stock, notes payable and convertible noteafdecember 31, 2014 , we had capital
resources consisting of cash and cash equivalé®ts7d.0 million . On February 6, 2014, we soldd®®00 shares of common stock at $16.0(
per share for aggregate net proceeds of $98.6omilti our initial public offering, or IPO, after darwriting discounts, commissions, and other
offering expenses. On June 19, 2014, we sold 4600hares of common stock at $30.50 per shamgfimegate net proceeds of $131.3
million in our follow-on public offering, after urawriting discounts, commissions, and other offgrxpenses. We believe that we will
continue to expend substantial resources for treséeable future for the clinical development oDBT, RT002 and development of any other
indications and product candidates we may choogpertsue. These expenditures will include costs@ata with research and development,
conducting preclinical studies and clinical trided manufacturing and supply as well as marketimjselling any products approved for sale.
In addition, other
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unanticipated costs may arise. Because the outobm@ey clinical trial is highly uncertain, we caninmeasonably estimate the actual amounts
necessary to successfully complete the developarehtommercialization of RT001, RT002 and any ®ijproduct candidates.

We believe that our existing cash and cash equitglencluding the net proceeds from our IPO atiddieon public offering will allow
us to fund our operating plan through at leasintixt 12 months. However, our operating plan mayghaas a result of many factors currently
unknown to us, and we may need to seek additiaptal sooner than planned, through public or peieqquity or debt financings or other
sources, such as strategic collaborations. Suemdings may result in dilution to stockholders, asition of debt covenants and repayment
obligations or other restrictions that may affeat business. In addition, we may seek additionpitabdue to favorable market conditions or
strategic considerations even if we believe we tsafficient funds for our current or future openatiplans.

Our future capital requirements depend on manyfagctncluding:

» the results of our clinical trials for RT001 and GOR
» the timing of, and the costs involved in, obtainiegulatory approvals for RT001, RT002 or any fatproduct candidate
» the number and characteristics of any additionadipet candidates we develop or acq!

» the scope, progress, results and costs of i@gagrand developing RT001, RT002 or any futuredpob candidates, and
conducting preclinical and clinical trials;

» the cost of commercialization activities if RTIIQRTO02 or any future product candidates are ajgatdor sale, including
marketing, sales and distribution costs;

» the cost of manufacturing RT001, RT002 or artyrie product candidates and any products we suotigssommercialize and
maintaining our related facilities;

e our ability to establish and maintain strategptiaborations, licensing or other arrangementsthaderms of and timing such
arrangements;

» the degree and rate of market acceptance of angefapproved produc

» the emergence, approval, availability, percei@ddantages, relative cost, relative safety arativel efficacy of alternative and
competing products or treatments;

e any product liability or other lawsuits relatedaior products
» the expenses needed to attract and retain skilesbpne
» the costs associated with being a public com;

» the costs involved in preparing, filing, prostig, maintaining, defending and enforcing patdaines, including litigation costs
and the outcome of such litigation; and

» the timing, receipt and amount of sales of, or ligmon, future approved products, if ¢

Additional capital may not be available when neededterms that are acceptable to us or at aldéfquate funds are not available to us
on a timely basis, we may be required to delayitlireduce or terminate preclinical studies, clahitials, research, development,
manufacturing, sales, marketing or other commesaitiVities for RT001, RT002 or any future prodoahdidate.

If we raise additional capital through marketingl atstribution arrangements or other collaboratiatiategic alliances or licensing
arrangements with third parties, we may have togeish certain valuable rights to our product ddates, technologies, future revenue
streams or research programs or grant licensesrors that may not be favorable to us. If we ragigiteonal capital through public or private
equity offerings, the ownership interest of ourséirig stockholders will be diluted and the termswoy new equity securities may have a
preference over our common stock. If we raise auitht capital through debt financing, we may bejscitto covenants limiting or restricting
our ability to take specific actions, such as imicwy additional debt or making capital expenditusespecified financial ratios, any of which
could restrict our ability to commercialize our gust candidates or operate as a business.

Even if our product candidates receive regulatory pproval, they may fail to achieve the broad degreef physician adoption and use
necessary for commercial success.

The commercial success of RT001, RT002 and anydyitoduct candidates, if approved, will dependi§icantly on the broad adoption
and use of the resulting product by physiciansafiproved indications, including, in the case of BT,Ghe treatment of lateral canthal lines, or
crow'’s feet lines, and hyperhidrosis, in the casBT002, the treatment of glabellar lines,
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and other aesthetic and therapeutic indicationtswtkanay seek to pursue. The degree and rate cigag adoption of RT001, RT002 and any
future product candidates, if approved, will dependh number of factors, including:

» the effectiveness and duration of effect of ourdpict as compared to existing theray

* physician willingness to adopt a new therapyreéat crow’s feet lines, hyperhidrosis, glabellaes or other therapeutic
indications;

* overcoming any biases physicians or patients Inaay toward injectable procedures for the treatrokorow’s feet lines,
hyperhidrosis or other indications;

» patient satisfaction with the results and admiatgtn of our product and overall treatment experé
e patient demand for the treatment of crefiéet lines, hyperhidrosis, glabellar lines oreottherapeutic indications; a

« the revenue and profitability that our product witfer a physician as compared to alternative thies

If RTOO1, RTOO02 or any future product candidatesapproved for use but fail to achieve the broagteke of physician adoption
necessary for commercial success, our operatingtsemnd financial condition will be adversely affed.

Our product candidates, if approved, will face sigificant competition and our failure to effectively compete may prevent us from
achieving significant market penetration and expansn.

We expect to enter highly competitive pharmaceutiod medical device markets. Successful compstitothe pharmaceutical and
medical device markets have the ability to effed{ivdiscover, obtain patents, develop, test andinlvegulatory approvals for products, as\
as the ability to effectively commercialize, marketd promote approved products, including commuimgahe effectiveness, safety and value
of products to actual and prospective customersaedical staff. Numerous companies are engagdtkiddévelopment, patenting, manufac
and marketing of health care products competitiith those that we are developing. Many of thesemtdl competitors are large, experiencec
companies that enjoy significant competitive adages, such as substantially greater financialarebeand development, manufacturing,
personnel and marketing resources, greater braogiméion and more experience and expertise inimbgmarketing approvals from the FI
and other regulatory authorities.

Upon marketing approval, the first expected useunfproducts will be in aesthetic medicine. Thettzetic product market, and the facial
aesthetic market in particular, is highly compegétand dynamic, and is characterized by rapid abdtantial technological development and
product innovations. This market is also charazsetiby competitors obtaining patents to protecttwligy consider to be their intellectual
property. We are seeking regulatory approval of ®Ifdr the treatment of crow’s feet lines and RT@@2he treatment of glabellar lines.

We anticipate that RT001, if approved for the tmeatit of crow's feet lines, will face significantnapetition from other facial aesthetic
products, including injectable botulinum toxins atetmal fillers. If approved, RT0O01 may also conepeith unapproved and off-label
treatments. We anticipate that RT002, if approvéll,also face significant competition from exiggiinjectable botulinum toxins and dermal
fillers, as well as unapproved and off-label treaits. Further, if approved, in the future we mayefaompetition for both RT001 and RT002
from biosimilar products and products noted bagmzhotulinum toxin. To compete successfully in dlesthetic market, we will have to
demonstrate that the reduction of crow’s feet liwégh RTOO1 or the treatment of glabellar lineshRT002 is a worthwhile aesthetic treatmen
and is a superior alternative to existing therapBesmpeting in the aesthetic market could resuftrice-cutting, reduced profit margins and
limited market share, any of which would harm ousibess, financial condition and results of opergti

Due to less stringent regulatory requirements etlaee many more aesthetic products and proceduadalzle for use in international
markets than are approved for use in the UnitetéStahere are also fewer limitations on the claimas our competitors in international
markets can make about the effectiveness of the@ytts and the manner in which they can markenttes a result, we face more
competition in these markets than in the UnitedeSta

We currently make our RT0O01 clinical drug product exclusively in one manufacturing facility and our RTO02 clinical drug product in
the same and one other external facility. We planctutilize certain of these facilities in the futureto support commercial production if
our product candidates are approved. If these or anfuture facility or our equipment were damaged ordestroyed, or if we experience a
significant disruption in our operations for any reason, our ability to continue to operate our busings would be materially harmed.

We currently manufacture our own clinical drug protto support RTO01 exclusively in a single fagiind plan to utilize this facility in
the future to support commercial production if pupduct candidate is approved. The drug product to
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support RT002 clinical trials is manufactured ie ame facility, as well as in an external manufaag facility. We expect that additional
manufacturing capacity would need to be establishéie future to support commercial productiorRGi002 if this product candidate is
approved. If these or any future facility were eodamaged, destroyed or otherwise unable to opevhtther due to earthquakes, fire, floods,
hurricanes, storms, tornadoes, other natural disasmployee malfeasance, terrorist acts, poweges or otherwise, or if performance of our
manufacturing facilities is disrupted for any otheason, such an event could delay our clinicalsior, if our product candidates are approvec
jeopardize our ability to manufacture our produadpromptly as our customers expect or possilkdyl.af we experience delays in achievi

our development objectives, or if we are unablesmufacture an approved product within a timefrdna¢ meets our customers’ expectations
our business, prospects, financial results andtagipn could be materially harmed.

Currently, we maintain insurance coverage totafi@.7 million against damage to our property andmgent, $2.0 million in general
liability coverage, a $9.0 million umbrella policgnd an additional $30.0 million to cover businessrruption and research and development
restoration expenses, subject to deductibles dret bimitations. If we have underestimated our rasee needs with respect to an interruption
or if an interruption is not subject to coveragelemour insurance policies, we may not be ablet@icour losses.

Impairment in the carrying value of long-lived assés could negatively affect our operating results.

We have invested a significant amount of capitdduitd a larger capacity fill/finish line dedicaténlthe manufacture of our topical
product candidate RT001 and to support our regjdimense applications. Under generally acceptaanting principles, long-lived assets,
such as our fill/finish line, are required to beiesved for impairment whenever adverse events anghs in circumstances indicate a possible
impairment. If business conditions or other faciodicate that the carrying value of the asset matybe recoverable, we may be required to
record non-cash impairment charges. Additionalltheé carrying value of our capital equipment exiseeurrent fair value as determined basec
on the discounted future cash flows of the relgediuct, the capital equipment would be considérgzhired and would be reduced to fair
value by a non-cash charge to earnings, which coedghtively affect our operating results. Events$ eonditions that could result in
impairment in the value of our long-lived assetdude adverse clinical trial results, unfavoralilamges in competitive landscape, adverse
changes in the regulatory environment, or othetofadeading to reduction in expected long-ternesalr profitability.

We have a limited operating history and have incured significant losses since our inception and we teipate that we will continue to
incur losses for the foreseeable future. We have lyntwo product candidates in clinical trials and nocommercial sales, which, together
with our limited operating history, make it difficu It to assess our future viability.

We are a clinicaktage specialty biopharmaceutical company witim@did operating history. Biopharmaceutical prodietelopment is
highly speculative undertaking and involves a sattsal degree of risk. We are not profitable andehiacurred losses in each year since we
commenced operations in 2002. We have only a ldrogerating history upon which you can evaluatebusiness and prospects. In addition,
we have limited experience and have not yet dermatest an ability to successfully overcome manyhefrisks and uncertainties frequently
encountered by companies in new and rapidly evglfigids, particularly in the biopharmaceuticalustty. To date, we have not obtained any
regulatory approvals for any of our product cantglidar generated any revenue from product saleSmglto RT001 or RT002. We continue to
incur significant research and development andratkpenses related to our ongoing clinical trizd aperations. We have recorded net losse
of $62.9 million , $52.4 million and $58.3 millidor the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 ah? 2@spectively, had an accumulated
deficit through December 31, 2014 of $258.8 millard had a working capital surplus of $162.5 millas of December 31, 201frimarily as
a result of our initial public offering and our limlv-on public offering. In February 2014, we closad IPO. The net proceeds from the sale of
the shares in our IPO and our follow-on public offg, after deducting the underwriters’ discoumtmnenissions, and other offering expenses
related to the IPO and follow-on offering were appmately $98.6 million and $131.3 million , resfieely. Our capital requirements to
implement our business strategy are substanti@dlding our capital requirements to develop and rmencialize RT001 and RT002. We
believe that our currently available capital isfigignt to fund our operations through at leastrie&t 12 months. Given our desired clinical
development plans for the next 12 months, our firerstatements do not reflect an uncertainty aboutability to continue as a going conce
Accordingly, the financial statements do not inéwhy adjustments relating to the recoverability aassification of recorded asset amounts
and classification of liabilities should we be uleato continue as a going concern.

We expect to continue to incur losses for the feeeble future, and we anticipate these lossesneiktase as we continue our
development of, and seek regulatory approvalsRo001 and RT002, and begin to commercialize RTOQLRT002. Our ability to achieve
revenue and profitability is dependent on our gbtlh complete the development of our product cadaigis, obtain necessary regulatory
approvals and manufacture, market and commercializ@roducts successfully. Even if we achieveifability in the future, we may not be
able to sustain profitability in subsequent periddsr prior losses,
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combined with expected future losses, may adveedédygt the market price of our common stock andadaility to raise capital and continue
operations.

Even if RTO01, RTO02 or any future product candidags obtain regulatory approval, they may never achiee market acceptance or
commercial success.

Even if we obtain FDA or other regulatory approy&3001, RT002 or any future product candidates nwyachieve market acceptance
among physicians and patients, and may not be coomiig successful.

The degree and rate of market acceptance of RTRIDAQ2 or any future product candidates for whichreeeive approval depends on a
number of factors, including:

» the safety and efficacy of the product as demotestrim clinical trials

» the clinical indications for which the product igpeoved

» acceptance by physicians, major operators of diaitd patients of the product as a safe and eféettatmen
» proper training and administration of our produmyghysicians and medical st:

» the potential and perceived advantages of our tsdwer alternative treatmer

» the cost of treatment in relation to alternatieatments and willingness to pay for our produé@pproved, on the part of
physicians and patients;

» the willingness of patients to pay for RTO01,0R2 and other aesthetic treatments in generatjwelt other discretionary items,
especially during economically challenging times;

» the willingness of third party payors to reimbupbg/sicians for RT001, RT002 and any future produasnay commercializ
» relative convenience and ease of administre
» the prevalence and severity of adverse event:

» the effectiveness of our sales and marketing ef

Any failure by our product candidates that obta@guiatory approval to achieve market acceptancemmercial success would
materially adversely affect our results of openadiand delay, prevent or limit our ability to geaterrevenue and continue our business.

Clinical drug development involves a lengthy and eensive process with an uncertain outcome, and relési of earlier studies and trials
may not be predictive of future trial results.

Clinical testing is expensive and can take manysy/gacomplete, and its outcome is inherently urager Furthermore, we rely on
contract research organizations, or CROs, andceliniiial sites to ensure the proper and timelydean of our clinical trials. While we have
agreements governing the committed activities of@ROs, we have limited influence over their acfumiformance. A failure of one or more
of our clinical trials can occur at any time durithg clinical trial process. The results of preickh studies and clinical trials of our product
candidates may not be predictive of the resultatefstage clinical trials. For example, the positiveutes generated to date in clinical trials
RTO001 do not ensure that later clinical trialsJuing our Phase 3 clinical trials for the treatmehcrow’s feet lines, will demonstrate similar
results. Product candidates in later stages ofcalitrials may fail to show the desired safetyfipecand efficacy despite having progressed
through preclinical studies and initial clinicabis. In particular, we have conducted two posifese 2b clinical trials of RT001, in which
RTO001 met the primary efficacy and all secondamgypaints. We have also conducted one open-labegePlla safety study, which
demonstrated that sequential applications of RMé&Ee safe and wetblerated, even at an accelerated frequency. Hawesxehave conducte
one Phase 3 clinical efficacy trial using a modifaluent formulation, the results of which wereadnsistent with our previous Phase 2b clir
trials and which did not show improvement from Iiasein either the placebo or RT001 group. In OetoP014, we conducted an open-label
clinical trial designed to test the efficacy of dapical RTO01 drug product. The efficacy analygisn the 43 patients enrolled in the odabel
trial showed clinically meaningful efficacy meastifgy the one-point investigator’'s global assessp@nGA, and the one-point patient
severity assessment, or PSA, as well as in theeggtg for the composite one-point assessment.\idvpdint response rates for the individual
IGA and composite IGA and PSA assessments, howditenot meet the endpoints for the patients eadoih the trial. A number of compan
in the biopharmaceutical industry have sufferedificant setbacks in advanced clinical trials dudack of efficacy or adverse safety profiles,
notwithstanding promising results in earlier claditrials, and we cannot be certain that we will fiage similar setbacks. Even if our clinical
trials are completed, the results may not be gdefiico obtain regulatory approval for our prodoandidates.
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We have in the past and may in the future expeeigietays in our ongoing clinical trials, and wendd know whether future clinical
trials, if any, will begin on time, need to be reidmed, enroll an adequate number of patientsnoa tir be completed on schedule, if at all.
Clinical trials can be delayed or aborted for datgrrof reasons, including delay or failure to:

» obtain regulatory approval to commence a !

* reach agreement on acceptable terms with prispe€ROs and clinical trial sites, the terms ofiethcan be subject to extensive
negotiation and may vary significantly among diéier CROs and trial sites;

» obtain institutional review board, or IRB, approadleach sit

*  recruit suitable patients to participate in a t

» have patients complete a trial or return fortgiosatment followup;

» ensure clinical sites observe trial protocol ortoare to participate in a tri
e address any patient safety concerns that arisaglthe course of a trii

e address any conflicts with new or existing lawsegulations

* add a sufficient number of clinical trial sites

« manufacture sufficient quantities of product caatidfor use in clinical trial

Patient enrollment is a significant factor in tivaibg of clinical trials and is affected by manyfars, including the size and nature of the
patient population, the proximity of patients tonial sites, the eligibility criteria for the ttighe design of the clinical trial, competing atial
trials and clinicians’ and patients’ perceptiond@the potential advantages of the drug beingistlieh relation to other available therapies,
including any new drugs or treatments that maypdpaved for the indications we are investigating.

We could also encounter delays if a clinical tisasuspended or terminated by us, by the IRBsefrtktitutions in which such trials are
being conducted, by the data safety monitoring dsdfar such trial or by the FDA or other regulataythorities. Such authorities may suspenc
or terminate a clinical trial due to a number aftéas, including failure to conduct the clinicahbtrin accordance with regulatory requirements
or our clinical protocols, inspection of the cliai¢rial operations or trial site by the FDA or ethregulatory authorities resulting in the
imposition of a clinical hold, unforeseen safetsuiss or adverse side effects, failure to demoesaréienefit from using a drug, changes in
governmental regulations or administrative actionkck of adequate funding to continue the clihigal.

If we experience delays in the completion of, omi@ation of, any clinical trial of our product adidates, the commercial prospects of
our product candidates may be harmed, and outyatsligenerate product revenues from any of thesdyzt candidates will be delayed. In
addition, any delays in completing our clinicaatsi will
increase our costs, slow down our product candidetelopment and approval process and jeopardizalmlity to commence product sales
and generate revenues. Any of these occurrencesigrficantly harm our business, financial coratitiand prospects. In addition, many of
factors that cause, or lead to, a delay in the cenamment or completion of clinical trials may aldtimately lead to the denial of regulatory
approval of our product candidates.

We have no experience manufacturing our product cadidates at full commercial scale. If our product cadidates are approved, we will
face certain risks associated with scaling up our emufacturing capabilities to support commercial praluction.

We have developed an integrated manufacturingareseind development facility located at our coapmheadquarters. We manufac
drug substance and finished dose forms of drugymtoat this facility that we use for research aadedopment purposes and for clinical trials
of our product candidates. We do not have expegi@gmenanufacturing our product candidates at corniaescale. To meet our strategic
objectives, which contemplate internally manufaictyia significant portion of our drug substance finidhed dose form at full commercial
scale, if our product candidates are approved, as meed to expand our manufacturing facilities, m@shufacturing personnel and ensure tha
validated processes are consistently implementediirfiacilities. For example, we are building aykar capacity fill-finish line dedicated to our
topical product candidate RTO01 and to supportregulatory license applications, if approved. lditidn, we expect to further scale up our
RTO02 drug product manufacturing. The upgrade apamsion of our facilities will require additionagulatory approvals. In addition, it will
be costly and time-consuming to expand our faegitind recruit necessary additional personnelelaxe unable to expand our manufacturing
facilities in compliance with regulatory requirenteor to hire additional necessary manufacturimgqenel, we may encounter delays or
additional costs in achieving our research, devekmt and commercialization objectives, includingloaining regulatory approvals of our
product candidates, which could materially damagreboisiness and financial position.
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We currently contract with third party manufacturer s for certain components necessary to produce RTO®dr clinical trials and expect
to continue to do so to support commercial scale pduction if RT001 is approved. This increases thdgk that we will not have sufficient
guantities of RT001 or such quantities at an accepble cost, which could delay, prevent or impair oudevelopment or
commercialization efforts.

We currently rely on third-party manufacturers ¢ertain components necessary to produce RTOOlufoelmical trials, including the
bulk peptide, diluent and the delivery apparatus$ @éxpect to continue to rely on these or other rfarturers to support our commercial
requirements if RTOO01 is approved. Some of ourreais$ with our manufacturers contain minimum o pricing provisions and provide
for early termination based on regulatory appronééstones.

Reliance on third-party manufacturers entails aololitl risks, including reliance on the third pafidy regulatory compliance and quality
assurance, the possible breach of the manufactagregment by the third party, and the possibhaiteation or nonrenewal of the agreement
by the third-party at a time that is costly or ingenient for us. In addition, third- party manufaetrs may not be able to comply with cGMP or
Quality System Regulation, or QSR, or similar redoity requirements outside the United States. @ilurg, or the failure of our third-party
manufacturers, to comply with applicable regulagioould result in sanctions being imposed on wdudhing fines, injunctions, civil penalties,
delays, suspension or withdrawal of approvalsnéeerevocation, seizures or recalls of productstaijng restrictions and criminal
prosecutions, any of which could significantly adVersely affect supplies of RT001, RT002 or ameopproduct candidates or products that
we may develop. Any failure or refusal to supply tomponents for RT001, RT002 or any other prodantidates or products that we may
develop could delay, prevent or impair our clinidavelopment or commercialization efforts.

We depend on single-source suppliers for the raw nterials necessary to produce our product candidate§ he loss of these suppliers, or
their failure to supply us with these raw materials would materially and adversely affect our busines

We and our manufacturers purchase the materiakssary to produce RT001 and RT002 for our clirticals from single-source third
party suppliers. There are a limited number of $isppfor the raw materials that we use to manuf@cour product candidates and we may
need to assess alternate suppliers to preventsébpodisruption of the manufacture of the matsriscessary to produce our product
candidates for our clinical trials, and if approyvetlimately for commercial sale. In particular, watsource the manufacture of bulk peptide
through American Peptide Company, Inc., the dilubrdugh Hospira Worldwide, Inc. and our delivepparatus through Duoject Medical
Systems, Inc. We do not have any control over tbegss or timing of the acquisition of raw materiay our manufacturers. Although we
generally do not begin a clinical trial unless vedidve we have a sufficient supply of a productdidate to complete the clinical trial, any
significant delay in the supply of RT001, RT002a0y future product candidates, or the raw matedadponents thereof, for an ongoing
clinical trial due to the need to replace a thiagty supplier could considerably delay completibowr clinical trials, product testing and
potential regulatory approval of RT001, RT002 oy &rture product candidates. If we or our manufesrtsiare unable to purchase these raw
materials on acceptable terms, at sufficient quéditels, or in adequate quantities, if at all, development of RT001, RT002 and any future
product candidates, or the commercial launch ofegproved products, would be delayed or there wbald shortage in supply, which would
impair our ability to meet our development objeesivfor our product candidates or generate reveinoiesthe sale of any approved products.

Furthermore, if there is a disruption to our or third party suppliers’ relevant operations, wel Wwdve no other means of producing
RT001, RT002 or any future product candidates tingiy restore the affected facilities or we or tpeycure alternative facilities. Additionally,
any damage to or destruction of our or our thirdypar suppliers’ facilities or equipment may sificantly impair our ability to manufacture
our product candidates on a timely basis.

We or the third parties upon whom we depend may badversely affected by earthquakes or other naturadlisasters and our business
continuity and disaster recovery plans may not adagptely protect us from a serious disaster.

Our corporate headquarters and other facilitieduding our sole manufacturing facility, are lochte the San Francisco Bay Area, wt
in the past has experienced severe earthquakedoWet carry earthquake insurance. Earthquakether aatural disasters could severely
disrupt our operations, and have a material adwffeet on our business, results of operationsnfaial condition and prospects.

If a natural disaster, power outage or other ewentirred that prevented us from using all or aiigmt portion of our headquarters, that
damaged critical infrastructure, such as our manufang facility, enterprise financial systems camafacturing resource planning and
enterprise quality systems, or that otherwise gigd operations, it may be difficult or, in certamses, impossible for us to continue our
business for a substantial period of time. In patér, because we manufacture botulinum toxin infacilities, we would be required to obtain
further clearance and approval by state, federattuer
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applicable authorities to continue or resume mastufang activities. The disaster recovery and besincontinuity plans we have in place
currently are limited and may not be adequate énetvent of a serious disaster or similar eventnvelg incur substantial expenses as a result
the limited nature of our disaster recovery andrmss continuity plans, which, particularly whekea together with our lack of earthquake
insurance, could have a material adverse effecuorbusiness.

Furthermore, integral parties in our supply chasmgeographically concentrated and operating frimgle sites, increasing their
vulnerability to natural disasters or other suddaripreseen and severe adverse events. If sucheanwere to affect our supply chain, it could
have a material adverse effect on our business.

We rely on third parties and consultants to conductll our preclinical studies and clinical trials. If these third parties or consultants do
not successfully carry out their contractual dutiesor meet expected deadlines, we may be unable totaim regulatory approval for or
commercialize RT001, RT002 or any future product cadidates.

We do not have the ability to independently congretlinical studies or clinical trials. We rely aredical institutions, clinical
investigators, contract laboratories, collaborapaetners and other third parties, such as CRG=rtduct clinical trials on our product
candidates. The third parties with whom we contfacexecution of our clinical trials play a sigia#int role in the conduct of these trials and
the subsequent collection and analysis of data.évew these third parties are not our employeaseanept for contractual duties and
obligations, we have limited ability to control thenount or timing of resources that they devoteuioprograms. Although we rely on these
third parties to conduct our preclinical studied afinical trials, we remain responsible for ensgrihat each of our preclinical studies and
clinical trials is conducted in accordance withitgestigational plan and protocol. Moreover, tfi@AFand foreign regulatory authorities reqt
us to comply with regulations and standards, comynaferred to as good clinical practice, or GC#Bs conducting, monitoring, recording a
reporting the results of clinical trials to enstirat the data and results are scientifically criediimd accurate, and that the trial subjects are
adequately informed of the potential risks of gaptting in clinical trials. We also rely on conisuits to assist in the execution, including data
collection and analysis, of our clinical trials.

In addition, the execution of preclinical studieslalinical trials, and the subsequent compilatod analysis of the data produced,
requires coordination among various parties. lrepfdr these functions to be carried out effectivatd efficiently, it is imperative that these
parties communicate and coordinate with one anolereover, these third parties may also haveioglahips with other commercial entities,
some of which may compete with us. These thirdigmrhay terminate their agreements with us updittigsas 30 days’ prior written notice of
a material breach by us that is not cured withid&@s. Many of these agreements may also be teteaitgy such third parties under certain
other circumstances, including our insolvency arfailure to comply with applicable laws. In gerlethese agreements require such third
parties to reasonably cooperate with us at ourresg@oéor an orderly winding down of services of stidhd parties under the agreements. If the
third parties or consultants conducting our clihtdals do not perform their contractual dutiesobtigations, experience work stoppages, d«
meet expected deadlines, terminate their agreemeéthtsis or need to be replaced, or if the quaditccuracy of the clinical data they obtai
compromised due to the failure to adhere to oumicdi trial protocols or GCP, or for any other @aswve may need to conduct additional
clinical trials or enter into new arrangements veitternative third parties, which could be diffigudostly or impossible, and our clinical trials
may be extended, delayed or terminated or may telbd repeated. If any of the foregoing were tauocewe may not be able to obtain, or may
be delayed in obtaining, regulatory approval fad anll not be able to, or may be delayed in oupngf to, successfully commercialize the
product candidate being tested in such trials.

Our ability to market RT001, if approved, will be limited initially to use for the treatment of crow’s feet lines, and if we want to expand
the indications for which we may market RT0O1 or sek regulatory approval for RT002, we will need to btain additional regulatory
approvals, which may not be granted.

We plan to seek regulatory approval for RT001 i thited States and Europe for the treatment af'sréeet lines. If RTO01 is
approved, the applicable regulatory agency willrretsour ability to market or advertise RT001 fither indications, which could limit
physician and patient adoption. We may attempetaetbp, promote and commercialize new treatmentatidns and protocols for RT001, as
well as seek regulatory approval for RT002, inftitere, but we cannot predict when or if we wilteéve the clearances required to do so. In
addition, we would be required to conduct additlaiaical trials or studies to support approvass &dditional indications, which would be
time consuming and expensive, and may producetsethidt do not support regulatory approvals. Ifdeenot obtain additional regulatory
approvals, our ability to expand our business kéllimited.

If RTOO01 and/or RTOO02 is approved for marketing, aml we are found to have improperly promoted off-labéuses, or if physicians
misuse our products or use our products off-labelve may become subject to prohibitions on the sale o
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marketing of our products, significant fines, pendiies, and sanctions, product liability claims, andur image and reputation within the
industry and marketplace could be harmed.

The FDA and other regulatory agencies strictly tagputhe marketing and promotional claims thatraaele about drug products, such as
RTO01 and RT002, if approved. In particular, a picidnay not be promoted for uses or indications @@ not approved by the FDA or such
other regulatory agencies as reflected in the proslapproved labeling. For example, if we receivarketing approval for RT001 for the
treatment of crovs feet lines, the first indication we are pursuing,cannot prevent physicians from using our RT@@Hucts on their patier
in a manner that is inconsistent with the apprdaéel, potentially including for the treatment dher aesthetic or therapeutic indications. If we
are found to have promoted such off-label useapag receive warning letters and become subjedgtoficant liability, which would
materially harm our business. The federal governrhas levied large civil and criminal fines agaiosinpanies for alleged improper
promotion and has enjoined several companies fragaging in off-label promotion. If we become thegt of such an investigation or
prosecution based on our marketing and promotipreadtices, we could face similar sanctions, whicluld materially harm our business. In
addition, management’s attention could be divefttech our business operations, significant legalesges could be incurred, and our
reputation could be damaged. The FDA has also stgdi¢hat companies enter into consent decreesrorgment injunctions under which
specified promotional conduct is changed or cuethilf we are deemed by the FDA to have engagétkipromotion of our products for off-
label use, we could be subject to FDA prohibitionghe sale or marketing of our products or sigaifit fines and penalties, and the impositior
of these sanctions could also affect our reputaiwh position within the industry.

Physicians may also misuse our products or useopgprtechniques, potentially leading to adverselitgsside effects or injury, which
may lead to product liability claims. If our prods@re misused or used with improper techniquemag become subject to costly litigation by
our customers or their patients. Product liabitiigims could divert management’s attention from @are business, be expensive to defend, ar
result in sizable damage awards against us thathoilye covered by insurance. Furthermore, theotiear products for indications other than
those cleared by the FDA may not effectively teath conditions, which could harm our reputatiothimnmarketplace among physicians and
patients.

Any of these events could harm our business andtsesf operations and cause our stock price tdirdec

Even if RTO01, RTO02 or any future product candidag is approved for commercialization, if there is nbsufficient patient demand for
such procedures, our financial results and future pspects will be harmed.

Treatment of crow’s feet lines with RTO01 and glibdines with RT002, are elective procedures,ebst of which must be borne by the
patient, and we do not expect it to be reimburstbieugh government or private health insurance. décision by a patient to elect to undergc
the treatment of crow’s feet lines with RT001, tremtment of glabellar lines with RT0O02 or the tneant of other aesthetic indications we may
pursue may be influenced by a number of factorduding:

» the success of any sales and marketing progtizemhsve, or any third parties we engage, underiaké,as to which we have
limited experience;

» the extent to which physicians recommend RTO0O1 T to their patient
» the extent to which RT001 or RT002 satisfies patexpectation:

* our ability to properly train physicians in thee of RT0O01 or RT002 such that their patientsatcemperience excessive
discomfort during treatment or adverse side effects

» the cost, safety and effectiveness of RT0O01 or RM#Isus other aesthetic treatme

» consumer sentiment about the benefits and riskesthetic procedures generally and RT001 or RTO@&iticular
» the success of any directtonsumer marketing efforts we may initiate;

» general consumer confidence, which may be impanyeztonomic and political conditiol

Our business, financial results and future prospedt be materially harmed if we cannot generaifficient demand for RT001, or for
RTO002 or any other future product candidate, ompg@aved.

We are subject to uncertainty relating to reimbursenent policies which, if not favorable for RT001, RD02 or any future product
candidates, could hinder or prevent their commercibsuccess.

Our ability to commercialize RT001, RT002, or anyufe product candidates for therapeutic indicatismch as hyperhidrosis will depe
in part on the coverage and reimbursement levelsysgovernmental authorities, private health iessiand other third party payors. As a
threshold for coverage and reimbursement, thirtypgaayors generally require that
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drug products have been approved for marketindh@y=DA. Third party payors also are increasinglgliemging the effectiveness of and pri
charged for medical products and services. We roagplotain adequate third party coverage or reimdrmesnt for RT001, RT002 or any future
product candidates, or we may be required to Bethtat a discount.

We expect that private insurers will consider tfficeacy, cost effectiveness and safety of RT001 Bi@02 in determining whether to
approve reimbursement for RTO01 and RT002 and at elrel. Obtaining these approvals can be a tiomseming and expensive process.
business would be materially adversely affectedeifdo not receive approval for reimbursement of ®I® RT002 from private insurers on a
timely or satisfactory basis. Our business coutd dle adversely affected if private insurers, idiclg managed care organizations, the
Medicare program or other reimbursing bodies olopalimit the indications for which RT001 or RTOG@#! be reimbursed to a smaller set
than we believe they are effective in treating.

In some foreign countries, particularly Canada Batbpean countries, the pricing of prescriptionrpfeceuticals is subject to strict
governmental control. In these countries, priciegatiations with governmental authorities can tsikgo 12 months or longer after the receipt
of regulatory approval and product launch. To abfavorable reimbursement for the indications sowghpricing approval in some countries,
we may be required to conduct a clinical trial tbatpares the costfffectiveness of our products, including RT001 30B2, to other availab
therapies. If reimbursement for our product is wilable in any country in which reimbursement isgiat, limited in scope or amount, or if
pricing is set at unsatisfactory levels, our busineould be materially harmed.

We currently have limited marketing capabilities ard no sales organization. If we are unable to estdabh sales and marketing
capabilities on our own or through third parties, we will be unable to successfully commercialize RTQRQORTO002 or any other future
product candidates, if approved, or generate producrevenue.

We currently have limited marketing capabilitieslar sales organization. To commercialize RTO01Q®Tor any other future product
candidates, if approved, in the United States, peiand other jurisdictions we seek to enter, wetinuidd our marketing, sales, distribution,
managerial and other non-technical capabilitiemake arrangements with third parties to perfornséheervices, and we may not be successf
in doing so. If RTO01 or RTOO02 receives regulatapproval, we expect to market RTO01 or RT002, aicgble, through an internal
specialized sales force and in Europe through e@theinternal sales force or a combination of internal sales force and distributors or
partners, which will be expensive and time consgmilde have no prior experience in the marketintg aad distribution of pharmaceutical
products and there are significant risks involveduilding and managing a sales organization, dlinly our ability to hire, retain and
incentivize qualified individuals, generate suf#iat sales leads, provide adequate training to salésnarketing personnel and effectively
manage a geographically dispersed sales and nmagkeim. Any failure or delay in the developmenbwoif internal sales, marketing and
distribution capabilities would adversely impaat tommercialization of these products. We may choogollaborate with third parties that
have direct sales forces and established distdbugystems, either to augment our own sales fardadsstribution systems or in lieu of our o
sales force and distribution systems. If we aréblento enter into such arrangements on acceptabiestor at all, we may not be able to
successfully commercialize RT001, RT002 or anyrijproduct candidates. If we are not successfabmmercializing RT001, RT0O02 or any
future product candidates, either on our own asufh collaborations with one or more third part@ms, future product revenue will suffer and
we would incur significant additional losses.

To establish our sales and marketing infrastructureand expand our manufacturing capabilities, we willneed to increase the size of our
organization, and we may experience difficulties imanaging this growth.

As of December 31, 2014, we had 83 full-time empés: We will need to continue to expand our manalgeperational, finance and
other resources to manage our operations andallimials, continue our development activities @ochmercialize RT0O01, RT002 or any other
product candidates, if approved. Our managemenpargbnnel, systems and facilities currently ircelenay not be adequate to support this
future growth. Our need to effectively execute growth strategy requires that we:

e manage our clinical trials and manufacturing operat effectively
» identify, recruit, retain, incentivize and integratdditional employee
* manage our internal development efforts effectiwefijle carrying out our contractual obligationgthdard parties; an

e continue to improve our operational, financial amanagement controls, reporting systems and proes
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Due to our limited financial resources and our feédiexperience in managing a company with sucleipated growth, we may not be
able to effectively manage the expansion of ouratpns or recruit and train additional qualifiegrponnel. The physical expansion of our
operations may lead to significant costs and magrtdiour management and business development cEsowkny inability to manage growth
could delay the execution of our development aratesic objectives, or disrupt our operations.

If product liability lawsuits are brought against us, we may incur substantial liabilities and may beequired to limit commercialization
of any future products we develop.

We face an inherent risk of product liability aseault of the clinical testing of our product cataties and will face an even greater risk if
we commercialize any products. For example, we beagued if any product we develop allegedly cairgasy or is found to be otherwise
unsuitable during product testing, manufacturingrkmating or sale. Any such product liability claimay include allegations of defects in
manufacturing, defects in design, a failure to wafrdangers inherent in the product, negligencetdtability and a breach of warranties.
Claims could also be asserted under state conspmoierction acts. If we cannot successfully defemgelves against product liability claims,
we may incur substantial liabilities or be requitedimit commercialization of our products. Eveswccessful defense would require
significant financial and management resourcesaRigss of the merits or eventual outcome, liagbdlaims may result in:

» decreased demand for RT001, RT002 or any futuréymtacandidates or products we deve

* injury to our reputation and significant negativedia attentior

» withdrawal of clinical trial participants or cankzlon of clinical trials

» costs to defend the related litigati

» adiversion of managemestime and our resourc

» substantial monetary awards to trial participamtpatients

e regulatory investigations, product recalls, withwia#s or labeling, marketing or promotional restdans
* loss of revenue; al

» the inability to commercialize any products we dep

Our inability to obtain and maintain sufficient prect liability insurance at an acceptable costsgape of coverage to protect against
potential product liability claims could preventiohibit the commercialization of RT001, RT002 owduture products we develop. We
currently carry product liability insurance covegiaur clinical trials in the amount of $5.0 milliamthe aggregate. Although we maintain such
insurance, any claim that may be brought againsbufl result in a court judgment or settlemerdriramount that is not covered, in whole or
in part, by our insurance or that is in excesseflimits of our insurance coverage. Our insurgaliies also have various exclusions and
deductibles, and we may be subject to a produuiitiaclaim for which we have no coverage. We whiive to pay any amounts awarded by a
court or negotiated in a settlement that exceedcouerage limitations or that are not covered byiosurance, and we may not have, or be
to obtain, sufficient capital to pay such amouMsreover, in the future, we may not be able to naminsurance coverage at a reasonable
or in sufficient amounts to protect us againstésssf and when we obtain approval for marketind®I or RT002, we intend to expand our
insurance coverage to include the sale of RTOMRT®02, as applicable; however, we may be unabidtain this liability insurance on
commercially reasonable terms.

If we fail to attract and keep senior management ath key scientific personnel, we may be unable to scessfully develop RT001, RT002
or any future product candidates, conduct our clincal trials and commercialize RT001, RT002 or any fure products we develop.

Our success depends in part on our continuedyatmliattract, retain and motivate highly qualifiénagement, clinical and scientific
personnel. We believe that our future succesgjisiyidependent upon the contributions of our semianagement, particularly our President
and Chief Executive Officer, as well as our seswentists and other members of our senior managiete@m. The loss of services of any of
these individuals could delay or prevent the susfcesievelopment of our product pipeline, completad our planned clinical trials or the
commercialization of RT001, RT002 or any futuredarcts we develop.

Although we have not historically experienced umigiifficulties attracting and retaining qualifiechployees, we could experience such
problems in the future. For example, competitiondfaalified personnel in the biotechnology and piereuticals field is intense due to the
limited number of individuals who possess the skdlhd experience required by our industry. We ngkd to hire additional personnel as we
expand our clinical development and commercialvais. \We may not be able to attract and reta@litgupersonnel on acceptable terms, or a
all. In addition, to the extent we hire personmehtf
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competitors, we may be subject to allegationsttinag have been improperly solicited or that theyehdivulged proprietary or other
confidential information, or that their former erapérs own their research output.

If we are not successful in discovering, developingcquiring and commercializing additional productcandidates, our ability to expand
our business and achieve our strategic objectivesowld be impaired.

Although a substantial amount of our effort wiltfes on the continued clinical testing and poterajgiroval of RT001 and RT002, a key
element of our strategy is to discover, develop@rdmercialize a portfolio of botulinum toxin praxs to serve both the aesthetic and
therapeutic markets. We are seeking to do so tirouginternal research programs and may exploagegjic collaborations for the
development or acquisition of new products. While twvo product candidates, RT001 and RT002, ark eathe clinical development stage,
all of our other potential product candidates remaithe discovery stage. Research programs tdifgdgmoduct candidates require substantial
technical, financial and human resources, whethapbany product candidates are ultimately idedifOur research programs may initially
show promise in identifying potential product catates, yet fail to yield product candidates fonictl development for many reasons,
including the following:

» the research methodology used may not be succéssfidntifying potential product candidat
» competitors may develop alternatives that rendepoaduct candidates obsolete or less attra
* product candidates we develop may neverthelesobered by third partiepatents or other exclusive rigt

» aproduct candidate may on further study be showrave harmful side effects or other characteggtiat indicate it is unlikely 1
be effective or otherwise does not meet appliceddelatory criteria;

* aproduct candidate may not be capable of beindumed in commercial quantities at an acceptablg oost all

» aproduct candidate may not be accepted assdfeffective by patients, the medical communityhind party payors, if
applicable; and

» intellectual property rights of third parties ynaotentially block our entry into certain markets,make such entry economically
impracticable.

If we fail to develop and successfully commercialather product candidates, our business and fptaspects may be harmed and our
business will be more vulnerable to any problenas e encounter in developing and commercializif@®. and RT002.

The requirements of being a public company may stia our resources, divert management's attention andffect our ability to attract
and retain qualified members of our board of direcbrs.

We are subject to the reporting requirements obeurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,eoEXthange Act, the Dodérank
Act, the NASDAQ listing rules and other applicabkturities rules and regulations. Compliance wi#sé rules and regulations has increasec
and will continue to increase our legal and finahcompliance costs, make some activities morécditf time-consuming or costly, and
increase demand on our systems and resources.arbarn@s-Oxley Act requires, among other thingg,wleamaintain effective disclosure
controls and procedures and internal control owericial reporting. In order to maintain and, ifjuéed, improve our disclosure controls and
procedures and internal control over financial répg to meet this standard, significant resouaes management oversight may be required
As a result, management's attention may be divérbed other business concerns, which could harmbagimess and operating results.
Although we have hired additional employees to clgmith these requirements, we may need to hireeneonployees in the future, which will
increase our costs and expenses.

In addition, changing laws, regulations and stagislaelating to corporate governance and publidaisce are creating uncertainty -
public companies, increasing legal and financiahptiance costs and making some activities more tiomsuming. These laws, regulations
standards are subject to varying interpretationsjany cases due to their lack of specificity, asda result, their application in practice may
evolve over time as new guidance is provided byletgry and governing bodies. This could resultantinuing uncertainty regarding
compliance matters and higher costs necessitateddpying revisions to disclosure and governancetioes. We intend to invest resources to
comply with evolving laws, regulations and standaahd this investment may result in increased ig¢aed administrative expenses and a
diversion of management's time and attention fremenuegenerating activities to compliance activitiesour efforts to comply with new law
regulations and standards differ from the actisitirdended by regulatory or governing bodies duanbiguities related to practice, regulatory
authorities may initiate legal proceedings agairssand our business may be harmed.
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As a public company that is subject to these rafesregulations we may find it is more expensiveufoto obtain director and officer
liability insurance, and we may be required to ptceduced coverage or incur substantially higlestto obtain coverage. These factors ¢
also make it more difficult for us to attract amdain qualified members of our board of directord gualified executive officers.

Our business involves the use of hazardous matersahnd we and our third party manufacturers and supfiers must comply with
environmental laws and regulations, which can be @ensive and restrict how we do business.

Our research and development and manufacturingitéesiand our third party manufacturers’ and sigopl activities involve the
controlled storage, use and disposal of hazardaisrials owned by us, including botulinum toxineyf, a key component of our product
candidates, and other hazardous compounds. Wewaimdamufacturers and suppliers are subject to éawisregulations governing the use,
manufacture, storage, handling and disposal okthazardous materials. We are licensed with the GID@ with the California Department of
Health, Food and Drug Branch for use of botulinemirt and to manufacture both the active pharmacalitigredient, or API, and the finish
product in topical and injectable dose forms. Imsaases, these hazardous materials and variotsswasulting from their use are stored at
our and our manufacturers’ facilities pending these and disposal. We cannot eliminate the ristonfamination, which could cause an
interruption of our commercialization efforts, raseh and development efforts and business opegtamvironmental damage resulting in
costly clean-up and liabilities under applicablrdaand regulations governing the use, storage,limgnaind disposal of these materials and
specified waste products. Although we believe thatsafety procedures utilized by us and our thandy manufacturers for handling and
disposing of these materials generally comply whih standards prescribed by these laws and reggative cannot guarantee that this is the
case or eliminate the risk of accidental contanmabr injury from these materials. In such an eéyer® may be held liable for any resulting
damages and such liability could exceed our ressuaod state or federal or other applicable autesninay curtail our use of certain materials
and interrupt our business operations. Furthernsregronmental laws and regulations are compleangk frequently and have tended to
become more stringent. We cannot predict the impstich changes and cannot be certain of ourdutampliance.

We may use third party collaborators to help us deglop, validate or commercialize any new products,ral our ability to commercialize
such products could be impaired or delayed if theseollaborations are unsuccessful.

We may license or selectively pursue strategiataliations for the development, validation and cemwmalization of RT001, RT002 a
any future product candidates. In any third padjaboration, we would be dependent upon the siscokthe collaborators in performing their
responsibilities and their continued cooperationt Ebllaborators may not cooperate with us or perftheir obligations under our agreements
with them. We cannot control the amount and tinehgur collaborators’ resources that will be deatie performing their responsibilities
under our agreements with them. Our collaboratag omoose to pursue alternative technologies ifepFace to those being developed in
collaboration with us. The development, validatisrd commercialization of our product candidates bdldelayed if collaborators fail to
conduct their responsibilities in a timely manneiroaccordance with applicable regulatory requizais or if they breach or terminate their
collaboration agreements with us. Disputes withanllaborators could also impair our reputatiomesult in development delays, decreased
revenues and litigation expenses.

Unfavorable global economic conditions could adveedy affect our business, financial condition or ragts of operations.

Our results of operations could be adversely agfittly general conditions in the global economyiarttie global financial markets.
Furthermore, the market for aesthetic medical pfoces may be particularly vulnerable to unfavoradenomic conditions. We do not expect
RTO0O01 for the treatment of crow’s feet lines or RZ0or the treatment of glabellar lines to be rainsied by any government or third party
payor and, as a result, demand for the first irtioa of each of our product candidates will be tie discretionary spending levels of our
targeted patient population. The recent globalrfaial crisis caused extreme volatility and disrap$ in the capital and credit markets. A se
or prolonged economic downturn could result in aetg of risks to our business, including weakededhand for RT001, RT002 or any future
product candidates, if approved, and our abilityaise additional capital when needed on acceptebies, if at all. This is particularly true in
Europe, which is undergoing a continued severe@oancrisis. A weak or declining economy could ads@in our suppliers, possibly result
in supply disruption, or cause our customers tayletaking payments for our services. Any of thefming could harm our business and we
cannot anticipate all of the ways in which the eatreconomic climate and financial market condgionuld adversely impact our business.
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Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

If our efforts to protect our intellectual property related to RT001, RT0O02 or any future product candlates are not adequate, we may
not be able to compete effectively in our market.

We rely upon a combination of patents, trade sqmaection and confidentiality agreements to prbtiee intellectual property related to
RTO001, RT002 and our development programs. Anylaisce to or misappropriation by third parties af oonfidential proprietary informatic
could enable competitors to quickly duplicate apsiss our technological achievements, eroding omnpetitive position in our market.

The strength of patents in the biotechnology aratplaceutical field involves complex legal and stfenquestions and can be uncert
This uncertainty includes changes to the patens Baough either legislative action to change sbayupatent law or court action that may
reinterpret existing law in ways affecting the seap validity of issued patents. The patent appiboa that we own or license may fail to result
in issued patents in the United States or foremmtries. Competitors in the field of cosmetics aotulinum toxin have created a substantial
amount of prior art, including scientific publiocatis, patents and patent applications. Our abditylitain and maintain valid and enforceable
patents depends on whether the differences betagretiechnology and the prior art allow our techigglto be patentable over the prior art.
Even if the patents do successfully issue, thirtigmmay challenge the validity, enforceabilitysaope of such issued patents or any other
issued patents we own or license, which may résltich patents being narrowed, invalidated or bakehforceable. For example, patents
granted by the European Patent Office may be ogplog@ny person within nine months from the publaaof their grant. Furthermore, even
if they are unchallenged, our patents and pategitcgtions may not adequately protect our inteliatproperty or prevent others from
designing around our claims. In addition, recernges to the patent laws of the United States geoadlditional procedures for third parties to
challenge the validity of issued patents basedaterp applications filed after March 15, 2013h treadth or strength of protection provided
by the patents and patent applications we holdissye with respect to RT001, RT002 or any futugelpct candidates is challenged, then it
could threaten our ability to commercialize RTOBT,002 or any future product candidates, and cduigbten our ability to prevent
competitive products from being marketed. Furtifane encounter delays in our clinical trials, feriod of time during which we could mar
RTO01, RT0O02 or any future product candidates updéznt protection would be reduced. Since patgpliations in the United States and
most other countries are confidential for a penbtdme after filing, we cannot be certain that were the first to either (i) file any patent
application related to our product candidatesipirivent any of the inventions claimed in our pageor patent applications. Furthermore, for
applications filed before March 16, 2013, or patdssuing from such applications, an interferemoe@eding can be provoked by a third party
or instituted by the United States Patent and Tk Office, or USPTO, to determine who was thst fio invent any of the subject matter
covered by the patent claims of our applicatiord @ettents. As of March 16, 2013, the United Statessitioned to a “first-to-file” system for
deciding which party should be granted a patentnwiv® or more patent applications are filed byetiét parties claiming the same invention.
A third party that files a patent application irtdSPTO before us could therefore be awarded atpedgering an invention of ours even if we
had made the invention before it was made by tind garty.

The change to “first-to-file” from “first-to-invefitis one of the changes to the patent laws of thitdd States resulting from the Leahy-
Smith America Invents Act signed into law on Septeml6, 2011. Among some of the other changesetpdltent laws are changes that limit
where a patentee may file a patent infringementand providing opportunities for third partiescteallenge any issued patent in the USPTO.
Because of a lower evidentiary standard in USPT&2gedings compared to the evidentiary standarchitetd States federal court hecessary tc
invalidate a patent claim, a third party could peitgly provide evidence in a USPTO proceedingisight for the USPTO to hold a claim
invalid even though the same evidence would beffiegent to invalidate the claim if first presenté@da district court action. Accordingly, a
third party may attempt to use the USPTO procediar@svalidate our patent claims that would noténaeen invalidated if first challenged by
the third party as a defendant in a district cawstion.

Even where laws provide protection, costly and tsoasuming litigation could be necessary to enfame determine the scope of our
proprietary rights, and the outcome of such liigatvould be uncertain. Moreover, any actions we tméng to enforce our intellectual
property against our competitors could provoke theforing counterclaims against us, and some otompetitors have substantially greater
intellectual property portfolios than we have.

We also rely on trade secret protection and confidkty agreements to protect proprietary know-hbat may not be patentable,
processes for which patents may be difficult taagbor enforce and any other elements of our prodexcelopment processes that involve
proprietary know-how, information or technology tienot covered by patents.

In an effort to protect our trade secrets and otbefidential information, we require our employeesnsultants, collaborators and
advisors to execute confidentiality agreements tphercommencement of their relationships with ueese
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agreements require that all confidential informatiteveloped by the individual or made known toitfidvidual by us during the course of the
individual’s relationship with us be kept confidiatand not disclosed to third parties. These agesgs, however, may not provide us with
adequate protection against improper use or digidosf confidential information, and these agreeisiemy be breached. Adequate remedies
may not exist in the event of unauthorized useisglolsure of our confidential information. A breamhconfidentiality could significantly affe
our competitive position. In addition, in some atians, these agreements may conflict with, orutgest to, the rights of third parties with
whom our employees, consultants, collaboratorgleisars have previous employment or consultingtia@tahips. To the extent that our
employees, consultants or contractors use anydntaeal property owned by others in their work dg;, disputes may arise as to the rights in
any related or resulting know-how and inventionsoAothers may independently develop substantiglyivalent proprietary information and
techniques or otherwise gain access to our tractetseand other confidential information.

If we infringe or are alleged to infringe intellecual property rights of third parties, our businesscould be harmed.

Our research, development and commercializatiamitees may infringe or otherwise violate or beiolad to infringe or otherwise
violate patents owned or controlled by other part@ompetitors in the field of cosmetics and boiut toxin have developed large portfolios
of patents and patent applications in fields retato our business. For example, there are pabefdsby third parties that relate to the treatn
with botulinum toxin-based products for indicatioms are currently developing. There may also bergatpplications that have been filed but
not published that, when issued as patents, cailtbberted against us. These third parties coind blaims against us that would cause us to
incur substantial expenses and, if successful agas) could cause us to pay substantial damageheF, if a patent infringement suit were
brought against us, we could be forced to stopetaydresearch, development, manufacturing or sdlése product or product candidate that is
the subject of the suit.

As a result of patent infringement claims, or toidyotential claims, we may choose or be requioeskek licenses from third parties.
These licenses may not be available on acceptabtest or at all. Even if we are able to obtaircarise, the license would likely obligate us to
pay license fees or royalties or both, and thetsiginanted to us might be nonexclusive, which coetallt in our competitors gaining access to
the same intellectual property. Ultimately, we abhbié prevented from commercializing a product,efdsced to cease some aspect of our
business operations, if, as a result of actuahi@atened patent infringement claims, we are urtabdater into licenses on acceptable terms.

There has been substantial litigation and othecg®dings regarding patent and other intellectugpgnty rights in the pharmaceutical
industry. In addition to infringement claims agains, we may become a party to other patent libgeand other proceedings, including
interference, derivation or post-grant proceedigdared or granted by the USPTO and similar prdiogs in foreign countries, regarding
intellectual property rights with respect to ourremt or future products. The cost to us of angpilitigation or other proceeding, even if
resolved in our favor, could be substantial. Sofneuo competitors may be able to sustain the aafsssich litigation or proceedings more
effectively than we can because of their substiytigeater financial resources. Patent litigatéord other proceedings may also absorb
significant management time. Uncertainties resglfiom the initiation and continuation of patetigiation or other proceedings could impair
our ability to compete in the marketplace. The oemce of any of the foregoing could have a matedaerse effect on our business, financial
condition or results of operations.

We may become involved in lawsuits to protect or darce our patents or other intellectual property orthe patents of our licensors,
which could be expensive and time consuming.

Competitors may infringe our intellectual propeitluding our patents or the patents of our liceasAs a result, we may be required tc
file infringement claims to stop third party infgament or unauthorized use. This can be expensarécularly for a company of our size, and
time-consuming. In addition, in an infringementgeeding, a court may decide that a patent of eunst valid or is unenforceable, or may
refuse to stop the other party from using the tetdgy at issue on the grounds that our patent glaimnot cover its technology or that the
factors necessary to grant an injunction againgfaimger are not satisfied.

An adverse determination of any litigation or othesceedings could put one or more of our pateantslaof being invalidated or
interpreted narrowly and could put our patent agions at risk of not issuing.

Interference, derivation or other proceedings bhbag the USPTO may be necessary to determineribity or patentability of
inventions with respect to our patent applicationthose of our licensors or collaborators. Litigator USPTO proceedings brought by us ma:
fail or may be invoked against us by third partiegen if we are successful, domestic or foreiggdiion or USPTO or foreign patent office
proceedings may result in substantial costs artdaditon to our
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management. We may not be able, alone or withicemsors or collaborators, to prevent misapprojpmnadf our proprietary rights, particularly
in countries where the laws may not protect sughtsi as fully as in the United States.

Furthermore, because of the substantial amounisobdery required in connection with intellectuabperty litigation or other
proceedings, there is a risk that some of our dential information could be compromised by disalesduring this type of litigation or
proceedings. In addition, during the course of kimigl of litigation or proceedings, there couldpaglic announcements of the results of
hearings, motions or other interim proceedingsemetbpments or public access to related documHéritsestors perceive these results to be
negative, the market price for our common stocKatbe significantly harmed.

We may not be able to protect our intellectual proprty rights throughout the world.

Filing, prosecuting and defending patents on prodandidates in all countries throughout the wevtiild be prohibitively expensive,
and our intellectual property rights in some comstoutside the United States can be less extetisvethose in the United States. In addition,
the laws of some foreign countries do not protetliectual property rights to the same exteneaeiffal and state laws in the United States an
in some cases may even force us to grant a comguisense to competitors or other third partiesn€equently, we may not be able to pre
third parties from practicing our inventions in efluntries outside the United States, or fromrsgltr importing products made using our
inventions in and into the United States or otheisgictions. Competitors may use our technologigarisdictions where we have not obtair
patent protection to develop their own products famther, may export otherwise infringing produtdgerritories where we have patent
protection, but enforcement is not as strong asithide United States. These products may compigieour products and our patents or other
intellectual property rights may not be effectivesafficient to prevent them from competing.

Many companies have encountered significant problienprotecting and defending intellectual propeigyts in foreign jurisdictions.
The legal systems of certain countries, particulaegrtain developing countries, do not favor thiBberement of patents and other intellectual
property protection, particularly those relatingotopharmaceuticals, which could make it difficialt us to stop the infringement of our patents
or marketing of competing products in violationoafr proprietary rights generally. Proceedings tioere our patent rights in foreign
jurisdictions could result in substantial costs digbrt our efforts and attention from other aspextour business, could put our patents at
of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly and patent applications at risk of not issuing andld@rovoke third parties to assert claims
against us. We may not prevail in any lawsuits thainitiate and the damages or other remediesdesaif any, may not be commercially
meaningful. Accordingly, our efforts to enforce anttellectual property rights around the world nieyinadequate to obtain a significant
commercial advantage from the intellectual prop#rat we develop or license.

In addition, our ability to protect and enforce antellectual property rights may be adversely etid by unforeseen changes in domesti
and foreign intellectual property laws.

Risks Related to Government Regulation

Our business and products are subject to extensigvernment regulation.

We are subject to extensive, complex, costly arodvng regulation by federal and state governmeatghorities in the United States,
principally by the FDA, the U.S. Drug EnforcemerdrAinistration, or DEA, the Centers for Disease @ardand Prevention, or CDC, and
foreign regulatory authorities. Failure to complithwall applicable regulatory requirements, inchglthose promulgated under the Federal
Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or FFDCA, the Publealth Service Act, or PHSA, and Controlled SubstanAct, may subject us to operat
restrictions and criminal prosecution, monetarygtiéées and other disciplinary actions, includingnetions, warning letters, product seizures,
recalls, fines, injunctions, suspension, revocatibapprovals, or exclusion from future participatin the Medicare and Medicaid programs.

After our products receive regulatory approvalleacance, we, and our direct and indirect suppliemmain subject to the periodic
inspection of our plants and facilities, reviewpobduction processes, and testing of our prodactenfirm that we are in compliance with all
applicable regulations. Adverse findings duringulatpry inspections may result in the implementatié Risk Evaluation and Mitigation
Strategies, or REMS, programs, completion of govenmt mandated clinical trials, and government exgfmrent action relating to labeling,
advertising, marketing and promotion, as well @gita&tions governing manufacturing controls notecdvab
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The regulatory approval process is highly uncertairand we may not obtain regulatory approval for thecommercialization of RT001,
RTO002 or any future product candidates.

The research, testing, manufacturing, labelingrapg, selling, import, export, marketing and distition of drug and biologic products
are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA ahér regulatory authorities in the United Stated ether countries, which regulations differ
from country to country. Neither we nor any colledt@n partner is permitted to market RT001, RT602ny future product candidates in the
United States until we receive approval of a BLanfrthe FDA. We have not submitted an applicationliained marketing approval for
RTO01 or RT0O02 anywhere in the world. Obtainingutatpry approval of a BLA can be a lengthy, expeasind uncertain process. In additi
failure to comply with FDA and other applicable téd States and foreign regulatory requirements snhyject us to administrative or judicie
imposed sanctions or other actions, including:

* warning letters

» civil and criminal penaltie

* injunctions

» withdrawal of approved produc

» product seizure or detentic

e product recall

» total or partial suspension of production;

» refusal to approve pending BLAs or supplementpfr@aved BLAS

Prior to obtaining approval to commercialize a ptdccandidate in the United States or abroad, waipcollaborators must demonstrate
with substantial evidence from well controlled @il trials, and to the satisfaction of the FDAother foreign regulatory agencies, that such
product candidates are safe and effective for ihegnded uses. Results from preclinical studiesdimical trials can be interpreted in different
ways. Even if we and our collaborator believe thexfinical or clinical data for our product candieleare promising, such data may not be
sufficient to support approval by the FDA and otregyulatory authorities. Administering product calades to humans may produce
undesirable side effects, which could interruptager halt clinical trials and result in the FDA ather regulatory authorities denying approval
of a product candidate for any or all targeteddatons.

Regulatory approval of a BLA or BLA supplement & guaranteed, and the approval process is expeasiy may take several years.
The FDA also has substantial discretion in the eypglrprocess. Despite the time and expense expefallede can occur at any stage, and we
could encounter problems that cause us to aband@peat clinical trials, or perform additional glieical studies and clinical trials. The
number of preclinical studies and clinical tridisit will be required for FDA approval varies depegdon the product candidate, the disease o
condition that the product candidate is designeatidress and the regulations applicable to anycpéat product candidate. The FDA can
delay, limit or deny approval of a product candéditr many reasons, including the following:

e a product candidate may not be deemed safe, effegtire or poter
» FDA officials may not find the data from precliniciudies and clinical trials sufficiel
» the FDA might not approve our third party mamigeiers’processes or facilities;

« the FDA may change its approval policies or ad@pt negulation:

If RTOO1, RTOO02 or any future product candidatelstéademonstrate safety and efficacy in clinia#&ls or do not gain approval, our
business and results of operations will be matgréaid adversely harmed.

Even if we receive regulatory approval for RT001, R002 or any future product candidates, we will be gbject to ongoing regulatory
obligations and continued regulatory review, whichmay result in significant additional expense, limitor delay regulatory approval and
subject us to penalties if we fail to comply with pplicable regulatory requirements.

Once regulatory approval has been granted, RTOTQOR or any approved product will be subject totowial regulatory review by the
FDA and/or non-U.S. regulatory authorities. Addidly, any product candidates, if approved, willdodbject to extensive and ongoing
regulatory requirements, including labeling andeottestrictions and market withdrawal and we maguigect to penalties if we fail to comply
with regulatory requirements or experience unapdited problems with our products.
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Any regulatory approvals that we or our collaborsi@ceive for RT001, RT002 or any future produsididates may also be subject to
limitations on the approved indications for whitle foroduct may be marketed or to the conditioreppfoval, or contain requirements for
potentially costly post-marketing testing, incluglifhase 4 clinical trials, and surveillance to rtarrthe safety and efficacy of the product
candidate. In addition, if the applicable regulatagency approves RT001, RT002 or any future prodaiedidates, the manufacturing
processes, labeling, packaging, distribution, aslverent reporting, storage, advertising, promatiwh recordkeeping for the product will be
subject to extensive and ongoing regulatory requéngs. These requirements include submissionsfetiysand other post-marketing
information and reports, registration, as well astmued compliance with cGMP and GCP for any chihirials that we conduct post-approval.
Later discovery of previously unknown problems w001, RT0O02 or any future product candidateduiting adverse events of
unanticipated severity or frequency, or with ourdtparty manufacturers or manufacturing processefilure to comply with regulatory
requirements, may result in, among other things:

* restrictions on the marketing or manufacturifighe product, withdrawal of the product from thanket, or voluntary or
mandatory product recalls;

» fines, warning letters or holds on clinical trii

» refusal by the FDA to approve pending applicagior supplements to approved applications filed$wr our strategic
collaborators, or suspension or revocation of pcbticense approvals;

» product seizure or detention, or refusal to peth@timport or export of products; ¢

* injunctions or the imposition of civil or crimingknalties

Our ongoing regulatory requirements may also chdimmge time to time, potentially harming or makingstlier our commercialization
efforts. We cannot predict the likelihood, naturertent of government regulation that may arisenffuture legislation or administrative
action, either in the United States or other caestif we areslow or unable to adapt to changes in existingirequents or the adoption of ne
requirements or policies, or if we are not ablen&intain regulatory compliance, we may lose anyketimg approval that we may have
obtained and we may not achieve or sustain pradfitigbwhich would adversely affect our business.

If we fail to obtain regulatory approvals in foreign jurisdictions for RT001, RT002 or any future product candidates, we will be unable
to market our products outside of the United States

In addition to regulations in the United States,witbe subject to a variety of foreign regulatsogoverning manufacturing, clinical
trials, commercial sales and distribution of ouufe products. Whether or not we obtain FDA apprfmaa product candidate, we must obtain
approval of the product by the comparable reguednithorities of foreign countries before commegdtinical trials or marketing in those
countries. The approval procedures vary among cesrand can involve additional clinical testingdahe time required to obtain approval
may differ from that required to obtain FDA apprbv@linical trials conducted in one country may betaccepted by regulatory authorities in
other countries. Approval by the FDA does not eesipproval by regulatory authorities in other caoest and approval by one or more fore
regulatory authorities does not ensure approvakegulatory authorities in other foreign countriesdy the FDA. The foreign regulatory
approval process may include all of the risks assed with obtaining FDA approval. We may not béeab file for regulatory approvals or to
do so on a timely basis, and even if we do filem&y not receive necessary approvals to commezeialir products in markets outside of the
United States.

If approved, RT001, RT002 or any future products ma cause or contribute to adverse medical events thave are required to report to
regulatory agencies and if we fail to do so, we clilibe subject to sanctions that would materially hem our business.

Some participants in our clinical trials have repdradverse events after being treated with RTB@de are successful in
commercializing RT0OO01 or any other products, FDA &areign regulatory agency regulations requiré tinrareport certain information about
adverse medical events if those products may hawsed or contributed to those adverse events.ifimegt of our obligation to report would
triggered by the date we become aware of the agamsnt as well as the nature of the event. Wefaibio report adverse events we become
aware of within the prescribed timeframe. We mayp diil to appreciate that we have become awagereportable adverse event, especially if
it is not reported to us as an adverse eventibisifan adverse event that is unexpected or rechovéme from the use of our products. If we
fail to comply with our reporting obligations, tR®A or a foreign regulatory agency could take actimcluding criminal prosecution, the
imposition of civil monetary penalties, seizureoof products, or delay in approval or clearanckitafre products.
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We may in the future be subject to various U.S. fegtal and state laws pertaining to health care fraudand abuse, including anti-
kickback, self-referral, false claims and fraud lavg, and any violations by us of such laws could rekun fines or other penalties.

While we do not expect that RT001, if approvedtfa treatment of crow’s feet lines, or RT002, ipegved for the treatment of glabellar
lines, will subject us to the various U.S. federadl state laws intended to prevent health care faad abuse, we may in the future become
subject to such laws. The federal anti-kickbackus¢éaprohibits the offer, receipt, or payment ahumeration in exchange for or to induce the
referral of patients or the use of products orises/that would be paid for in whole or part by Néade, Medicaid or other federal health care
programs. Remuneration has been broadly definatttade anything of value, including cash, improgircounts, and free or reduced price
items and services. Many states have similar |&asapply to their state health care programs dsas@rivate payors. Violations of the anti-
kickback laws can result in exclusion from fedéradlth care programs and substantial civil andioairpenalties.

The federal False Claims Act, or FCA, imposes lighon persons who, among other things, preseetose to be presented false or
fraudulent claims for payment by a federal headtteqorogram. The FCA has been used to prosecuensesubmitting claims for payment t
are inaccurate or fraudulent, that are for serwtegrovided as claimed, or for services thatrertemedically necessary. The FCA includes a
whistleblower provision that allows individualshiang actions on behalf of the federal governmeat share a portion of the recovery of
successful claims. If our marketing or other areangnts were determined to violate anti-kickbacketated laws, including the FCA, then our
revenues could be adversely affected, which wdkédy harm our business, financial condition, aadults of operations.

State and federal authorities have aggressiveljetad medical technology companies for allegedatimhs of these anti-fraud statutes,
based on improper research or consulting contwititsdoctors, certain marketing arrangements thlgton volume-based pricing, off-label
marketing schemes, and other improper promotioradtizes. Companies targeted in such prosecutiaws paid substantial fines in the
hundreds of millions of dollars or more, have b&®ned to implement extensive corrective actiomplaand have often become subject to
consent decrees severely restricting the mannghich they conduct their business. If we becomedhget of such an investigation or
prosecution based on our contractual relationshitisproviders or institutions, or our marketingdgoromotional practices, we could face
similar sanctions, which would materially harm buisiness.

Also, the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act amdilsir worldwide anti-bribery laws generally prohibbmpanies and their
intermediaries from making improper payments to-blo8. officials for the purpose of obtaining oraiging business. We cannot assure you
that our internal control policies and procedurdspwotect us from reckless or negligent acts cdtted by our employees, future distributors,
partners, collaborators or agents. Violations esthlaws, or allegations of such violations, coakiilt in fines, penalties or prosecution and
have a negative impact on our business, resuttp@afations and reputation.

Legislative or regulatory healthcare reforms in theUnited States may make it more difficult and costl for us to obtain regulatory
clearance or approval of RT001, RT002 or any futurgoroduct candidates and to produce, market, and disibute our products after
clearance or approval is obtained.

From time to time, legislation is drafted and ilneed in Congress that could significantly chatgestatutory provisions governing the
regulatory clearance or approval, manufacture,raarketing of regulated products or the reimbursdrtreareof. In addition, FDA regulations
and guidance are often revised or reinterpretetth®FDA in ways that may significantly affect owrsiness and our products, as discussed in
more detail in the risk factors in Part I, Item @afthis Form 10-K entitled "We may be unable toadbtregulatory approval for RT001, RT002
or future product candidates under applicable sguy requirements. The denial or delay of suchr@pd would delay commercialization and
have a material adverse effect on our potentigktwerate revenue, our business and our resul{seoétions.” Any new regulations or revisions
or reinterpretations of existing regulations mapase additional costs or lengthen review timesTH®, RT0O02 or any future product
candidates. We cannot determine what effect chaingegulations, statutes, legal interpretatiopalicies, when and if promulgated, enacted
or adopted may have on our business in the fuureh changes could, among other things, require:

« changes to manufacturing methc
» recall, replacement, or discontinuance of one orened our products; ai

e additional recordkeepin
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Each of these would likely entail substantial tiamel cost and could materially harm our businessoamdinancial results. In addition,
delays in receipt of or failure to receive regutgtdearances or approvals for any future produasld harm our business, financial condition,
and results of operations.

Risks Related to the Ownership of Our Common Stock

The trading price of our common stock is volatileand purchasers of our common stock could incur sulbantial losses.

The trading price of our common stock is highlyatdé and could be subject to wide fluctuationsdgsponse to various factors, some of
which are beyond our control. The stock marketgeneral and the markets for pharmaceutical biopaeetical and biotechnology stocks in
particular have experienced extreme volatility tiaty have been for reasons that are related olatedeto the operating performance of the
issuer. The market price for our common stock maijnuenced by many factors, including:

* regulatory or legal developments in the United &dand foreign countrie

» results from or delays in clinical trials of oulopiuct candidates, including our Phase 3 clinicagmm for RT001 and our Phas
clinical program for RT002;

» announcements of regulatory approval or disapprof/RT001, RT002 or any future product candid:
* FDA or other U.S. or foreign regulatory actionggoidance affecting us or our indus

* introductions and announcements of new produgiss, any commercialization partners or our cofitgrst and the timing of
these introductions and announcements;

» variations in our financial results or those of @amies that are perceived to be similar t
» changes in the structure of healthcare paymentiss

e announcements by us or our competitors of sigarit acquisitions, licenses, strategic partnesshgint ventures or capital
commitments;

« market conditions in the pharmaceutical and bhémaceutical sectors and issuance of securitegsta’ reports or
recommendations;

e quarterly variations in our results of operationshmse of our future competito

« changes in financial estimates or guidance, inalydiur ability to meet our future revenue and ofxagaorofit or loss estimates
guidance;

» sales of substantial amounts of our stock by imsided large stockholders, or the expectationgheth sales might occi
e general economic, industry and market conditi

» additions or departures of key persor

» intellectual property, product liability or othetigation against u

» expiration or termination of our potential relatitips with customers and strategic partners

* the other factors described in this “Risk Fagt®ection

These broad market fluctuations may adversely affextrading price or liquidity of our common stotn addition, in the past,
stockholders have initiated class action lawsugtsrest pharmaceutical companies following periodeodatility in the market prices of these
companies’ stock. Such litigation, if institutedasgst us, could cause us to incur substantial @sisdivert management’s attention and
resources.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish esearch or publish unfavorable research about ourisiness, our stock price and
trading volume could decline.

As a smaller company, it may be difficult for usatitract or retain the interest of equity reseanchlysts. A lack of research coverage
adversely affect the liquidity of and market prafeour common stock. We will not have any contrbttee equity research analysts or the
content and opinions included in their reports. Phiee of our stock could decline if one or moreiggresearch analysts downgrade our stock
or issue other unfavorable commentary or resedfrome or more equity research analysts ceasesage®f our company, or fails to publish
reports on us regularly, demand for our stock calgicrease, which in turn could cause our stoclepridrading volume to decline.
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Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock the public markets, or the perception that such das might occur, could cause the
market price of our common stock to drop significarly, even if our business is doing well.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our camrstock in the public market could occur at anyeti If our stockholders sell, or the
market perceives that our stockholders intend tpséstantial amounts of our common stock inghbblic market, the market price of our
common stock could decline significantly.

Substantially all of our existing stockholders weubject to lock-up agreements with the underwsitérour IPO that restricted the
stockholders’ ability to transfer shares of our coom stock through August 4, 2014, which was 18Gdeym the date of our IPO. In
connection with our follow-on public offering, wall of our directors and executive officers andaiarof our other stockholders, agreed to
extend these lock-up restrictions through SeptertibeP014, which was 90 days after the date ofalow-on public offering, other than with
respect to 25,000 shares held by one of our exexafficers which is subject to the restrictionsctéed above for an additional period ending
60 days after the date of our follawwm public offering. Subject to certain limitatiorms) August 5, 2014, approximately 3,242,899 shheesim:
eligible for sale upon the expiration of the IP@Kaip period. On September 17, 2014, an additi8ri#45,523 shares became eligible for sale,
also subject to certain limitations, upon expimataf the subsequent follow-on loclp period. Shares issued or issuable upon exestiggtions
and warrants vested as of the expiration of apipléckock-up period were also eligible for sale ugoich expiration. Sales of stock by these
stockholders could have a material adverse efiethe trading price of our common stock.

As of December 31, 2014, certain holders of appnaexely 10,068,447 shares of our common stock, dietushares issuable upon the
exercise of outstanding warrants, are entitlecettain rights with respect to the registrationhadit shares under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Securities Act, subject to the-lgzlarrangements described above. Registratioreséthhares under the Securities Act wi
result in the shares becoming freely tradable witlmestriction under the Securities Act, exceptdioares held by our affiliates as defined in
Rule 144 under the Securities Act. Any sales ofigges by these stockholders could have a matadeérse effect on the trading price of our
common stock.

Provisions in our corporate charter documents and nder Delaware law could discourage takeover attemptand lead to management
entrenchment, and the market price of our common sick may be lower as a result.

Certain provisions in our amended and restatedficate of incorporation and amended and restaydavis may make it difficult for a
third party to acquire, or attempt to acquire, colndf our company, even if a change in control wagsidered favorable by you and other
stockholders. For example, our board of directas the authority to issue up to 5,000,000 sharpsadérred stock. Our board of directors can
fix the price, rights, preferences, privileges, aastrictions of the preferred stock without anstlier vote or action by our stockholders. The
issuance of shares of preferred stock may delg@yement a change in control transaction. As a tethd market price of our common stock
the voting and other rights of our stockholders haydversely affected. An issuance of shareseféped stock may result in the loss of
voting control to other stockholders.

Our charter documents also contain other provisibascould have an anti-takeover effect, including

« only one of our three classes of directors wiletected each yei
e no cumulative voting in the election of direct

« the ability of our board of directors to isswbsres of preferred stock and determine the prideother terms of those shares,
including preferences and voting rights, withoatc&holder approval,

» the exclusive right of our board of directors teatla director to fill a vacancy or newly creat@ectorship

» stockholders will not be permitted to take actibgswritten consen

» stockholders cannot call a special meeting of stolders

» stockholders must give advance notice to nominaéetrs or submit proposals for consideration@tlholder meeting

» the ability of our board of directors, by a majpnitote, to amend the bylaws; ¢

» the requirement for the affirmative vote ofedidt 66 2/3% or more of the outstanding commorkstmamend many of the

provisions described above.

In addition, we are subject to the anti-takeovewmions of Section 203 of the Delaware GenerapGation Law, which regulates
corporate acquisitions. These provisions couldalisage potential acquisition proposals and couldyder prevent a change in control
transaction. They could also have the effect afalisaging others from making tender offers for

47




Table of Contents

our common stock, including transactions that maynbyour best interests. These provisions may @seent changes in our management or
limit the price that certain investors are willitgpay for our stock.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpamaiso provides that the Court of Chancery ofStete of Delaware will be the
exclusive forum for substantially all disputes be#n us and our stockholders.

Insiders have substantial control over us, whichutd limit your ability to influence the outcome dfey transactions, including a change

control.

As of January 31, 2015, our directors, executifieafs and each of our stockholders who own greger 5% of our outstanding
common stock and their affiliates, in the aggregagmeficially owned approximately 47.5% of our enan stock. As a result, these
stockholders, if acting together, would be ablenfluence or control matters requiring approvaldwy stockholders, including the election of
directors and the approval of mergers, acquisitamsther extraordinary transactions. They may hategrests that differ from yours and may
vote in a way with which you disagree and that fbayadverse to your interests. This concentratiaowafership may have the effect of
delaying, preventing or deterring a change of @drdf our company, could deprive our stockholddraroopportunity to receive a premium for
their common stock as part of a sale of our compantymight affect the market price of our commarkt

Claims for indemnification by our directors and officers may reduce our available funds to satisfy seessful third party claims against
us and may reduce the amount of money available tgs.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpamaaind amended and restated bylaws provide thatilviedemnify our directors and
officers, in each case to the fullest extent pasadiby Delaware law.

In addition, as permitted by Section 145 of thed®are General Corporation Law, our amended andtessbylaws and our
indemnification agreements that we have enterexvith our directors and officers provide that:

We will indemnify our directors and officers feerving us in those capacities, or for servingotiusiness enterprises at our
request, to the fullest extent permitted by Delanlaw. Delaware law provides that a corporation magmnify such person if
such person acted in good faith and in a manndr gerson reasonably believed to be in or not opptséhe best interests of the
registrant and, with respect to any criminal praieg, had no reasonable cause to believe suchrgsmsonduct was unlawful.

We may, in our discretion, indemnify employead agents in those circumstances where indemndicé permitted by
applicable law.

We are required to advance expenses, as incuoredr directors and officers in connection wdfending a proceeding, except
that such directors or officers shall undertakesfzay such advances if it is ultimately determitiext such person is not entitlec
indemnification.

We will not be obligated pursuant to our amended restated bylaws to indemnify a person witpaesto proceedings initiated
by that person against us or our other indemniwasspt with respect to proceedings authorizedumyboard of directors or
brought to enforce a right to indemnification.

The rights conferred in our amended and restayéivs are not exclusive, and we are authorizeghter into indemnification
agreements with our directors, officers, employa®s agents and to obtain insurance to indemnifis pecsons.

We may not retroactively amend our amended andtessbylaw provisions to reduce our indemnificatidntigations to director:
officers, employees and agents.

Because we do not anticipate paying any cash divigés on our common stock in the foreseeable futureapital appreciation, if any, will
be your sole source of gains.

We have not declared or paid cash dividends ortommmon stock to date. We currently intend to retainfuture earnings, if any, to
fund the development and growth of our businesadttition, the terms of any existing or future dagteements may preclude us from paying
dividends. As a result, capital appreciation, if,aof our common stock will be your sole sourceyain for the foreseeable future.

We are an “emerging growth company,” and if we dede to comply only with reduced disclosure requiremets applicable to emerging
growth companies, our common stock could be lesstgtctive to investors.
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We are an “emerging growth company,” as definetth@nJOBS Act and, for as long as we continue tarb&merging growth company,”
we may choose to take advantage of exemptions ¥artous reporting requirements applicable to othéslic companies but not to “emerging
growth companies,” including not being requirecéonply with the auditor attestation requirementSettion 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002, reduced disclosure obligations regardikerative compensation in our periodic reports amcky statements and exemptions from the
requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vamieexecutive compensation and shareholder appofaly golden parachute payments not
previously approved. We will remain an “emergingwth company” until the earlier of (1) the last dzfythe fiscal year (a) following the fifth
anniversary of the closing of our IPO, (b) in whigh have total annual gross revenues of over $lliénbor (c) in which we are deemed to be
a large accelerated filer, which means the marattevof our common stock held by non-affiliateseeds $700 million as of the prior
June 30th, and (2) the date on which we have isswwd than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debtidgrthe prior threerear period. We cann
predict if investors will find our common stock ¢eattractive if we choose to rely on these exemptitf some investors find our common st
less attractive as a result of any choices to reduture disclosure, there may be a less activinigamarket for our common stock and our
stock price may be more volatile.

Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companiestibabme public can delay adopting new or revisedwating standards until such
time as those standards apply to private compaWedhave irrevocably elected not to avail oursebfethiis exemption from new or revised
accounting standards and, therefore, we will bgestito the same new or revised accounting stasdasather public companies that are not
emerging growth companies.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our headquarters is located in Newark, Califormiaere we occupy approximately 90,000 square feeffife, laboratory and
manufacturing space. The current term of our lexpéres in January 2025. We have an option to extiea lease for two additional terms of
seven years, which would extend our lease throaghbaly 2039. We believe that our current facilifes adequate for our needs and for the
immediate future and that, should it be neededitiaddl space can be leased to accommodate angefgtowth.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we may be involved in litigaticelating to claims arising out of our operatioe are not currently involved in any known
legal proceedings. We may, however, be involveahaterial legal proceedings in the future. Such enathre subject to uncertainty and there
can be no assurance that such legal proceedinigsorihave a material adverse effect on our busimesults of operations, financial position
or cash flows.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.

PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOC KHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock has been trading on The NasdaogGhMarket under the symbol “RVNGince our IPO on February 6, 2014. Pric
this date, there was no public market for our comstock. On March 2, 2015, the closing price of cammon stock as reported on the
NASDAQ Global Market wa$15.72 per share. The following table sets forthhityh and low sales prices per share of our comstmrk on
the NASDAQ Global Market for the quarterly periaddicated.
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High
2014
First Quarter (from February 6, 2014 to March 3114 $ 39.8¢ $ 21.0C
Second Quarter $ 36.9¢ $ 25.0¢
Third Quarter $ 3401 $ 18.82
Fourth Quarter $ 21.1¢  $ 14.0z

Holders of Records

As of March 2, 2015, there were approximately 6Bléis of record of our common stock.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividensloiwommon stock. We currently anticipate thatwileretain future earnings for tt
development, operation and expansion of our busiard do not anticipate declaring or paying any cigidends for the foreseeable future.
Any determination to pay dividends in the futurdl We at the discretion of our board of directons avill be dependent on a number of factors
including our earnings, capital requirements, ol@reancial conditions, business prospects, cantral restrictions and other factors our boarc
of directors may deem relevant. Our loan and sgcagreement with Hercules prohibits the paymentioiends.

Stock Price Performance Graph

This performance graph shall not be deemed "fifedpurposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Acinoorporated by reference into any
of our filings under the Securities Act or the Eanfge Act, except as shall be expressly set fortbpegific reference in such filing.
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— = Revance Therapeutics == NASDAQ Composite Index NASDAQ Biotechnology Index

This graph compares, for the period ended DeceBihe?2014, the cumulative total return on our comrsimck, the NASDAQ
Biotechnology Index (NBI) and the NASDAQ Compoditdex (CCMP). The graph assumes $100 was investéebruary 6, 2014, in our
common stock, the NBl and CCMP, and assumes theasiment of any dividends. The stock price peréorog on the following graph is not
necessarily indicative of future stock price perfance.
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Company/Index 2/6/2014 3/31/201< 6/30/201¢ 9/30/201¢ 12/31/201¢
Revance Therapeutics, Inc. $100.0C $117.3z  $126.6: $71.9¢ $63.0¢
NASDAQ Biotechnology Index $100.0C $99.8C $108.67  $115.7: $128.67
NASDAQ Composite Index $100.0C $103.67 $109.1¢ $111.62 $117.9¢

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

On December 20, 2014, pursuant to that certain ARirendment to Loan and Lease Agreement enterecbimDecember 17, 2014 with
Essex Capital Corporation, we issued to Essex @lapitvarrant to purchase up to 44,753 shares of@mumon stock at an exercise price of
$14.40 per share. The foregoing summary does rmpbputo be complete and is qualified in its eryirey reference to the warrant, a copy of
which is filed as an exhibit hereto.

The issuance of the security described in the apavagraph was deemed to be exempt from registratider the Securities Act in
reliance on Section 4(2) of the Securities Act eg&ation D promulgated thereunder as transachgran issuer not involving a public
offering. The recipient of the security acquiretbitinvestment only and not with a view to or ale in connection with any distribution
thereof, and appropriate legends were affixed ésstrurity. The recipient of the security was arexdited or sophisticated person and had
adequate access, through employment, busineshanrrelationships, to information about us.

Use of Proceeds

On February 5, 2014, our registration statemerffam S-1 (File No. 333-193154) was declared eféecfor our IPO, pursuant to which
we sold 6,900,000 shares of common stock at a@uoffiering price of $16.00 per share for an aggegeoss offering proceeds of $110.4
million. As a result of the IPO, we received netqeeds of $98.6 million, after deducting undenngttdiscounts, commissions and other
offering expenses. On June 18, 2014 our registratiatement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-196582) veasadled effective for our follow-on
public offering pursuant to which we sold 4,600,80@res of common stock at a price of $30.50 paresfor aggregate gross proceeds of
$140.3 million. As a result of the follow-on publifering, we received net proceeds of $131.3 orilliafter deducting underwriting discounts,
commissions, and other offering expenses. Noneeoékpenses associated with the IPO and followf@ning were paid to directors, officers
or persons owning ten percent or more of our comatock or to their associates, or to our affiliates

There has been no material change in the planredfysroceeds from our IPO as described in oult fin@spectus filed with the SEC
pursuant to Rule 424(b) on February 6, 2014, anfour follow-on public offering as described in dumal prospectus filed with the SEC
pursuant to Rule 424(b) on June 19, 2014.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The information set forth below for the four yeargled December 31, 2014 is not necessarily ingiati results of future operations,
and should be read in conjunction with ItenManagement’s Discussion and Analysis of Financiahdition and Results of Operationand
the consolidated financial statements and relatéglsrthereto included in Item 8pnsolidated Financial Statements and Supplemeraty,
of this Form 10-K to fully understand the factdnattmay affect the comparability of the informatmesented below.

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
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Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:
Revenue $ 38 % 617 $ 717 $ 557
Total operating expenses $ 52,43 $ 38,84: $ 4390 $ 28,29(
Loss from operations $ (52,050 $ (38,22H) $ (43,18) $ (27,739
Interest expense $ (10,679) $ (15,169 $ (28,959 $ (17,790
Net and comprehensive loss $ (62917) $ (52,44H) $ (58,259 $ (44,869
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhdde

Basic® $ (62,91) $ 25¢ $ (58,259 $ (44,86

Diluted ® $ (62,91) $ 1,08: $ (58,259 $ (44,86
Net income (loss) per share attributable to comstookholders:

Basic® $ (329 $ 117 $ (290.4¢) $ (226.0¢

Diluted ® $ 329 % 1.0 $ (29049 $ (226.0¢
Weighted-average number of shares used in compaoéhgcome (loss) per

share attributable to common stockholders:

Basic® 19,391,52 220,22( 200,56( 198,45t

Diluted ® 19,391,52 1,029,15! 200,56( 198,45¢
Q) Net income per share for all periods presenteé@ctflthe or-for-fifteen reverse stock split effected on Februar@®l,4

As of December 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 171,03: % 3914 % 4,08: $ 29,62
Working capital surplus (deficit) $ 162,49° $ (42,74) $ (112,530 $ 21,26¢
Total assets $ 192,46¢ $ 22,64 $ 13,420 $§  39,92¢
Capital lease, net of current portion $ — 3 — 3 5 % 944
Convertible notes, net of current portion $ — — 3 — $ 45,06
Note payable, net of current portion $ 2,63t $ 10,70: $ 10,99t $  18,43(
Financing obligation, net of current portion $ 50¢ % — 8 —  $ —
Convertible preferred stock $ — $ 12398 $ 9543¢ $ 95,43:
Deficit accumulated during the development stage $ (258,79) $ (195,88() $ (218,32 $ (160,06)
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL C ONDITION AND RESULTS OF

OPERATIONS

The following Management’s Discussion and Analg&isinancial Condition and Results of OperationsD&HR) is intended to help the
reader understand our results of operations andririal condition. MD&A is provided as a supplemtmntand should be read in conjunction
with, our audited Consolidated Financial Statemeand the accompanying notes to the Consolidatedrgial Statements and other
disclosures included in this Annual Report on #osm 10-K (including the disclosures under “Item. Bisk Factors”). Our Consolidated
Financial Statements have been prepared in accardavith U.S. generally accepted accounting prirespnd are presented in U.S. dolle

Overview

Revance Therapeutics, Inc. is a clinical-stageiafigiopharmaceutical company focused on the kbgveent, manufacturing and
commercialization of novel botulinum toxin produéts multiple aesthetic and therapeutic indicationve
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are leveraging our proprietary portfolio of botulin toxin type A compounds combined with our patéeansMTS® peptide delivery system
to address unmet needs in large and growing nednohoarkets. Our proprietary TransMTS technologgitdas delivery of botulinum toxin
type A through two novel dose formulations, topisedduct candidate RTO01 and injectable productlicite RT002. We are pursuing clinical
development for RTO01 and RT002 in a broad spectiiaesthetic and therapeutic indications. We ladddwide rights for all indications of
RT001, RT002 and our TransMTS technology platform.

RTO001 has the potential to be the first commergiallailable non-injectable dose form. We are stuglyopical RTO01 for aesthetic
indications, such as crow's feet lines (wrinklesuad the eyes, also known as lateral canthal liaed)therapeutic indications such as
hyperhidrosis (excessive sweating). RT002 is a haviectable formulation of botulinum toxin deseghto be more targeted and longer lasting
than currently available injectable botulinum togpe products. We are studying injectable RTO02&sthetic indications, such as glabellar
(frown) lines and therapeutic uses, such as musoleement disorders. Both products would have therial to expand into additional
aesthetic and therapeutic indications in the future

We are developing and plan to commercialize RT@d1ridications where topical application provideme@aningful advantage over
injectable administration. We are evaluating RT00& broad clinical program that includes aesthietiécations such as lateral canthal lines
and therapeutic indications such as hyperhidrasiscaronic migraine headache. RT001 has the patdatbe the first approved non-injectable
botulinum toxin product for the treatment of cro¥est lines. RTO01's primary advantages includelpas topical administration, ease of use
and limited dependence on administration techniyuphysicians and medical staff. We believe thesmatages should improve the
experience of patients undergoing botulinum toximcpdures and make RTO01 more suitable for many imdications than currently
approved injectable botulinum toxin products.

The first indications we are pursuing are in theédfiof dermatology. If approved, we believe RT0&h expand the overall botulinum
toxin aesthetic market by appealing to new patiaits would prefer a needle-free approach to treatniéhe aesthetic dermatology market is
attractive because we believe that patients innttasieket tend to be open to trying new productsaredwilling to pay for aesthetic procedures
out of pocket, reducing reliance on reimbursem@fg.are focused on this market not only becausts giZze and growth potential but also
because, in the United States and Europe, thisehask be easily accessed by a specialty sales &met distributor network.

We are in a Phase 3 development program of RTOBith America for the treatment of crow's feeelnFollowing the successful
completion of an open label clinical trial desigriedest the efficacy of our RT001 drug producthia first half of 2015, we expect to
commence a pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial of RT@@1l report efficacy data from this Phase 3 studiiénsecond half of 2015. To date, we hav
conducted sixteen clinical trials with RT0O01 foettieatment of crow's feet lines, with a total @€01,500 subjects.

We are also developing RT0O01 for therapeutic apfibos where botulinum toxin has shown efficacy #rad are particularly well suited
for needle-free treatments. We have successfuliypbeted initial Phase 2 clinical trials for theatment of primary axillary, or underarm,
hyperhidrosis, and for the prevention of chronigraine headache. We expect to initiate and repsttlis of an additional clinical trial for the
treatment of hyperhidrosis in the second half df®20

We are developing RT002, an injectable formulatbbotulinum toxin type A, for indications whereageer delivery of the botulinum
toxin is required and a longer lasting effect isitkd. We believe RT0O02 can provide more targe&didery of botulinum toxin to intended
treatment sites while reducing the unwanted spoédtulinum toxin to adjacent areas. We believe] aur preclinical and clinical studies
indicate, that this targeted delivery, enabled byproprietary peptide technology, may permit safministration of higher doses of botulinum
toxin and can result in longer lasting effect. Wadndemonstrated these properties in preclinicalies and have tested RT002 in a foahort,
dose escalating, open-label Phase 1/2 clinicdlduitside of the United States for the treatmerdlabellar lines, the vertical lines between the
eyebrows and above the nose. Data from this clitvied indicated that RT002 is well-tolerated agfficacious at all four doses. We also
reported duration of effect of seven months fromltst cohort of this trial, the only one whereadiam of effect was measured. Based upor
results to date, we are further developing RT002He treatment of glabellar lines and have irdtlBELMONT, a Phase 2 active comparator
clinical trial against the market leader BOTOX® @wmic. In addition, we plan to study RT002 in thematic indications already approved for
botulinum toxin, such as muscle movement disordensch account for a large proportion of neurototkiarapeutic sales globally, along with
other therapeutic uses.
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Since commencing operations in 2002, we have dewstbstantially all our efforts identifying and @éaping product candidates for the
aesthetic and therapeutic markets, recruiting persioand raising capital. We have devoted predontiyall of our resources to the preclinical
and clinical development of, and manufacturing béljgees for, RT0O01 and RT002. We have retainedights to develop and commercialize
RTO001 and RT002 worldwide. We have not filed fopigval with the U.S. Food and Drug AdministrationFDA, for the commercialization
of RTO01 or RTO02 and we have not generated argnig from product sales for RT0O01 or RT002.

Through December 31, 2014 , we have funded sulisigrall of our operations through the sale arsliznce of our common stock,
preferred stock, venture debt and convertible debtJune 19, 2014, we completed a follow-on putdiering, pursuant to which we issued
4,600,000 shares of common stock at $30.50 peesimatuding the exercise of the underwriters’ eaotment option to purchase 600,000
additional shares of common stock, and receivegmeteeds of $131.3 million , after underwritingabunts, commissions and other offering
expenses. On February 6, 2014, we completed dialipublic offering, or IPO, for sale of 6,900,08Pares of common stock at $16.00 per
share, including the exercise of the underwritex®rallotment option to purchase an additional 800,shares of common stock, for net
proceeds of $98.6 million , after underwriting disnots, commissions and other offering expensesaMteraised $23.7 million through the
issuance of convertible notes in the fourth quartét013 and in January 2014.

We have never been profitable and, as of Decenthe2®.4 , had an accumulated deficit of $258.8iomill We incurred net losses of
$62.9 million , $52.4 million and $58.3 million the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013, and,2@%Rectively. As of December 31,
2014 , we had cash and cash equivalents of $17illiorm We expect to continue to incur net opargtlosses for at least the next several yea
as we advance RT001 and RT002 through clinical ldpweent, seek regulatory approval, prepare for dreghproved, proceed to
commercialization. We have the ability to manufaetour own botulinum toxin type A product to suppaur clinical trials and eventually, our
commercial production. Additionally, we currentliflize third party clinical research organizations,CROSs, to carry out our clinical
development and we do not yet have a sales orgamiz&Ve will need substantial additional funditgstupport our operating activities,
especially as we approach anticipated regulatopycual in the United States and other territoried begin to establish our sales capabilities.
Adequate funding may not be available to us on@tetéde terms, or at all. Our failure to obtain 8&iént funds on acceptable terms when
needed could have a material adverse effect obuginess, results of operations, and financial itimmd

Medicis Settlement

In October 2012, we entered into a settlement andihation agreement with Medicis Pharmaceuticap@a@tion, or Medicis, through
which we reacquired from Medicis rights in all teries for RT0O01 and RT002. The agreement terraishaur license agreement with Medicis
and required that we make payments to them of $2%500 million , comprised of (i) an upfront payrhef$7.0 million , which we made in
November 2012, (ii) payments $14.0 million from a portion of specified typesaafsh proceeds received by us, an aggregate ofifiiénh of
which we paid in 2013 and $7.1 million in Febru2614, and (iii) a payment of $4.0 million upon #ehievement of specified regulatory
milestones. The Medicis settlement also impactedieterred revenue, research and development espemisr stockholders’ deficit and
liabilities due to derivatives derived from thetlghent payments, which are discussed below ahtbta 4 of our consolidated financial
statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Initial Public Offering

In February 2014, we completed our IPO, pursuanittich we issued 6,900,000 shares of common sto$k&O00 per share, including
the exercise of the underwriters’ over-allotmeni@pto purchase 900,000 additional shares of comstock, and received net proceeds of
$98.6 million , after underwriting discounts, conssions and other offering expenses. In additiospmection with the completion of our
IPO, all convertible preferred stock converted iobonmon stock.

Follow-On Public Offering

In June 2014, we completed a follow-on public affgr pursuant to which we issued 4,600,000 sharesramon stock at $30.50 per
share, including the exercise of the underwritex®r-allotment option to purchase 600,@@litional shares of common stock, and receive
proceeds of $131.3 million , after underwritingatignts, commissions and other offering expenses.

Results of Operations

Revenue
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During the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2012@h@ , we recognized revenue from license androggreements. We did not
have any product revenue during the years endedrblger 31, 2014 , 2013, and 2012 .

We recognized royalty revenue during the years @irember 31, 2014 , 2013, and 2012 relatedet®RéHastin asset purchase and
royalty agreement. The Relastin royalty agreememtiges for minimum royalty payment of $0.3 milliper year, to be paid quarterly for ug
15 years from the execution date. The royalty agesd also provided for one-time payments upon aehient of certain milestones. In the
year ended December 31, 2013, we received -time milestone payment of $150,000. The acquiray terminate the royalty agreement with
90 days’ notice with the rights to the Relastindarct line reverting back to us. We do not currehtlye any plans for the future of Relastin as
our focus has been primarily on the developme®RTd01 and RT002.

Our license revenue has historically been deritiealigh nonrefundable technology license fees fofRol001 and RT002 product
candidates. In the years ended December 31, 2@l2CGi8, we recognized license revenue of $0.1anillind $0.2 million, respectively,
pursuant to an exclusive technology evaluationexgent, whereby we received an upfront paymenterathount of $0.3 million, which was
initially recorded as deferred revenue and recaghver the estimated performance period. Duriegyrar ended December 31, 2012, our
license revenue was derived from an arrangemehtM&dicis whereby, prior to our settlement withrtheve had granted them specified ric
to RTO02 in return for an upfront payment. Mediwigs acquired by Valeant Pharmaceuticals Internakjonc. in December 2012. The upfront
payment was deferred and recognized over the dsiihpeerformance period; however, we did not recgany license revenue from the
agreement with Medicis during the year ended DeegrBlh, 2013 as the prior license agreement wasmistied in connection with
the Medicis legal settlement in October 2012.

Costs and Operating Expenses

Our cost and operating expenses consist of resaathevelopment expenses and sales, general amdistdative expenses. The largest
component of our operating expenses is our persaoses, which consist primarily of wages, bendditsl bonuses as well as related stock-
based compensation. We expect our cash expendituiesrease in the near term to initiate and ceteptlinical trials and other associated
programs relating to RTOO1 for the treatment ofxsdfeet lines, initiate and complete clinical igiasing RTOO01 for the treatment of
hyperhidrosis, and to initiate and complete adddaiclinical trials and associated programs rel&elT002 for the treatment of glabellar lines
and indications in muscle movement and other destd

Research and Development Expenses

We recognize research and development expenshksyaare incurred. Since our inception, we havededwn our clinical development
programs and the related research and develophvenhave been developing RT001 and RT002 since 2062ve typically use our
employees, consultants and infrastructure reso@oess both programs. Our research and develomwpahses consist primarily of:

» salaries and related expenses for personnebgarch and development functions, including exgersated to stock-based
compensation granted to such personnel;

e expenses related to the initiation and comphetibclinical trials for RTO01 and RT002, includiegpenses related to production
of clinical supplies;

» fees paid to clinical consultants, clinical ksé&es and vendors, including CROs in conjunctigth implementing and monitoring
our preclinical and clinical trials and acquiringdaevaluating preclinical and clinical trial dat@cluding all related fees, such as
for investigator grants, patient screening fedsoiatory work and statistical compilation and asily

» the fair value of technology rights reacquired ag pf our settlement with Medic

» other consulting fees paid to third part

» expenses related to production of clinical suppleduding fees paid to contract manufactu
* expenses related to establishment of our own maturfag facilities

» expenses related to license fees and milestap@mgnts under ifieensing agreemen

» expenses related to compliance with drug devety regulatory requirements in the United StatesEuropean Union and other
foreign jurisdictions; and

» depreciation and other allocated exper
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For the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 2@h2l, costs associated with our manufacturinglityuend regulatory efforts for both
RT001 and RT002 development have been our largesarch and development related expenses, togBi§ million, or 83.7%, $20.3
million, or 73.0%, and $30.3 million, or 92.6%, reksearch and development expenses in 2014 , 20482012 , respectively. These costs do
not include clinical costs associated with the dtgwment of RTO01 and RT002. We believe that thietstitlocation of costs by product
candidate would not be meaningful. As such, we gelyedo not track these costs by product candidate

Clinical costs associated with the development Bd®. and RT002, including clinical trials of RTOfif the treatment of crow’s feet
lines and clinical trials of RT002 for the improvent of glabellar lines, totaled $5.4 million, or.3%, $7.5 million, or 27.0%, and $2.4 millic
or 7.33% of research and development expenseslih 28013 , and 2012 , respectively.

Our research and development expenditures arectibjpumerous uncertainties primarily relatednt® iming and cost needed to
complete our respective projects. Further, the ldgweent timelines, the probability of success aadatopment expenses can differ materially
from expectations and the completion of clinicalér may take several years or more depending®tygie, complexity, novelty and intended
use of a product candidate. Accordingly, the cdslinical trials may vary significantly over thiéd of a project as a result of differences
arising during clinical development. We expect mgearch and development expenses to increase @mtireue our clinical development of
RTO0O01 for the treatment of crosfeet lines and our clinical development of RT@@2he treatment of glabellar lines, or if the FD&quires u
to conduct additional clinical trials for approwaid as we enter into clinical trials for RTOO1 figiperhidrosis and therapeutic indications for
RT002.

Sales, General and Administrative Expenses

Sales, general and administrative expenses cqusisarily of personnel costs, including stock-basethpensation, for employees in our
commercial, administration, finance and busines®ld@ment functions. Other significant expensetuihe professional fees for accounting
and legal services, including legal services assediwith obtaining and maintaining patents. Weeekphat our sales, general and
administrative expenses will increase with the tw#d development of, and if approved, the comraéreition of RTO01 and RT002.

Other Income (Expense)

Interest Income

Interest income consists primarily of interest imeoearned on our cash and cash equivalents andymmaar&et fund balances. We exp
interest income to vary each reporting period ddjppenon our average cash and cash equivalents andymimarket fund balances during the
period and market interest rates. To date, ourésténcome has not been significant in any indiaidberiod.

Interest Expense

Interest expense primarily consists of the intecksirges associated with our convertible notegspayable, financing obligations,
capital lease obligations, and capitalized intefdstes payable under our term loan agreementigifcules bore interest at a rate which is the
greater of (i) 9.85% per annum or (ii) 9.85% peman plus the difference of the prime rate less %.2bhe interest charge on our convertible
notes and capital lease obligations is fixed afrtheption of the related transaction based ornrttremental borrowing rate in effect on such
date. Our interest expense also includes cash@maash components with the non-cash componengistiog of (i) interest recognized from
the amortization of debt issuance costs, which wepgtalized on the Condensed Consolidated Bal8heets, that are generally derived from
cash payments related to the issuance of conweriitities and notes payable, (ii) interest recogrfioed the amortization of debt discounts,
which were capitalized on the Condensed ConsolidBt#ance Sheets, derived from the issuance ofawtsiand derivatives issued in
conjunction with convertible notes and notes pagafiii) interest recognized on the 2011 conveetibbtes, or 2011 Notes, which was not paid
but instead converted into shares of convertibédgpred stock, (iv) interest recognized on the 2€didvertible notes, or 2013 Notes, which \
not paid but instead converted into shares of comstock, (v) interest capitalized for assets canséd for use in operations, (vi) interest
related to the extinguishment of debt, which issified as a gain or loss on debt extinguishmemd,(vii) effective interest recognized on the
financing obligation. The capitalized amounts redbto the debt issuance costs and debt discountgeaerally amortized to interest expense
over the term of the related debt instruments.
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Upon the conversion of the 2013 Notes into shafesimmon stock, we recognized non-cash interestresg of $9.6 million related to
the 2013 Notes, including amortization of warraglated debt discount of approximately $0.4 millignto the date of conversion, amortizatior
of the derivative-related debt discount of $0.6lionil up to the date of conversion, accrued inteo&$0.3 million up to the date of conversion
and a loss on extinguishment of $8.3 million uponwersion of the 2013 Notes into common stock. #iddally, our notes payable with
Hercules matured and were fully paid off as of Na2015.

Change in Fair Value of Derivative Liabilities Assated with Convertible Notes

Our derivative liabilities associated with 2013 Blotlassified as liabilities on our consolidatethbee sheets and were remeasured t
value at each balance sheet date with the corrdappgain or loss from the adjustment recordedhéndonsolidated statements of operations
and comprehensive loss. We recorded the derivhsilbities as a debt discount that was being arpedt using the effective interest method
over the term of the 2013 Notes. The amortizatiothis debt discount was accelerated upon the cetiopl of our IPO with the corresponding
expense recorded in our Consolidated Statemenpefalions and Comprehensive Loss. See Note 8 toomsolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Change in Fair Value of Derivative Liabilities Assated with the Medicis Settlement

Our outstanding derivative liabilities associatathwhe Medicis settlement are classified as liib8 on our consolidated balance sheet.
These liabilities will be reduced as the relategnpants are made under the settlement agreemeihamemaining liabilities will be
subsequently remeasured to fair value at each tmlstmeet date with the corresponding gain or lasse the adjustment recorded in the
Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprafehess. Upon the completion of our IPO in Febyu2014, we paid $7.1 million in
settlement of our remaining obligation under thedeeds Sharing Arrangement of the October 2012 diedettlement. We will continue to
record adjustments to the fair value of the Medseitlement derivative liability until the Produgpproval Payment has been paid.

Change in Fair Value of Common Stock Warrant Liabil

Common stock warrants issued in connection withi2@E3 Notes were classified as liabilities on camsolidated balance sheet and
require remeasurement at each balance sheet daia.thle completion of our IPO, these common stoakants liabilities were remeasured to
fair value and settled in conjunction with the dash net exercise of these warrants. See Not®brtoonsolidated financial statements inclt
elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Change in Fair Value of Convertible Preferred Std¢&rrant Liability

Our previously outstanding convertible preferreatktwarrants were classified as liabilities on comsolidated balance sheets at fair
value as they were contingently redeemable bedhegemay obligate us to transfer assets to the
holders at a future date under certain circumstgraieh as a deemed liquidation event. The coblertreferred stock warrants were
remeasured to fair value at each balance sheewitat¢éhe corresponding gain or loss from the asjiesit recorded in the Consolidated
Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Lossn thIPO in February 2014, these preferred stakamts were remeasured to fair value
and converted into common stock warrants with threesponding liability reclassified to additionalig in capital.

In February 2014, two holders of preferred stockrauas exercised their put options to sell 22,8%@rants at an exercise price equal to
the average fair value of our stock price for 59dpseceding the exercise. We recorded a loss dnseddement of $1.4 million as a result of
this exercise, which was offset by a gain on faiue remeasurement of $0.1 million through the déasettlement.

In connection with our IPO in February 2014, thexaéing warrants to purchase 173,975 shares ofertible preferred stock were
converted into warrants to purchase 173,975 sluresmmon stock. In May 2014, a holder of warraxsrcised a warrant to purchase 20,06¢
shares of common stock. In December 2014, the Coynisaued Essex Capital a warrant to purchase 84fi&res of common stock in
connection with the First Amendment to the Loan bedse Agreement

Other Expense, net

Other income (expense), net is comprised of migoebus tax and other expense items.
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Income Taxes

Since inception, we have incurred net losses awmd hat recorded any U.S. federal or state incomeua the tax benefits of our

operating losses have been fully offset by valuegibowances.

Results of Operations

The following tables provide our consolidated statats of operations data for the years ended Dese8il 2014 , 2013, and 2012
which was derived from our audited consolidatedriicial statements as included elsewhere in thisiRd-K.

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(In thousands)
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:
Revenue $ 38 % 617 $ 717
Operating expenses:
Research and developmént 33,39( 27,83 32,70¢
Sales, general and administratiVe 19,04 11,01: 11,19¢
Total operating expenses 52,43: 38,84: 43,90
Loss from operations (52,050) (38,225 (43,18¢)
Interest income 44 2 7
Interest expense (10,677) (15,169 (28,959
Change in fair value of derivative liabilities asgded with convertible notes 4,032 2,66( 13,86(
Change in fair value of derivative liabilities asided with the Medicis settlement (320 47 —
Change in fair value of common stock warrant lidpil (2,15)) (621) —
Change in fair value of convertible preferred sta@rant liability (210 (7439) 12t
Loss on settlement of preferred stock warrant (1,356 — —
Other income (expense), net (239 (4049 (10€)
Loss before income taxes (62,91 (52,44%) (58,259
Benefit from income taxes — — —
Net loss $ (62,91) $ (52,44 $ (58,259
(1) Results above include stobksed compensation as follo
Year Ended
December 31,
2014 2013 2012
(In thousands)
Stock-Based Compensation:
Research and development $ 2351 % 194 % 48
Sales, general and administrative 4,17: 354 31
Total stock-based compensation $ 6,53C $ 54¢  $ 79

Results of Operations for the Years Ended Decemb&l, 2014 , 2013, and 2012

The following table presents our revenue for thegos indicated and related changes from the péoiod:
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Revenue
Years Ended December 31, 2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
2014 2013 2012 % %
(In thousands, except percentages)

Relastin Product $ — 3 15¢C $ — (100% N/A
Relastin Royalty 30C 30C 30C — % — %
License 83 167 417 (50)% (60)%

Total revenue $ 38: % 617 $ 717 (38)% (14)%

Our total revenue for the year ended December @14 2lecreased by 38% , compared to the same periil3 , due to a decrease in
license revenue and the relastin product milestemenue. Our total revenue for the year ended Dbeefil, 2013 decreased by 14% ,
compared to the same period in 2012 , due to adserin license revenue offset by an increaseyatyorevenue.

Our license revenue decreased to $0.2 millionHeryear ended December 31, 2013 from $0.4 milloritfe year ended December 31,
2012. The decrease was due to the terminationioémase agreement for RT002 as a result of the dedettlement in October 2012. Prior to
the termination of the Medicis license agreememetywere recognizing license revenue of $0.5 milpen year through the amortization of an
upfront payment made by Medicis during the yearendecember 31, 2009, which was initially recordsdieferred revenue. As a result of
termination of the Medicis license agreement, wéomger recognize any license revenue from the 2088icis license agreement for RT002.
This decrease was partially offset by $0.2 millafimevenue recognized pursuant to an exclusivengolgy evaluation agreement whereby we
received an upfront payment of $0.3 million whichsanitially recorded as deferred revenue and neized over the estimated performance
period. During the year ended December 31, 20B4dhnaining $0.1 million of the upfront paymentatet to the exclusive technology
evaluation agreement was recognized.

In August 2011, we entered into an agreement talsebusiness related to our Relastin product imérecision Dermatology, Inc., or
PDI. In consideration for this sale, we receivedipfront payment of $0.05 million and the rightrézeive royalties and milestone payments
based on future sales of Relastin products by Pdccordance with the agreement, we expect toweceyalties equal to at least $0.3 million
per year per the minimum royalty requirements idelliwithin the agreement or an amount equal t@atheal royalty based sales of Relastin if
greater than the minimum royalty requirements fpedod up to fifteen years from the date of theeagnent. We recognized the annual
minimum royalty payment on a pro rata basis inafrunt of $0.3 million for each of the years enBedember 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 as
set forth in the Relastin asset purchase agreerdeder the Relastin asset purchase agreementseeedognized $150,000 in revenue in the
year ended December 31, 2013 for achievement oé-time milestone. With the divestiture of Relastimy primary focus has been on the
development of RTO01 and RT002.

Operating Expenses

Year Ended December 31, 2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
2014 2013 2012 % %
(In thousands, except percentages)
Research and development $ 3339 $ 27,83 $ 32,70¢ 20% (15)%
Sales, general and administrative 19,04: 11,01: 11,19¢ 73% (2%
Total operating expenses $ 5243: $ 3884 $ 43,90: 35% (12)%

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses for the yeadl @wbember 31, 2014 increased by 20% , compardétbtsame period in 2013,
primarily due to increased costs related to persbmstock-based compensation, rent, quality cotésting, the manufacturing facility, and
leasing equipment to support product developmetitiges.

Research and development expenses for the yeall @wtember 31, 2013 decreased by 15%, comparéé &atme period in 2012,
primarily due to one-time costs incurred in conimttvith the reacquisition of the RT001 and RT082hnology rights from Medicis in
October 2012, offset by increased clinical researgianization (CRO) costs.
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Our research and development expenses fluctuggmpsts transition from one development phaséémext. Depending on the stag:
completion and level of effort related to each depment phase undertaken, we may reflect variafioosir research and development
expense. We expense both internal and externanegsand development expenses as they are inciedypically share employees,
consultants and infrastructure resources betweeRT001 and RT002 programs.

Stock-based compensation for research and devehipmas $2.4 million , $0.2 million , and $0.05 nal for the years ended
December 31, 2014 , 2013, and 2012 , respectively.

Sales, General and Administrative Expenses

Sales, general and administrative expenses foredaeended December 31, 2014 increased by 73%parech to the same period in
2013, primarily due to increased costs relatguetsonnel and administrative costs related to gfegation of a public company. Following the
IPO in February 2014, we incurred higher chargkded to stock-based compensation, professionalfteeaccounting and tax services,
marketing, legal costs and insurance premiums.

Sales, general and administrative expenses foraaeended December 31, 2013 decreased by 2%, cedimethe same period in 2012,
primarily due to a decrease in professional feksding to the Medicis litigation during the yeardend December 31, 2012.

Stock-based compensation for sales, general, anthestration was $4.2 million , $0.4 million , a#0.03 million for the years ended
December 31, 2014 , 2013, and 2012 , respectively.

Other Expense

Years Ended December 31, 2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
2014 2013 2012 % %
(In thousands, except percentages)
Interest income $ 44 3 2 9 7 2,10( % (71)%
Interest expense (10,677) (15,169 (28,959 (30)% (48)%
Change in fair value of derivative liabilities asgded with
convertible notes 4,032 2,66( 13,86( 52% (81)%
Change in fair value of derivative liabilities assded with
the Medicis settlement (320 47 — (781)% N/A
Change in fair value of common stock warrant lidpil (2,15)) (621) — 24€ % N/A
Change in fair value of convertible preferred stagrant
liability (210 (749) 12t (72)% (694)%
Loss on settlement of preferred stock warrant (1,35¢) — — N/A N/A
Other expense, net (2349 (4049) (10€) (42)% 281%
Total other expense $ (10,867 $ (14,22) $ (15,079 (24)% (6)%

Our total other expense for the year ended DeceBihe2014 decreased by 24% , compared to the sarmlpn 2013 , primarily due to
a decrease in interest expense, which is deschbibledv, a decrease in the fair value of the Medieisvative liabilities, and conversion of
preferred stock warrants into equity based comntacksvarrants, which are no longer required todseneasured to fair value at each balance
sheet date offset by an increase due to the lossttlement of preferred stock warrants and areas® in the fair value of the derivative
liabilities associated with convertible notes.

Our total other expense for the year ended DeceBhe2013 decreased by 6%, compared to the sanualper2012, primarily due to
decreases in interest expense, which is describledvbthe fair value of the derivative liabilitiassociated with convertible notes, and the fair
value of the convertible preferred stock warraaility. The decrease in the fair value of the dative liabilities associated with convertible
notes was driven by conversion of the then-outstencdonvertible notes into Seriesdeconvertible preferred stock in March 2013. Weuined
interest charges, including amortization of thetesdl debt discount, on our thentstanding convertible notes and notes payabladiiition, we
accrued and charged to interest
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expense an amount equal to 150% of the aggregaierdraf the outstanding principal and accrued agewhich the holders of these
convertible notes were entitled to receive if tioées would have been paid upon maturity in May 2Q#n the conversion of these
convertible notes in March 2013, we ceased accrinitegest. During the fourth quarter of the yeadeshDecember 31, 2013, we issued
convertible promissory notes, or 2013 Notes, inatmount of $19.4 million in aggregate. The 2013d¥diad conversion and redemption
features related to the conversion of the noteshwviere determined to be embedded derivativesniaguifurcation and separate accounting.
The derivative liability required periodic remeasments to fair value while the derivative was stiltstanding and accordingly, we recognizec
remeasurement gains for the 2013 Notes duringdéhe gnded December 31, 2013 of $0.9 million.

The interest expense by cash and non-cash comoiseat follows:

Years Ended December 31, 2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012

2014 2013 2012 % %
(In thousands, except percentages)

Interest expense
Cash related interest experise $ (1,18 $ (1,590 $ (2,302) (26)% (31)%

Non-cash interest expense

Non-cash interest expense — debt issuance costs (203 (490 (300 (59)% 63 %
Non-cash interest expense — warrant and derivative
related debt discounts (650 (4,129 (7,427 (84)% (44)%
Non-cash interest expense — convertible notes (1,250 (9,409 (18,930 (871)% (50)%
Loss on extinguishment of 2013 Notes (8,33)) — — N/A N/A
Non-cash interest expense - financing obligation (28) — — N/A N/A
Capitalized interest expenSe 972 45¢ — 115 % N/A
Total non-cash interest expense $ (9,490 $ (135579 $ (26,65) (30)% (49)%
Total interest expense $ (10,67) $ (15,169 $ (28,959 (30)% (48)%
(1) Cash related interest expense included interesheais to the Hercules Facility and Essex Capitailiga
(2 Interest expense capitalized pursuamtdoounting Standards Codification Topic 835, Instre

Interest expense for the year ended December 3%, @fcreased by 30% , compared to the same per@ili3 , primarily due to
capitalization of interest expense for construciioiprogress, lower weighted average of debt ontitay, and a gain on the fair value re-
measurement for warrants related to the commork stacrant conversion offset by an increase in ggeexpense related to effective interest
from our financing obligation.

Interest expense for the year ended December 3B, @ecreased by 48% , compared to the same perR@il2, primarily due a gain
from the re-measurement of the derivative lialgitassociated with the 2011 convertible notesjrafgam the remeasurement of the derivat
liabilities associated with the Medicis settlementd loss from the remeasurement of the convenpitdéerred stock warrant liability. These
decreases were offset by a loss from the re-measunteof the common stock warrant liability, whiclhswdue to an increase in the fair value o
the common stock warrants issued in connection #2013 Notes and capitalized interest for coitsn-in-progress.

Income Taxes

There was no provision or benefit from income tackeisng the years ended December 31, 2014 , 204 2612 .

Liquidity and Capital Resources
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As of December 31, 2014 , cash and cash equivaietaied $171.0 million , an increase of $167.1lioml, from December 31, 2013 . In
January 2014, we drew down on additional $2.5 armillinder the short term notes for the Essex Capitzlifygand issued promissory notes
$4.3 million . In connection with our IPO, on Febry 6, 2014 , we sold 6,900,000 shares of comnurkstt $16.0@er share for aggregate
proceeds of $98.6 million . In connection with deifow-on public offering, on June 19, 2014 , wédsé,600,000 shares of common stock at
$30.50 per share for aggregate net proceeds of $h3illion .

Since our inception, we have incurred losses frperations and negative cash flows from our opemati&or the year ended
December 31, 2014 , we had a net loss of $62.9millwhich includes non-cash interest expens&9d million related to loss on
extinguishment of the 2013 Notes, amortizationalitdssuance costs, warrants and derivatives igausghjunction with our previously
outstanding debt instruments, and effective intdarsour financing obligation offset by $1.0 mdh of capitalized interest expense. For the
year endeDecember 31, 2014 , we used $55.1 million of cadnid operating activities. As of December 31,20%e had a working capital
surplus of $162.5 million and an accumulated defit$258.8 million . We believe that our existiogsh and cash equivalents, including net
proceeds from our IPO of $98.6 million , net prate&om our follow-on public offering of $131.3 indin , and existing Essex Capital credit
facility will allow us to fund our current operagjrplan through at least the next 12 months.

Historically, we have financed our operations pritgghrough sale of common stock, private placetseari our convertible preferred
stock, and the proceeds received from our debndimgs. Since 2012 , we have received net castepdscof (i) $98.6 million from our IPO,
(i) $131.3 million from our follow-on public offémg, (iii) $23.7 million from sale of the 2013 Natg(iv) $36.4 million from sale of Series E-5
convertible preferred stock, and (v) $5.0 millisarh a capital lease loan.

In December 2013, we entered into the Essex Cdgpiieility to finance the construction and instadiatof equipment to be manufactured
by IMA Life and Seidenader for use in our manufaicty facility. Under this facility, Essex Capitalqvided us a series of short-term notes
aggregating to $10.8 million during the construstperiod that was expected to last through 201®Ddeember 2013 and January 2014, we
drew down $2.5 million under short-term notes parguo the Essex Capital Facility for an aggregateunt totaling $5.0 million. On May 28,
2014, upon completion of the installation and ataepe of the Seidenader equipment, we sold theewrit back to Essex Capital for a
purchase price equal to the principal and any attmterest then outstanding on the notes issufidance such equipment. We then leased
back the equipment for a thirty-six month leasenteit the end of the lease term, we will have thgam to purchase the equipment at 10% of
the original equipment cost. The shtetm notes to be issued under the Essex CapitditiFace secured by all of our tangible assets/eding
intellectual property.

In December 2014, we entered into the First Amendrttethe Loan and Lease Agreement with Essex Glaplhder the terms of this
Amendment, we repaid the outstanding debt balah&8.6 million . In February 2015, we executed 8s2ond Amendment to the Loan and
Lease Agreement to extend the term of the faditityo later than April 15, 2015 and increase thelpase price of the IMA Life equipment by
$0.1 million to approximately $9.8 million. Concently with this sale, we will lease the IMA Life egment from Essex Capital for a fixed
monthly payment to be paid monthly over three yeaitshe end of the lease, we will have the optiopurchase the leased equipment for 109
of the original purchase amount.

We have no current source of revenue to sustaiprasent activities, and we do not expect to geéaegnaduct revenue until, and unless,
the FDA or other regulatory authorities approve BT@r RT002 and we begin commercializing them. Adtwly, our ability to continue as a
going concern will require us to obtain additiofiahncing to fund our operations. The sale of addél equity securities could result in
additional dilution to our stockholders and thosewsities may have rights senior to those of omnrm@n stock. The incurrence of indebtednes
would result in increased debt service obligatiand could result in operating and financing covésémat would restrict our operations. We
cannot assure you that financing will be availablthe amounts we need or on terms acceptable ibatsall.

Cash Flows

We derived the following summary of our consolidbtash flows for the periods indicated from ouritaticonsolidated financial
statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-Kh@usands):
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Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Net cash used in operating activities $ (55,079 $ 47,759 $ (38,919
Net cash used in investing activities (6,900 (6,402 (244
Net cash provided by financing activities 229,09: 53,99: 13,62(

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Our cash used in operating activities is primadiliven by personnel-related expenditures, manufaxgicosts, clinical development
costs, and costs related to our facilities. Ouhdlmwvs from operating activities will continue be affected principally by our working capital
requirements and the extent to which we increasedipg on personnel and research and developmevitias as our business grows.

Cash used in operating activities of $55.1 milléhring the year ended December 31, 2014 resultpdrinfrom our net loss of $62.9
million , non-cash adjustments for the revaluatibderivative liabilities associated with our conuae notes of $4.0 million , and capitalized
interest of $1.0 million offset by loss on extingiuinent of our 2013 Notes of $8.3 million , revailiaiof common stock warrant liability of
$2.2 million , loss on extinguishment of warraabiility upon exercise of put option by warrant reldf $1.4 million , amortization of debt
discounts of $1.3 million , revaluation of convbl#i preferred stock warrant liability of $0.2 noli , stock-based compensation expensk6dd
million , depreciation expense of $2.1 millionsusnce of common stock warrants of $0.4 millioevatuation of derivative liability associated
with Medicis settlement of $0.3 million , and irest upon issuance of the 2013 Notes and Essex Nb$&s3 million . The $10.2 million
decrease in our net operating assets and liabilitees primarily due to payments made under the éftedettlement totaling $7.1 million and
decreases in prepaid and other currents asse¢s,rath-current assets, accounts payable, and défervenue by $6.1 million offset by an
increase in accruals and other current liabilitied deferred rent by $3.0 million .

Cash used in operating activities of $47.8 milléhring the year ended December 31, 2013 resultpdrinfrom our net loss of
$52.4 million and derivative liabilities recognizasd a result of non-cash adjustments for the ratialu of derivative liabilities associated with
our convertible notes of $2.7 million offset by thecrual of interest on our convertible notes aR38illion, convertible preferred stock warr.
modification remeasurement adjustment of $1.2 amilliamortization of discount on debt and capitasés of $4.1 million, and depreciation
amortization of our property and equipment of $tiflion. The $9.8 million increase in our net opérg assets and liabilities was primarily a
result of the reduction in the derivative liabési associated with the Medicis settlement dueagéyment of $6.9 million during the period,
the decrease of other non-current assets of $2li6mand the decrease of accruals and other culiggilities of $3.9 million, however, these
increases were partially offset by increases imants payable of $3.2 million related to the growitlour operations during the year. Property
and equipment purchases included in accounts pagatdl accruals and other current liabilities wa8 $allion and deferred IPO costs
included in accounts payable and accruals and otlreent liabilities were $2.5 million as of Deceenl31, 2013.

Cash used in operating activities of $38.9 millchring the year ended December 31, 2012 resultpdrinfrom our net loss of $58.3
million and non-cash adjustments for the modifmatdf the Series C-3 convertible preferred stoc&®2 million associated with the Medicis
settlement and the revaluation of derivative liéies associated with convertible notes of $13.Bioni that were partially offset by non-cash
adjustments for depreciation and amortization ofproperty and equipment of $1.8 million, the remitign of derivative liabilities associated
with the Medicis settlement of $15.3 million, thmartization of the discount and issuance costsuwroatstanding debt and capital leases of
$7.7 million and interest accrued on our convegtibbtes of $18.8 million. The $7.1 million decreaseur net operating assets and liabilities
was primarily a result of the decrease in deferes@nue of $10.5 million as a result of this rewestream being eliminated as a result of the
Medicis settlement and a $1.1 million decrease@paid expenses and other current assets due fyiteathe timing of the related payments.
These decreases were partially offset by increasagscruals and other current liabilities of $3.0lion and accounts payable of $1.0 million
related to the growth in our operations duringytear.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities was $6.9 millionthe year ended December 31, 2014 consistiigy &f millionin purchases of propel
and equipment which were partially offset by a &itun of our restricted cash of $0.1 million .

Cash used in investing activities was $6.4 milionthe year ended December 31, 2013 consistirgB & million due to purchases of
property and equipment which were partially offsgour restricted cash of $0.1 million.

63




Table of Contents

Cash used in investing activities was $0.2 millionthe year ended December 31, 2012 consistirgp & million in purchases of
property and equipment which were partially offsgta reduction of our restricted cash of $0.1 wnlli

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Cash provided by financing activities was $229.lliom for the year ended December 31, 2014 prigadmprised of proceeds of
$234.6 million from issuance of common stock, afteducting underwriting discounts and commissipnsceeds of $6.7 milliofrom issuanc
of convertible notes and note payable, and procedsexercise of stock options and ESPP of $118ami. These increases were partially
offset by principal payments on our notes payabil1@.3 million , principal payments on our finamgiobligation and capital leases of $0.2
million , and payments to settle warrants of $1ilion .

Cash provided by financing activities was $54.0ionil for the year ended December 31, 2013 primadmprised of net proceeds
received from the issuance of our Series E-5 cdifvepreferred stock in the amount of $40.6 milland proceeds from issuance of
convertible notes and notes payable of $21.9 millitnich were partially offset by repayments of $m#lion on our outstanding debt and
capital lease obligations.

Cash provided by financing activities was $13.6ionil for the year ended December 31, 2012 primadmprised of net proceeds
received from the issuance of convertible notegbénamount of $18.2 million which were partiallffsgt by repayments of $4.6 million on our
outstanding debt and capital lease obligations.

Operating and Capital Expenditure Requirements

We have not achieved profitability on a quartemyaonual basis since our inception and we expeobmdinue to incur net losses for the
foreseeable future. We expect our cash expenditar@srease in the near term to initiate and ceteptlinical trials and other associated
programs relating to the RTOO01 for the treatmerdrofv's feet lines and hyperhidrosis and to iretiamd complete additional clinical trials and
associated programs related to RT002 for the trexattiof glabellar lines and indications in muscleveraent disorders. We believe that our
existing capital resources, the net proceeds fromRO, and net proceeds from our follow-on publfiering will be sufficient to fund our
operations for at least the next 12 months. Howewneranticipate that we will need to raise subshatditional financing in the future to fund
our operations. In order to meet these additioashaequirements, we may seek to sell additionsityeqr convertible debt securities that may
result in dilution to our stockholders. If we raeaditional funds through the issuance of conviertilebt securities, these securities could have
rights senior to those of our common stock andageohtain covenants that restrict our operatiohgr& can be no assurance that we will be
able to obtain additional equity or debt financorgterms acceptable to us, if at all. Debt finagcihavailable, would result in increased fixed
payment obligations and may involve agreementsiticiide covenants limiting or restricting our dfyito take specific actions such as
incurring debt, making capital expenditures or denf dividends. Our failure to obtain sufficiennfls on acceptable terms when needed ¢
have a material adverse effect on our businessitses operations, and financial condition.

If adequate funds are not available to us on alyitnasis, or at all, we may be required to terménatdelay clinical trials or other
development activities for RT001, RT002 and anyrfeiproduct candidates, or delay our establishioiesdles and marketing capabilities or
other activities that may be necessary to commi@eiaur product candidates, if we obtain marketpgroval. We may elect to raise
additional funds even before we need them if theditmns for raising capital are favorable. Oufigt capital requirements depend on many
factors, including:

» the results of our clinical trials for RT001 and GOR
» the timing of, and the costs involved in, obtainiegulatory approvals for RT001, RT002 or any fatproduct candidate
* the number and characteristics of any additionadipet candidates we develop or acq!

» the scope, progress, results and costs of i@gagrand developing RT001, RT002 or any futuredpot candidates, and
conducting preclinical and clinical trials;

» the cost of commercialization activities if RTIQRTO02 or any future product candidates are afgatéor sale, including
marketing, sales and distribution costs;

» the cost of manufacturing RT001, RT002 or any fiforoduct candidates and any products we succhlssfuhmercialize
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e our ability to establish and maintain strategptiaborations, licensing or other arrangementsthaderms of and timing such
arrangements;

» the degree and rate of market acceptance of angefapproved produc

» the emergence, availability, perceived advargagdative cost, relative safety and relativeceffly of alternative and competing
treatments;

e any product liability or other lawsuits relatedaior products
» the expenses needed to attract and retain skilesbpne
» the costs associated with being a public comg

» the costs involved in preparing, filing, prostieg, maintaining, defending and enforcing patdaines, including litigation costs
and the outcome of such litigation; and

» the timing, receipt and amount of sales of, or ligmon, future approved products, if ¢
Please see “Iltem 1A. Risk Factors” for additionsits associated with our substantial capital regqnants.

We have not generated revenue from RT001 or RT@82xe do not know when, or if, we will generatetsuevenue. We do not expect
to generate significant revenue unless or untibbin marketing approval of, and commercialize &I'6r RT002. We expect our continuing
operating losses to result in increases in casth insgperations over the next several years.

We have based our estimates of future capital remuents on a number of assumptions that may poobe tvrong, and changing
circumstances beyond our control may cause usrtsucoe capital more rapidly than we currently aptté. For example, our ongoing clinical
trials of RTO01 and RT002 may encounter technicaltber difficulties that could increase our deysigent costs more than we currently
expect or the FDA may require us to conduct adddialinical trials prior to approving RT001 or RIA Because of the numerous risks and
uncertainties associated with the development antheercialization of our product candidates, welarable to estimate the amounts of
increased capital outlays and operating expenditassociated with our current and anticipatedadirtrials beyond 2015.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with generally accepted accountiimgiples in the United States of
America. The preparation of these consolidatedhfired statements requires our management to maikeatss, assumptions and judgments
that affect the reported amounts of assets antlified and disclosure of contingent assets artllitees at the date of the consolidated financia
statements, and the reported amounts of revenuexaahses during the applicable periods. We basestimates, assumptions and judgment
on historical experience and on various other fadioat we believe to be reasonable under therostances. Different assumptions and
judgments would change the estimates used in #qmapation of our consolidated financial statemealsch, in turn, could change the rest
from those reported. We evaluate our estimatesngssons and judgments on an ongoing basis.

The critical accounting estimates, assumptionsjaagiments that we believe have the most significaptact on our consolidated
financial statements are described below.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue when the following criteriamet: persuasive evidence of a sales arrangemistg;alelivery has occurred; the
price is fixed or determinable; and collectabilgyreasonably assured. We recognized revenue foemske and royalty agreements as follows.

We recognized royalty revenue related to the Relasiset purchase and royalty agreement, as degtirsfResults of Operations above.
The Relastin royalty agreement provides for minirmoyalty payment of $0.3 million per year, to bédpquarterly for up to 15 years from the
execution date; however, the royalty agreement bbeaterminated with 90 days’ notice with the rigtitshe Relastin product line reverting to
us. We recognize Relastin royalty revenue based agnimum royalty
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requirements per the asset purchase and royakgagmt. Accordingly, under the Relastin asset @selagreement, we also recognized
$150,000 in revenue in the year ended Decembe2®1 for achievement of a one-time milestone.

During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 204 Becognized license revenue pursuant to an exeltschnology evaluation
agreement, whereby we received an upfront paymettiei amount of $0.3 million, which was initiallgaorded as deferred revenue and
recognized over the estimated performance peri@mbnths.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, we rezedricense revenue from a license agreement wétiidis whereby they were
granted exclusive rights to RT002. As part of tltiense agreement, we received an upfront paymhbighwvas deferred and recognized over
the estimated performance period, which was estidhas the remaining life of the underlying patdriha inception of the license agreement.
We did not recognize any license revenues fromagreement with Medicis during the year ended Deezr@h, 2013 as the prior license
agreement was discontinued in connection with tleglibls settlement in October 2012.

Clinical Trial Accruals

Clinical trial costs are charged to research angtld@ment as incurred. We accrue for expensestiggditom obligations under contrac
with clinical research organizations, or CROs, eodsultants, and under clinical site agreement®imection with conducting clinical trials.
The financial terms of these contracts are sulijenegotiations, which vary from contract to cootrand may result in payment flows that do
not match the periods over which materials or sewviare provided under such contracts. Our obgdito reflect the appropriate trial expense
in the consolidated financial statements by matghiire appropriate expenses with the period in whatvices and efforts are expended. In the
event advance payments are made to a CRO, the ptgymil be recorded as a prepaid asset whichhveilamortized in accordance with the
contractual terms. In addition to pass-throughs;ase incur costs in clinical trials in three disti phases as follows:

(i) Start-up Phase — This phase includes theairsgtup of the clinical trial and usually occurs wittarfew months after the contr:
has been executed and includes costs which aresegpeatably over the start-up phase. Start-upephetivities include study
initiation, site recruitment, regulatory applicatf investigator meetings, screening, preparagicgrstudy visits and training.

(i) Site and Study Management Phase — This phlrdedes medical and safety monitoring, and pat&ministration and data
management. These costs are usually calculate¢penatient basis and expensed ratably over ¢a¢nient period beginning on
the date that the patient enrolls.

(iii) Close Down and Reporting Phase — This phase insladalyzing the data obtained and reporting resuhigch occurs after
patients have ceased treatment and the databagerafiation collected is locked. These costs agpeesed ratably over the close
down and reporting phase.

The CRO contracts generally include pass-through fecluding, but not limited to, regulatory expessinvestigator fees, travel costs
and other miscellaneous costs, including shippmdy@inting fees. We determine accrual estimatemutih reports from and discussion with
clinical personnel and outside services providerahe progress or state of completion of triatghe services completed. We estimate
accrued expenses as of each balance sheet dagedartsolidated financial statements based oraettte &nd circumstances known at that time
Our clinical trial accrual is dependent, in pagpn the receipt of timely and accurate reportingrfithe CROs and other third party vendors
of December 31, 2014, there have not been any iakdeljustments to our estimated accrued expenses.

Stock-Based Compensation

We recognize compensation costs related to stotiirgpgranted to employees based on the estimaiedafiue of the awards on the d
of grant, net of estimated forfeitures, using th&ck-Scholes option-pricing model. The grant daie Jalue of the stock-based awards is
recognized over the requisite service period, wisaenerally the vesting period of the respecawards. Stock-based compensation expense
are classified in the Consolidated Statements @&r&tfpns and Comprehensive Loss based on the dmattarea to which the related recipients
belong.

The estimated grant date fair values of the opdiwards granted to employees during the years ebdeedmber 31, 2014 , 2013, and
2012 were calculated using the Black-Scholes ogtiacing model with the following weighted-averaggsumptions:
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Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Expected term (in years) 6.C 6.C 5.¢
Expected volatility 57.4% 59.1% 56.%
Risk-free interest rate 1.% 1.3% 0.8%
Dividend rate 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%

The Black-Scholes option-pricing model requiresuke of highly subjective and complex assumptibas determine the fair value of
options. These assumptions are as follows:

* Expected ter— The expected term represents the period that diongpare expected to be outstanc

« Expected volatilit— Because our common stock has only been publiajed for a short time, the expected volatility wasved
from the average historic volatilities of severatelated public companies within our industry tvatconsidered to be comparable
to our business over a period equivalent to theetgal term of the option.

* Riskfree interest rate— The risk-free interest rate is based on the Ur8asury constant maturity rates approximately etugne
option’s expected term.

« Dividend rate— The expected dividend was assumed to be zer@ dmwve never paid dividends and have no currensptado
so.

In addition to the assumptions used in the BlacheBts option-pricing model, we must also estimdi@riziture rate to calculate the
stock-based compensation for our options. Our itorfe rate is based on an analysis of our actuéitares. We will continue to evaluate the
appropriateness of the forfeiture rate based amatrfeiture experience, analysis of employeaadwuer and other factors. Quarterly change
the estimated forfeiture rate can have a significapact on our stock-based compensation as thelletive effect of adjusting the rate is
recognized in the period in which we change théefure estimate. If a revised forfeiture rate igher than the previously estimated forfeiture
rate, we make an adjustment that will result ireerdase to the stodlased compensation recognized in our consolidataddial statements.

a revised forfeiture rate is lower than the preslgestimated forfeiture rate, we make an adjustrtteat will result in an increase to the stock-
based compensation recognized in our consolidataddial statements.

We will continue to use judgment in evaluating #xpected term, expected volatility and forfeituaterrelated to our stock-based
compensation calculations on a prospective basisvé\continue to accumulate additional data reledexir common stock, we may make
refinements to the estimates of our expected teempected volatility and forfeiture rates that abmiaterially impact our future stock-based
compensation.

Warrant Liabilities

We issued freestanding warrants to purchase sbaoesnmon stock and convertible preferred stockdnnection with certain debt and
lease transactions. Prior to the completion ofIB@, we accounted for warrants to purchase shdm@sraommon stock and convertible
preferred stock as liabilities at fair value beeatigese warrants obligated us to transfer assétg toolders at a future date under certain
circumstances, such as change of control. We ramséshese common stock and preferred stock wartardurrent fair value at each balance
sheet date, and any change of fair value was réoegjas a change in fair value of the warrant liighin our Consolidated Statements of
Operations and Comprehensive Loss. Common stodlantarclassified as equity at inception are reabtdeadditional paid-in capital at fair
value upon issuance.

The warrants are recorded at fair value using thekBScholes option pricing model. The fair valdehe previously outstanding
common stock warrants was remeasured as of eaiddgerd using a Black-Scholes option-pricing maosligh the following assumptions:
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As of December 31,

2013
Remaining contractual term (in years) 7.C

Expected volatility 57%
Risk-free interest rate 1.2%
Expected dividend rate 0%

The fair value of the previously outstanding comibde preferred stock warrants was remeasured aadi period end using a Black-
Scholes option-pricing model with the following asgptions:

February 5, 2014 As of December 31,

Upon conversion 2013
Remaining contractual term (in years) 5.¢ 6.5
Expected volatility 55% 59%
Risk-free interest rate 1.€% 2.1%
Expected dividend rate 0% 0%

These assumptions are subjective and the fair \cdltreese warrants may have differed significahtiyl we used different assumptions.
In February 2014, the common stock warrants wetrexercised in connection with our IPO and the w@ats to purchase preferred stock
converted into warrants to purchase common stock.

Derivative Liabilities

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the followingvdgive liabilities were outstanding (in thousands)

As of December 31,

2014 2013
(In thousands)

Derivative liabilities associated with the convieldi notes $ — % 4,89(
Derivative liabilities associated with Medicis $ethent — Proceed sharing
payment — 6,68¢
Derivative liabilities associated with Medicis $ethent — Product approval
payment 1,541 1,61(

Total fair value of outstanding derivatives $ 1541 $ 13,18

Derivatives Liabilities Associated with the 2011n@ertible Notes

During the years ended December 31, 2012 and 204 issued convertible notes in the aggregate anwi$t3.3 million (Note 8). The
convertible notes had conversion and redemptioctuffea related to the conversion of the notes. Thesgersion and redemption features were
determined to be embedded derivatives requiringredition and separate accounting. Accordingly, @serded a derivative liability, which w
remeasured to fair value as of each balance shé&stwlith the related remeasurement adjustmentgnézed as a change in fair value of
derivative liabilities in the Consolidated Statertseof Operations and Comprehensive Loss. The deré/Bability required periodic
remeasurements to fair value while the derivati@s wtill outstanding and, accordingly, we recogihiameasurement gains for this instrumen
during the year ended December 31, 2012 of $13I®mand recognized the remaining liability of 8Imillion at the time of conversion of ti
notes into preferred stock in March 2013. The resueament adjustments were reflected in the CorseliiStatements of Operations and
Comprehensive Loss.

The related convertible notes converted into shaf&eries E convertible preferred stock March 20d®nediately prior to the
conversion, we determined the fair value of the edded derivatives to be approximately zero asxkewtion of a qualified financing
approached certainty. Accordingly, the derivatiadilities associated with these convertible netese no longer outstanding as of
December 31, 2013.
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Derivative Liabilities Associated with 2013 Conele Notes

During the fourth quarter of 2013, we issued 20D8eN in the amount of $19.4 million in aggregateté\3). The 2013 Notes had
conversion and redemption features related todhgersion of the notes which were determined terbbedded derivatives requiring
bifurcation and separate accounting. Accordinglg,recorded a derivative liability of $5.8 milliossociated with the 2013 Notes during the
year ended December 31, 2013. The fair value cktlerivative instruments was recognized as artiaddi discount and as a derivati
liability on the consolidated balance sheets ugsnance of the respective convertible notes. Theadwe liability required periodic
remeasurements to fair value while the derivatias wutstanding and accordingly, we recognized rearement gains for the 2013 Notes
during the year ended December 31, 2013 of $0.omil

Prior to conversion, the fair value of the derivatiiabilities associated with convertible notesswlatermined upon issuance in 2013 ¢
December 31, 2013 using “Monte Carlo” valuation moetblogy with the following weighted-average asstions:

As of December 31, 2013 As of Issuance

Expected term (in years) 0.€ 0.¢
Discount rate — —
Weighted-average scenario probabilities:

Maturity 5% 5%
Qualified financing 5.C% 20.(%
Initial public offering 80.(% 60.(%
Change in control 10.(% 15.(%

Derivatives Associated with the Medicis Settlement

In October 2012, we entered into a settlement andihation agreement with Medicis. The terms ofgélement provided for the
reacquisition of the rights related to all terrigzrof RTO01 and RT002 from Medicis and for consitien payable by us to Medicis of up to
$25.0 million, comprised of (i) an upfront paymefits7.0 million, which was paid in November 201, & Proceeds Sharing Arrangement
Payment of $14.0 million due upon specified capiiding achievements by us, of which $6.9 milleas paid in the second quarter of 2013
and the remaining $7.1 million was paid in thetfgearter of 2014, and (iii) $4.0 million to be gaipon the achievement of specified
regulatory milestones by us, or Product Approvajrent.

We determined that the settlement provisions rélad€ii) and (iii) above were derivative instruntethat required fair value accounting
at the time of settlement and fair valuemeasurements on a periodic basis going forwardosliegly, we recorded derivative liabilities on
balance sheet based on their respective fair valndke settlement date. These derivative liaeditvill be reduced as the related payments ar
made under the settlement agreement. The remdiabhilities will be subsequently re-measured ta failue as of each balance sheet date wit
the related re-measurement adjustments recognizihe iConsolidated Statements of Operations andp@@mnsive Loss.

As of December 31, 2013, the fair value of the Peals Sharing Arrangement Payment derivative wase&sured to fair value of $6.7
million, which was determined using an option precimodel with the following assumptions: 0.1-0.%ange risk-free rate of 0.01% — 0.10%
and volatility of 37.0%-47.5%. This valuation waeslvily weighted toward an initial public offeringing the most likely outcome for our
business at the time of issuance. During the yede@ December 31, 2013, we made payments in thargrb$6.9 million against the
Proceeds Sharing Arrangement Payment. Upon theletiorpof our IPO, we paid $7.1 million under theedlicis settlement for our remaining
obligation under the Proceeds Sharing Arrangemawiriént. At the settlement date, the derivativellighwas re-measured to the fair value of
the obligation due, or $7.1 million.

The fair value of the Product Approval Payment\hive was initially determined by estimating timaihg and probability of the related
approval and multiplying the payment amount by phrizbability percentage and a discount factor agsgia term of two years and a risk free
rate of 0.25%. As of December 31, 2013, the fdineaf the Product Approval Payment derivative bfedmillion was determined by updating
the estimate of the timing and probability of tkéated approval and a discount factor assumingna o€ 3.25 years, a riskee rate of 0.9% ar
a credit risk adjustment of 6%. As of DecemberZ11,4, we determined the fair value of its liability the Product Approval Payment was
$1.5 million, which was measured by assuming a w5 years, a riskee rate of 1.2% and a credit risk adjustment.6%6 Our assumptic

for
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the expected term is based on an expected Biolbgienise Application, or BLA, approval in mid-20IBhe primary drivers of any fair value
movements for the Product Approval Payment defreadire the estimated probability of the relatedraypgl and the credit risk adjustment. If
the probability estimate increases (decreasesjrendredit risk adjustment decreases (increadesfair value of the derivative will increase
(decrease).

We will record adjustments to the fair value of trezivative liabilities associated with the Medisittlement until the Product Approval
Payment has been paid. At that time, the Produpréyal Payment derivative will be adjusted to faitue one last time immediately prior to
settlement.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We assess the impairment of long-lived assets, asiglioperty and equipment subject to depreciatmhamortization, when events or
changes in circumstances indicate that their aagrgimount may not be recoverable. Among the faetodscircumstances we considered in
determining recoverability are: (i) a significamlverse change in the extent to which, or manneiiich, a long-lived asset is being used or in
its physical condition; (ii) a significant adversigange in legal factors or in the business clinttadié could affect the value of a long-lived asset.
including an adverse action or assessment by dategu(iii) an accumulation of costs significanttyexcess of the amount originally expected
for the acquisition; and (iv) curreperiod operating or cash flow loss combined wittistory of operating or cash flow losses or a prija or
forecast that demonstrates continuing losses adsdawith the use of a long-lived asset. Recovbtabif assets to be held and used is
measured by a comparison of the carrying amouahafsset to the estimated undiscounted futureftass expected to be generated by the
asset. If the carrying amount of an asset excée@siimated future cash flows, an impairment ehégecognized in the amount by which the
carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair vafitiee asset. There have been no indicators achimmgnt, and we did not record any
impairment losses during the years ended Decenthe2034, 2013 and 2012.

Income Taxes

We are subject to income taxes in the United States we use estimates in determining our provigoimcome taxes. We use the asse
and liability method of accounting for income taxesder this method, we calculate deferred taxtasskability account balances at the
balance sheet date using current tax laws andiratftect for the year in which the differences axpected to affect our taxable income.

We estimate actual current tax exposure togethiér agisessing temporary differences resulting frdfarénces in accounting for
reporting purposes and tax purposes for certamsifesuch as accruals and allowances not curreatlyatible for tax purposes. These
temporary differences result in deferred tax assedsliabilities, which are included in our condalied balance sheets. In general, deferred ta
assets represent future tax benefits to be recewreth certain expenses previously recognized irconsolidated statements of operations anc
comprehensive loss become deductible expenses apgktable income tax laws or when net operatirsg lor credit carryforwards are
utilized. Accordingly, realization of our deferréak assets is dependent on future taxable incom@stgvhich these deductions, losses and
credit carryforwards can be utilized.

We must assess the likelihood that our deferredisarts will be recovered from future taxable inepamnd to the extent we believe that
recovery is not likely, establish a valuation allowe.

As of December 31, 2014 , we had net operatingdasyforwards available to reduce future taxabtoime, if any, for Federal,
California, and New Jersey income tax purpose47$L million , $158.3 million , and $174.8 milliomespectively. If not utilized, the Fede
net operating loss carryforward begin expiring @2@, the California net operating loss carryforvgaodgan expiring in 2010, and the New
Jersey state net operating loss carryforwards tegiring in 2030. The Company recognizes excesbéeaefits associated with the exercis
stock options directly to stockholders’ equity omijzen realized. The net operating loss relatedroefdax assets do not include excess tax
benefits from employee stock option exercises. fABacember 31, 2014the net operating loss reported as a deferreddset does not inclu
approximately $2.1 million attributable to excegsck option deductions. The Company follows withwgthout method to determine when
such net operating loss has been realized.

As of December 31, 2014 , we also had researcldlenelopment credit carryforwards of $0.4 milliorde$%.8 millionavailable to reduc

future taxable income, if any, for Federal and foatiia state income tax purposes, respectivelyotfutilized, the Federal credit carryforwards
will begin expiring in 2023 and the California ciiechrryforwards have no expiration date.
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In general, if we experience a greater than 50grdage point aggregate change in ownership ovaea-year period (a Section 382
ownership change), utilization of our pre-changelLN@rryforwards are subject to an annual limitatimler Section 382 of the Internal
Revenue Code (California and New Jersey have gitaillgs). The annual limitation generally is detered by multiplying the value of the
Company’s stock at the time of such ownership chgegbject to certain adjustments) by the appleaiig-term tax-exempt rate. Such
limitations may result in expiration of a portiohtbe NOL carryforwards before utilization. We deténed that an ownership change occurrec
on April 7, 2004, but that all carryforwards canuiized prior to the expiration. Our ability t@@ our remaining NOL carryforwards may be
further limited if we experience a Section 382 oveihdp change in connection with the IPO or as alted future changes in its stock
ownership.

There was no impact on the provision (benefit)ifi@mome taxes or the deferred tax assets as a #ghk extinguishment of debt and
extinguishment of preferred stock and related cmsigg, which occurred in March 2013.

Interest Expense

Interest expense, includes cash and non-cash canfsowith the non-cash components consisting afit@rest recognized from the
amortization of debt issuance costs, which weréal@ged on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, tieafj@nerally derived from cash payments
related to the issuance of convertible notes anelsnmayable, (ii) interest recognized from the dipation of debt discounts, which were
capitalized on the Consolidated Balance Sheetsjatefrom the issuance of warrants and derivatissised in conjunction with convertible
notes and notes payable, (iii) interest recognaethe 2011 convertible notes, or 2011 Notes, whiah not paid but instead converted into
shares of convertible preferred stock, (iv) interesognized on the 2013 Notes, which was not patdnstead converted into shares of
common stock, (v) interest capitalized for assetstructed for use in operations, (vi) interesated to the extinguishment of debt, which is
classified as a gain or loss on debt extinguishmyemtd (vii) effective interest recognized on timarfcing obligation. The capitalized amounts
related to the debt issuance costs and debt discaom generally amortized to interest expense tneeterm of the related debt instruments.

JOBS Act

We are an "emerging growth company," as definealénJOBS Act and, for as long as we continue tarbé&emerging growth company,”
we may choose to take advantage of exemptions ¥amous reporting requirements applicable to othéslic companies but not to "emerging
growth companies," including not being require@¢dmply with the auditor attestation requirementSettion 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002, reduced disclosure obligations regardiegative compensation in our periodic reports amkyp statements and exemptions from the
requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vimieexecutive compensation and shareholder appodwaly golden parachute payments not
previously approved. We will remain an "emergingwth company" until the earlier of (1) the last ddythe fiscal year (a) following the fifth
anniversary of the closing of our IPO, (b) in whigh have total annual gross revenues of over dilli@nbor (c) in which we are deemed to be
a large accelerated filer, which means the maraktevof our common stock held by non-affiliatesemas $700 million as of the prior June
30th, and (2) the date on which we have issued tiare $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt durimg tprior three-year period.

Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companiestibabme public can delay adopting new or revisedwatting standards until such
time as those standards apply to private compaWeshave irrevocably elected not to avail oursebfethis exemption from new or revised
accounting standards and, therefore, we will béestilbo the same new or revised accounting stasdesdther public companies that are not
emerging growth companies.

Contractual Obligations

Our contractual commitments will have an impacban future liquidity. The following table, which sumarizes our contractual
obligations as of December 31, 2014 , representsrimbexpected or contractually committed futubdigmtions, with terms in excess of one
year. We believe that we will be able to fund thelkgations through cash generated funding a@siand from our existing cash balanc
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Payments Due by Period

More than
Contractual Obligations: Total Year 1 Years 2to 3 Years4to 5 5 Years
(In thousands)

Operating lease obligatiofs $ 53,61¢ $ 507C $ 10,61¢ $ 11,34. $ 26,59:
Other long-term liabilities reflected on our balanc
sheet under GAAP 987 42z 564 — —

Total $ 54,60F $ 549: $ 11,18 $ 11,34. % 26,59:
Q) Operating lease agreements represent ouratiolits to make payments under rcamcelable lease agreements for our facil
(2) Other long-term liabilities reflected on owalénce sheet under GAAP represents our financifigation to make lease payments

under the Loan and Lease Agreement with Essex &apit

This table does not include any milestone paymevtig;h may become payable to third parties undense agreements, as the timing
and likelihood of such payments are not known.

This table does not include a liability for unrenamged tax benefits related to various federal datesncome tax matters of $1.3 million
at December 31, 2014. The timing of the settleroétitese amounts was not reasonably estimablearblger 31, 2014. We do not expect
payment of amounts related to the unrecognizetheémefits within the next twelve months.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2014 , we did not have any af&hce sheet arrangements or any relationshipsanittentities or financial
partnerships, such as entities often referred &irastured finance or special purpose entitieswhauld have been established for the purpose
of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangementstbeocontractually narrow or limited purposes.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Refer to "Recent Accounting Pronouncements” in Neote our consolidated financial statements inalieisewhere in this Form 10-K.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

We are exposed to market risk in the ordinary a®ofour business. Market risk represents theaidkss that may impact our financial
position due to adverse changes in financial mgkees and rates. Our market risk exposure isamilyna result of fluctuations in foreign
currency exchange rates and interest rates. Wetdootd or issue financial instruments for tradingposes.

Interest Rate Sensitivity

Our exposure to market risk for changes in interasts relates primarily to our cash and cash adgrivs. We had cash and cash
equivalents of $171.0 million and $3.9 million dD®cember 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Osin ead cash equivalents are held in
deposit and money market fund accounts. Our prireappsure to market risk is interest income savisitiwhich is affected by changes in the
general level of the interest rates in the Uniteates. However, because of the short-term natutleeofhstruments in our portfolio, a sudden
change in market interest rates would not be erpect have a material impact on our consolidategiitial statements.

We also had fixed interest rate notes payable wiviete collateralized by substantially all of ousets, excluding our intellectual
property. Because of the fixed interest rate, aottygtical 100 basis points change in interest fadelsno impact on our borrowing or results of
operations.

Foreign Exchange
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Our operations are primarily conducted in the UhiBates using the U.S. Dollar. However, we contionéted operations in foreign
countries, primarily for clinical and regulatoryrgiees, whereby settlement of our obligations aeaininated in the local currency.
Transactional exposure arises when transactions accurrencies other than the U.S. Dollar. Tratisas denominated in foreign currencies
are recorded at the exchange rate prevailing aldke of the transaction with the resulting lidkgh being translated into the U.S. Dollar at
exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheetHageresulting gains and losses, which were inegmt for the years ended December 31,
2014 , 2013 and 2012, are included in other ex@anthe consolidated statements of operationsantprehensive loss. We do not use
currency forward exchange contracts to offset étated effect on the underlying transactions denated in a foreign currency.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The financial statements required by this itemsatsforth beginning on page F-3 of this Annual Repa this Form 10-K and are
incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE
None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procesdlure

We are responsible for maintaining disclosure adstand procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15)1ad-15(e) under the Exchange
Act. Disclosure controls and procedures are cantiad other procedures designed to ensure thatftrenation required to be disclosed by us
in the reports that we file or submit under theltammge Act is recorded, processed, summarized,egadted within the time periods specified
in the SEC'’s rules and forms. Disclosure controld procedures include, without limitation, contrated procedures designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by us in tygarts that we file or submit under the Exchangei®\accumulated and communicated to oul
management, including our principal executive @ffiand our principal financial officer, as apprapeito allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure.

Based on our management’s evaluation (with theqiaation of our principal executive officer andrqarincipal financial officer) of our
disclosure controls and procedures as requiredudy R3a-15 under the Exchange Act, our principakesive officer and our principal
financial officer have concluded that our discl@saontrols and procedures were effective to achiesie stated purpose as of December 31,
2014 , the end of the period covered by this report

(b) Management'’s Report on Internal Control Overalficial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finaha@orting, as such term is
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the lEa@ge Act. Our internal control over financial repu is a process designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilitynaiicial reporting and the preparation of finansiatements for external purposes in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accouptimgiples, or GAAP. Our internal control over fir@al reporting includes those policies
and procedures that: (i) pertain to the maintenaficecords that in reasonable detail accuratetyfairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of our assets, (ii) provide reasonabkirance that transactions are recorded as agcéspermit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with GAAP, and that aegipgés and expenditures are being made only inrdaoge with authorizations of our
management and directors, and (iii) provide reaslenassurance regarding prevention or timely distecf unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of our assets that could have a mateffiact on our financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future pesiade subject to the risk that controls may beciomeequate because of changes in condit
or that the degree of compliance with the policeprocedures may deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our Chief Executive €ffiand Chief Financial
Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effemtigss of our internal control over financial repytas of
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December 31, 2014 based on the criteria establishiediernal Control - Integrated Framework issbgdhe Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission, or COB&3ed on our evaluation under the criteria sebforinternal Control - Integrated
Framework issued by the COSO, our management cdedtlaur internal control over financial reportingseffective as of December 31,
2014 .

(c) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Répg

There were no changes in our internal control dwancial reporting during the quarter ended Decendi, 2014 that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materiallieaf, our internal control over financial reporting

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

On March 4, 2015, we entered into an at the masketance, or ATM, Sales Agreement, or the Agreeywetit Cowen and Company,
LLC, or Cowen, under which we may offer and setnf time to time and at our sole discretion, shafemur common stock having an
aggregate offering price of up to $50,000,000 thfoGowen as our sales agent. The issuance andfdakese shares by us under the
Agreement, if any, is subject to the effectivenafssur registration statement on Form S-3, to leifivith the Securities and Exchange
Commission on March 4, 2015. We make no assuraxsif or whether the registration statement béitome effective or, if it does become
effective, as to the continued effectiveness ofrdggstration statement.

Cowen may sell the common stock by any method perthby law deemed to be an “at the market” offgis defined in Rule 415 of the
Securities Act, including without limitation salesade by means of ordinary broketrginsactions on The NASDAQ Global Market or othee
at market prices prevailing at the time of salehlock transactions, or as otherwise directed byCasven will use commercially reasonable
efforts to sell the common stock from time to tiroased upon our instructions (including any priitee or size limits or other customary
parameters or conditions we may impose). We will Bawen a commission of up to 3.0% of the grosassptoceeds of any common stock
sold through Cowen under the Agreement. We hawemtsvided Cowen with customary indemnificationhig

We are not obligated to make any sales of commmokstnder the Agreement. The offering of sharesusfcommon stock pursuant to
Agreement will terminate upon the earlier of (i¢ thale of all common stock subject to the Agreepan(ii) termination of the Agreement in
accordance with its terms.

The foregoing description of the Agreement is rmtplete and is qualified in its entirety by refererio the full text of the Agreement, a
copy of which is filed herewith as Exhibit 10.42das incorporated herein by reference.

This Annual Report on Form 10-K shall not consétan offer to sell or the solicitation of an offerbuy the securities discussed herein,
nor shall there be any offer, solicitation, or saii¢he securities in any state in which such ofeticitation or sale would be unlawful prior to
registration or qualification under the securiless of any such state.

PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

Board of Directors

Our board of directors currently consists of temrhers. In accordance with our amended and restatificate of incorporation, our
board of directors is divided into three classethwiaggered thregear terms. At each annual general meeting of bwlders, the successors
directors whose terms then expire will be electeserve from the time of election and qualificationtil the third annual meeting following
election. The term of Class | directors will expatethe annual meeting of stockholders to be heRDi5; the term of Class Il directors will
expire at the annual meeting of stockholders tbdid in 2016; and the term of Class Il directoil expire at the annual meeting of
stockholders to be held in 2017.
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Our amended and restated certificate of incorpamaand amended and restated bylaws provide thatutmerized number of directors
may be changed only by resolution approved by @nitjof our board of directors. Any additional @itorships resulting from an increase in
the number of directors will be distributed amohg three classes so that, as nearly as possible ckess will consist of one-third of the
directors. The division of our board of directantoi three classes with staggered three-year teraysdelay or prevent a change of our
management or a change in control.

The following is a brief biography of each membgowor board of directors, as of March 4, 2015, we#th biography including
information regarding the experiences, qualificasicattributes or skills that caused our boardirafctbors to determine that each member of ou
board of directors should serve as a director dsenflate of this Form 10-K.

Class | Directors

Angus C. Russellage 59, has served as a director and Chairmtdre @oard of our company since March 2014. Mr. Rlisgas Chief
Executive Officer of Shire plc, or Shire, a biopiaceutical company, from June 2008 until April 2048d as a member of its board of
directors from 1999 until 2013. From December 1899une 2008, Mr. Russell served as Chief Finai@ifiter of Shire. Prior to joining
Shire, Mr. Russell served at AstraZeneca plc, arpheeutical and biologics company, most recentlyRof Corporate Finance. Mr. Russel
a former Non-Executive Director of the City of LamdInvestment Trust plc. Mr. Russell is a Chartekedountant and is a Fellow of the
Association of Corporate Treasurers. Mr. Russedldeaved on the Board of Directors at Mallinckrsidte August 2014. Our board of direc
believes that Mr. Russell's financial expertisepekence at multiple public pharmaceutical compsuaied his expertise in the development an
commercialization of specialty pharmaceutical paidumake him qualified to serve on our board oéctiors.

Phyllis Gardner, M.D, age 64, has served as a director of our comgang ®ecember 2006. Dr. Gardner has spent ovee8tyn
academia, medicine and industry. She served akB¥sedlands Health Ventures, a venture capital tinat focuses on the healthcare indu:
from June 1999 to 2014, in various capacities iticlg as an adjunct Partner. Dr. Gardner has semdbe board of directors of several public
and private companies. She began her academic ahedieer at Stanford University, where she had eVeral positions including Senior
Associate Dean for Education and Student Affaiid @mains today as Professor of Medicine. From 183096, she took a leave of absence
from Stanford University to serve as Principal 8tii, Vice President of Research and Head of AlD&&hnology Institute, a major drug
delivery company. Dr. Gardner holds a B.S. fromUtiméversity of Illinois and an M.D. from Harvard iersity. Our board of directors
believes that Dr. Gardner’s private equity exparéggroperating experience and significant experiseceing as a director of our company and
other healthcare companies make her qualifiedrigcesen our board of directors.

James Glasheen, Ph.Dage 47, has served as a director of our compang #pril 2004. Since 2002, Dr. Glasheen has skaga
general partner with Technology Partners, a verdapéal firm that focuses on clean tech and ltielsce companies. Prior to his work at
Technology Partners, he served as Managing DiretGiT Venture Capital. From 1996 to 2000, he wdsader within McKinsey &
Company’s Pharmaceutical and Medical Products eeaddr. Glasheen also serves as an advisor tNdtienal Science Foundation’s (NSF)
SBIR program in Washington D.C. Dr. Glasheen culyeserves as a member of the board of directosewéral privately-held biotechnology,
consumer medical and medical device companiesGsheen holds a B.S. from Duke University and aA.Mnd Ph.D. from Harvard
University. Our board of directors believes that Btasheen’s experiences with facilitating the gioef venture-backed companies, his
experiences with McKinsey & Company and his congumedical company expertise, together with hisdnisal perspective on our company,
make him qualified to serve on our board of direxto

Philip J. Vickers, Ph.D, age 55, has served as a director of our compang §ebruary 2015. Dr. Vickers has over 25 yaathé
pharmaceutical industry experience. Since 201hdsebeen serving as Global Head of Research aneldpenent at Shire where he is
responsible for overseeing preclinical researchdmetlopment, clinical research, regulatory affarsd medical affairs. He oversees the
organization’s growing product portfolio and play&ey role in developing and executing Shire’s gldusiness strategy. Dr. Vickers is a
member of Shire’s Executive and Pipeline Committ@emr to Shire, he was Chief Scientific OfficerdaPresident at Resolvyx
Pharmaceuticals, or Resolvyx, a biopharmaceutmalpany, from 2009 and 2011 where he was a memhbedfoard of directors, with
accountability for all preclinical and clinical esrch, as well as partnering with investors, exeonsiness development partners, and
establishing external collaborations. Prior to R@sq he served in various capacities with inteimadl biopharmaceutical companies includ
Boehringer-Ingelheim Pharmaceuticals Inc., Pfizat Blerck Frosst Centre. Dr. Vickers holds a PhrCBiochemistry from the University of
Toronto, and a Bachelor of Science degree in Agdimchemistry from the University of Salford, Mdrester. He was also a Visiting Fellow
at the National Cancer Institute in Bethesda, Maxgll Our board of directors believes that Dr. Viekexperience at multiple pharmaceutical
companies and his expertise in the developmentamunercialization of pharmaceutical products make dualified to serve on our board of
directors.

75




Table of Contents

Class Il Directors

Ronald W. Eastmanage 62, has served as a director of our compang ®ecember 2009. He has been a managing dirgckEssex
Woodlands Health Ventures, a venture capital finat focuses on the healthcare industry since Oc@®@6. From 2002 to 2006, Mr. Eastman
was the Chief Executive Officer of Rinat NeurosceiCorporation, a biotech company spun out of Gecéninc. Mr. Eastman currently
serves on the boards of directors of several mlydteld life sciences companies. Mr. Eastman halBsA. from Williams College and an
M.B.A. from Columbia University. In addition, thrgh his service as a director on numerous corpd@deds, Mr. Eastman has extensive and
valuable corporate governance, board oversightramdactional experience. Our board of directotiebes that such experience allows
Mr. Eastman to make valuable contributions to aearll of directors.

Jonathan Tunnicliffe age 49, has served as a director of our compang May 2011. He is currently a Partner of Novaf)@zapital
Management, L.L.C., an investment firm that focuzeshe biopharmaceutical sector, a position hehle& since November 2010. From 2000
until 2010, he was global head of due diligencelierNQ business unit of Quintiles Transnationalpatract research company.

Mr. Tunnicliffe was previously a founding membeddbirector of Operations of a specialized clinicdearch organization, S-Cubed Inc. In
Mr. Tunnicliffe’s earlier career, he was a medistatistician at SmithKline and French (now GlaxoitBifline) and at the University of
Sheffield. Mr. Tunnicliffe holds a B.Sc. in Mathetital Statistics from the University of Liverpoal,Master of Science in Medical Statistics
from the University of Newcastle-upon-Tyne and aiBM. from Sheffield Hallam University. He also ksla Postgraduate Diploma in
Marketing from the Chartered Institute of Marketinghe United Kingdom. Our board of directors beés that Mr. Tunnicliffe’s operating
experience, combined with his prior board positionake him qualified to serve on our board of divex

Ronald Wootenage 55, has served as a director of our compang ©ctober 2013. Mr. Wooten has been a partnBioghQuest
Capital Management, L.L.C., an investment firm floauses on the biopharmaceutical sector, sindadeption in November 2010, and has
been the head of the investment committee of theefa Partner of NovaQuest Pharma Opportunitiesi FlinFrom 2000 until November
2010, he was president for the NovaQuest busima@ssuQuintiles Inc., a contract research compavig. Wooten was previously Executive
Vice President of Quintiles and served on its badrdirectors from January 2008 to November 2010.\Mooten’s previous experience
includes nine years with First Union Securitiesewehhe served as a Managing Director of InvestiBanking. Mr. Wooten holds a B.A.
degree in Chemistry from the University of Northr@ana at Chapel Hill and an M.B.A. from Boston Weisity. Our board of directors
believes that Mr. Wooter’operating experience, combined with his priortgemsitions, make him qualified to serve on ouardoof directors

Class Ill Directors

L. Daniel Browne age 53, is one of our co-founders and has sesedir President and Chief Executive Officer anteanber of our
board of directors since we commenced operatio29@2. Mr. Browne served as President and Chietiiee Officer of Neomend, Inc., a
medical technology and biomaterials company, fr@®12to 2003. From 1997 through 2000, Mr. Browneagras President of Prograft
Medical Inc., a medical technology company. PresipuMr. Browne served for more than 16 years adkrship positions in product
development, sales and marketing and businessapeueht in the Gore Medical Products Division of W3dore & Associates, Inc., a global
technology company, lastly as Business LeaderdriMbdical Products Division. Mr. Browne holds a Br®m the University of Hawaii in
Cell and Molecular Biology and an M.B.A. from Pepgine University. Our board of directors believieattMr. Browne is qualified to serve
our board of directors based on his managemenp@etise of the company, including our strategicanmities and challenges and his track
record of new product development, sales and magkend value creation, each of which relates tocommercial opportunities.

Robert Byrnes age 70, has served as a director of our comgang swugust 2004. Mr. Byrnes has spent over foegrg in the medical
device and biotechnology industries. From Octol®&71until October 2002, and from January 2005 ¢opitesent, Mr. Byrnes has served as
President and Chief Executive Officer of Roan, laa. advisory service for healthcare organizatiénsm November 2002 to January 2005, h¢
served as the President and Chief Executive Ofti€dhermage, Inc., a medical device company fodusethe non-invasive tissue tightening.
Mr. Byrnes has also served as Chairman and Chieliiwe Officer of Tokos Medical Corporation, a hle@are services company, President
of Caremark, Inc., a home healthcare service cogymard Vice President of Marketing and Businessdlmyment for Genentech, Inc., a
biotechnology company. Mr. Byrnes holds a B.S. haffhacy from Ferris State University and an M.Befyigte in Marketing and Finance fr
Loyola University, Chicago. Our board of directbedieves that Mr. Byrnes'’s operating experienceplzioed with his prior board positions,
make him qualified to serve on our board of direxto
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Mark A. Prygocki, Sr, age 48, has served as a director of our compang May 2014. Mr. Prygocki worked at Medicis Phaomutical
Corporation, or Medicis, a biopharmaceutical conypdor more than 20 years and served as Presidamt July 2010 to December 2012. Prior
to that, Mr. Prygocki held several senior-levelifoss at Medicis, including Chief Operating Offic&xecutive Vice President, and Chief
Financial Officer and Treasurer. Mr. Prygocki’'s\yimeis experience includes work at Citigroup, arestment banking firm, in the regulatory
reporting division. Prior to that, Mr. Prygocki speseveral years in the audit department of Ern¥io&ing, LLP. Mr. Prygocki currently serves
on the Board of Directors of Clarus Therapeutins, bs well as Chairman of its audit committeeidHeertified by the Arizona State Board of
Accountancy and the New York Society of CPAs. My ddcki serves on the board of Whispering Hope Rdrmundation, a non-profit
organization that assists children with specialdse®r. Prygocki holds a B.S. in accounting front@&niversity. Our board of directors
believes that Mr. Prygocki’'s operating experiencd financial expertise, combined with his prior ftbpositions, make him qualified to serve
on our board of directors.

Executive Officers

The following table sets forth information concengiour executive officers as of March 4, 2015:

Name Age Position(s)

Executive Officers

L. Daniel Browne 53 President, Chief Executivdicf and Director

Arthur P. Bertolino, M.D., Ph.D. 60 Executive Vice President and Chief Medical Officer

Curtis Ruegg, Ph.D. 52 Executive Vice Presid€athnical Operations

Lauren P. Silvernail 56 Executive Vice President, Corporate Development@hief Financial Officer
Jacob Waugh, M.D. 44  Chief Scientific Officer

L. Daniel Browne Mr. Browne’s biography is included above under section titled “— Board of Directors — ClassDlirectors.”

Arthur P. Bertolino, M.D., Ph.D. has served as our Executive ViceiBeas and Chief Medical Officer since Septemberf2@®rior to hi
current position, Dr. Bertolino led clinical progna at Novartis AG, or Novartis, Pfizer Inc. and Be@perations Pty Ltd, or Peplin (now part
of LEO Pharma A/S), each a biopharmaceutical compda served in various capacities with these carngsaincluding Vice President,
Autoimmunity/Immunology/Dermatology of Novartis fro2008 to 2013, and he contributed to developmeatsgproval of llaris® and
Picato®, as well other innovative drugs. He is amlcCertified dermatologist with over 13 years mfitéch/pharma drug development
experience. He received his clinical and scientifiining at Johns Hopkins and NYU and businesgitrg at the Ross School of Business of
the University of Michigan.

Curtis Ruegg, Ph.[Chas served as our Executive Vice President, Teah@iperations since September 2006. PreviouslyRDegg has
held management and research and developmentgmsséti CoTherix, Inc., a biopharmaceutical compé&oyn 2004 to 2006. From 2002 to
2004, Dr. Ruegg was Vice President of Preclinical Brocess Development at InterMune, Inc., a biwtelogy company. From 1999 to 2001,
Dr. Ruegg was Vice President of Research and Dpredat at AP Cells, Inc., a medical product supplypany. From 1993 to 1998,

Dr. Ruegg served as Group Leader and Senior Seientbendreon Corporation, a biotechnology compBnyRuegg is a member of the
American Association of Immunologists and the Aroani Association for the Advancement of Science Rdiegg holds a B.S. in toxicology
from the University of California, Davis and a Phib pharmacology from Johns Hopkins University &of Medicine.

Lauren P. Silvernaihas served as our Chief Financial Officer and Etteewice President, Corporate Development sinceckl@013.
From 2003 to 2012, Ms. Silvernail was Chief Finah€fficer and Vice President of Corporate Develepirat ISTA Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a
pharmaceutical research and development compamnddoer tenure at ISTA, revenues grew to more BES0 million and headcount
increased to more than 340 employees by the timA Mas purchased by Bausch & Lomb in June 2012mFt895 to 2003, Ms. Silvernail
served in various operating and corporate developpasitions with Allergan, Inc., a pharmaceuticaipany, including Vice President,
Business Development. Prior to joining Allergarg.|riMs. Silvernail worked at Glenwood Venturesjrarestment firm, as a General Partner.
Ms. Silvernail holds a B.A. in Biophysics from thimiversity of California, Berkeley and an M.B.Aofn the Anderson Graduate School of
Management at the University of California, Los &tes.
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Jacob Waugh, M.DOs one of our co-founders and has served as owf Slientific Officer since June 2002. From 1992004,
Dr. Waugh served on staff at the Stanford UniverSithool of Medicine. He has authored over 30 mesemanuscripts and publications in the
field of tissue engineering, molecular and cell@y, and gene therapy. He has served as an egberte for numerous medical and scientific
journals. He has eleven patents granted in theed8tates and numerous additional patent appliatdr. Waugh received his B.S. from R
University and M.D. from the Baylor College of Metfie.

Governance and Board Composition

Board CommitteesOur board of directors has an audit committemgrapensation committee and a hominating and copg@/ernanc
committee. Our board of directors may establisleiodommittees to facilitate the management of asiriess. The composition and functions
of each committee are described below. Memberesamthese committees until their resignation dil otherwise determined by our boarc
directors.

Audit Committee Our audit committee currently consists of MesBsgnes and Prygocki and Dr. Glasheen. Our boadirettors has
determined that all current members of our auditmittee satisfy the independence requirements uheédlASDAQ listing rules and Rule
10A-3(b)(1) of the Exchange Act. Each member ofabdit committee meets the requirements for firgriteracy under the applicable rules
and regulations of the SEC and NASDAQ. The chaowfaudit committee is Mark A. Prygocki, Sr. Owald of directors has determined thai
each of Messrs. Byrnes and Prygocki is an “auditrodtee financial expert” within the meaning of tBEC regulations. Our board of directors
has determined that the composition of our auditrodtee meets the criteria for independence uratet,the functioning of our audit
committee complies with, the applicable requireraaitthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act, applicable requiremefithe NASDAQ listing rules and
SEC rules and regulations. We intend to continusveduate the requirements applicable to us angbowith future requirements to the ext
that they become applicable to our audit commitiéw principal duties and responsibilities of oudi& committee include:

e appointing and retaining an independent regist@ublic accounting firm to serve as independaditar to audit our consolidated
financial statements, overseeing the independatitals work and determining the independent autitoompensation;

e approving in advance all audit services and aodit services to be provided to us by our indepahduditor

» establishing procedures for the receipt, retenéind treatment of complaints received by us diggraccounting, internal
accounting controls, auditing or compliance maftasswell as for the confidential, anonymous subioisby our employees of
concerns regarding questionable accounting or iagdihatters;

» reviewing and discussing with management andralependent auditor the results of the annualtaundi the independent
auditor’s review of our quarterly consolidated fig&l statements; and

« conferring with management and our independeditar about the scope, adequacy and effectivenfessr internal accounting
controls, the objectivity of our financial repoggimnd our accounting policies and practices.

Director NominationsThe nominating and corporate governance committéieedboard of directors, to date, has not adoptérmal
policy with regard to the consideration of direatandidates recommended by stockholders and wilider director candidates recommendec
by stockholders on a case-bgse basis, as appropriate. Stockholders wishingctimmend individuals for consideration by the imating anc
corporate governance committee may do so by daliger written recommendation to our Secretary &5/Gateway Boulevard, Newark,
California 94560 and providing the candidate’s nabiegraphical data and qualifications and a doauriralicating the candidatwillingnes:
to serve if elected. The nominating and corporateegnance committee does not intend to alter thenerain which it evaluates candidates
based on whether the candidate was recommendedtbgldolder or not. To date, the nominating ampa@te governance committee has
received any such nominations nor has it rejectéidezttor nominee from a stockholder or stockhddeslding more than 5% of our voting
stock.

Code of Business Conduddur board of directors adopted a Code of Busi@ssluct and Ethics that applies to all of our eappés,
officers, including our principal executive offi¢garincipal financial officer and principal accoing officer or controller, or persons perform
similar functions and agents and representatinesjding directors and consultants. The full tefixbor Code of Business Conduct and Ethic
posted on our website at www.revance.com. We intemtisclose future amendments to certain provsmfiour Code of Business Conduct
and Ethics, or waivers of such provisions applieablany
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principal executive officer, principal financialfmfer, principal accounting officer or controllen;, persons performing similar functions, and
directors, on our website identified above.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compdince

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act 04183 amended, or the Exchange Act, requires oectdis and executive officers, and
persons who own more than ten percent of a regidtedass of our equity securities, to file with 8IEC initial reports of ownership and reports
of changes in ownership of common stock and otfeity securities of our company. Officers, direstand greater than ten percent
stockholders are required by SEC regulation toiflrns with copies of all Section 16(a) forms tffiky

To the best of our knowledge, based solely on ewewof the copies of such reports furnished tondg aritten representations that no

other reports were required, during the fiscal y@ated December 31, 2014, all of our officers,aoes and greater than ten percent beneficia
owners complied with all Section 16(a) filing reqaments applicable to them.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Our named executive officers, or NEOs, consistihigus principal executive officer and the next tmost highly compensated executive
officers during 2014, are:

« L. Daniel Browne, President and Chief Executiveicaif;
e Arthur P. Bertolino, M.D., Ph.D., Executive ViceeBident and Chief Medical Officer; ¢

e Jacob Waugh, M.D., Chief Scientific Offic

Summary Compensation Table
The following table sets forth all of the compemmatwarded to, earned by or paid to our NEOs gu2itil4 and 2013.

Nonequity Incentive

Option . All Other

Name and Principal Position Year  Salary($) Bonus($) Stock Awards  Awards($) ? (Izlan Compensation Compensation($) Total($)

L. Daniel Browne 2014 $452,352 $— $3,093,120 $5,207,855 $158,323 $44,003® $8,955,653
President and Chief 2013 $384,387 $— $— $1,759,189 $60,540 $— 2®2116
Executive Officer

Arthur P. Bertolino, 2014 $129,182%% $50,0009 $904,444 $1,477,236 $35,249 $— $2,596,110

M.D., Ph.D.

Executive Vice
President and Chief
Medical Officer

Jacob Waugh, M.D. 2014 $358,435 $— $805,500 $968,330 $111,115 $34,997® $2,278,377
Chief Scientific 2013 $343,460 $— $912,717 $38,639 $— $1,294,816
Officer and
Medical Director

(1) Amounts shown in this column represent castub@wards granted to our NEOs under our annuahtive plan. Such bonuses are

tied to achievement against financial goals thatsat in the first quarter of the applicable fisgzdr, with payouts determined after the
close of the year and primarily based on our lefelchievement against those goals. In previoussyéiae company reported these
amounts under the “Bonus” column, but following @iddal review, we have determined that these artwgualify to be reported as
non-equity incentive plan compensation.

(2) The dollar amounts in this column represeataggregate grant date fair value of all optionrd&granted during the indicated year.
These amounts have been calculated in accordaticé-#5B ASC Topic 718, or ASC 718, using the Bl&tioles option-pricing
model and excluding the effect of estimated foufieis. For a discussion of valuation assumptioresNs#e 14 to our financial
statements and the discussion under “Managemerg&iEsion and Analysis of Financial Condition arebts of Operations —
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates — Stock-



79




Table of Contents

Based Compensation” included elsewhere in this FIfrK. These amounts do not necessarily corresptite actual value that may
be recognized from the option awards by the NEOs.

3 Dr. Bertolino's annual base salary for 2014 %892,000. The amount shown reflects the salaneddrom his date of hire in August
2014 through December 31, 2014.

4) Represents a signing bonus of $50,000 paid in 2@d4dditional $100,000 signing bonus will be peidnstallments in 201
(5) Includes payout of $43,494 for excess vacation$aa® in other taxable benef
(6) Includes payout of $34,464 for excess vacation$G88 in other taxable benef

Outstanding Equity Awards at December 31, 2014

The following table provides information regardiogtstanding equity awards held by each of our N&©sf December 31, 2014.

Option Awards Stock Awards
Number of Number of
Securities Securities
Underlying Underlying Number of
Unexercised Unexercised Option Option Shares that  Market Value of
Options (#) Options (#) Exercise Expiration Have Not Shares That Have
Exercisable Unexercisable Price ($) Date Vested Not Vested
L. Daniel Browne 20,00( — $ 2.5t 4/29/201¢ — —
36,66¢ — $ 2.5t 7120/202! — —
118,255% 180,49! $ 8.7(C 5/26/202. — —
24,895@ 74,68¢ $ 9.1% 12/16/202. — —
43,1379 252,66: $ 32.2: 5/18/202: — —
— — — — 96,000¥ $1,626,24(
Arthur P. Bertolino, M.D., Ph.D. — 118,1259 § 22.97 9/1/202- — —
— — — — 39,3759 $667,01<
Jacob Waugh, M.D. 93,64¢ — —
12,917 $ 8.7C 5/26/202.
4,305@ 38,75( $ 9.1% 12/16/202. — —
8,020® 46,98( $ 32.2% 5/18/202: — —
— — — — 25,000¥ $423,50(

(1) This option began vesting on May 27, 2013. $hares subject to the stock option vest over myfear period, with one-fortgighth ol
the shares vesting each month, subject to provicimginued service to us through each vesting date.

(2 This option began vesting on December 17, 2Uh®8 shares subject to the stock option vest a¥eur year period, with one-forty-
eighth of the shares vesting each month, subjgmtaeiding continued service to us through eachingglate.

3) This option began vesting on May 19, 2014. Shares subject to the stock option vest over eyfear period, with one-fortgighth of
the shares vesting each month, subject to providamginued service to us through each vesting date.

(4) This restricted stock award began vesting @y ¥9, 2014. The shares subject to the stock awesidover a three year period, with
one-third of the shares vesting each year, sutjgmtoviding continued service to us through eag$ting date.

(5) This restricted stock award began vesting @pt&nber 2, 2014. The shares subject to the steakdavest over a four year period,
with one-fourth of the shares vesting each yedijesti to providing continued service to us throegleh vesting date.

(6) This option began vesting on September 2, 20hé shares subject to the stock option vest aveur year period, with one fourth of
the shares vesting on the first anniversary ofjlamt date and one-forty-eighth of the shares nggtach month thereafter, subject to
providing continued service to us through eachingsiate.

Executive Employment Arrangements
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We have entered into employment agreements with ebour named executive officers; these agreentemts no specific term of
employment and provide for at-will employment. Eachployment agreement provides the NEO with an alnpase salary and target bonus
opportunity, eligibility for employee benefits oféal to our other employees, as well as eligibilitgler our Executive Severance Plan,
described below. The target annual bonus oppoyt{eipressed as a percentage of base salary) fdBidwne was 50% for 2014 and was
increased to 55% for 2015; for Dr. Waugh, was 4092014 and was increased to 45% for 2015; an®foBertolino, was 35% for 2014 and
was increased to 40% for 2015.

Severance and Change of Control Benel

Each of our NEOs is eligible for our Executive Savee Plan, which provides severance benefitsarettent of certain qualifying
terminations of employment, subject to the exeesiexecution of a waiver and release of claimigwor of the company.

Under the Severance Plan, upon an involuntary teatitin of a participant other than for cause, ahdn& such termination is not within
12 months following a change of control, the besgirovided under the Severance Plan consist)dalary continuation payments for 15
months in the case of our chief executive offiesd for nine months in the case of the other naexedutive officers; and (ii) payment by us
COBRA premiums for the participant and his eligidependents for a period of up to 15 months irctse of our chief executive officer, and
up to nine months in the case of the other NEOs.

For a period of 12 months following a change intoanif we involuntarily terminate a participardrfany reason other than cause, or the
participant resigns for “good reasorm@ach as defined in the Severance Plan), then tiefitseeprovided by the Severance Plan will consisti)
a lump sum payment equal to the sum of the paatitip monthly base salary and monthly annual tasgats, multiplied by 21 in the case of
our chief executive officer, and by 12 in the cakthe other NEOs; (ii) payment of COBRA premiuros the named executive officer and his
eligible dependents for a period of up to 21 moittthe case of our chief executive officer, andafi2 months in the case of the other NEOs
and (iii) accelerated vesting of all unvested stoptions then held by the NEO.

Under the Severance Plan, a “change of contraléfined the same way it is under our 2014 Equitgitiive Plan.

If any of the benefits provided under the Severd?le@ would constitute a “parachute payment” witthiea meaning of Section 280G of
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amendeledCode, such that the payments would become dubjHte excise tax imposed by
Section 4999 of the Code, then the payments wiibeibe paid in full to the participant, or reducedthat a smaller amount or no portion of
such benefits will be subject to the excise taxicivever provides the greater after-tax benefihtgarticipant.

Employee Benefit Plans

401(k) Plan

We sponsor a 401(k) retirement plan in which ouned executive officers participate on the sameshasiour other U.S. employees. No
matching or other company contributions were mautteuthis plan in our fiscal 2014.

Pension Benefits

We do not maintain a defined benefit pension ptarafiy of our employees.

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation

We do not maintain a plan providing nonqualifiededeed compensation for any of our employees.

Non-Employee Director Compensation

The compensation provided to our non-employee ttireén 2014 is enumerated in the table below.Blowne, who is also one of our
employees, did not and will not receive any compéas for his services as a director.

2014 Director Compensation Table

In December 2013, our board of directors approvedraemployee director compensation policy thatbez effective upon the
completion of our IPO.
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Under this policy, we pay each of our non-emploglieectors a cash retainer for service on the boadirectors and for service on each
committee on which the director is a member. Thearaman of each committee receives a higher retd@resuch service. These retainers are
payable in arrears in four equal quarterly instalis on the last day of each quarter, providedttteaamount of such payment will be prorated
for any portion of such quarter that the direcsonot serving on our board of directors. The retapaid to non-employee directors for service
on the board of directors and for service on eachrittee of the board of directors on which thedior is a member are as follows:

Member Chairman Additional
Annual Service Annual Service
Retainer Retainer
Board of Directors $ 39,50 $ 24,50(
Audit Committee 7,50( 12,50(
Compensation Committee 5,00( 7,25(
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee 4,50( 3,50(

In addition, under our director compensation pqliEgch non-employee director serving on our boédirectors upon the completion of
our IPO have received, and each non-employee diretgcted to our board of directors after the cetiymn of our IPO received, an option to
purchase 18,000 shares of our common stock. Thagme will vest on the one year anniversary ofghent date, subject to the director’s
continued service as a director. Further, on the daeach annual meeting of stockholders heldy eao-employee director that continues to
serve as a non-employee member on our board aftdisewill receive an option to purchase 8,000 sb@f our common stock. The exercise
price of these options will equal the fair markatue of our common stock on the date of grant,thade options will vest on the one year
anniversary of the grant date, subject to the threccontinued service as a director. This poigcintended to provide a total compensation
package that enables us to attract and retainfigabdind experienced individuals to serve as dirscand to align our directors’ interests with
those of our stockholders.

The following table sets forth a summary of the pemsation received during the year ended Deceniher03 4.

Stock
Fees Earned or Options

Name Paid in Cash ($) ($)* Total ($)

Robert Byrnes 60,657.97 274,984.2(® 335,642.1°
Ronald W. Eastman 48,395.6( 122,215.2(® 170,610.8(
Phyllis Gardner, M.D. 40,050.0( 122,215.2(® 162,265.2(
James Glasheen, Ph.D. 42,300.0( 122,215.2(® 164,515.2(
Mark A. Prygocki 37,923.0¢ 289,359.0(® 327,282.0¢
Angus C. Russell 58,074.7: 273,523.5¢® 331,598.3:
Jonathan Tunnicliffe 37,658.7( 122,215.2(" 159,873.9(
Philip J. Vickers, Ph.D. - -® -
Ronald Wooten 36,800.0( 122,215.2(® 159,015.2(

* The dollar amounts in this column representghant date fair value of the stock option awardeSéhamounts have been calculated ir

accordance with ASC 718 using the Black-Scholempgiricing model and excluding the effect of estted forfeitures. For a
discussion of valuation assumptions, see Note bditdinancial statements and the discussion ufitken 7. Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &webults of Operations — Critical Accounting Pol&and Estimates — Stock-
Based Compensation” included elsewhere in this FIfrK. These amounts do not necessarily corresptite actual value that may
be recognized from the option awards by the apipléceirectors.

(1) As of December 31, 2014, Mr. Byrnes had optionsuichase 42,332 shares of our common <

(2 As of December 31, 2014, Mr. Eastman had optionmitchase 8,000 shares of our common s

3) As of December 31, 2014, Dr. Gardner had optionmutghase 13,333 shares of our common <

(4) As of December 31, 2014, Dr. Glasheen had optiomsitchase 8,000 shares of our common s

(5) Mr. Prygocki joined our board of directors in Ma@12l. As of December 31, 2014, Mr. Prygocki hadapgito purchase 18,000 she
of our common stock.
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(6) Mr. Russell joined our board of directors iraitdh 2014. As of December 31, 2014, Mr. Russelldyibns to purchase 18,000 shares
of our common stock.

@) As of December 31, 2014, Mr. Tunnicliffe had opdn purchase 8,000 shares of our common ¢

(8) Dr. Vickers joined our board of directors ialffuary 2015. As of December 31, 2014, Dr. Vickidsnot have any equity award from
us.

(9) As of December 31, 2014, Mr. Wooten had optionsuxchase 8,000 shares of our common s

Directors have been and will continue to be reirsbdrfor expenses directly related to their actsitas directors, including attendance a
board and committee meetings. Directors are alstieshto the protection provided by their indenicaftion agreements and the indemnifica
provisions in our certificate of incorporation amglaws.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Partipation

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 Byirnes, Dr. Gardner, Mr. Eastman and Mr. Tunrfielferved on the compensation
committee, with Mr. Byrnes serving as its chair.. Bastman and Mr. Tunnicliffe stepped down from¢bmmittee as of May 4, 2014 and
October 8, 2014, respectively, and the committeeeatly consists of Mr. Byrnes and Dr. Gardner. Baf Mr. Byrnes, Dr. Gardner, Mr.
Eastman and Mr. Tunnicliffe is currently or hasmegany time one of our employees. None of oucetkee officers currently serves, or has
served during the last year, as a member of thedlafalirectors or compensation committee of anytethat has one or more executive
officers serving as a member of our board of dmexcor compensation committee.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides certain informationtlvrespect to our equity compensation plans incetis of December 31, 2014.

Number of securities
remaining available
for issuance under
Number of securities to be Weighted-average exercise equity compensation plans

issued upon exercise price of outstanding (excluding
of outstanding options, options, securities reflected in column
warrants and rights warrants and rights (@)
Plan Category (a) (b) @ (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders? 1,818,32. $ 17.9( 266,295%
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders? 140,12¢ % 22.5: 141,50(
Total 1,958,44i ¢ 18.27 407,79t
(1) Includes securities issuable under the 2002t dncentive Plan, the 2012 Equity Incentive Rldre 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, or
the 2014 plan, and the 2014 Employee Stock Purdpiase or the 2014 ESPP.
(2) Includes securities issuable under the 20@lddament Plan adopted exclusively for grants ofrdsvto individuals that were not

previously our employees or directors , as an iechent material to the individualentry into employment with us within the mear
of Rule 5635(c)(4) of the NASDAQ Listing Rules.

3) The weighted average exercise price excludesctsdrstock awards which have no exercise |

4 Includes (i) 91,634 shares of common stocklabke for issuance under our 2014 plan and (i3,681 shares of common stock
available for issuance under our 2014 ESPP. Thebruof shares of our common stock reserved foaisse under the 2014 plan
automatically increases on January 1st of each g&ating on January 1, 2015 and continuing thihalenuary 1, 2024, by 4% of the
total number of shares of our common stock outstanon December 31 of the preceding calendar yeasuch lesser number of
shares of common stock as determined by our bdatulextors. The maximum number of shares that beissued pursuant to the
exercise of incentive stock options under the 26l44 is 2,000,000 shares. The number of sharesraf@nmon stock reserved under
the 2014 ESPP for issuance automatically increasesnuary 1st each year, starting January 1, @8d®ontinuing through January
1, 2024, in an amount equal to the lower of (i) 4Bthe total number of shares of our common stock
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outstanding on December 31 of the preceding cateyata, and (ii) 300,000 shares of common stockuch lesser number of shares
of common stock as determined by our board of thrsclf a purchase right granted under our 201RE&rminates without having
been exercised, the shares of our common stoggurohased under such purchase right will be avVaily issuance under our 2014
ESPP.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andManagement

The following table sets forth certain informaticgarding the ownership of our common stock asntidry 31, 2015 by: (i) each
director; (ii) each named executive officer; (ai) of our executive officers and directors as @ugr, and (iv) all those known by us to be
beneficial owners of more than five percent of cemmon stock. We are aware that one or more itistital investors purchased a number of
shares of our common stock in amounts represeintiagcess of five percent of our common stock a%aofuary 31, 2015, and as a result, one
or more of such institutional investors may congita beneficially own in excess of five percenbaf common stock as of January 31, 2015.
However, as of the date of this Form 10-K, othanths disclosed below, we are not aware of amgglmade with the SEC with respect to the
beneficial ownership of our common stock by sudiintional investors and we were otherwise unabherify the beneficial ownership of ¢
common stock by any such institutional investoofathe date of this Form 10-K.

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordandé e rules of the SEC and generally includessrares over which a person
exercises sole or shared voting or investment po8leares of common stock issuable under optiomgaarants that are exercisable within 60
days after January 31, 2015, are deemed beneficiathed and such shares are used in computingetitemtage ownership of the person
holding the options or warrants but are not deemastanding for the purpose of computing the pasgsnownership of any other person. The
percentage of beneficial ownership is based on123032 shares of our common stock outstanding darafary 31, 2015.

The information contained in the following tablenist necessarily indicative of beneficial ownerstipany other purpose and the
inclusion of any shares in the table does not domhstan admission of beneficial ownership of thekares.

Unless otherwise indicated below, to our knowleddjepersons named in the table have sole votimgdispositive power with respect to

their shares of common stock, except to the extetitority is shared by spouses under communityeptppaws. Unless otherwise indicated
below, the address of each beneficial owner ligigte table below is c/o Revance Therapeutics, fFg55 Gateway Blvd., Newark, CA 945

Beneficial Ownership

Number of Percentage
Name of Beneficial Owner Shares of Total
Named Executive Officers and Directors:
L. Daniel Browne” 514,40¢ 2.12%
Arthur P. Bertolind® 46,88 *
Jacob Waugh, M.D? 144,06: &
Robert Byrne§’ 29,66¢ *
Ronald W. Eastmafi 4,134,96: 17.2%
Phyllis Gardner, M.D® 5,33¢ *
James Glasheen, PhD. 726,01: 3.04%
Mark A. Prygocki - -
Angus C. Russef? 18,00( &
Jonathan Tunnicliff€ 3,096,65! 12.95%
Philip J. Vickers, Ph.D. - -
Ronald Wooter? 3,096,65! 12.95%
Directors and officers as a group (total of 14 pes3™ 8,883,87! 36.25%
Greater than 5% Stockholders:
Entities affiliated with Essex VIIP 4,134,96 17.2%
Entities affiliated with NovaQuest 3,096,65! 12.95%
Entities affiliated with Franklin Resourcg8 2,754,13! 11.51%

* Represents beneficial ownership of less tH#nof the outstanding common stock
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(1)

(2)
3)
(4)
()

(6)
(7)

(8)
(9)

(10)

(11)

Consists of 217,395 shares of common stock&6g605 shares of common stock underlying optibasare vested and exercisable
within 60 days of January 31, 2015 and 409 shdresramon stock held by the Dan and Brenda Browwangi Trust. Mr. Browne is
a Trustee of the Dan and Brenda Browne Living Trust

Consists of 45,453 shares of common stockla#i8d shares of common stock underlying optionsahavested and exercisable
within 60 days of January 31, 2015.

Consists of 31,544 shares of common stockld2¢519 shares of common stock underlying optibasdre vested and exercisable
within 60 days of January 31, 2015.

Consists of 2,666 shares of common stock &@98 shares of common stock underlying optionsahavested and exercisable
within 60 days of January 31, 2015.

Consists of 3,747,332 shares of common stetdk Iy Essex Woodlands Health Ventures Fund VIIR.I(“Essex Fund VIII);
270,172 shares of common stock held by Essex WodsdlHealth Ventures Fund VIII-A, L.P. (“Essex FWidl-A") and 117,458
shares of common stock held by Essex WoodlandsthiHgahtures Fund VIII-B, L.P. (“Essex Fund VIII-B"Essex Woodlands Hea
Ventures VIII, LLC, the general partner of Essexi@WIIl, Essex Fund VIII-A and Essex Fund VIII-B,ayn be deemed to have sole
power to vote and sole power to dispose of sharestty owned by Essex Fund VIII, Essex Fund VlllaAd Essex Fund VIII-B. Ron
Eastman, one of our directors, is a managing mewifgssex Woodlands Health Ventures VIII, LLC andynbe deemed to have
shared voting power and shared power to dispotfeecshares held by Essex Fund VIII, Essex Fund-Alénd Essex Fund VIII-B.
The address for Essex VIl is 335 Bryant Streelp Rdto, California 94301.

Consists of 5,333 shares of common stock underlgpigpns that are vested and exercisable withid#®® of January 31, 20:
Consists of 16,852 shares of common stock wlflechnology Partners Affiliates VII, L.P. (“TPA&nd 709,162 shares of common
stock held by Technology Partners Fund VII, L.H.RF"). TP Management VII, L.L.C., the general partof TPA and TPF, may be
deemed to have sole power to vote and sole powdispmse of shares directly owned by TPA and TBRe} Glasheen, one of our
directors, is a managing member of TP Managemeint ML.C. and may be deemed to have shared votavgep and shared power to
dispose of the shares held by TPA and TPF. Theeaddor Technology Partners is 550 University AverRalo Alto, California
94301.

Consists of 18,000 shares of common stock underlgptions that are vested and exercisable withid&® of January 31, 20:
Consists of 3,096,650 shares of common stetdk sy NovaQuest Pharma Opportunities Fund Ill,. [(!RovaQuest”). NQ HCIF
General Partner, L.P., as the general partner gdRaest (the “NovaQuest GP”), has the power to sotkédispose of shares directly
owned by NovaQuest, and NQ HCIF GP Ltd., as thegdmartner of the NovaQuest GP (the “NovaQuest taP), has the power 1
direct the NovaQuest GP as to such voting and digpn. Decisions with respect to the voting angpdisition of the shares held by
NovaQuest are made by an investment committeeedfitivaQuest GP Ltd., on which Jonathan Tunnicéfid Ronald Wooten, tw
of our directors, each serve. Ronald Wooten alsgeseon the board of directors of the NovaQuest.@PPursuant to these positions,
Jonathan Tunnicliffe and Ronald Wooten may be deleiméave shared voting power and shared powespwmse of the shares held
by NovaQuest. The NovaQuest GP, the NovaQuest @Rthe investment committee, Mr. Tunnicliffe and. M/ooten each disclain
beneficial ownership of the shares held by Nova®Qexrsept to the extent of his or its pecuniaryriese therein. The address for each
of the foregoing persons and entities is 4208 k& Road, Suite 920, Raleigh, North Carolina 27609

Includes shares beneficially owned by alfent executive officers and directors of the conyp&@onsists of 8,297,969 shares of
common stock and 585,906 shares of common stoclriyiy options that are vested and exercisableiw®0 days of January 31,
2015.

The indicated ownership is based on a SckeelRG filed with the SEC by the reporting persomgdanuary 9, 2015, reporting
beneficial ownership as of December 31, 2014. Adiogrto the Schedule 13G, the reporting personsfizally own a total of
2,754,139 shares of Common Stock held by FrankdisoRrces, Inc. (“FRI”), Franklin Advisers, Inc.,&kes B. Johnson and Rupert
H. Johnson, Jr. The Schedule 13G filed by the temppersons provides information only as of Decengi, 2014, and,
consequently, the beneficial ownership of the aboeationed reporting persons may have changed batecember 31, 2014 and
January 31, 2015.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The following is a summary of transactions sinaeudaly 1, 2014 in which (i) we have been a participéi) the amount involved

exceeded or will exceed $120,000, and (iii) angwfdirectors, executive officers or holders of enthtan 5% of our capital stock, or any
member of their immediate family or person shathjr household, had or will have a direct or iedirmaterial interest, other than
compensation arrangements which are described thteler 11. Executive Compensation.”

Issuances of Notes and Warrants Pursuant to Note dnNarrant Purchase Agreement
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Pursuant to that certain Note and Warrant PurcAgseement, dated October 8, 2013, as amended swedssecured subordinated
convertible promissory notes, or the 2013 Noted,waarrants to purchase our common stock in an gatgeprincipal amount of
$23.65 million. The outstanding principal amounkabae and any accrued interest through OctobedT4 &n the 2013 Notes converted into
1,637,846 shares of common stock at the closiraupfPO at a conversion price equal to the IPOegpoic$16.00 per share.

The following table summarizes the participatiotia 2013 convertible note financing by our exaeutfficers, directors and holders of
more than 5% of our capital stock and their aff@dehentities during the year ended December 314:201

Aggregate Principal Amount of 2013 Notes

Name Purchased in 2014
Funds affiliated with Essex VI[P $ 2,000,00!
Funds affiliated with NovaQue$t $ 2,000,00!

Q) Ronald W. Eastman, a member of our board refcttrs, is a managing director of Essex Woodlatekth Ventures VIII, LLC, the

general partner of Essex Woodlands Health Venteoesl VIII, L.P., Essex Woodlands Health Ventureadrir111-A, L.P. and Essex
Woodlands Health Ventures Fund VIII-B, L.P.

(2 Jonathan Tunnicliffe and Ronald Wooten, eaateaber of our board of directors, are both afééhwith NQ HCIF General Partner,
L.P., the general partner of NovaQuest Pharma Qppities Fund IIl, L.P.

Other Transactions with our Executive Officers, Directors, Key Employees and Significant Stockholders

Stockholder Agreements. February 2014, in connection with our IPO, wéeeed into an Amended and Restated Investor Rights
Agreement, or the Rights Agreement, which provickssain registration rights to the holders of 18,d87 shares of our common stock.The
following executive officers, directors and holdefsnore than 5% of our capital stock and theiiliates are parties to the Rights Agreement:

+ Entities affiliated with Essex VI

» Entities affiliated with NovaQue!

» Entities affiliated with Technology Partne
e Jacob Waugh, M.D.; ai

* L. Daniel Browne and affiliated entiti

Indemnification AgreementdNe have entered, or will enter, into an indenwaifion agreement with each of our directors and ke
officers. The indemnification agreements and outifezate of incorporation and bylaws require usridemnify our directors and officers to 1
fullest extent permitted by Delaware law. For acdigsion of these indemnification agreements, $eesection entitled “Executive
Compensation — Limitations on Liability and Indeffication Matters.”

Policies and Procedures for Related Party TrangadiFollowing our IPO, all future transactions betwemsnand our officers, directors,
principal stockholders and their affiliates arejeabto approval by the audit committee, or a samdommittee consisting of entirely
independent directors, according to the terms ofitten Related-Person Transactions Policy andeGaf Business Conduct and Ethics.

All of the related party transactions describethis section occurred prior to the adoption of gticy and as such, these transactions
were not subject to the approval and review progesiget forth in this policy. However, these tratisas were reviewed and approved by our
board of directors.

Director Independence

Our board of directors undertook a review of thaeipendence of the directors and considered whathedirector has a material
relationship with us that could compromise hisigibtb exercise independent judgment in carryinghas responsibilities. As a result of this
review, our board of directors determined thab&lbur directors except for Mr. Browne, our
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President and Chief Executive Officer, representiimg of our ten directors, are “independent doextas defined under NASDAQ listing
rules and the independence requirements of Rule3L0Ader the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, asnaied, or the Exchange Act.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Fees Paid to the Independent Registered Public Aageting Firm

The following table presents fees for professi@nalit services and other services rendered toaupany by PricewaterhouseCoopers,
or PwC, for the fiscal years ended December 314 20 2013.

2014 2013
Audit Fees” $ 1,266,360 $ 1,510,68:
Q) Audit Fees consist of professional serviceglezed in connection with the audit of our consatid financial statements and review of

our quarterly consolidated financial statementgsHer fiscal 2014 and 2013 also include fees aaswatwith our IPO completed in
February 2014, which included review of our qudyteonsolidated financial information included inraegistration statement on
Form S-1 filed with the SEC, as well as deliverycomfort letters, consents and review of documgieid with the SEC. Fees for
fiscal 2014 also include fees associated with olioW on offering completed in June 2014, whichlined delivery of comfort letters,
consents and review of documents filed with the SEC

Auditor Independence

In 2014, there were no other professional seryicegided by PwC that would have required the acoliihmittee to consider their
compatibility with maintaining the independencePgiC.

Audit Committee Policy on Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services of Independent Resfiered Public Accounting
Firm

Consistent with requirements of the SEC and thdi@@ompany Oversight Board, or PCAOB, regardinditar independence, our audit
committee is responsible for the appointment, carepon and oversight of the work of our independegistered public accounting firm. In
recognition of this responsibility, our audit contieé has established a policy for the pre-approtall audit and permissible non-audit
services provided by the independent registeretiqgabcounting firm. These services may includeitsegrvices, audit-related services, tax
services and other services.

Before engagement of the independent registerelicpadrounting firm for the next year’s audit, tinelependent registered public
accounting firm submits a detailed descriptione¥ges expected to be rendered during that yearech of the following categories of
services to the audit committee for approval:

» Audit service:. Audit services include work performed for the ied our financial statements and the review official
statements included in our quarterly reports, dbagework that is normally provided by the indedent registered public
accounting firm in connection with statutory andukatory filings.

« Auditrelated services Audit-related services are for assurance andelservices that are reasonably related to tHenpesince
of the audit or review of our financial statemeatsl are not covered above under “audit services.”

e Tax services Tax services include all services performed lyitldependent registered public accounting firmsgersonnel for
tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning.

» Other services Other services are those services not describdtiother categorit

The audit committee pre-approves particular sesvazecategories of services on a casa#ge basis. The fees are budgeted, and the
committee requires the independent registered pabtounting firm and management to report acked fersus budgeted fees periodically
throughout the year by category of service. Duthgyear, circumstances may arise when it may becmnessary to engage the independen
registered public accounting firm for additionahgees not
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contemplated in the original pre-approval. In thostances, the services must be pre-approvedebgutiit committee before the independent
registered public accounting firm is engaged.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) The following documents are filed as part @ thnnual Report on this Form 10-K:

(1) Financial Statements. The financial statemeggsired by this item are set forth beginning dt & this Annual Report on this
Form 10-K and are incorporated herein by reference.

(2) Financial Statement Schedules. See index te@inlated Financial Statements on page F-1. Akiosithedules have been omitted
because they are not required or are not applicable

(3) Exhibits. The documents listed in the Exhibidéx of this Form 10-K are incorporated by refeeeacare filed with this report, in
each case as indicated therein (numbered in aceoedaith Item 601 of Regulation S-K).
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Revance Therapeutics, Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated ba#asheets and the related consolidated statemfeopei@ations and comprehensive loss, of
changes in convertible preferred stock and stocldrsl equity (deficit) and of cash flows preseritiyain all material respects, the financial
position of Revance Therapeutics, Inc. and itsislidry at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2@18 the results of their operations and
their cash flows for each of the three years inpieod ended December 31, 2014 , in conformityaitcounting principles generally acceptec
in the United States of America. These financialesnents are the responsibility of the Compamyanagement. Our responsibility is to exp
an opinion on these financial statements basedipawdits. We conducted our audits of these statesnie accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (BdiStates). Those standards require that we pthpeniorm the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the finanatehsénts are free of material misstatement. Anténdudes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosuréifinancial statements, assessing the accouptingiples used and significant estimates
made by management, and evaluating the overalidiahstatement presentation. We believe that adits.provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, California
March 4, 2015
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REVANCE THERAPEUTICS, INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

F-3




Table of Contents

REVANCE THERAPEUTICS, INC.

As of December 31,

2014 2013
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 171,03: $ 3,91«
Restricted cash, current portion 75 75
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,62¢ 82t
Total current assets 172,73: 4,81«
Property and equipment, net 19,27: 14,31¢
Restricted cash, net of current portion 43¢ 51C
Other non-current assets 29 3,00¢
TOTAL ASSETS $ 192,46¢ $ 22,64¢
LIABILITIES, CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKH OLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 3,14¢ % 5,52¢
Accruals and other current liabilities 4,14¢ 4,161
Deferred revenue, current portion — 83
Derivative liabilities associated with convertilsietes, current portion — 4,89(
Derivative liabilities associated with Medicis $ethent, current portion — 6,68¢
Financing obligation, current portion 307 —
Convertible notes, current portion — 12,157
Notes payable, current portion and discount 2,63t 10,70z
Common stock warrant liability — 3,35¢
Total current liabilities 10,23¢ 47,56
Convertible preferred stock warrant liability — 1,23:
Financing obligation, net of current portion 59¢ —
Note payable, net of current portion and discount — 2,63
Derivative liabilities associated with Medicis $ethent, net of current portion 1,541 1,61(
Deferred rent 3,72¢ 3,17¢
TOTAL LIABILITIES 16,10( 56,21:
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 10)
Convertible preferred stock, par value $0.001 pares— 5,000,000 and 145,010,269 shares authorized
as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectivelpdBz689,999 shares issued and outstanding as
of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively (aggedgjuidation preference of $0 and $215,264
as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively) — 123,98.
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Common stock, par value $0.001 per share — 95,0000d 224,000,000 shares authorized as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively; 23,7B4ah8 260,789 shares issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, ctgply 24 —
Additional paid-in capital 435,14 38,33:
Accumulated deficit (258,79) (195,88()
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT) 176,36 (157,549
TOTAL LIABILITIES, CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK ANCSTOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(DEFICIT) $ 192,46¢ $ 22,64¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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REVANCE THERAPEUTICS, INC.

Consolidated Statement of Operations and Compreheing Loss
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Revenue $ 38: $ 617 $ 717
Operating expenses:

Research and development 33,39 27,83: 32,70¢

Sales, general and administrative 19,04: 11,01 11,19t

Total operating expenses 52,43 38,84 43,90:
Loss from operations (52,050 (38,225 (43,18¢)
Interest income 44 2 7
Interest expense (10,67 (15,169 (28,959
Change in fair value of derivative liabilities asgded with the convertible notes 4,032 2,66( 13,86(
Changes in fair value of derivative liabilities asmted with Medicis settlement (320 47 —
Change in fair value of common stock warrant ligpil (2,15)) (621) —
Change in fair value of convertible preferred sta@rant liability (210 (743) 12t
Loss on settlement of preferred stock warrant (1,35€) — —
Other expense, net (239 (409 (10€)
Net and comprehensive loss $ (62,91) $ (52,449 $ (58,259
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhdddlote 15):
Basic $ (62,91) $ 25¢ % (58,259)
Diluted $ (62,91) $ 1,080 $ (58,25¢)
Net income (loss) per share attributable to comstookholders:
Basic $ (329 % 117 $ (290.4%
Diluted $ (329 % 108 $ (290.4%)
Weighted-average number of shares used in compaéhgncome (loss) per share
attributable to common stockholders:

Basic 19,391,52 220,22 200,56(
Diluted 19,391,52 1,029,15 200,56(

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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REVANCE THERAPEUTICS, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Convertibler&erred Stock and of Stockholders’ Equity (Defici)

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Convertible Preferred Additional Other Total
Stock Common Stock Comprehensive Stockholders’
Paid-In Accumulated Equity
Shares Amount Shares Amount  Capital Income (Loss) Deficit (Deficit)
Balance — December 31, 2011 1,517,38 95,43: | 198,49¢ — 4,58¢ —  (160,06)  (155,48)
Stock-based compensation expense related
to stock options — — — — 79 — — 79
Issuance of common stock warrants in
connection with convertible notes
(September through December) — — — — 152 — — 152
Exercise of stock options at $2.55 per share — — 2,53( — 6 — — 6
Exercise of common stock warrants at
$0.15 per share — — 2,99t — 1 — — 1
Series C-3 convertible preferred stock
modification — — — — (3,229 — — (3,225
Net loss — — — — — — (58,259 (58,259
Balance — December 31, 2012 1,517,38. 95,43 | 204,02 — 1,59¢ —  (218,32f) (216,72)
Stock-based compensation expense rele
to stock options — — — — 54¢ — — 54¢
Conversion of Series A and B convertible
preferred stock into Series E-1
convertible preferred stock — (11,25¢) — — — — 11,25¢ 11,25¢
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REVANCE THERAPEUTICS, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Convertibler&erred Stock and of Stockholders’ Equity (Defici)
— (Continued)
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Convertible Preferred Additional Other Total
Stock Common Stock Comprehensive Stockholders’
Paid-In Accumulated Equity
Shares Amount Shares Amount  Capital Income (Loss) Deficit (Deficit)

Conversion of Series C convertible preferi
stock into Series E-2 convertible preferrec
stock — (39,000 — — — — 39,00( 39,00(

Conversion of Series D convertible preferred
stock into Series E-3 convertible preferred

stock 607,47t (24,63f) — — — — 24,63¢ 24,63¢
Conversion of 2011 Notes into Series E-4
convertible preferred stock 4,748,48  66,95¢ — —  32,00¢ — — 32,00¢

Issuance of Series E-5 convertible preferred
stock for cash at $22.50 per share in
February through May 2013, net of

issuance costs of $132 1,810,44 36,37t — — — — — —
Issuance of Series E-5 convertible preferr
stock as a deemed dividend 7,911 177 — — a77) — — Q77

Issuance of common stock warrants in
connection with Series E-5 convertible

preferred stock financing — — — — 4,27 — — 4,27:
Expiration of note payable from stockhold:
Series E-1 (1,699 (63) — — 63 — — 63
Exercise of stock options at $2.55 per share — — 4,28¢ — 11 — — 11
Exercise of common stock warrants at $0.

per share — — | 52,48 — 7 — — 7
Net loss — — — — — — (52,449 (52,449
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REVANCE THERAPEUTICS, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Convertibler&erred Stock and of Stockholders’ Equity (Defici)
— (Continued)
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Convertible Preferred Additional Other Total
Stock Common Stock Comprehensive Stockholders’
Paid-In Accumulated Equity
Shares Amount Shares  Amount  Capital Income (Loss) Deficit (Deficit)
Balance — December 31, 2013 8,689,99! 123,98. 260,78¢ — 38,33 — (195,88() (157,549
Issuance of common stock relating to
employee stock purchase plan — — 25,33¢ — 34¢ — — 34¢

Stock-based compensation expense
related to stock options, restrictes
stock awards, and employee stoc
purchase plan — — — — 6,51 — — 6,513

Conversion of preferred stock to
common stock in connection with
initial public offering (8,689,99) (123,98) | 8,689,99 9 123,97 — — 123,98:

Conversion of preferred stock warran
to common stock warrants in
connection with initial public
offering — — — — 1,441 — — 1,441

Issuance of common stock in
connection with initial public offering,
net of underwriting discounts,
commissions and issuance costs of
$11,800 — — | 6,900,00 7 98,637 — — 98,64
Issuance of common stock upon
conversion of 2013 convertible notes
connection with initial public offering — — 1,637,841 2 26,20« — — 26,20¢t

Issuance of common stock upon net
exercise of common stock warrants and
related extinguishment of warrant
liability in connection with initial publit
offering — — 1,158,44. 1 6,48¢ — — 6,49(

F-8




Table of Contents

REVANCE THERAPEUTICS, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Convertibler&erred Stock and of Stockholders’ Equity (Defici)
— (Continued)

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Convertible Preferred

Other Total
Stock Common Stock Additional  Comprehensive Stockholders’
Paid-In Accumulated Equity
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Income (Loss) Deficit (Deficit)

Issuance of common stock in connectis

with follow on offering, net of

underwriting discounts, commissio

and issuance costs of $9,000 — — 4,600,001 5 131,33( — — 131,33!
Issuance of common stock upon net

exercise of warrant — — 10,61 — — — — —
Issuance of common stock upon exerc

of stock options — — 239,00( — 1,42: — — 1,422
Issuance of restricted stock awards, net of

repurchase — — 251,32! — — — — —
Issuance of common stock warrants — — — — 37¢ — — 37¢
Issuance of common stock at $15.45 per
share for services rendered — — 1,111 — 17 — — 17
Termination of repurchase rights relate

to vesting of common stock issued

pursuant to early exercises — — — — 58 — — 58
Net loss — — — — — — (62,917 (62,917

Balance — December 31, 2014 —  $ — 23,774,446 $ 24 $435,14: $ —  $(258,79) $ 176,36

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.

F-9




Table of Contents

REVANCE THERAPEUTICS, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)

Year Ended
December 31,
2014 2013 2012
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss $ (62,91) $ (52,449 3 (58,259
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities:
Depreciation 2,051 1,881 1,77
Amortization of discount on debt and capital leases 1,25( 4,12¢ 7,421
Amortization of debt issuance cost 20< 217 30C
Revaluation of derivative liabilities associatedméonvertible notes (4,037 (2,660) (13,86()
Revaluation of derivative liabilities associatedhwhe Medicis settlement 32C (47) —
Revaluation of common stock warrant liability 2,151 621 —
Revaluation of convertible preferred stock wardgdility 21C (425) (125
Extinguishment of warrant liability upon exercidepat option by warrant holder 1,35¢ _ _
Convertible preferred stock warrant modificatiomeasurement adjustment — 1,16¢ —
Loss on extinguishment of 2013 Notes 8,331 — —
Stock-based compensation expense 6,53( 54¢ 79
Interest on convertible notes converted to conblerppreferred stock — 9,22( 18,83(
Interest for 2013 Notes and Essex Notes upon issyaon-cash 271 278 —
Capitalized interest 972 (45%) —
Fair value of common stock warrants issued 37¢ — —
Effective interest on financing obligation 28 — —
Modification of Series C-3 convertible preferreddt in accordance with Medicis settlement
agreement — — (3,225
Derivative liabilities recognized as result of Madisettlement agreement — — 15,26¢
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (999 42z (1,125
Other non-current assets (1,62 (2,770 257
Accounts payable (3,399 3,19¢ 1,02¢
Accruals and other current liabilities 2,394 (3,915 2,97¢
Payments against Medicis liabilities (7,079 (6,927) —
Deferred rent 54¢ 13¢ 23¢
Deferred revenue (83 83 (10,500
Net cash used in operating activities (55,079 (47,75%) (38,919
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property and equipment (6,975 (6,477) (319)
Change in restricted cash 75 75 75
Net cash used in investing activities (6,900 (6,407 (244
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REVANCE THERAPEUTICS, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows — (Continued)
(In thousands)

Year Ended
December 31,
2014 2013 2012
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net ofreféollow-on public offering costs 131,88( _ _
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of@efénitial public offering costs 102,67: — _
Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes aresmyable 6,75( 21,90 18,17(
Principal payments made on capital leases anddingrobligation (22¢) (982) (1,159
Principal payments made on notes payable (12,316 (7,599 (3,409
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options and@me stock purchase plan 1,771 11 6
Payments to settle warrants (1,439 — —
Proceeds from the exercise of common stock warrants — 7 1
Proceeds from issuance of convertible preferreckstuet — 40,64¢ —
Net cash provided by financing activities 229,09: 53,99! 13,62(
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT 167,11¢ (169 (25,539
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS — Beginning of period 3,91« 4,08: 29,62
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS — End of period $ 171,03. $ 3914 $ 4,08:
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash paid for interest $ 1,18: $ 159C $ 2,302
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING
INFORMATION:
Conversion of Series E-1, E-2, E-3, E-4 and E-Sepred stock into common stock $ 123,98: $ — % —
Conversion of 2013 Notes into common stock $ 26,20¢ $ — 3 _
Issuance of common stock upon net exercise of camstaxk warrants in connection with IP@ 6,49C $ — 3% _
Fair value in excess of debt host for derivatiabilities associated with convertible notes  $ 1,05 $ 575 $ 2,25¢
Deferred initial public offering costs $ 4,02¢  $ 2,49C $ _
Deferred follow-on public offering costs $ 546 $ — % _
Conversion of preferred stock warrants to commonkstvarrants $ 1,441 $ — 3% _
Conversion of Essex Notes into financing obligagion $ 1,098 $ — % _
Termination of stock option repurchase right $ 58 $ — 3 —
Capital contribution on the extinguishment of tli@pconvertible preferred stock $ — % 7489: $ _
Capital contribution on the extinguishment of tifd 2 Notes $ — % 32,006 $ _
Deemed dividend on issuance of Series E-5 conlempiteferred stock $ — 3 177 $ _
Issuance of common stock warrants in connectioh $éries E-5 convertible preferred stock
financing $ — 9 427 % 158
Issuance of common stock warrants in connectioh thi¢ 2013 Notes $ 081 $ 2731 $ _
Property and equipment purchases included in a¢s@ayable and accruals and other current
liabilities $ 1,34t $ 2,28 $ —
Issuance of convertible preferred stock warrants $ 80 $ 13¢  $ _
Fair value of common stock warrants issued $ 37¢  $ — 3% _

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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REVANCE THERAPEUTICS, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Decemb8i, 2014 and 2013

1. The Company and Basis of Presentation

Revance Therapeutics, Inc., or the Company, wasgpocated in Delaware on August 10, 1999 undentdme Essentia Biosystems, Inc.
The Company commenced operations in June 2002raigdl 19, 2005 , changed its name to Revance peartics, Inc. The Company is a
clinical-stage specialty biopharmaceutical company focuseti® development, manufacturing and commerciatinaif novel botulinum toxi
products for multiple aesthetic and therapeutidéciaions. The Company is leveraging its propriefaotfolio of botulinum toxin type A
compounds, combined with its patented TransMTS®igeplelivery system to address unmet needs i langl growing neurotoxin markets.
The Company's proprietary TransMTS technology exsmabklivery of botulinum toxin type A through twowel dose formulations, topical
product candidate RT0O01 and injectable product icktel RTO02. The Company is pursuing clinical depaient for RTO01 and RT002 in a
broad spectrum of aesthetic and therapeutic indicait The Company holds worldwide rights for atlications of RT001, RT002 and our
TransMTS technology platform.

Since commencing operations in 2002, the Compasydbaoted substantially all of its efforts to id&fihg and developing product
candidates for the aesthetics and therapeutic @weutical markets, recruiting personnel and raisaqgtal. The Company has devoted
predominantly all of its resources to precliniadinical, and manufacturing development of RTOOd &1002. The Company has never been
profitable and has not yet commenced commercialatioas.

Since the Company's inception, the Company hasreduosses and negative cash flows from operatibims Company has not
generated significant revenue from product salemte and will continue to incur significant res#maand development and other expenses
related to its ongoing operations. The Companyréesrded net losses of $62.9 million , $52.4 milland $58.3 million for the years ended
December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 . As of Deceibe2014 , the Company had a working capital serpfu162.5 million and an
accumulated deficit of $258.8 million . The Compédmas funded its operations primarily through tHe sad issuance of common stock,
convertible preferred stock, notes payable, andedible notes. As of December 31, 2014 , the Camipead capital resources consisting of
cash and cash equivalents of $171.0 million . Tamg@any believes that its existing cash and caslvagunts will allow the Company to fund
its operating plan through at least the next 12 timon

Initial Public Offering

In February 2014, the Company completed its infiigblic offering, or IPO, pursuant to which the Guany issued 6,900,0Ghares ¢
common stock at $16.00 per share, including thecése=of the underwriters’ over-allotment optiorptarchase 900,000 additional shares of
common stock, and received net proceeds of $98l&mj after underwriting discounts, commissiomslather offering expenses. In addition,
in connection with the completion of the Company®, all convertible preferred stock converted iodanmon stock.

Follow-On Public Offering

In June 2014, the Company completed a follow-oripwffering, pursuant to which the Company issde®D0,000 shares of common
stock at $30.50 per share, including the exerdiskeounderwriters’ over-allotment option to pursk@00,000 additional shares of common
stock, and received net proceeds of $131.3 milliafter underwriting discounts, commissions anetotiffering expenses.

Reverse Stock Spl

In January 2014, the Company’s Board of Directois stockholders approved an amended and restatiftcate of incorporation
effecting a 1-for- 15 reverse stock split of then@pany’s issued and outstanding shares of commah atod convertible preferred stock that
was effective on February 3, 2014. The par valuB@fcommon and convertible preferred stock wasdptsted as a result of the reverse stoc
split. All issued and outstanding share and peresamounts included in the accompanying finand&tkesnents have been retroactively adju
to reflect this reverse stock split.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements of the Comiraeiude the Company’s accounts and those of litsslly-owned subsidiary, Revan
Therapeutics Limited, and have been prepared ifocanity with accounting principles generally acasgt
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Comtiied)

in the United States of America, or US GAAP. Aljisificant intercompany transactions and balances baen eliminated during
consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial stateméntonformity with US GAAP requires managementiiake estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported icdhsolidated financial statements and accompamatgs. Such management estimates
include the fair value of common stock, stock-basawipensation, fair value of convertible preferseatk and warrants, fair value of
derivatives, and the valuation of deferred tax @s3éhe Company bases its estimates on histongedreence and also on assumptions that it
believes are reasonable, however, actual resullsl significantly differ from those estimates.

Risks and Uncertainties

The product candidates developed by the Companyireegpprovals from the U.S. Food and Drug Admiaistn (FDA) or foreign
regulatory agencies prior to commercial sales. &lsan be no assurance that the Company’s currdritiure product candidates will meet
desired efficacy and safety requirements to olit@mecessary approvals. If the Company is derppcoaal or approval is delayed, it may
have a material adverse impact on the Companyinéss and its consolidated financial statements.

The Company is subject to risks common to compadnidse development stage including, but not lithite, dependency on the clinical
and commercial success of its product candidabélityao obtain regulatory approval of its prodweandidates, the need for substantial
additional financing to achieve its goals, uncetiadf board adoption of its approved productgny, by physicians and consumers, signific
competition and untested manufacturing capabilities

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject @@npany to a concentration of credit risk consistash and cash equivalents. Under thi
Company's Investment Policy, the Company limiteiedit exposure by investing in highly liquid fundith high credit quality. The
Companys cash and cash equivalents are held in the USitsgs of America. Such deposits may, at timesexkéederally insured limits. Tl
Company has not experienced any losses on its iigpbsash and cash equivalents.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmeeturities with remaining maturities at the datpurichase of three months or less to
be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalentslandeposit and money market funds.

Restricted Cash

Deposits of $510,000 and $585,000 were restrictad fvithdrawal as of December 31, 2014 and 201t3e. fEstriction is related to
securing the Company’s facility lease and expine®(25 in accordance with the operating lease aggat as amended. The restrictions on
these balances are being released at a rate @QR/per year until the balance is $400,000 and teerain at that limit until the end of the
lease. These balances are included in restricsd @athe accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company uses fair value measurements to réaimrealue adjustments to certain financial and-financial assets and liabilities to
determine fair value disclosures. The accountingddrds define fair value, establish a frameworkifeasuring fair value, and require
disclosures about fair value measurements. Failevialdefined as the price that would be receivenh fselling an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between marRatticipants at the measurement date. When detemgnine fair value measurements for as
and liabilities required to be recorded at fairunealthe principal or most advantageous market iictwtine Company would transact are
considered along with assumptions that market@paints would use when pricing the asset or lighifuch as inherent risk, transfer
restrictions, and risk of nonperformance. The aotiog standard for fair value establishes a falugdierarchy based on three levels of inputs
the
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Comtiied)

first two of which are considered observable ardldist unobservable, that requires an entity toimmize the use of observable inputs and
minimize the use of unobservable inputs when méagfiair value. A financial instrument’s categotipa within the fair value hierarchy is
based upon the lowest level of input that is sigaift to the fair value measurement.

The three levels of inputs that may be used to oredsir value are as follows:

Level 1 — Observable inputs, such as quotezeplin active markets for identical assets orilitéds.

Level 2 — Observable inputs other than Levelitgs, such as quoted prices for similar assetsitities, or
other inputs that are observable or can be coratbdrby observable market data for substantiadly th
full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3 — Valuations based on unobservable infmtee valuation methodology and including datautb
assumptions market participants would use in pgitire asset or liability based on the best
information available under the circumstances.

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment are stated at cost, netonfnaulated depreciation. Depreciation is computdgithe straight-line method over
the estimated useful lives of the assets. Commafeipment and lab equipment is depreciated oved®ayears, respectively. Prior to 2014,
furniture and fixtures were depreciated over 7 gednowever, the Company revised its estimateytedss for all assets in this category
beginning in 2014. Additionally, prior to 2014, mdacturing equipment was depreciation over 5 yehmvever, the Company revised its
estimate to 7 years for all assets in this catebeginning in 2014. Repairs and maintenance thaind@xtend the life or improve an asset are
expensed in the period incurred.

Leasehold improvements are amortized over thel@$skb years or the term of the lease. Repairsnaaicitenance are charged to
operations as incurred. When assets are retiretherwise disposed of, the costs and accumulatec:dation are removed from the
consolidated balance sheets and any resultingagdoss is reflected in the consolidated statemehtperations and comprehensive loss in th
period realized.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates its long-lived assets fdcatibns of possible impairment whenever eventshanges in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of an asset may not baverable. Recoverability is measured by comparifdhe carrying amounts to the future
undiscounted cash flows, attributable to thesetasSaould impairment exist, the impairment woutdhbeasured by the amount by which the
carrying amount of the assets exceeds the projelisedunted future cash flows arising from thossetss There have been such impairmen
of long-lived assets as of and for the years efdkrbmber 31, 2014 , 2013, and 2012 .

Clinical Trial Accruals

Clinical trial costs are charged to research angld@ment expense as incurred. The Company actouegpenses resulting from
obligations under contracts with clinical reseascganizations (CROS) and consultants, and undeicalisite agreements in connection with
conducting clinical trials. The financial termstb&se contracts are subject to negotiations, wiacy from contract to contract and may result
in payment flows that do not match the periods evieich materials or services are provided to thenffany under such contracts. The
Company’s objective is to reflect the appropriatpense in the consolidated financial statementsatching the appropriate expenses with th
period in which services and efforts are expentiethe event advance payments are made to a CR@atments will be recorded as a pre
asset which will be amortized in accordance withdbntractual terms. In addition to pass-througdisaghe Company incurs costs in clinical
trials in three distinct phases as follows:

0] Start-up Phase — This phase includes theairsgt-up of the clinical trial and usually occui¢hin a few months after the contract has
been executed and includes costs which are expeatsdy over the start-up phase. Start-up
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phase activities include study initiation, sitertétnent, regulatory applications, investigator tivegs, screening, preparation, pre-
study visits and training.

(i) Site and Study Management Phase — This phedades medical and safety monitoring, and patégiministration and data
management. These costs are usually calculategpenatient basis and expensed ratably over ¢la¢ntient period beginning on the
date that the patient enrolls.

(iii) Close Down and Reporting Phase — This phHaskides analyzing the data obtained and reporgsglts, which occurs after patients
have ceased treatment and the database of informatllected is locked. These costs are expenseblyaover the close down and
reporting phase.

The CRO contracts generally include pass-through fecluding, but not limited to, regulatory expessinvestigator fees, travel costs
and other miscellaneous costs, including shippmdy@inting fees. The Company determines accrumhetes through reports from and
discussion with clinical personnel and outside ises/providers as to the progress or state of astiopl of trials, or the services completed.
Company estimates accrued expenses as of eacltbalaget date in the consolidated financial statésimsed on the facts and circumstance
known to the Company at that time. The Companyfsadl trial accrual is dependent, in part, upoa tceipt of timely and accurate reporting
from the CROs and other third party vendors.

Revenue

The Company recognizes revenue when the followiitgria are met: persuasive evidence of a salesmigement exists; delivery has
occurred; the price is fixed or determinable; aaliectability is reasonably assured.

In August 2011, the Company entered into an asgehpse and royalty agreement for the sale of tiasiin product line for $0.05
million and royalties on future sales of Relasfiacordingly, under the Relastin asset purchaseeageat, the Company recognized royalty
revenue of $0.3 million during each of the yeardeshDecember 31, 2014 , 2013, and 2012 and $0iamin milestone revenue in the year
ended December 31, 2013 for achievement of a ome-tiilestone.

License revenue during the years ended Decemb@034,, 2013 , and 2012 resulted from a nonrefuledaichnology license fee which
was deferred and recognized over the estimatedgefiperformance. The Company estimated the pedoce period as the remaining life of
the underlying patent at the inception of the Is®magreement, which was periodically reevaluatemtrse revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2014 resulted from a nonrefundablntdogy access fee pursuant to an exclusive teoggavaluation agreement. The
Company received an upfront payment of $0.3 millievhich was deferred and recognized over the estichperformance period.

Research and Development Expenditures

Research and development costs are charged tatiopsras incurred. Research and development audtglie, but are not limited to,
payroll and personnel expenses, clinical trial $ieppfees for clinical trial services, consultiogsts and allocated overhead, including rent,
equipment, depreciation and utilities. Researchdmatlopment costs during the year ended Decenih@03.2 also included the fair value of
technology rights returned to the Company as dtreéthe Medicis settlement (Note 4).

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under thet asd liability method. The Company estimatesalaturrent tax exposure togett
with assessing temporary differences resulting fdiffierences in accounting for reporting purposed &x purposes for certain items, such as
accruals and allowances not currently deductiblea purposes. These temporary differences re@sdiferred tax assets and liabilities,
which are included in the Company’s consolidateldioze sheets. In general, deferred tax assetsseqriiture tax benefits to be received
when certain expenses previously recognized ilCtirapany’s consolidated statements of operationsantprehensive loss become
deductible expenses under applicable income tag tawvhen net operating loss or credit carryforwarck utilized. Accordingly, realization
the Company’s deferred tax assets is dependenttoreftaxable income against which these dedugtlosses and credits can be utilized.

The Company must assess the likelihood that thepaagis deferred tax assets will be recovered frotaré taxable income, and to the
extent the Company believes that recovery is ketyli the Company establishes a valuation allowance
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Based on the available evidence, the Company islenat this time, to support the determinatiort ths more likely than not that its deferred
tax assets will be utilized in the future. Accomglin the Company recorded a full valuation allowa@as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 . The
Company intends to maintain valuation allowanced sufficient evidence exists to support its resadr

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has equity incentive plans under whéfous types of equity-based awards, includingimive stock options,
nonqualified stock options, and restricted stocki@s, may be granted to employees and nonemplayeiitants. The Company also has an
inducement plan under which various types of ego#tged awards, including nonqualified stock optiand restricted stock awards, may be
granted to new employees.

For stock options granted to employees, the Comparggnizes compensation expense for all stockebasards based on the gralatie
estimated fair values, net of an estimated forfeitate. For restricted stock awards to employteesfair value is based on the closing price of
the Company's common stock on the date of grarg.value of the portion of the award that is ultiehpiexpected to vest is recognized as
expense ratably over the requisite service pefiibd.fair value of stock options is determined ughmgBlack-Scholes option pricing model.
The Company estimates its forfeiture rate basedmoanalysis of its actual forfeitures and will doog to evaluate the adequacy of the
forfeiture rate assumption based on actual forfegpanalysis of employee turnover, and otheredl&ictors.

Stock-based compensation expense related to sptitie granted to nonemployees is recognized baisélde fair value of the stock
options, determined using the Black-Scholes oppigcing model, as they are earned. The awardsoxestthe time period the Company
expects to receive services from the nonemployee.

Warrants

The Company has issued freestanding warrants thase shares of common stock and convertible peefstock in connection with
certain debt and lease transactions. The warraatseaorded at fair value using the Black-Schof@®a pricing model.

Common Stock Warrants

Prior to completion of the IPO, the Company accedribr warrants to purchase shares of its comnamk $h connection with the 2013
Notes as liabilities at fair value because theseamés may have obligated the Company to transfeeta to the holders at a future date ui
certain circumstances, such as change of conthel. Jompany remeasured these warrants to currenalaie at each balance sheet date, with
changes in fair value recognized as a changeiivéhie of the warrant liability on the consolidat®atements of operations and comprehe!
loss. Upon completion of the IPO, these warratilities were remeasured to fair value and seftiezbnjunction with a cashless net exercise
of these warrants. Common stock warrants classifgedquity at inception are recorded to additigaéd-in capital at fair value upon issuance.

Convertible Preferred Stock Warrants

The Company accounted for previously outstandingawas to purchase shares of its convertible prefiestock that are contingently
redeemable as liabilities at their estimated falue because these warrants obligated the Compamnisfer assets to the holders at a future
date under certain circumstances, such as a del@méthtion event. The warrants were subject toeasurement to fair value at each balance
sheet date, with changes in fair value recognizethange in fair value of convertible preferrecktavarrant liability on the consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive losm bpmpletion of the IPO, the convertible preferseatk warrants converted into equity-
classified warrants to purchase shares of comnuak st

Derivative Liabilities

The Company bifurcated and separately accountedigvative instruments related to redemption asmversion features embedded
within previously outstanding convertible notes aiger derivative instruments related to paymeavisions underlying the Medicis
settlement. These derivatives are accounted fbalasties, which will be remeasured to fair valas of each balance sheet date, with change:
in fair value recognized in the Consolidated Statets of Operations and
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Comprehensive Loss. The derivative liabilities agsed with the 2013 Convertible Notes are no lermggstanding due to the conversion of
the related convertible notes upon the IPO in Faiyr@014. The Company will continue to record ahets to the fair value of the derivative
liabilities associated with the Medicis settlementil the related settlement payments have beeanh pai

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss is defined as a change in eqligybusiness enterprise during a period, reguftiom transactions from non-owner
sources. There have been no material items quadifgs other comprehensive loss and, thereforallfperiods presented, the Company’s
comprehensive loss was the same as its reportddsset

Net Income (Loss) per Share Attributable to Comm8tockholders

The Company calculates its basic and diluted rezirive (loss) per share attributable to common stadkns in conformity with the two-
class method required for companies with partioigesecurities. Under the two-class method, the @y determines whether it has net
income attributable to common stockholders, whitdiudes the results of operations, capital contidims and deemed dividends less current
period convertible preferred stock non-cumulatigédinds. If it is determined that the Company doage net income attributable to common
stockholders during a period, the related undigtetl earnings are then allocated between commah atwl the convertible preferred stock
based on the weighted average number of sharesuoditsg during the period to determine the numerfatothe basic net income per share
attributable to common stockholders. In computiilgted net income attributable to common stockhddandistributed earnings are re-
allocated to reflect the potential impact of ditisecurities to determine the numerator for theeti net income per share attributable to
common stockholders. The Company’s basic net incdmse) per share attributable to common stockhelgecalculated by dividing the net
income (loss) by the weighted average number afeshaf common stock outstanding for the period. dihged net income (loss) per share
attributable to common stockholders is computediliing effect to all potential dilutive common skoequivalents outstanding for the period.
The diluted net income (loss) per share attribetédlcommon stockholders also includes vestedet=xirstock awards and, if the effect is not
anti-dilutive, unvested restricted stock awards. Foppses of this calculation, options to purchase comstock, restricted stock, and comr
stock warrants are considered common stock equitsale

Interest Expense

Interest expense, includes cash and non-cash canfsowith the non-cash components consisting afit@rest recognized from the
amortization of debt issuance costs, which weréal@ged on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, tieafj@nerally derived from cash payments
related to the issuance of convertible notes anelsnmayable, (i) interest recognized from the dipation of debt discounts, which were
capitalized on the Consolidated Balance Sheetsjatefrom the issuance of warrants and derivatissised in conjunction with convertible
notes and notes payable, (iii) interest recognaethe 2011 convertible notes, or 2011 Notes, whiah not paid but instead converted into
shares of convertible preferred stock, (iv) interesognized on the 2013 convertible notes, or 204t&s, which was not paid but instead
converted into shares of common stock, (v) intecapttalized for assets constructed for use inatfmars, (vi) interest related to the
extinguishment of debt, which is classified as ia ga loss on debt extinguishments, and (vii) ffexinterest recognized on the financing
obligation. The capitalized amounts related todébt issuance costs and debt discounts are ggnanadirtized to interest expense over the
term of the related debt instruments.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standigzdate No. 2014-1Fresentation of Financial Statements - Going Concer
(Subtopic 205-40) which will require management to assess an éstilility to continue as a going concern at eactuahand interim perioc
Related footnote disclosures will be required iditions give rise to substantial doubt about atityés ability to continue as a going concern
within one year of the report issuance date. Ifdiions do not give rise to substantial doubt, rzlidsures will be required specific to going
concern uncertainties. The guidance defines sutistaioubt using a likelihood threshold of “probabkimilar to the current use of that term in
U.S. GAAP for loss contingencies and provides eXarmglicators. The guidance is effective for repaytperiods ending after December 15,
2016, and early adoption is permitted. The Compsutyrrently evaluating the impact of the adoptdihis guidance on the Company’s
financial statements.
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In June 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standaudialté No. 2014-1@evelopment Stage Entities (Topic 915): EliminatdiCertair
Financial Reporting Requirements, Including an Admaant to Variable Interest Entities Guidance in i€&10, Consolidatiol, which
removes the distinction between development stagiges and other reporting entities, eliminates ¢ixception provided to development stage
entities for determining whether an entity is aiafalie interest entity on the basis of the amounbeéstment equity that is at risk, and clarifies
disclosure requirements related to risks and uacgits. The changes eliminate the requirementddueelopment stage entities to (1) present
inception-to-date information on the statementspdrations, cash flows, and stockholders’ equity)dbel the financial statements as those o
a development stage entity, (3) disclose a desonijatf the development stage activities in which émtity is engaged, and (4) disclose in the
first year in which the entity is no longer a deghent stage entity that the prior years it hadhbe¢he development stage. The Company
evaluated the new guidance and adopted the newasthearly, beginning with the quarterly period @hdune 30, 2014.

3. License Agreements

In June 2013, the Company entered into an exclusitenology evaluation agreement with the Proater@amble Company to co-
develop and explore applications of the TransMi@&livery technology in two classes of over-the-deucosmetic compounds. In connectior
with this agreement, the Company recognized liceegenue of $0.1 million during the year ended Deoer 31, 2014 , and the Company
received an upfront payment in the amount of $0IBom , which was initially recorded as deferregllenue and is being recognized over the
estimated performance period of 9 months. The Compecognized total license revenue of $0.1 milli&®.2 million , and $0.4 million
during the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2048 2@12 .

In July 2009, the Company and Medicis Pharmacdufiogporation, or Medicis, entered into a licengesement (License Agreement)
granting Medicis worldwide aesthetic and dermatialkrights to the Company’s investigational, ingdade botulinum toxin type A product
candidate in exchange for an upfront payment ofGbiilllion plus additional milestone payments. Mesliwas subsequently acquired by
Valeant Pharmaceuticals International, Inc. in Deloer 2012. The Company recognized these paymettig iprior years as license revenue
over the estimated performance period which wamagtd as the remaining life of the underlying patg the inception of the license
agreement.

In February 2007, the Company entered into a lieemsl service agreement and a manufacturing andysagreement with List
Biological Laboratories, Inc. (List Laboratoriea)developer of botulinum toxin. The agreement,;asraded in April 2009, included certain
milestone payments for the preparation of botulirtarin and the development of the toxin manufaciyiprocess as well as royalties from
future sales of botulinum toxin. The Company expengsearch and development costs associated aitbfacturing for RT0O01 of $2.0
million for the year ended December 31, 2012 wittsnch costs in December 31, 2014 and 2013 .

4. Medicis Settlement

In October 2012 , the Company entered into a se¢thd and termination agreement with Medicis. Thegeof the settlement provided
for the reacquisition of the rights related totattitories of RT001 and RT002 from Medicis and donsideration payable by the Company to
Medicis of up to $25.0 million , comprised of (i) apfront payment of $7.0 million , which was paid2012, (ii) a Proceeds Sharing
Arrangement Payment of $14.0 million due upon getcapital raising achievements by the Comparfiyyhich $6.9 million was paid in
2013 and the remaining $7.1 million was paid in£0dnd (iii) $4.0 million to be paid upon the alement of specified regulatory milestones
by the Company, or Product Approval Payment. Begmon the third anniversary of the Settlement Datg unpaid amount will begin to
accrue interest at a rate of 8% per annum.

The Company determined that the settlement pravisielated to the Proceeds Sharing Arrangement &atyim (i) above and Product
Approval Payment in (iii) above were derivativetimsnents that require fair value accounting asbility and periodic fair value
remeasurements until settled.

As of December 31, 2013, the Proceeds Sharinghgenment Payment derivative was remeasured todhiev The fair value of the
Proceeds Sharing Arrangement Payment derivatieé Becember 31, 2013 of $6.7 million was determiosihg an option pricing model with
the following assumption: expected term of 0.15 @ears, risk-free rate of 0.01% — 0.10% and Valabf 37.00% — 47.50% . Upon the
completion of our IPO, we paid $7.1 million in $ettent of our remaining obligation for the Proce8taring Arrangement Payment. At the
settlement date, the derivative liability was remgad to the
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fair value of the obligation due, or $7.1 millioand the Company recorded $0.3 million to remeathedair value of the derivative for the
remaining obligation through the date of settlementebruary 13, 2014.

The fair value of the Product Approval Paymentive as of December 31, 2013 in the amount & #dillion was determined by
updating the estimate of the timing and probabdityhe related approval and a discount factorragsy a term of 3.25 years, a riflee rate o
0.9% and a credit risk adjustment of 6.0% . As et&@nber 31, 2014 , the Company determined thedie of its liability for the Product
Approval Payment was $1.5 million , which was meadby assuming a term of 3.5 years, a risk-fage of 1.2% and a credit risk adjustment
of 6.5% . The Company’s assumption for the expetded is based on an expected Biologics Licensdiégion, or BLA, approval in mid-
2018. The Company did not make any payments uhegPtoduct Approval Payment during the year endeceBber 31, 2014 .

As a result of the fair value measurements dutiregyear ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, the @ompcognized $0.3 million
aggregate loss and $0.05 million aggregate gaspedively.

5. Fair Value Measurements

The Company measures and reports certain finainsitliments as assets and liabilities at fair valua recurring basis. These liabiliti
consisting of derivative liabilities associatedtwitonvertible notes, derivative liabilities asstethwith the Medicis settlement, common stock
warrant liabilities, and convertible preferred #tocarrant liabilities, are considered Level 3 instents. The fair value of these instruments
as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2014

Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets
Money market funds $ 166,03¢ $ 166,03t $ — % —
Total assets measured at fair value $ 166,03t $ 166,03 $ — 3 —

As of December 31, 2013, the Company did not holdassets that were measured at fair value onuarileg basis.

As of December 31, 2014

Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Liabilities
Derivative liabilities associated with the Medisisttliement $ 1541 $ — — 1,541
Total liabilities measured at fair value $ 1,541 $ — 3 — 3 1,541
As of December 31, 2013
Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Liabilities
Derivative liabilities associated with convertilsletes $ 4890 $ — 3 — 3 4,89(
Derivative liabilities associated with the Medisisttlement 8,29 — — 8,29/
Common stock warrant liability 3,35¢ — — 3,35¢
Convertible preferred stock warrant liability 1,23: — — 1,23
Total liabilities measured at fair value $ 17,778 $ — % — % 17,778

The Company did not transfer any assets or ligdglitneasured at fair value on a recurring basis foom Level 1 and Level 2 during the
years endeDecember 31, 2014 and 2013 .

The following table sets forth a summary of theraes in the fair value of the Company’s Level &finial instruments as follows (in
thousands):
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Derivative Derivative
Liability Liability Convertible
Associated with Associated with Common Preferred
Convertible the Medicis Stock Warrant  Stock Warrant
Notes Settlement Liability Liability
Fair value as of December 31, 2012 $ 1,80C $ 15,26¢ $ — 3 351
Fair value of financial instruments issued 5,75(C — 2,731 13¢
Payments against Medicis liabilities — (6,927 — —
Modification remeasurement — — — 1,16¢
Change in fair value (2,660 47 621 (42%)
Fair value as of December 31, 2013 4,89( 8,29/ 3,35¢ 1,23¢
Fair value of financial instruments issued 1,05(¢ — 981 80
Cash payments against Medicis liabilities — (7,079 — —
Change in fair value (4,032 32C 2,151 21C
Extinguishment of warrant liability upon exercidepot option by
warrant holder — — — (82
Balance upon conversion (2,909 — (6,490 (1,447
Fair value as of December 31, 2014 $ — 3 1,541 $ — ¢ —

Level 3 instruments consist of the Company’s dénrediabilities related to convertible notes, deative liabilities related to the Medicis
settlement, common stock warrant liabilities, andwertible preferred stock warrant liabilities.

The fair value of the derivative liabilities assateid with the convertible notes was measured ubim@/lonte Carlo valuation
methodology (Note 8). Inputs used to determinerestged fair value of these derivative instrumentduide the probability estimates of poten
settlement scenarios for the convertible noteseagmt value discount rate and an estimate of¥pected timing of settlement. The significant
unobservable inputs used in the fair value measeméwof the derivatives associated with the conblerthotes are the scenario probabilities an
the discount rate estimated at the valuation dag¢merally, increases or decreases in the discatatwould result in a directionally opposite
impact to the fair value measurement of this déneainstrument. Also, changes in the probabilitgrsarios would have had varying impacts
depending on the weighting of each specific scen&s discussed further in Note 8, heavier weightowards a change in control, a private
investment in public equity transaction or IPO wbrésult in an increase in fair value of this dafiwe instrument. The fair value upon the IPO
took into account a 100% weighting towards the He@nario.

The fair value of one of the derivative liabilitiessulting from the Medicis litigation settlemespecifically the previously outstanding
liability for the derivative related to the Proceesharing Arrangement Payment (Note 4), was medsigiag an option pricing model (Note
Inputs used to determine estimated fair value isfdirivative include the equity value of the Compaexpected timing of the respective
settlement payments, a risk-free interest ratet@e@xpected volatility. The significant unobsereahputs used in the fair value measuremen
of the Proceeds Sharing Arrangement Payment desévate the equity value of the Company and theetqal timing of the payments at the
valuation date. Generally, increases or decreasthese unobservable inputs would result in a tioreally similar impact to the fair value
measurement of this derivative instrument. The Camygpsettled the remaining obligation under the 8eds Sharing Arrangement upon the
IPO, and remeasured the liability to the valueheftemaining Proceeds Sharing Arrangement Paynfi@mt. b million .

The fair value of the remaining derivative lialjlitesulting from the Medicis litigation settlemespecifically the derivative related to the
Product Approval Payment (Note 4), was determineddtimating the timing and probability of the tethregulatory approval and multiplying
the payment amount by this probability percentagkadiscount factor based primarily on the es@aiiming of the payment and a credit |
adjustment (Note 4). The significant unobservabjrits used in the fair value measurement of thduRtoApproval Payment derivative are the
expected timing and probability of the paymentthatvaluation date and the credit risk adjustment.

The fair values of the outstanding common stockrargs and previously outstanding convertible prefitstock warrants were measured
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model (Nb8. Inputs used to determine estimated fair value
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of the warrant liabilities include the estimated falue of the underlying stock at the valuatiaie] the estimated term of the warrants, risk-
free interest rates, expected dividends and thea®g volatility of the underlying stock. The siigant unobservable inputs used in the fair
value measurement of the convertible preferreckstarrant liability are the fair value of the uniyémg stock at the valuation date and the
estimated term of the warrants.

6. Balance Sheet Components
Property and Equipment, net

Property and equipment, net consists of the folhgw(in thousands):

As of December 31,

2014 2013
Research equipment $ 10,91 $ 9,04t
Computer equipment 477 49¢
Furniture and fixtures 534 451
Leasehold improvements 3,83 3,632
Construction in progress 13,42 8,88(
Total property and equipment 29,18( 22,50
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (9,906 (8,189
Property and equipment, net $ 19,27  $ 14,31¢

Depreciation expense was $2.1 million , $1.9 milljiand $1.8 million for the years ended Decemlie2814 , 2013 and 2012,
respectively.

As of December 31, 2014 , the Company had obligatto make future payments to certain vendorstthedme due and payable during
the construction of its manufacturing facilitiesNewark, California. The arrangement was accoufteds construction-in-progress and the
outstanding obligations as of December 31, 20142818 were $0.5 million and $1.8 million , respeely. The Company capitalized interest
costs in the amount of $1.0 million and $0.5 milliwithin construction-in-progress during the yeamsled December 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively. The Company did not capitalize irgeomsts during the year ended December 31, 2012 .

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets cohtlist following (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2014 2013
Prepaid expenses 1,08t 531
Accounts receivable 30C 22~
Other current assets 23¢ 69
Total prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 1,622 % 82t

Accruals and Other Current Liabilities

Accruals and other current liabilities consistloé following (in thousands):
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As of December 31,

2014 2013

Accrued compensation $ 2,08¢ $ 68¢
Accrued professional service fees 577 367
Accrued manufacturing and quality control costs 361 —
Accrued clinical trial expenses 322 16¢
Accrued fixed assets 26€ —
Accrued construction-in-progress obligations 60 1,75%
Accrued interest on notes payable 23 A47¢€
Accrued initial public offering costs — 50€
Other current liabilities 44¢ 19t

Total accruals and other current liabilities $ 4,14 % 4,161

Other Non-Current Assets

Other non-current assets consist of the followingi{ousands):

As of December 31,

2014 2013
Deferred initial public offering costs $ — % 2,812
Unamortized debt issuance costs — 194
Prepaid expenses, non-current $ 29 % =
Total other non-current assets $ 29 % 3,00¢

7. Notes Payable
Hercules Notes Payable

In September 2011, the Company entered into adadrsecurity agreement with Hercules TechnologywBrcCapital for $22.0 million ,
referred to as the Hercules Notes Payable. Fromriteeeds of the Hercules Notes Payable, the Coynysed $7.0 million to fully repay the
principal and accrued interest due under two secpremissory notes, or Venture Debt, with two veatdebt lenders. At the time of the
Venture Debt repayment, the remaining unamortizgat discount of $579,000 was written-off to intéregpense.

The Hercules Notes Payable, which matures in Ma@db, is collateralized by all assets of the Company, laears interest at the gre:
of (i) 9.85% per annum or (i) 9.85% per annplors the difference of the prime rate less 3.2586 gmnum and contains covenants that
require, among other things, that the Company seakent from Hercules prior to certain corporatengfes and provide certain unaudited
financial information within 45 days after the emfdeach quarter. Starting in July 2012 , the |latibe repaid in 33 equal monthly payments
of principal and interest of $0.8 million plus amdeof term payment of $0.5 million if the loan iepaid, or $0.4 million if paid upon maturity.
The loan also allows for prepayment at any timénaipremium ranging from 1% to 4% of $15.0 millicsepending on when the prepayment
occurs.

In connection with the Hercules Notes Payable Gbmpany issued warrants to purchase 17,977 shiBeries D convertible preferred
stock at $66.75 per share, which converted to wsr@ purchase common stock upon the Company'sTR®fair value of the warrants of
$0.1 million was recorded as a debt discount ardnisrtized to interest expense using the straigbtrhethod over the loan term. The
Company recognized interest expense of $0.04 mi|li80.1 million and $0.04 million from the amostion of the warrant related debt
discount for the years ended December 31, 20143 2ad 2012 , respectively. The unamortized dedsiodint balance was $0.01 million and
$0.04 million as of December 31, 2014 and 2013peetively. The Company incurred $0.5 million obdissuance costs in connection with
the Hercules Notes Payable which is also being tiredrto interest expense over the term of thedwdngs. The Company recognized interes
expense of $0.2 million from the amortization of thebt issuance costs during each of the yearsidheleember 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 ,
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respectively. The unamortized debt issuance cedtsbes were $0.04 million and $0.2 million as etBmber 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively.

As of December 31, 2014 , future principal paymemtder the Hercules Notes Payable are as follawth{iusands):

Year Ending December 31,

2015 2,641
Total principal payments 2,641
Less: debt discount (6)
Less: current portion (2,635
Long-term portion of notes payable $ —

The Company made principal and interest paymenth@hiercules Notes Payable of $9.2 million duagh of the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. As akeber 31, 2014, the outstanding Hercules Noteal®aypalance was $2.6 million .

Essex Capital Note

On December 20, 2013, the Company signed a Loahease Agreement to borrow up to $10.8 millionha form of Secured
Promissory Notes from Essex Capital, or the Essated\ to finance the completion and installatiothef Company’s RT001 commercial
fill/finish line, or the Fill/Finish Line. Under #hLoan and Lease Agreement, with the issuanceabf Mate the Company will issue warrants to
purchase its capital stock. The Essex Notes indunterest at 11.5% until the completion of the liR@ebruary 2014. Subsequent to the IPO,
the notes incurred interest at 10.375% per anhumMecember 2013, the Company drew down $2.5 millinder short-term notes pursuant to
the Essex Capital Facility, and an additional $8ilion in January 2014 under short-term notedMy 2014, pursuant to the terms of this
agreement, the Company sold equipment to Essexaljagisulting in partial settlement of the outsliaig loan balance by $1.1 million .
Pursuant to the Loan and Lease Agreement, the Qoyrgudd and leased the equipment back from Esspialarhis transaction does not
qualify for sale-leaseback accounting due to them@any’s continuing involvement. Therefore, the Campaccounted for this transaction as «
financing obligation using the effective intereater method. As of December 31, 2014 , the aggrégtefuture minimum lease payments
under the financing obligation were as followstfiousands):

Year Ending December 31,

2015 428
2016 428
2017 141

Total payments 987

On December 17, 2014, the Company entered intBitse Amendment to the Loan and Lease Agreemefit Bésex Capital. Under the
terms of this Amendment, the Company agreed toyrépaoutstanding debt balance of $3.9 million esdie a warrant to purchase 44,753
shares of common stock. In February 2015, the Casnpaecuted the Second Amendment to the Loan aasd_Agreement, under which the
term of the facility was extended to April 15, 20di&d the purchase price of the equipment was isetehy $0.1 million to approximately $9.8
million . Concurrently with this sale, the Companijl lease the IMA Life equipment from Essex Capftar a fixed monthly payment to be
paid monthly over 3 years. At the end of the leaseCompany will have the option to purchase thedd equipment for 10% of the original
purchase amount.

In connection with the Essex Notes, the Companyeidsvarrants to purchase 12,345 shares of Sertesdavertible preferred stock in
both December 2013 and January 2014. Subsequtihd Eebruary 2014 IPO, the previously issued wasrampurchase shares of Series E-5
convertible preferred stock converted into warraofsurchase shares of common stock. The fair valltlee warrants at the issuance date of
$0.2 million and debt issuance costs totaling $o@Bon were recorded as discount on debt, and will be tinealto interest expense using
straight-line method over the loan term. The Comgpan
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recognized interest expense $0.2 million and $0r@kbn for the amortization of the warrant reldtdebt discount for the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The or@ad debt discount balance was $0 million an@ $@illion as of December 31, 2014
and 2013, respectively.

Additionally, the Company made interest paymentthenEssex Notes in the amount of $0.4 million $@dnillion for the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. In Deeera®l14, the Company repaid the Essex Notes pehbadance of $3.9 million in full.

8. Convertible Notes, Warrants, and Related Derivaves

2011 Convertible Notes and Common Stock Warrants

In January 2011, the Company entered into a cablefromissory note agreement, or the 2011 Natdstrow up to $15.0 million in 3
installments in the form of convertible debt. InyW2011, the Company amended the credit facilitphtmlify the maturity date of the initial
three installments and borrowed an additional arhoti$30.0 million from new investors. Between Sepber and December 2012, the
Company completed three additional installmentd0dfl Notes in the amount of $18.2 million . Of #%11 Notes issued, an aggregate of
$40.6 million were issued to related parties ofchtb30.9 million were issued to existing stockhaddeith holdings of 5% or more of the
outstanding equity of the Company at the time sdigce. These holders were determined to be rglattids because they include holders of
convertible preferred stock and board members veimamfluence the conversion or redemption of thel2Botes.

In conjunction with a Series E-5 convertible pregerstock offering in the year ended December 8132 the Company, with the
consent of at least 75% of the Convertible Notelaid, amended the Note and Warrant Purchase Agneemaer which the 2011 Notes were
issued to allow for the conversion of 2011 Notde #h 748,484 shares of Series E-4 convertible medestock. The outstanding principal and
accrued interest of the 2011 Notes of $71.0 millicare converted at a price equal to B8% of the Series E-5 offering price of $22.425 per
share per the terms of the 2011 Notes. The motdicaf the 2011 Notes was treated as an extinguesth of debt, in which the resulting
issuances of Series E-4 convertible preferred staskrecorded at its estimated fair value on the dithe extinguishment. The difference in
the estimated fair value of the Seried Eenvertible preferred stock and the carrying galaf the outstanding principal, accrued interadtthe
remaining debt issuance costs related to the 2@tédNvas recorded as a capital contribution iratheunt of $32.0 million which was
recognized to additional paid-in capital during ytle&ar ended December 31, 2013 . The Company rexegjttie capital contribution as such
because, immediately prior to the conversion, suttistlly all of the holders of the 2011 Notes wiodders of the Company’s outstanding
capital stock. In addition, the Company remeasthecmbedded derivative to its fair value of apprately zero immediately prior to the
conversion of the 2011 Notes in March 2013, as#ezution of a qualified financing approached éetyaresulting in a gain of $1.8 million .
As of the date of conversion, the Company was mpl@nce with all covenants in the 2011 Notes.

In connection with the issuance of the 2011 Ndtes Company incurred debt issuance costs of $43J0fiig the year ended
December 31, 2012. These amounts were recordedefermed charge to be amortized to interest expensr the terms of the borrowings. -
Company recognized interest expense from the amatidih of the debt issuance costs of $62,000 ad8,900 during the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The urtamad debt issuance costs balance was $103,0002acember 31, 2012. There was no
unamortized debt issuance cost balance or intexgsnse as of December 31, 2014 as the 2011 Netesne longer outstanding.

Also, in connection with the issuance of the 20htdy, the Company issued warrants to purchase 7 gf&#tes of common stock and
with a fair value of $153,000 during the year enBetember 31, 2012, with an exercise price of $pdrisshare. The relative fair value of the
warrants was recorded as debt discount which waster®d to interest expense over the loan term.Qdmpany recognized interest expense
of $214,000 and $260,000 from the amortizatiorhefwarrant related debt discounts during the yeaded December 31, 2013 and 2012 ,
respectively. There was no unamortized warrantedldebt discount balance as of December 31, 20d2@13 as the 2011 Notes were no
longer outstanding.

Also, in connection with the 2011 Notes, the Comypaetermined that the conversion and redemptiotufes were embedded derivati
requiring bifurcation and separate accounting. feirevalue of the derivative liabilities associatgih the 2011 Notes at the time of issuance
was recognized as an additional debt discount aasdamortized to interest expense over the terieo2011 Notes. The Company recognized
interest expense of $2.8 million and $7.1 millioonfi the amortization of the derivative liabilityl@ed debt discounts during the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. In tlae ye
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ended December 31, 2013, the 2011 Notes convertedhares of Series E-4 convertible preferredkstioemediately prior to the conversion,
the Company determined that the fair value of tvdtive liabilities associated with the conveldibotes were reduced to zero . There was r
unamortized derivative related debt discount baaras of December 31, 2014 and 2013 as the 20¥k M@re no longer outstanding.

2013 Convertible Notes, Common Stock Warrants, &elated Derivatives

In October 2013, the Company entered into a coilegromissory note and warrant agreement, redewwes the 2013 Notes, to borrow
up to $30.0 million . The Company borrowed $19.4liari in the fourth quarter of 2013. In January 20the Company issued an additional
$4.3 million in 2013 Notes. The 2013 Notes beagnest at 12% per annum and mature in October 20 ebruary 2014, in connection with
the Company'’s IPO, the 2013 Notes with a princgrabunt, accrued interest through the date of tle tBmaining interest due through
October 7, 2014, and derivative liability totali$ig6.2 million converted into 1,637,846 shares ef@ompany’s common stock.

In connection with the issuance of the 2013 Ndtes Company issued warrants to purchase 409,458sshhcommon stock. As of
December 31, 2013, the fair value of these warraih®2.7 million was classified as a liability aretorded as a debt discount that will be
amortized to interest expense using the straigletsinethod over the loan term. The Company recogdnizerest expense of $1.3 millidor the
amortization of the warrant and embedded derivatlated debt discount for the year ended Dece®be2013 . In February 2014, in
connection with the Company’s IPO, these warrar@sewet exercised for 405,594 shares of commotk.stoc

Additionally, the 2013 Notes had conversion andemagtion features which were determined to be emdxkdérivatives, requiring
bifurcation and separate fair value accounting.okdimgly, the Company recorded an embedded devavditibility of $5.8 million associated
with the 2013 Notes on the date of issuance. Tineddue of these derivative instruments was recgghas an additional discount and as a
derivative liability on the consolidated balanceeats upon issuance of the respective convertiiessn@he derivative liability required periot
remeasurements to fair value while the derivati@s wtill outstanding and accordingly, the Companpgnized remeasurement gains for the
2013 Notes during the years ended December 31, 2842013 of $4.0 million and $0.9 million , resiesly. Immediately prior to the
conversion, the Company determined that the fdirevaf the derivative liabilities associated witte tconvertible notes was reduced to $1.9
million , the value of interest due to note holdieesn the date of the IPO through the maturity ddtthe loan in October 2014.

Prior to conversion, the fair value of the derivatiiabilities associated with convertible notesswlatermined upon issuance and at
December 31, 2013 using “Monte Carlo” simulatiothithe following weighted-average assumptions:

As of December 31,

2013 As of Issuance
Expected term (in years) 0.8 0.6
Discount rate 16.5% 15.(%
Weighted-average scenario probabilities:
Maturity 5.C% 5.C%
Qualified financing 5.C% 20.(%
Initial public offering 80.(% 60.(%
Change in control 10.C% 15.(%

Upon the conversion of the 2013 Notes into shafesmmon stock, the Company applied extinguishnaeabunting resulting in a loss
of $8.3 million . As of the date of conversion, Bempany was in compliance with all covenants ®12013 Notes.

During the year ended December 31, 2014 , the Coynperognized non-cash interest expense of $9lmiklated to the 2013
Notes, including amortization of warri-related debt discount of approximately $0.4 milligp to the date of conversion, amortization of the
derivative-related debt discount of $0.6 milliontopthe date of conversion, accrued interest a3 &tlllion up to the date of conversion and a
loss on extinguishment of $8.3 million upon coniarf the 2013 Notes into common stock. The unarent debt discount balance was $7.2
million as of December 31, 2013.
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9. Interest Expense

Interest expense, includes cash and non-cash canfsowith the non-cash components consisting afitfgrest recognized from the
amortization of debt issuance costs, which weréal#ed on the Condensed Consolidated BalancetShbat are generally derived from cast
payments related to the issuance of convertiblesnand notes payable, (ii) interest recognized fitmramortization of debt discounts, which
were capitalized on the Condensed ConsolidatednBal&heets, derived from the issuance of warramtslarivatives issued in conjunction
with convertible notes and notes payable, (iiigiest recognized on the 2011 convertible note2Ddf Notes, which was not paid but instead
converted into shares of convertible preferredist@e) interest recognized on the 2013 convertiidées, or 2013 Notes, which was not paid
but instead converted into shares of common s{@}lnterest capitalized for assets constructedif® in operations, (vi) interest related to the
extinguishment of debt, which is classified as ia @& loss on debt extinguishments, and (vii) dfferinterest recognized on the financing
obligation. The capitalized amounts related tod&bt issuance costs and debt discounts are ggnanadirtized to interest expense over the
term of the related debt instruments.

The interest expense by cash and non-cash comsoiseat follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Interest expense
Cash related interest expense (1) $ (1,182 $ (1,590 $ (2,309
Non-cash interest expense
Non-cash interest expense — debt issuance costs (203) (490) (300
Non-cash interest expense — warrant and derivagiated debt
discounts (650) (4,129 (7,427
Non-cash interest expense — convertible notes (2,250 (9,409 (18,930
Loss on extinguishment of 2013 Notes (8,33)) — —
Effective interest on financing obligation (28) — —
Capitalized interest expense (2) 972 452 —
Total non-cash interest expense (9,490 (13,579 (26,65")
Total interest expense $ (10,679 $ (15,169 $ (28,959
(1) Cash related interest expense included interesheals to Hercules Notes Payable and Essex |
(2) Interest expense capitalized pursuant to Accouritagdards Codification Topic 835, Inter

10. Commitments and Contingencies
Facility Lease

In January 2010, the Company entered into a nonetable facility lease that requires monthly paytmehrough January 2022. This
facility will be used for research, manufacturiagd administrative functions.

In February 2014, the Company extended the tertheoEease by thirty-six ( 36 ) months to Januar®32®\s part of this agreement, the
Lessor shall provide the Company with a tenant owpment allowance during 2014 in an amount nokteed $3.0 million . Under the terms
of the lease agreement, the Company will make tet#llpayments of $72.8 million for a period ofyiars commencing in January 2010 wt
was determined to be an operating lease. The pagmenalate over the term of the lease with themtian of a decrease in payments at the
beginning of 2022, however, the Company recogrtizegxpense on a straight-line basis over thefithe lease.

Rent expense for the years ended December 31,, 208 and 2012 was $5.2 million , $4.4 milliomd&b4.4 million . As of
December 31, 2014 , the aggregate total futurermim lease payments under non-cancelable operatisgs$ were as follows (in thousands):
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Year Ending December 31,

2015 $ 5,07(
2016 5,222
2017 5,39¢
2018 5,57¢
2019 and thereafter 32,35¢

Total payments $ 53,61¢

Other Milestone-Based Commitments

The Company has one remaining obligation to makeLeie milestone payment to List Laboratories thetomes due and payable on the
achievement of a certain regulatory milestone. CThmpany is obligated to pay royalties to List Ladiories on future sales of botulinum toxin
products.

Purchase Commitments

The Company has certain commitments from outstangimchase orders primarily related to clinicaltdevelopment and other costs
related to the Company’s manufacturing facilitye$a agreements, which total $15.1 million , areebable at any time with the Company
required to pay all costs incurred through the eation date.

Contingencies

From time to time, the Company may have certairtingant liabilities that arise in the ordinary cserof business activities. The
Company accrues a liability for such matters whes probable that future expenditures will be madd such expenditures can be reasonabl
estimated. The Company is not subject to any cupending legal matters or claims that would haveagerial adverse effect on its financial
position, results of operations or cash flows.

Indemnification

The Company enters into standard indemnificatioe@gents in the ordinary course of business. Patsadhese arrangements, the
Company indemnifies, holds harmless, and agreesintburse the indemnified parties for losses satfaar incurred by the indemnified party,
in connection with any trade secret, copyrightepabr other intellectual property infringementicidy any third party with respect to its
technology. The term of these indemnification agrests is generally perpetual after the executiath®fagreement. The maximum potential
amount of future payments the Company could beiredio make under these agreements is not detabteithecause it involves claims that
may be made against the Company in the futurehdue not yet been made. The Company has not imtaoss to defend lawsuits or settle
claims related to these indemnification agreements.

The Company has entered into indemnification agesdsnwith its directors and officers that may reguhe Company to indemnify its
directors and officers against liabilities that nzaise by reason of their status or service asfdire or officers, other than liabilities arising
from willful misconduct of the individual.

No amounts associated with such indemnification® ieen recorded to date.

11. Common Stock

As of December 31, 2014 , the Company was authsbtizéssue up to 95,000,000 shares of par valu@d%@er share common stock.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Companynbathares and 3,333 shares of common stock subjegpurchase. The Company
has also issued shares of common stock as a oésititick option exercises throughout its existe@mmmon stockholders are entitled to
dividends when and if declared by the Board of E&twes subject to the prior rights of the preferstéatkholders. The holder of each share of
common stock is entitled to one vote. The commoaokstolders voting as a class are entitled to eleetmember to the Company’s Board of
Directors. As of December 31, 2014 , no dividenagehbeen declared.
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The Company had reserved shares of common stock) as if converted basis, for issuance as follows:

As of December 31,

2014 2013

Issuances under stock incentive plans 91,63¢ 202,56:
Issuances upon exercise of common stock warrants 198,66 760,08
Issuances under employee stock purchase plan 174,66: —
Issuances under inducement plan 141,50( —
Conversion of convertible preferred stock — 8,689,99!
Issuances upon exercise of convertible prefermatkswvarrants — 184,48t

606,45’ 9,837,13

12. Convertible Preferred Stock

Upon completion of the Company’s IPO in Februar§£Ghe shares of convertible preferred stock wereerted into 8,689,999 shares
of common stock at a ratio of 1 :1. As of Decenier2014 , there was no preferred stock outstanding

As December 31, 2013, outstanding convertiblegpretl stock was comprised of the following (in tbauods, except share and per shar
amounts):

Shares Liquidation
Shares Issued and Value per Liquidation
Authorized Outstanding Share Value
Series E-1 5,834,201 387,24: $ 2242 $ 8,68¢
Series E-2 8,914,00 585,55¢ 22.42¢ 13,13:
Series E-3 17,710,37 1,150,34 22.42¢ 25,791
Series E-4 72,551,68 4,748,46 22.42¢ 106,48!
Series E-5 40,000,00 1,818,39 33.63° 61,16"
145,010,26 8,689,99 $ 215,26

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coyngzased $40.8 million through the issuance ofL&,890 shares of Series E-5
convertible preferred stock at a price of $22.48bghare. In addition, the Company issued appraeind.7 million shares of Series E-4
convertible preferred stock with the conversionhaf outstanding principal and accrued intereshef2011 Notes (Note 8). Also in March
2013, in conjunction with the Series E-5 prefeseatk financing, the Company’s previously outstagdionvertible preferred stock was
exchanged for shares of Series E convertible pefestock as follows: (i) Series A and B convedipteferred stock converted into Series E-1
convertible preferred stock on a 1-for-1 basi3,Sgries C convertible preferred stock convertéad 8eries E-2 convertible preferred stock on ¢
1-for-1 basis, and (iii) Series D convertible predel stock converted into Series E-3 convertibkfgared stock on a 1-fd&-119 basis. Upon tl
exchange of the prior series of convertible pref@istock into the respective Series E convertitdéepred stock, all outstanding shares of
Series A, B-1, B-2, C-1, C-2, C-3 and D convertibteferred stock were surrendered and canceledeXdteange of the prior shares of
convertible preferred stock into the respectivéesenf Series E convertible preferred stock wagaeted for as a preferred stock
extinguishment. As a result of the preferred stextinguishment and the related conversion, the Gompecognized a capital contribution of
$74.9 million as a benefit to net income per shagbutable to common stockholders during the yeated December 31, 2013 . The $74.9
million capital contribution was calculated basedtloe difference between the fair value of the yagdued shares of Series E convertible
preferred stock as a result of the exchange andatrging value of the previously outstanding shareSeries A, B-1, B-2, C-1, C-2,&and L
convertible preferred stock. The fair value of 8exies E convertible preferred stock was estimbyettie Company’s Board of Directors with
assistance from a third party valuation that weiznethodologies and assumptions consistent wétivirch 31, 2013 common stock valuati
The March 31, 2013 valuation was prepared on a ntynmon-marketable interest basis. The Compaaggregate enterprise value was
determined using the income approach and a formaoket approach under the probability weighted etquereturn method or the PWERM.
Under the PWERM market-based approach, all of tlaees of Company’s convertible preferred stockaaseimed to convert automatically
upon the closing of an initial public offering. Tekmination of economic rights and preferencesvieen each of the classes of Series E
convertible preferred stock in connection with aitial public offering results in fair values thate equal across each class of shares. The
E-1, E-2, E-3, E-4 and E-5 convertible preferretktwere valued at $15.00 per share prior to asgadint for lack of marketability.
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Under the income approach, the value of each sgdsrtonditioned upon its respective rights arstrietions, including liquidation preference,
ranking, and conversion rights, such that shar&eoiks E-1, E-2, E-3 and E-4 convertible prefestedk are valued less than shares of Serie:
E-5 convertible preferred stock. The Series E-5/edible preferred stock was valued at $33.60 paresprior to any discount for lack of
marketability, while the Series E-4, E-3, E-2, & convertible preferred stock were valued at 2.$1.95 , $1.05, and $0.75 per share
prior to any discount for lack of marketability le@ison the change of control scenarios consider#@ueiMarch 31, 2013 valuation. The
resulting convertible preferred stock fair valuerathen weighted by estimating a 60% probabititthe fair value determined under the
PWERM market-based approach and a 40% probabilitlye fair value determined under the income apgrodhe outcome of this weighted-
average Series E-5 convertible preferred stockevadas concluded to be $22.50 per share, which odesrto the Series E-5 convertible
preferred stock issue price. The same weightingapatied to all of the other convertible preferstdck securities to derive their concluded
values, all of which were below the concluded vdbrethe Series E-5 convertible preferred stock.

The Series E-5 preferred stock financing occumeahultiple closings during the year ended Decer3e2013 . Included in the first
closing in February 2013 was a $2.1 million forwardchase commitment by the purchaser to buy aitiawcla 93,333 shares of Series E-5
convertible preferred stock. This commitment watedrined to be a liability since it embodied anigdion that could have required
settlement by transfer of assets if the underlyiogvertible preferred stock was redeemed. Thevédire of the liability upon issuance was not
significant and the commitment was settled durlmgMarch 2013 closings. The purchasers in thedicsting, who paid a higher per share
price than the purchasers in the second closingg m®vided with an additional 7,911 shares of&eE-5 convertible preferred stock to bring
their per share equal to the per share price patidpurchasers in the March 2013 closings. Thevédue of the additional share issuance wa
recognized as a deemed dividend of $177,000 dinmgear ended December 31, 2013 . The capitatibatibn for the extinguishment of the
prior convertible preferred stock and the deemeitidnd for the additional share issuance only imgae net income per share attributable to
common stockholders for the period (Note 15).

The Company recorded the convertible preferreckstiv€air value on the dates of issuance. The Comptassifies the convertible
preferred stock outside of stockholders’ equityfifdig (as Mezzanine) because the shares contgindation features that are not solely within
the Company'’s control. For the year ended Decer@be?P013 , the Company did not adjust the carrymlges of the convertible preferred
stock to the deemed redemption values of such sisamee a liquidation event was not probable. Sylsat adjustments to increase the
carrying values to the ultimate redemption valuédshe made only when it becomes probable that suiuidation event will occur.

13. Warrants
As of December 31, 2014, the Company had no cablegreferred stock warrants outstanding.

As of December 31, 2013, the following convertipieferred stock warrants were outstanding (in $hads, except share and per share
amounts):

Number of Shares Exercise Price Fair Value as of
Underlying Warrants Per Share December 31, 2013
Series E-3 30,33¢ $ 31.5C $ 10:
Series E-4 88,29: 14.9¢ 574
Series E-5 65,85¢ 22.02 55€
184,48t $ 1,23t

In March 2013 in conjunction with the Series E-Bfprred stock financing, the Company’s previousl{standing warrants to purchase
convertible preferred stock were exchanged for avdés to purchase shares of Series E convertibferped stock as follows: (i) the underlying
shares of Series C-2 convertible preferred stockeded into Series E-2 convertible preferred stmtla 1-for- 1 basis, (i) the underlying
shares of Series C-3 convertible preferred stockexed into Series E-2 convertible preferred stmtla 1-for-1 basis, and (iii) the underlying
shares of Series D convertible preferred stock eded into either Series E-3 convertible prefesttk on a 1-for- 2.119 basis, Series E-4
convertible preferred stock on a 1-for- 4.465 basiSeries E-5 convertible preferred stock on ari-2.977basis. In addition, the exercise p
of most of the new Series E convertible prefertediswarrants was also adjusted in accordancetivtherms of the exchange agreement.
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Upon the exchange, the prior warrants to purchase$C-2, C-3 and D shares of convertible pre€esteck were surrendered and cancelled.
The exchange of warrants was accounted for as #ioadithn. The modification resulted in an adjustrh#o the fair value of the warrants of
$1.2 million during the year ended December 31 320hich was recognized in the statements of operatas a change in the fair value of the
convertible preferred stock warrant liability. lalyJ 2013, the Series E-2 warrants expired unexedcis

In January 2014, in connection with the Compansésiance of notes payable to Essex Capital (Notb&)Company issued warrants to
purchase 12,345 shares of Series E-5 convertiblerped stock. As of December 31, 2013, the falue of the Essex Capital warrants was
$0.1 million , which was recorded as a discountlebt and was amortized to interest expense oveetheof the loan. The Company
accounted for these warrants as a liability infthencial statements because the underlying ingnirimto which the warrants were exercise
Series E-5 convertible preferred stock, contaimugkliquidation provisions that are outside of @@mpany’s control. Upon completion of the
initial public offering, the convertible preferrstbck warrants converted into equity-classifiedramats to purchase shares of common stock.

In February 2014, two holders of preferred stockrauas exercised their put options to sell 22,8%@rants at an exercise price equal to
the average fair value of the Company’s stock fiocé days preceding the exercise. The Compamyrded a loss on cash settlement of $1.4
million as a result of this exercise.

Upon completion of the IPO, all outstanding warsaiot purchase Series E convertible preferred swaktuding the 22,856 warrants that
were exercised, converted into 173,975 warranpaitohase common stock at prices ranging from $1ge®Share to $31.58er share, expirir
in 2018 through 2021.

The fair value of the outstanding convertible prefd stock warrants was remeasured as of Decenibh@033 using a Black-Scholes

option-pricing model with the following assumptions

As of December 31,

2013
Remaining contractual term (in years) 6.5
Expected volatility 58.8%
Risk-free interest rate 2.1%
Expected dividend rate 0.C%

Fair Value of Common Stock and Convertible Preféi®tock The fair value of the shares of the convertibkfgrred stock underlying
the preferred stock warrants has historically badetermined by the Board of Directors. Because thassbeen no public market for the
Company’s convertible preferred stock, the Boar@ioéctors has determined fair value of the conbbripreferred stock at each balance shee
date by considering a number of objective and stibbje factors including valuation of comparable g@amies, sales of convertible preferred
stock to unrelated third parties, operating andritial performance, the lack of liquidity of cap#gock, and general and industry specific
economic outlook, amongst other factors. The falue of the shares of common stock is based o@dnepany's stock price.

Remaining Contractual Terrthe Company derived the remaining contractual tessed on the time from the balance sheet date until
the preferred stock warrant’s expiration date.

Expected Volatility Since the Company was a private entity with retdrnical data regarding the volatility of its pregsd stock, the
expected volatility used is based on volatilityaafroup of similar entities. In evaluating simitgrithe Company considered factors such as
industry, stage of life cycle and size.

Risk-Free Interest RateThe risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. dugazero-coupon issues with remaining terms smhilahe
remaining contractual term of the warrants.

Expected Dividend RateThe Company has never paid any dividends and mimgslan to pay dividends in the foreseeable &jtand,
therefore, used an expected dividend rate of zetod valuation model.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had 198,662anis to purchase common stock outstanding widiiagése prices ranging from
$14.40 to $31.50 .
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In connection with the issuance of the Series B#bvertible preferred stock during the year endedeb®er 31, 2013the Company als
issued to the purchasers fully vested warrantsitolfase an aggregate of 545,492 shares of comtmokwith an exercise price of $0.15 per
share and a contractual term of 7 years. The &irevwas determined to be $4.7 million upon isseaiibe fair value of the warrants upon
issuance was determined using a Black-Scholesroptiging model with the following assumptions: exfed volatility of 57.1% , contractual
term of 7 years and risk-free rate of 1.3% . Thevalue of the common stock warrants was recotdeatlditional paid-in capital upon
issuance. During the year ended December 31, 2@dr8ants to purchase 52,481 shares of common stenk exercised, while the other
warrants from this arrangement remained outstanaléngf December 31, 2013.

Pursuant to the 2013 Note and Warrant PurchasecAgget, dated October 8, 2013, as amended, the Qyngzaied secured
subordinated convertible promissory notes, or BE3otes, and warrants to purchase common stothe @013 warrants, in an aggregate
principal amount of $19.4 million during the foubarter of 2013. The fair value of the warrant$®f7 million was classified as a liability
and recorded as a discount on debt and will be #adrto interest expense over the loan term. Tém@ny accounts for these warrants as a
liability in the financial statements because thenber of common stock shares issuable under thenconstock warrants is not fixed until
exercise. The Company recorded a loss of $0.4anitind $0.6 million due to the change in fair vadfithese warrants for the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013 .

In January 2014, the Company issued warrants tthpse 72,248 shares of common stock in connectiibrtine issuance of the most
recent round of the 2013 Notes (Note 8). In Felyr@é1 4, following the completion of the Company®J, all outstanding common stock
warrants net exercised into 1,158,443 shares ohwamstock. In May 2014, warrants to purchase 20sb@es of common stock were net
exercised into 10,613 shares of common stock. kkeBer 2014, the Company issued Essex Capital 34¢athmon stock warrants with an
exercise price of $14.40 in connection with thesFkmendment to the Loan and Lease Agreement agsfisd in Note 7. The fair value was
determined to be $0.4 million upon issuance. Tlreviue of the warrants upon issuance was deterthising a Black-Scholes option-pricing
model with the following assumptions: expected tititp of 53% , contractual term of 4 years ancksigee rate of 1.4% . The fair value of the
common stock warrants was recorded to additiondHpecapital upon issuance.

14. Stock Option Plan
Equity Incentive Plans

In December 2012, the Company terminated the 2@@et¥Incentive Plan, or the 2002 Plan, and theldiolders approved the 2012
Equity Incentive Plan, or the 2012 Plan. Sharestlyiohg any outstanding stock awards or stock apgicants previously awarded remain
subject to the terms of the 2002 Plan. Any shava#able for grant or any shares canceled or fea€eprior to vesting or exercise subsequent t
the termination of the 2002 Plan become availatei$e under the 2012 Plan. Upon the effectiveakti®e 2012 Plan, the Company ceased
granting any equity awards under the 2002 Plan.

The 2012 Plan provides for the granting of stockanys to employees, consultants and advisors o€drapany. Options granted under
the Plan may be either incentive stock optionsammqualified stock options. Incentive stock opti¢f®0) may be granted only to Company
employees, including officers and directors whoase employees. Nonqualified stock options (NS@y tne granted to Company employees
consultants and advisors. As of December 31, 20E2Company has reserved 339,302 shares of comimckfer issuance under the 2012
Plan. The amount reserved under the 2012 Planneasased by the Board during the year ended Deae®ih@013 so that there we262,55¢
shares of common stock reserved for issuance thd&012 Plan as of December 31, 2013. Optionsrithde2012 Plan may be granted for
periods of up to 10 years and at prices no less8b&b of the estimated fair value of the sharetherdate of grant as determined by the Boarc
of Directors, provided, however, that (i) the exsgqrice of an ISO and NSO shall not be less % and 85%f the estimated fair value
the shares on the date of grant, and (ii) the éseqprice of an ISO and NSO granted to a greater 19% stockholder shall not be less than
110% of the estimated fair value of the sharesherdate of grant. Options granted under the 2042 &énerally vest over 4 years at a rate of
25% upon the first anniversary of the issuance datemonthly thereafter.

On January 22, 2014, the Company’s Board of Dirscnithorized the adoption of the 2014 Equity ItieerPlan, or 2014 EIP, which
became effective after adoption and approval bybepany’s stockholders on January 23, 2014. Ihitithe aggregate number of shares of
common stock that may be issued pursuant to stwekds under the 2014 EIP will not exceed 1,000,88@res. The number of shares of
common stock reserved for issuance under the Coyiga@14 EIP will automatically increase on Januligf each year, beginning on
January 1, 2015, and continuing through and inclydianuary 1, 2024, by 4% of the total number afesh of the Company’s capital stock
outstanding on December 31 of the
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preceding calendar year or a lesser number of stitermined by the Company’s board of directoh& Maximum number of shares that may
be issued upon the exercise of ISOs under the Coyrgpa014 EIP is 2,000,000 shares. The 2014 EtRiges for the grant of incentive stock
options, or ISOs, nonstatutory stock options, oOdSstock appreciation rights, restricted stockrdsjarestricted stock unit awards,
performance-based stock awards, and other forraguify compensation, all of which may be grantedrtployees, including officers, non-
employee directors and consultants of the Compaunyita affiliates. Additionally, the 2014 EIP prdeis for the grant of performance cash
awards. ISOs may be granted only to employeesothér awards may be granted to employees, includfificers, and to non-employee
directors and consultants. Under the 2014 EIPpaptmay be granted with different vesting termsiftone to time, but not to exceed 10 years
from the date of grant. Upon the effectivenes$ef2014 Plan, the Company ceased granting anyyesirds under the 2012 Plan and any
cancelled or forfeited shares under the 2012 a@ Edan will be retired.

2014 Inducement Plan

On August 26, 2014, the Company'’s Board of Dirextuthorized the adoption of the 2014 Inducemeant,Rir 2014 IN, which became
effective immediately. Stockholder approval of #884 IN was not required pursuant to Rule 563%ja){ the NASDAQ Listing Rules. The
2014 IN reserves 325,000 shares of common stoclpanddes for the grant of NSOs that will be usgdiesively for grants to individuals that
were not previously employees or directors of thhenPany, as an inducement material to the individweitry into employment with the
Company. Under the 2014 IN, options may be grawniéidl different vesting terms from time to time, gt to exceed 10 yeai®m the date ¢
grant.

Under the 2014 EIP and the 2014 IN plan, restristedk awards typically vest annually over 3 oreéns , while options typically vest
over four years , either with 25% of the total dramsting on the first anniversary of the optioargrdate and 1/36th of the remaining grant
vesting each month thereafter or 1/48th vestingthign

F-32




Table of Contents
REVANCE THERAPEUTICS, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Comtiied)

The following summary of stock option and restricttock award activity, excluding 2014 IN, for §heriods presented is as follows:

Weighted
Number of Weighted Average
Number of Shares Average Remaining
Shares Underlying Exercise Contractual Aggregate
Available Outstanding Price Per Life (in Intrinsic
for Grant Options Share Years) Value
(In thousands)
Balance as of December 31, 2011 24,28 317,55. $ 3.4t — 3 =
Options granted (10,26¢) 10,26¢ 1.3t
Options exercised — (2,530 2.5t
Options cancelled/forfeited 18,97( (18,970 2.7(
Balance as of December 31, 2012 32,98! 306,31 3.4t
Additional shares reserved 1,080,66. — —
Options granted (992,21)) 992,21 8.8(
Options exercised — (4,340 2.5t
Options cancelled/forfeited 81,12¢ (81,125 6.42
Balance as of December 31, 2013 202,55¢ 1,213,06! 7.6E
Additional shares reserved 1,000,00: — —
Options granted (728,349 728,34¢ 30.21
Awards granted (212,45() 212,45( —
Options exercised — (238,999 5.9¢
Options cancelled/forfeited 14,60( (14,600 26.8¢
Awards forfeited 4,50( (4,500 —
Shares cancelled/retired under 2002/2012 p (189,224 (9,617%) —
Balance as of December 31, 2014 91,63 1,886,14; $ 17.9(C 8€c $ 8,64¢
Vested and expected to vest as of December 3
2014 1,809,591 $ 17.9¢ 8€ $ 8,57:
Exercisable as of December 31, 2014 49785! $ 11.2¢ 74 % 4,011

The intrinsic values of outstanding, vested anda@sgable options were determined by multiplying tluenber of shares by the difference
in exercise price of the options and the fair valfithe common stock as of December 31, 2014 of9Btlper share.

The total intrinsic values of options exercise@BBecember 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 of $2.6 mili$0.04 million and $0 were

determined by multiplying the number of sharesh®ydifference in exercise price of the options #edfair value of the common stock as of
December 31, 2014 , 2013, and 2012 of $16.94 .4914nd $6.90 per share.
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The following table summarizes the stock optionvitgtfor the 2014 IN is as follows:

Number of Weighted
Shares Weighted Average
Number of Underlying Average Remaining
Shares Outstanding Exercise Contractual Aggregate
Available Options and Price Per Life (in Intrinsic
for Grant Awards Share Years) Value
(In thousands)
Shares reserved 325,00( — % — 0 % —
Options granted (140,12Y 140,12! 22.52
Restricted stock awards granted (43,379 43,37 —
Outstanding as of December 31, 2014 141,50( 183,500 $ 22.52 9.7 $ —
Vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 2| 140,12 $ 22.52 9.7 $ —
Exercisable as of December 31, 2014 — § — 0§ —

The following table summarizes information withpest to stock options outstanding and currently@sable as of December 31, 2014

Options Outstanding

Weighted-
Average
Remaining
Number of Contractual Life Options
Exercise Price Options (In Years) Exercisable
$0.45 - 6.60 141,87: 4.49 138,64!
$8.70 627,34 8.36 218,16!
$8.85 3,33: 8.76 971
$9.15 195,93( 8.93 42,81
$15.45 - 22.97 184,30t 9.64 14,70;
$24.58 - 31.1 180,83: 9.22 12,66(
$32.22 479,30! 9.38 69,89
$32.81 - 33.45 1,80( 9.52 —
$34.00 1,20( 9.50 —
$34.27 2,40( 9.32 —
1,818,32 497,85!
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The following table summarizes information withpest to restricted stock awards outstanding aseceihber 31, 2014 :

Number of
Awards Weighted-Average Aggregate
Available Grant-Date Fair Intrinsic
for Grant Value Value
(In thousands)
Outstanding as of December 31, 2013 — % — % —
Granted 255,82 % 29.47
Vested — —
Forfeited (4,500 26.8¢
Outstanding as of December 31, 2014 251,320 § 2951 § 4,251

Stock Options Granted to Employees
During the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2012@h8 , the Company granted stock options to engaleyo purchase shares of
common stock with a weighted-average grant datevédue of $29.31 , $8.23 and $1.80 per share.fA&=cember 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 ,
there was total unrecognized compensation cositftatanding stock options and restricted stock dsvaf $19.1 million , $3.2 million and
$0.03 million to be recognized over a period ofragpmately 3.0 years , 3.2 years , and 1.8 yesrspectively.

The fair value of the employee stock options waisneged using the Black-Scholes option-pricing mdbe following weighted-average
assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Expected term (in years) 6.C 6.C 5.9
Expected volatility 57.2% 59.1% 56.%
Risk-free interest rate 1.2% 1.2% 0.8%
Expected dividend rate 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%

Fair Value of Common StocK he fair value of the shares of common stoclaisell on the Company's stock price. Prior to the tR©
fair value of the shares of common stock underlyiregstock options has historically been determimethe Board of Directors. Because there
was no public market for the Company’s common sttiok Board of Directors has determined fair valfithe common stock at the time of
grant of the option by considering a number of ofiye and subjective factors including valuatiorcomparable companies, sales of
convertible preferred stock to unrelated third igartoperating and financial performance, the tdiquidity of capital stock, and general and
industry specific economic outlook, amongst ottaetdrs. The fair value of the underlying commortktshall be determined by the Board of
Directors until such time as the Company’s commoglsis listed on an established stock exchangetonal market system.

Expected TermThe expected term for employees is based onirtiygiBed method, as the Company’s stock optiongehtdne following
characteristics: (i) granted at-the-money; (ii) reigability is conditioned upon service through tasting date; (iii) termination of service prior
to vesting results in forfeiture; (iv) limited exise period following termination of service; amj ¢ptions are non-transferable and non-
hedgeable, or “plain vanilla” options, and the Camyp has limited history of exercise data. The etgmbterm for non-employees is based on
the remaining contractual term.

Expected Volatility Since the Company was a private entity with readrical data regarding the volatility of its commstock, the
expected volatility used is based on volatilityaafroup of similar entities. In evaluating simitgrithe Company considered factors such as
industry, stage of life cycle and size. The Compaillycontinue to analyze the historical stock prieolatility and expected term assumption
more historical data for the Company’s common steeéomes available.
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Risk-Free Interest RateThe risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. Jusaconstant maturity rates with remaining terimslar to the
expected term of the options.

Expected Dividend RateThe Company has never paid any dividends and mimgslan to pay dividends in the foreseeable &jtand,
therefore, used an expected dividend rate of zetod valuation model.

Forfeitures.The Company is required to estimate forfeiturehatime of grant, and revise those estimatesliseguent periods if actual
forfeitures differ from those estimates. The Compases historical data to estimate pre-vestingoopibrfeitures and record stock based
compensation expense only for those awards thabgrected to vest. To the extent actual forfeitalifer from the estimates, the difference
will be recorded as a cumulative adjustment ing@od that the estimates are revised.

Stock Options Granted to Nonemployees

Stock-based compensation expense related to sptitne granted to nonemployees is recognized asttio& options are earned. During
the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 , tmp&ty granted options to purchase 13,333 shareg@&686 shares of common stock to
nonemployees with a weighted-average exercise pfi$d5.45 and $8.74 per share.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Coyngdmot grant options to purchase shares of comstack to nonemployees;
however, grants to non-employee's were made [ig012.

Stock-based compensation expense related to spticne granted to nonemployees is recognized asttiod options are earned. The
Company believes that the fair value of the stqukoms is more reliably measurable than the fainea@f services received. The fair value of
the stock options granted is calculated at eachrtieg date using the Black-Scholes option priaimgdel with the following weighted-average
assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Expected term (in years) 7.3 9.C 6.8
Expected volatility 56.1% 58.8% 57.(%
Risk-free interest rate 2.1% 2.7% 1.2%
Expected dividend rate 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%

2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

On January 22, 2014, the Company’s board of dirscathorized the adoption of the 2014 EmployeelSRurchase Plan, or 2014
ESPP, which became effective after adoption andoajppby the Company’s stockholders on January2@34. The maximum number of
shares of common stock that may be issued und&dhgany’s 2014 ESPP is initially 200,0@8Dares. The number of shares of common
reserved for issuance under the Compsui2@14 ESPP will automatically increase on Janliarfyeach year, beginning on January 1 of the
after the closing of our IPO and ending on anduditlg January 1, 2024, by the lesser of (i) 1%heftotal number of shares of common stock
outstanding on December 31 of the preceding cateyeta, (i) 300,000 shares of common stockigrquch lesser number of shares of
common stock as determined by the Company’s bdaddectors. Shares subject to purchase rightstgdannder the Company’s 2014 ESPP
that terminate without having been exercised ihvill return to the 2014 ESPP reserve and will remtuce the number of shares available for
issuance under the Company’s 2014 ESPP. The 20RR EESntended to qualify as an “employee stocklpase plan,” or ESPP, under
Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 thie purpose of providing employees with an opputy to purchase the Company’s
common stock through accumulated payroll deductibos the year ended December 31, 2014 , the Coymeanrded stock-based
compensation expense of $0.5 million and issue83®bshares of common stock to employees underthé ZSPP.
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The fair value of the option component of the shgmerchased under the 2014 ESPP was estimatedtbsijack-Scholes option-
pricing model with the following weighted-averagssamptions:

Year Ended December 31,

2014
Expected term (in years) 0.t
Expected volatility 46.8%
Risk-free interest rate 0.1%
Expected dividend rate —%

Fair Value of Common StocKrhe fair value of the shares of common stoclkaiseld on the Company’s stock price.
Expected TermThe expected term is based on the term of thehase period under the 2014 ESPP.

Expected Volatility Since the Company was a private entity withditilstorical data regarding the volatility of isnemon stock, the
expected volatility used is based on volatilityaafroup of similar entities. In evaluating simitgrithe Company considered factors such as
industry, stage of life cycle and size. The Compaillycontinue to analyze the historical stock prieolatility and expected term assumption
more historical data for the Company’s common steeéomes available.

Risk-Free Interest RateThe risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. Sirgaconstant maturity treasury rates with remgnérms similar
to the expected term.

Expected Dividend RateThe Company has never paid any dividends and mimigslan to pay dividends in the foreseeable &jtand,
therefore, used an expected dividend rate of zetod valuation model.

Total Stock-Based Compensation

Total stock-based compensation expense relateptiong granted to employees and nonemployees Wwastdd as follows (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Research and development $ 2351 $ 194 $ 48
Sales, general and administrative 4,17: 354 31
Total stock based compensation expense $ 6,53C $ 54¢ % 79

There were no capitalized stock-based compensatists or recognized stock-based compensation taefileduring the years ended
December 31, 2014 , 2013, and 2012 .

15. Net Income (Loss) per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders

The following table sets forth the computationtw Company’s basic and diluted net income (lossspare attributable to common
stockholders for the years ended December 31, 20043 , and 2012 (in thousands, except for shadepar share amounts):
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Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Net loss $ (62,91) $ (52,44 $ (58,259
Capital contribution on the extinguishment of preonvertible preferred stock — 74,89« —
Deemed dividend on the issuance of Series E-5 cbblepreferred stock — a77) —
Noncumulative dividend on Series E convertible @nefd stock — (13,879 —
Undistributed earnings allocated to preferred dtotders — (8,139 —
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhiddeasic (62,917 25¢ (58,259
Adjustments to net income (loss) for dilutive séibes 82t —
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhagddiluted $ (62,91) $ 1,08 $ (58,259
Net income (loss) per share attributable to comstookholders

Basic $ (3.29 $ 117 $ (290.49

Diluted $ (329 % 1.0t $ (290.4%)
Weighted-average shares used in computing net ia¢toss) per share attributable

to common stockholders:

Basic 19,391,52 220,22 200,56(

Stock options — 167,65! —

Warrants to purchase common stock — 641,27! —

Diluted 19,391,52 1,029,15 200,56(

The following common stock equivalents were exctlftem the computation of diluted net income (Igss) share for the periods
presented because including them would have beétilative:

As of December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Stock options 1,818,32. — 306,31:
Convertible preferred stock — 8,689,99' 1,741,43;
Convertible preferred stock warrants — 184,48t 82,26:
Common stock warrants 198,66 — 267,16¢

16. Income Taxes

Since inception, the Company has only generatedytesses in the United States and has not gemkaaly pretax income or loss
outside of the United States. The Company did @odmd a provision (benefit) for income taxes far ylears ended December 31, 2014 and
2013 . Significant components of the Company’s detktax assets as of December 31, 2014 and 20isstof the following (in thousands):
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Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforward $ 93,26( $ 78,16¢

Accruals and reserves 2,45¢ 1,85¢

Stock based compensation 1,60z 86

Tax credits 2,62:% 5,76(

Fixed and intangible assets 1,771 2,057

Valuation Allowance (101,719 (85,489
Total deferred tax assets — 2,43¢
Deferred tax liabilities:

Debt discount — (2,439
Total deferred tax liabilities — (2,439

Net deferred tax assets $ — % —

Reconciliations of the statutory federal income (taanefit) to the Company’s effective tax for theays ended December 31, 2014 , 201:
and 2012are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Tax (benefit) at statutory federal rate $ (21,397 $ (17,83) $ (19,809
State Tax (benefit) — net of federal benefit 79 84¢ (3,399
Permanent differences 66C 3,931 8,88
Debt discount 75€ 2,88¢ —
Research and development credits 3,131 (642) (197)
Other 537 284 51
Change in valuation allowance 16,22¢ 10,52: 14,46"
Provision for taxes $ 3 % — 3 —

A valuation allowance is provided when it is mdkely than not that the deferred tax assets witlbrealized. The Company has
established a valuation allowance to offset detetaa assets as of December 31, 2014 and 2013dbe uncertainty of realizing future tax
benefits from its net operating loss carryforwaadd other deferred tax assets. The valuation aitoe/éor a particular tax jurisdiction shall be
allocated between current and non-current deféevedssets for that tax jurisdiction on a pro-tadais. Accordingly, the Company has
allocated the valuation allowance on a pro-ratéstastween current and non-current deferred tagtas§he valuation allowance increased by
$16.2 million and $10.5 million during the yearsled December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. @hation allowance increased primarily
due to an increase in the net operating loss camrds incurred during the taxable years.

As of December 31, 2014 , the Company had net Gpgrmss carryforwards available to reduce futiaseable income, if any, for
Federal, California, and New Jersey income tax @sep of $247.1 million , $158.3 million , and $X&#illion , respectively. If not utilized,
the Federal net operating loss carryforward begpiring in 2020, the California net operating lassryforwards began expiring in 2010, and
the New Jersey state net operating loss carryfasvaegin expiring in 2030. The Company recognizesss tax benefits associated with the
exercise of stock options directly to stockholdeliity only when realized. The net operating letated deferred tax assets do not include
excess tax benefits from employee stock optionaéses. As of December 31, 2014 , the net operdtisgjreported as a deferred tax asset doe
not include approximately $2.1 million attributaldteexcess stock option deductions. The Compargvisiwith or without method to
determine when such net operating loss has bebépeta

f

As of December 31, 2014 , the Company also hadirelsend development credit carryforwards of $Gillan and $4.8 million
available to reduce future taxable income, if doyFederal and California state income tax purppeespectively. If
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not utilized, the Federal credit carryforwards vidlgin expiring in 2023 and the California creditrgforwards have no expiration date.

In general, if the Company experiences a greater 89 percentage point aggregate change in owpershr a 3-year period (a
Section 382 ownership change), utilization of its-phange NOL carryforwards are subject to an drdim#ation under Section 382 of the
Internal Revenue Code (California and New Jersey Isamilar laws). The annual limitation generaBlydietermined by multiplying the value of
the Company’s stock at the time of such ownershange (subject to certain adjustments) by the egiplé long-term tax-exempt rate. Such
limitations may result in expiration of a portiohtbe NOL carryforwards before utilization. The Coamy determined that an ownership chi
occurred on April 7, 2004 but that all carryforwsichn be utilized prior to the expiration. The Campalso determined that an ownership
change occurred in February 2014. As a result@®0i4 change, approximately $1.4 million of felest operating loss carryforwards and
$4.8 million of federal research and developmenR&D, credits are expected to expire unused. ABatember 31, 2014, the Company
derecognized $1.4 million of federal NOLs and $#i8ion of federal R&D credits. Since the R&D crésifor California carry over
indefinitely, there was no change to the CalifofR&D credits. In order for the Company to triggeother Section 382 ownership change, the
Company would need to experience a greater thaeftentage point aggregate change in ownershipnatthree-year period beginning in
February 2014. The Company determined that a $3e88@ ownership change did not occur upon the 2044 follow-on public offering.

The ability of the Company to use its remaining N&irryforwards may be further limited if the Compaaxperiences a Section 382
ownership change in connection with the IPO or eessalt of future changes in its stock ownership.

On January 1, 2009, the Company adopted the pomégsif FASB’s guidance for accounting for uncertaix positions. The guidance
prescribes a comprehensive model for the recogniti,easurement, presentation and disclosure indiabstatements of any uncertain tax
positions that have been taken or expected tolsm tan a tax return. The cumulative effect of athgpthis guidance did not result in an
adjustment to accumulated deficit as of JanuaB009. No liability related to uncertain tax positsois recorded in the financial statements.
the Company’s policy to include penalties and iedeexpense related to income taxes as a compohetiiter expense and interest expense a
necessary.

The unrecognized tax benefit was $1.3 million a@B$nillion at December 31, 2014 and December 8132 respectively. The
Company does not expect that its uncertain taxtipasiwill materially change in the next twelve ntlag No liability related to uncertain tax
positions is recorded on the financial statemeglt#@d to uncertain tax positions. During the yexading December 31, 2014 , the amount of
unrecognized tax benefits decreased due to limitadf research and development credits for prioiopgs offset by an increase for additional
research and development credits generated dumingetar. The reversal of the uncertain tax benefitsid not impact the Comparsyeffective
tax rate to the extent that the Company continaesdintain a full valuation allowance against idadred tax assets.

The unrecognized tax benefit was as follows (irufamds):

Unrecognized tax

benefits
Balance as of December 31, 2011 $ 1,912
Additions for current tax positions 10C
Balance as of December 31, 2012 2,01z
Additions for current tax positions 27¢
Balance as of December 31, 2013 2,28¢
Decrease for prior tax positions (1,216
Additions for current tax positions 19¢
Balance as of December 31, 2014 $ 1,26¢

The Company does not expect that its uncertaipdaitions will materially change in the next twelwmenths.

The Company files income tax returns in the Uni¢gates, California, and in New Jersey. The Comp&ngt currently under
examination by income tax authorities in federttesor other jurisdictions. All tax returns wi#main open for
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examination by the federal and state authoritieshicee and four years, respectively, from the détatilization of any net operating loss or tax
credits.

17. Defined Contribution Plan

The Company sponsors a defined contribution plateuSection 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Codedng substantially all
employees over the age of 21 years. Contributicadeniy the Company are voluntary and are deterngnadally by the Board of Directors
on an individual basis subject to the maximum adible amount under federal tax regulations. The Gomas made no contributions to the
plan since its inception.

18. Subsequent Events

On January 28, 2015, the Company granted 423,088 sptions and 74,786 restricted stock awards nim#e2014 EIP to executive
employees. The aggregate grant date fair valugti;mated to be $4.7 million . On January 30, 2@t&,Company granted 79,450 stock option:
and 65,300 restricted stock awards under the 20R4d=employees. The aggregate grant date faievalestimated to be $1.7 million .

In February 2015, the Company executed the Secomeh@ment to the Loan and Lease Agreement to extenerm of the facility to n
later than April 15, 2015 and increase the purclpaige of the IMA Life equipment by $0.1 million &pproximately $9.8 million .
Concurrently with this sale, the Company will leéise IMA Life equipment from Essex Capital for add monthly payment to be paid mont
over 3 years . At the end of the lease, the Compalhyave the option to purchase the leased eqaiprfor 10% of the original purchase
amount.

On February 26, 2015, the Board of Directors of@oenpany elected Philip J. Vickers, Ph.D. to saw@ member of the Board for the
term expiring at the Company’s 2015 Annual Meetii@tockholders and until his successor is dulgtel® and qualified, or until his earlier
death, resignation or removal. On February 26, 20t5Vickers was also granted an option to purehs000 shares of common stock under
the 2014 EIP with an exercise price equal to $1&rban estimated aggregate grant date fair vdl$ie.d million . The option will vest on the
one year anniversary of the date of grant, sulbgebrr. Vickers’ continued service as a directootigh the vesting date.

On March 4, 2015, the Company entered into aneairtrket issuance Sales Agreement with Cowen antp@oy, LLC under which tr
Company may offer and sell, from time to time ahidsasole discretion, shares of its common stakitg an aggregate offering price of up to
$50 million . The Company will pay Cowen a comrnussof up to 3.0% of the gross sales proceeds pyitammon stock sold through Cowen
under the Sales Agreement. The Company has alsalptbCowen with customary indemnification rights.

19. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

The following amounts are in thousands, excepspare amounts:
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For the Quarters Ended

March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,
2014

Revenue $ 15¢ $ 75 $ 75 % 75
Net loss $ (21,42¢) $ (13,309 % (13,97) $ (14,21
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhdde

Basic $ (21,42¢) $ (13,307 % (13,97) $ (14,215

Diluted $ (21,42¢) $ (13,309 % (13,97) $ (14,217
Net income (loss) per share attributable to common

stockholders:
Basic $ (1.99 $ (0.69 % (0.60) $ (0.60)
Diluted $ (199 $ (0.69 $ (0.60) $ (0.60)
2013

Revenue $ 75 % 75 $ 15¢ $ 30¢
Net loss $ (21,657 $ (11,829 % (8,879 $ (10,087
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhdde
Basic $ 521¢ $ (15,750 $ (12,789 $ (13,98
Diluted $ 13,307 $ (15,750 $ (12,789 $ (13,98)
Net income (loss) per share attributable to common
stockholders:
Basic $ 2552 $ (75.25) $ (55.90 $ (53.69)
Diluted $ 21.0C $ (75.25) % (55.90 $ (47.1)
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regigthas duly caused this report tc

signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduatyp authorized, in the City of Newark, State ofli@ania on the 4h day of March, 2015.

REVANCE THERAPEUTICS, INC.

By: /sl L. Daniel Browne
L. Daniel Browne
President and Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pemsbose signature appears below constitutes anuirgpp.. Daniel
Browne and Lauren P. Silvernail, and each of thesrhis or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact agdnts, with full power of substitution for
him or her, and in his or her name in any andalacities, to sign any and all amendments to thisu&l Report on Form 10-K, and to file the
same, with exhibits thereto and other document®imection therewith, with the Securities and ExgfgaCommission, granting unto said
attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of therhpéwer and authority to do and perform each aretyesct and thing requisite and necessary
to be done therewith, as fully to all intents amdpgmses as he or she might or could do in persmebly ratifying and confirming all that said
attorneys-in-fact and agents, and any of themohiser substitute or substitutes, may lawfully da@use to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, as amended, this Report has sigead below by the following
persons on behalf of the Registrant and in theatags and on the dates indicated.

Signatures Title Date
/s/ L. Daniel Browne President, Chief Executive March 4, 2015
L. Daniel Browne Officer and Director

(Principal Executive Officer)

/sl Lauren P. Silvernalil Executive Vice President, Corporate March 4, 2015
Lauren P. Silvernalil Development and Chief Finah@fficer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

/sl Angus C. Russell Director, Chairman March 4, 2015
Angus C. Russell

/sl Robert Byrnes Director March 4, 2015
Robert Byrnes

/s/ Ronald W. Eastman Director March 4, 2015
Ronald W. Eastman

/sl Phyllis Gardner Director March 4, 2015
Phyllis Gardner, M.D.
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Signatures

/sl James Glasheen

James Glasheen, Ph.D.

/sl Mark A. Prygocki, Sr.

Mark A. Prygocki, Sr.

/sl Jonathan Tunnicliffe

Jonathan Tunnicliffe

/s/ Philip J. Vickers

Philip J. Vickers, Ph.D.

/s/ Ronald Wooten

Ronald Wooten

Title

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Date

March 4, 2015

March 4, 2015

March 4, 2015

March 4, 2015

March 4, 2015
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Incorporated
Exhibit by Filed
Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Reference Exhibit Filing Date Herewith
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatio®-K 00136297 3.1 February 11, 201
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws S-1 333193154 3.4 December 31, 201
4.1  Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreemers-1/A 333193154 4.3 January 27, 201
effective as of February 5, 2014, among Revance
Therapeutics, Inc. and certain of its stockholders
4.2  Form of Common Stock Certificate S-1/A 3334193154 4.4 February 3, 201
10.1* Revance Therapeutics, Inc. 2002 Equity IncentiveS-1 3334193154 10.1 December 31, 201
Plan
10.2* Form of Stock Option Agreement and Option Grart-1 333193154 10.2 December 31, 201
Notice for Revance Therapeutics, Inc. 2002 Equity
Incentive Plan
10.3* Revance Therapeutics, Inc. Amended and Restatest1 3334193154 10.3 December 31, 201
2012 Equity Incentive Plan
10.4* Form of Stock Option Agreement and Option Grarfs-1 3334193154 10.4 December 31, 201
Notice for Revance Therapeutics, Inc. Amended and
Restated 2012 Equity Incentive Plan
10.5* Revance Therapeutics, Inc. 2014 Equity IncentiveS-1/A 3334193154 10.5 January 27, 201
Plan
10.6 * Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement 10-Q 00136297 10.6 May 14, 201«
and Grant Notice, Stock Option Agreement and
Grant Notice, and Restricted Stock Bonus
Agreement and Grant Notice for Revance
Therapeutics, Inc. 2014 Equity Incentive Plan
10.7 * Revance Therapeutics, Inc. 2014 Employee StockS-1/A 3334193154 10.7 January 27, 201
Purchase Plan
10.8* Form of Indemnity Agreement by and between  S-1/A 3334193154 10.8 January 27, 201
Revance Therapeutics, Inc. and each of its officers
and directors
10.9 Lease Agreement dated March 31, 2008 by and S-1 333193154 10.9 December 31, 201
between Revance Therapeutics, Inc. and BMR-
Gateway Boulevard LLC
10.10 First Amendment to Office Lease dated April 7, S-1 3334193154 10.1 December 31, 201
2008 by and between Revance Therapeutics, Inc.
and BMR-Gateway Boulevard LLC
10.11 Second Amendment to Office Lease and Lease S-1 333193154 10.11 December 31, 201
dated May 17, 2010 by and between Revance
Therapeutics, Inc. and BMR-Gateway Boulevard
LLC
10.12 Third Amendment to Lease, dated February 26, 8-K 00136297 10.35 March 4, 201:
2014 by and between Revance Therapeutics, Inc.
and BMR-Gateway Boulevard LLC
10.13 Loan and Security Agreement dated September 2&-1 3334193154 10.12 December 31, 201
2011 between Revance Therapeutics, Inc. and
Hercules Technology Growth Capital, Inc.
10.14 Amendment No. 1 to Loan and Security Agreemerg-1 3334193154 10.13 December 31, 201

dated October 8, 2012 between Revance
Therapeutics, Inc. and Hercules Technology Growth
Capital, Inc.
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10.15

10.16

10.17+

10.18+

10.19+

10.20+

10.21+

10.22+

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26 *

10.27*

10.28*

10.29*

10.30*

10.31*

10.32*

Amendment No. 2 to Loan and Security Agreemerg-1/A
dated December 17, 2013 between Revance
Therapeutics, Inc. and Hercules Technology Growth
Capital, Inc.

Settlement and Termination Agreement dated S-1
October 8, 2012 between Revance Therapeutics
and Medicis Pharmaceutical Corporation

License and Service Agreement dated February 8S-1
2007 between Revance Therapeutics, Inc. and List
Biological Laboratories, Inc.

First Addendum to the License and Service S-1
Agreement dated April 21, 2009 between Revance
Therapeutics, Inc. and List Biological Laboratoyies
Inc.

Development, Manufacturing and Supply S-1
Agreement dated April 30, 2010 between Revance
Therapeutics, Inc. and Duoject Medical Systems

Development and Supply Agreement dated S-1
December 11, 2009 between Revance Therapeutics,
Inc. and Hospira Worldwide, Inc.

First Amendment to Development and Supply S-1
Agreement dated May 29, 2013 between Revance
Therapeutics, Inc. and Hospira Worldwide, Inc

Manufacture and Development Agreement dated S-1
May 20, 2013 between Revance Therapeutics, Inc.
and American Peptide Company, Inc.

Loan and Lease Agreement dated as of Decembe-1
20, 2013 by and between Revance Therapeutics
and Essex Capital Corporation

First Amendment to Loan and Lease Agreement, 8-K
dated December 17, 2014, by and between Revance
Therapeutics, Inc. and Essex Capital Corporation

Second Amendment to Loan and Lease Agreement,
dated February 26, 2015, by and between Revance
Therapeutics, Inc. and Essex Capital Corporation

Revance Therapeutics, Inc. Executive Severance S-1
Benefit Plan

Revance Therapeutics, Inc. Non-Employee Direct&-1/A
Compensation Policy

Revance Therapeutics, Inc. 2014 Management 10-K
Bonus Plan

Revance Therapeutics, Inc. 2014 Inducement Plari,0-Q
as amended

Form of Stock Option Agreement and Grant Noticg-K
under Revance Therapeutics, Inc. 2014 Inducement
Plan

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement and Grant 8-K
Notice under Revance Therapeutics, Inc. 2014
Inducement Plan

Executive Employment Agreement dated Decemb8r1/A
30, 2013 by and between Revance Therapeutics
and L. Daniel Browne

333-193154

333-193154

333-193154

333193154

333193154

333193154

333193154

333-193154

333-193154

00136297

333193154

333193154

00136297

00136297

00136297

00136297

333193154

10.14

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.2

10.19

10.21

10.1

10.22

10.24

10.26

10.1

10.38

10.39

10.25

January 27, 201

December 31, 201

December 31, 201

December 31, 201

December 31, 201

December 31, 201

December 31, 201

December 31, 201

December 31, 201

December 22, 201

December 31, 201
January 27, 201
March 28, 201
November 13, 201

August 29, 201

August 29, 201

January 27, 201
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10.33*

10.34*

10.35*

10.36*

10.37*

10.38

10.39

10.40

10.41

10.42

21.1

23.1

24.1

31.1

31.2

32.1%

32.2%

101.INS**
101.SCH**
101.CAL**

101.DEF**

101.LAB**

Executive Employment Agreement dated JanuaryS-1/A
13, 2014 by and between Revance Therapeutics,
Inc. and Jacob Waugh

Executive Employment Agreement dated Decer S-1/A
31, 2013 by and between Revance Therapeutics,
Inc. and Lauren Silvernail

Executive Employment Agreement dated Decer S-1/A
20, 2013 by and between Revance Therapeutics,

Inc. and Curtis Ruegg

Executive Employment Agreement dated 10-Q
September 2, 2014 by and between Revance
Therapeutics, Inc. and Arthur P. Bertolino

Offer Letter dated March 3, 2014 by and betweenl10-K
Revance Therapeutics, Inc. and Angus C. Russell
Form of Warrant to Purchase Shares of Stock wits-1/A
Essex Capital Corporation

Form of Warrant to Purchase Shares of Stock witg-1/A
Essex Capital Corporation

Warrant to Purchase Capital Stock, dated Dece

20, 2014, issued to Essex Capital Corporation

Form of Warrant to Purchase Shares of Stock witB-1/A
Hercules Technology Growth Capital, Inc.

Sales Agreement, dated March 4, 2015, by and
between Revance Therapeutics, Inc. and Cowen

and Company, LLC

List of Subsidiaries of the Registrant 10-K

Consent of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm

Power of Attorney (contained in the signature page
to this Annual Report on Form 10-K)

Certification of Principal Executive Officer
pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a)
promulgated under the Exchange Act

Certification of Principal Financial Officer purqut

to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) promulgated under
the Exchange Act

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer
pursuant to18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursu

to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
XBRL Instance Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase
Document

333-193154

333-193154

333193154

00136297

00136297

333-193154

333-193154

333193154

00136297

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.2

10.31

10.31

10.32

10.34

21.1

January 27, 201

January 27, 201

January 27, 201

November 13, 201

March 28, 201.
January 27, 201

January 27, 201

January 27, 201

March 28, 201:
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101.PRE** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase X
Document

* Indicates a management contract or compensatonygplarrangemer

+ Confidential treatment has been granted foripastof this exhibit. Omitted portions have bedadiseparately with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

t  The certifications attached as Exhibit 32.1 3R that accompany this Annual Report on Form 1&-é&not deemed filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission and are na tndorporated by reference into any filing of Res& Therapeutics, Inc. under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Seesriixchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether nefdector after the date of this Fo
10-K, irrespective of any general incorporationgaage contained in such filing.

** Users of this data are advised that, pursuarRule 406T of Regulation S-T, these interactiviadites are deemed not filed or part of a
registration statement or prospectus for purpos&ections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 198%ection 18 of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 and otherwise are not subject to ligbilnder these sections.



SECOND AMENDMENT TO
LOAN AND LEASE AGREEMENT

This Second Amendment (theSecond Amendment’) to Loan and Lease Agreement is entered into asbfuary 2¢
2015 (the “Second Amendment Effective Daté’) by and between ESSEX CAPITAL CORPORATION Essex”) anc
REVANCE THERAPEUTICS, INC. (‘Company”).

RECITALS

WHEREAS , Company and Essex are parties to that certain bod Lease Agreement dated as of December 20, &¢
amended by the First Amendment dated DecemberQll4, @ollectively, the ‘Agreement”);

WHEREAS , Company and Essex now desire to amend the Agreeanestated herein;

NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the foregoing premises artiogood and valuable considerations, the re
and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledgee, plarties agree as follows:

1. Unless otherwise defined, all initially cafiited terms used in this Second Amendment shaklgefined in the
Agreement.

2. The parties hereby agree that Section HienFirst Amendment dated December 17, 2014, isbigedeleted in it
entirety and replaced with the following:

“No later than April 15, 2015, Company will sell,daBssex will purchase all of such Ima Life Equipmérhe
purchase price for the Ima Life Equipment (the ‘@Paise Price”shall be equal to the total aggregate agreementiai
invoiced to Company by Ima Life and actually paid @ompany to Ima Life with respect to such Ima LEquipment
provided, however, that such Purchase Price shullerceed $9,831,047.66. Essex shall pay the PsgcRaice b
delivering good funds via wire transfer. Excepnasdified hereby, the terms and conditions of thee&gnent shall app
with respect to the sale of the Ima Life Equipnient.

3. The Agreement, as amended hereby, shalhteemain in full force and effect in accordanceéhwts respectiv
terms and hereby is ratified and confirmed in @dipects.

4. In the event of conflict between the termd aonditions of the Agreement and the terms andlitions of this Secor
Amendment, the terms and conditions relating tostiigect matter of this Second Amendment will colntr

5. This Second Amendment may be executed inammore counterparts, each of which shall be deeameorigina
but all of which together shall constitute onerastent. In the event that any signature is delidne facsimile transmission or
e-mail delivery of a “.pdfformat data file, such signature shall create &\ad binding obligation of the party executing ¢o
whose behalf such signature is executed) with #mesforce and effect as if such facsimile or “.psitjnature page were
original hereof.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed3econd Amendment as of the Second Amendmeattisf
Date.

REVANCE THERAPEUTICS, INC.

By: /s/ L. Daniel Browne

Name: L. Daniel Browne

Title: President & CEO

ESSEX CAPITAL CORPORATION

By: /s/ Ralph. T. lannelli

Name: Ralph T. lannelli

Title: President

112412896 v4



THIS WARRANT AND THE UNDERLYING SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “ACT”). THEY MAY NOT BE SOLD, OFFERED FOR
SALE, PLEDGED OR HYPOTHECATED IN THE ABSENCE OF AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION
STATEMENT AS TO SUCH SECURITIES UNDER THE ACT OR A VALID EXEMPTION THEREFROM.

REVANCE THERAPEUTICS, INC.
WARRANT TO PURCHASE CAPITAL STOCK

No. EPW-03 December 20, 2014

THIS CERTIFIES THAT , for value receivedESSEX CAPITAL CORPORATION , with its principal office
at 1486 East Valley Road, 2nd Floor, Santa Barl@aéifornia 93108, or assigns (the “Holdeny,entitled to subscril
for and purchase at the Exercise Price (definedwjefrom Revance Therapeutics, Inc., a Delawar@amation (th
“Company”), with its principal office at 7555 Gateway Boulevaitdewark, California 94560, the Exercise Sh
(defined below). This Warrant is being issued in connection witht certain Loan and Lease Agreement dated
December 20, 2013, as amended by the First Amentdtoeoan and Lease Agreement dated the date héttes
"Effective Date") between Holder and Company (aamended, the "Agreement").

1. DEFINITIONS. As used herein, the following terms shall haveftilewing respective meanings:

(@) “Exercise Period” shall mean the period commeneiitty the date of this warrant and endiog
the Expiration Date , unless terminated earlie@doordance with the terms hereof.

(b) “Exercise Price’shall mean $14.40 per Exercise Share; providetidutihat the Exercise Price
subject to further adjustment pursuant to Sectibelbw.

(c) “Exercise Shares’shall mean 44,753 shares of Warrant Stock, sultedurther adjustme
pursuant to Section 5 below.

(d) “Expiration Date” shall mean the fifth anniversary of the Effectivext®) subject to eal
termination pursuant to Section 7 below.

(e) “Investor Rights Agreementshall mean the Amended and Restated Investor Riyieemer
dated February 5, 2014, among the Company andhestors named therein, as further amended from tilnime.

(H “Warrant Stock” shall mean the Company’s Commorciksto

2. EXERCISE OF WARRANT. The rights represented by this Warrant may be eeatdn whole or in pg
at any time during the Exercise Period, by delivarihe following
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to the Company at its address set forth abovet(sueh other address as it may designate by nitieeiting to the
Holder):

(@) An executed Notice of Exercise in the formelited hereto;

(b) Payment of the Exercise Price either (i) inhcasby check, (ii) by cancellation of indebtedness
(i) through a net exercise pursuant to Sectidni#low ; and

(c) This Warrant.

Upon the exercise of the rights represented byWrasrant, a certificate or certificates for the Exee Shares :
purchased, registered in the name of the Holdgreasons affiliated with the Holder, if the Holder designates, sh
be issued and delivered to the Holder within ageable time after the rights represented by thisréivia shall hav
been so exerciseth the event the Warrant is not exercised in this Company, at its expense, will forthwith issae
deliver to or upon the order of the Holder a newriat or Warrants of like tenor, in the name of Hader or as tr
Holder may request, exercisable for the number xdréise Shares equal (without giving effect to aayustmer
therein) to the total number of such Exercise Sh&we which this Warrant is then exercisable mitius number ¢
Exercise Shares (without giving effect to any auhent therein) for which this Warrant shall havemexercised.

The person or entity in whose name any certificateertificates for Exercise Shares are to be thauymor
exercise of this Warrant shall be deemed to haeerhe the holder of record of such shares on the aatwhich thi
Warrant was surrendered and payment of the ExeRige was made, irrespective of the date of dsflive sucl
certificate or certificates, except that, if theedaf such surrender and payment is a date whestadlok transfer books
the Company are closed, such person shall be deenteye become the holder of such shares at tise cf busine:
on the next succeeding date on which the stoclsfieatvooks are open.

2.1 Net Exercise. Notwithstanding any provisions herein to the canyt, if the fair market value of o
Exercise Share is greater than the Exercise Paicin¢ date of calculation as set forth below)jen of exercising th
Warrant by payment of cash, the Holder may eleget®ive shares equal to the value (as determistxvh of this
Warrant (or the portion thereof being canceled)shyrender of this Warrant at the principal offidetlme Compan
together with the properly endorsed Notice of Eiserén which event the Company shall issue to tbilét a numbe
of Exercise Shares computed using the followingnida:

X =Y (A-B)
A
Where X = the number of Exercise Shares tsd¥@d to the Holder

Y = the number of Exercise Shares purchasable und&W#reant or, if only a portion of the Warr:
is being exercised, that portion of the Warranhfeianceled (at the date of such calculation)
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A = the fair market value of one Exercise Share (atitite of such calculatic
B = Exercise Price (as adjusted to the date of suciuledion
For purposes of the above calculation, the fairketavalue per share shall be determined as follows:

(i) if traded on a securities exchange, the fair mavi&ie shall be the average of the closing p
over a five (5) day period ending three (3) dayligethe day the current fair market value of theusities is bein
determined;

(i) if actively traded over-theeounter, the fair market value shall be the averddghle closing bid ar
asked prices quoted on the NASDAQ system (or singjagtem) over the five (5) day period ending th{@eday:
before the day the current fair market value ofsbeurities is being determined; or

(i) if not listed on any securities exchange or quatettie NASDAQ System or the over-teeunte
market, the fair market value shall be determimegaod faith by the Company’s Board of Directors.

2.2 [Intentionally Omitted]

2.3 Automatic Exercise. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary heréimny portion of this Warrant h
not been exercised as of immediately prior to thgration of the Exercise Period, and the fair nearkalue of on
Exercise Share is greater than the Exercise Pdaaf gauch time, any such unexercised portion of Warrant she
automatically be deemed to be exercised in fulspant to the provisions of Section 2.1 hereof, eithany furthe
action on behalf of the Holder, immediately priorthe time this Warrant would otherwise expire parg to the tern
of this Warrant.

3. COVENANTS OF THE COMPANY.

3.1 Exercise SharesThe Company covenants and agrees that all Exe8tiaees that may be issued upor
exercise of the rights represented by this Wanalht upon issuance, be validly issued and outstagpdully paid an
nonassessable, and free from all taxes, liens hAadyes with respect to the issuance thereof. Thap@ay furthe
covenants and agrees that the Company will atnadis reserve and keep available, solely for issmiamc delivery c
the exercise of this Warrant, and free from enaptive rights, a number of Exercise Shares equtile total number
Exercise Shares from time to time issuable upomcesee of this Warrant, and, from time to time, wake all ster
necessary to amend its Certificate of Incorporatorprovide sufficient reserves of Exercise Shasssiable upc
exercise of this Warrant.

3.2 [Intentionally Omitted] .

4. REPRESENTATIONS OF HOLDER.
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4.1 Acquisition of Warrant for Personal Account. The Holder represents and warrants that it is aicgy
the Warrant and the Exercise Shares solely foadsount for investment and not with a view to or $ale o
distribution of said Warrant or Exercise Shareswy part thereof. The Holder also represents tiaentire legal ar
beneficial interests of the Warrant and Exercisar&hthe Holder is acquiring is being acquiredtiaccount only.

4.2 Securities Are Not Registered.

(@) The Holder understands that the Warrant and theciseeShares have not been registered |
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Acti)the basis that no distribution or public offgriof the stock of tr
Company is to be effecte@he Holder realizes that the basis for the exempti@y not be present if, notwithstanc
its representations, the Holder has a presenttintenf acquiring the securities for a fixed oretetinable period in tt
future, selling (in connection with a distribution otherwise), granting any participation in, onetwise distributing tt
securities. The Holder has no such present intentio

(b)  The Holder recognizes that the Warrant and the dis@rShares must be held indefinitely ur
they are subsequently registered under the Actnoeyxemption from such registration is availablde Holde
recognizes that the Company has no obligation gester the Warrant or the Exercise Shares of thegamy, or t
comply with any exemption from such registratioxgept as may be provided for in the Investor Rigtgseement.

(c) The Holder is aware that neither the Warrant nerERercise Shares may be sold pursuant to
144 adopted under the Act unless certain conditevesmet, including, among other things, the abditg of certair
current public information about the Company, tesate following the required holding period undeteR144 and tt
number of shares being sold during any three mpatiod not exceeding specified limitations.

4.3 Disposition of Warrant and Exercise Shares.

(@) The Companynd the Holder agree that the Warrant and the EBee&hares will be subject to ¢
applicable restrictions on transfer set forth ircté® 2.1 of the Investor Rights Agreement. No suestrictions she
apply to a transfer, in whole or in part, (i) to@ssignee of any Lease executed pursuant to theeAgmt, (ii) to up to
total of ten (10) persons or entities that proviidancing for any of the Leases (each, a "Fundiagy®) or (iii) to ar
Affiliated Entity (as defined in the Investor RighAgreement) of a Funding Party. Provided, howewueither thi
Warrant nor any rights hereunder may be assigret/eyed or transferred, in whole or in part, to apyson who do
not qualify as an "accredited investor” within tineaning of Regulation D promulgated under the Act.

(b) The Holder understands and agrees that all cettigficevidencing the shares to be issued f
Holder may bear the following legend:

THESE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER BHEURITIES ACT OF 1933,
AMENDED (THE “ACT”). THEY MAY NOT BE SOLD, OFFERED FOR SALE, PLEDGED
HYPOTHECATED IN THE ABSENCE OF
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AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT AS TO THE SERHBR® UNDER THE ACT OR A VAL
EXEMPTION THEREFROM.

4.4  Accredited Investor Status. The Holder is an “accredited investods defined in Regulation
promulgated under the Act.

5. ADJUSTMENT OF EXERCISE PRICE.

5.1 Changes in SecuritiesIin the event of changes in the outstanding ComntockSof the Company t
reason of stock dividends, splits, recapitalizagjareclassifications, combinations or exchangeshafes, separatio
reorganizations, consolidation, mergkguidations, or the like, the number and classsbéres available under
Warrant in the aggregate and the Exercise Prick lsh@&orrespondingly adjusted to give the Holdethe Warrant, o
exercise for the same aggregate Exercise Priceptaenumber, class, and kind of shares as thelddolould hav
owned had the Warrant been exercised prior tobkateand had the Holder continued to hold sucheshantil after th
event requiring adjustment; provided, however, tath adjustment shall not be made with respeerid,this Warrai
shall terminate if not exercised prior to, the dseset forth in Section 7 below. The form of this\ént need not |
changed because of any adjustment in the numlexetise Shares subject to this Warrant.

5.2 Continuation of Terms. Subject to Section 7, upon any reorganization, altetion or merger (and a
liquidation following any such event) referred tothis Section 5, this Warrant shall continue ith florce and effect ar
the terms hereof shall be applicable to the shafretock and other securities and property recéévah the exercise
this Warrant after the consummation of such reaegdion, consolidation or merger, or the effectilate of liquidatio
following any such event, as the case may be, Aall e binding upon the issuer of any stock oreptecurities i
such event, whether or not such person shall hgmessly assumed the terms of this Warrant.

6. FRACTIONAL SHARES. No fractional shares shall be issued upon the eeemf this Warrant as
consequence of any adjustment pursuant heretdx@licise Shares (including fractions) issuable ugrcise of th
Warrant may be aggregated for purposes of detengimihether the exercise would result in the isseaoican
fractional share. If, after aggregation, the exsaavould result in the issuance of a fractionateshtne Company she
in lieu of issuance of any fractional share, pagy Holder otherwise entitled to such fraction a soronash equal to tl
product resulting from multiplying the then curréair market value of an Exercise Share by sucttifva.

7. [Intentionally Omitted] .

8. MARKET STAND-OFF AGREEMENT. Holder agrees that the market stafflagreement in Secti
2.11 of the Investor Rights Agreement shall applthe Warrant and the Exercise Shares.

9. NO STOCKHOLDER RIGHTS. This Warrant in and of itself shall not entitle tHelder to any votin
rights or other rights as a stockholder of the Canyp
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10. LOST, STOLEN, MUTILATED OR DESTROYED WARRANT. If this Warrant is lost, stole
mutilated or destroyed, the Company may, on suanhges to indemnity or otherwise as it may reasiynapose
(which shall, in the case of a mutilated Warramglude the surrender thereof), issue a new Waraddnlike
denomination and tenor as the Warrant so lostesiohutilated or destroyed. Any such new Warraatl sfonstitute a
original contractual obligation of the Company, Wiez or not the allegedly lost, stolen, mutilatedlestroyed Warra
shall be at any time enforceable by anyone.

11. NOTICES, ETC. All notices and other communications required ompted hereunder shall be
writing and shall be sent by telex, telegram, egpmmail or other form of rapid communications, aspible, and if ne
then such notice or communication shall be mailgditst-class mail, postage prepaid, addressed in eachtacakbe
party entitled thereto at the following addresga}if to the Company, to Revance Therapeutics, Wttention: Chie
Financial Officer, 7555 Gateway Boulevard, NewaZk 94560 and (b) if to the Holder, to the addraasesl herein,
at such other address as one party may furnishemther in writing. Notice shall be deemed effexton the da
dispatched if by personal delivery, telecopy, tedexelegram, two days after mailing if by expressil, or three day
after mailing if by first-class mailn the event of any Acquisition Event, the Compahgll provide to the Holder t
(10) days advance notice of such Acquisition Event.

12. ACCEPTANCE. Receipt of this Warrant by the Holder shall congtéitacceptance of and agreement 1
of the terms and conditions contained herein.

13. AMENDMENT. Any term of this Warrant may be amended or waivéith Whe written consent of t
Company and the Holder.

14. GOVERNING LAW. This Warrant and all rights, obligations and liglek hereunder shall be gover:
by and construed under the laws of the State ofd@aia as applied to agreements among Califoragdents, mac
and to be performed entirely within the State olifGania without giving effect to conflicts of lawgrinciples.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the Company has caused this Warrant to be exaebytés duly authorized officer
as of the first date set forth above.

REVANCE THERAPEUTICS , INC.

By: /s/ L. Daniel Browne

Name: L. Daniel Browne

Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
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NOTICE OF EXERCISE
TO: REVANCE THERAPEUTICS, INC.
(1) O The undersigned hereby elects to purchase shares of Common Stock of Rev:
Therapeutics, Inc. (theCompany”’) pursuant to the terms of the attached Warranttemders herewith payment of

exercise price in full.

O The undersigned hereby elects to purchase shares of Stock ¢
Company pursuant to the terms of the net exerecmagions set forth in Section 2.1 of the attacWéarant.

(2) Please issue a certificate or certificatesesgmting said shares of stock in the name of tdersigned ¢
in such other name as is specified below:

(Name)
(Address)

(3) The undersigned represents that (i) theeatid shares are being acquired for the accountha
undersigned for investment and not with a viewotofor resale in connection with, the distributitrereof and that tl
undersigned has no present intention of distrilgutin reselling such shares; (i) the undersignedvisre of th
Companys business affairs and financial condition anddegiired sufficient information about the Compamyeacl!
an informed and knowledgeable decision regardimgniestment in the Company; (iii) undersignedxpegienced i
making investments of this type and has such kndgdeand background in financial and business nsatteat th
undersigned is capable of evaluating the merits r@gld of this investment and protecting the undewesd’s owr
interests; (iv) undersigned understands that tlaeeshissuable upon exercise of this Warrant havéeen registere
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (B8ecurities Act”),by reason of a specific exemption from
registration provisions of the Securities Act, whaxemption depends upon, among other things,dha hde nature «
the investment intent as expressed herein, anduBecsuch securities have not been registered thel&ecurities Ac
they must be held indefinitely unless subsequerglyistered under the Securities Act or an exempfiom sucl
registration is available; (v) undersigned is awthed the aforesaid shares may not be sold pursodtule 144 adoptt
under the Securities Act unless certain conditemesmet and until the undersigned has held theestiar the number
years prescribed by Rule 144; (vi) undersigned esyret to make any disposition of all or any pdrthe aforesai
shares unless and until there is then in effe@gsstration statement under the Securities Act Gogesuch propose
disposition and such disposition is made in acawdavith said registration statement, unless amggen rom suc
registration is then available; and (vii) undergidragrees to continue to be bound by the termsediMarrant, includin
the market stand-off agreement in Section 8.

Date: By:

Name:.__
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REVANCE THERAPEUTICS, INC.
$50,000,000

COMMON STOCK
SALES AGREEMENT

March 4, 201

Cowen and Company, LLC
599 Lexington Avenue
New York, NY 1002z

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Revance Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware corporatibe “ Company "), confirms its agreement (this
Agreement”) with Cowen and Company, LLC Cowen”), as follows:

1. Issuance and Sale of Sharéihe Company agrees that, from time to time duthegterm of thi
Agreement, on the terms and subject to the comditget forth herein, it may issue and sell throGglven, acting ¢
agent and/or principal, shares of the Company’snsomstock, par value $0.001 per share (ttf@&ofnmon Stock™),
having an aggregate offering price of up to $50,000 (the “Placement Shares). Notwithstanding anything to t
contrary contained herein, the parties hereto atjr@ecompliance with the limitation set forth mg Section Ion the
number of shares of Common Stock issued and saléruthis Agreement shall be the sole responsibditythe
Company, and Cowen shall have no obligation in eatian with such compliance. The issuance and&aBommot
Stock through Cowen will be effected pursuant te Registration Statement (as defined below) toilled by the
Company and after such Registration Statement éas Beclared effective by the Securities and Exgph&ommissio
(the “ Commission”), although nothing in this Agreement shall be corextras requiring the Company to use
Registration Statement (as defined below) to issee€Common Stock.

On the date of this Agreement, the Company had,fiee will file, in accordance with the provision$ the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the ruldg@gulations thereunder (collectively, th8€&curities Act”), with
the Commission a registration statement on For@ #cluding a base prospectus, relating to certaaurities
including the Placement Shares, to be issued froma to time by the Company, and which incorpordagseferenc
documents that the Company has filed or will fileaiccordance with the provisions of the Securiigshange Act ¢
1934, as amended, and the rules and regulationsutiger (collectively, the Exchange Act”). The Company hi
prepared a prospectus specifically relating toRteeement Shares included as part of such registraiatement (the
Base Prospectus). The Company will furnish to Cowen, for use by Coweopies of the prospectus included as
of such registration statement relating to the éaent Shares. Except where the context otherwigeires, suc
registration statement, as amended when it becdffeetiee, including all documents filed as part i@ ol
incorporated by reference therein, and including arformation contained in a Prospectus (as defibetbw
subsequently filed with the Commission pursuarRite 424(b) under the Securities Act or deemed
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to be a part of such registration statement putsteaRule 430B or 462(b) of the Securities Acthesein called the *
Reqistration Statement.” The Base Prospectus, including all documents iraratpd therein by reference, include
the Registration Statement, as it may be supplesdemy any prospectus supplement, in the form ircivisuch Bas
Prospectus and/or prospectus supplement have pussitly been filed by the Company with the Commis$ursuar
to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act, togethith any “issuer free writing prospectus$ defined in Rule 433 of t
Securities Act (‘Rule 433"), relating to the Placement Shares that (i) is reguio be filed with the Commission by
Company or (i) is exempt from filing pursuant talR 433(d)(5)(i), in each case in the form filedrequired to be file
with the Commission or, if not required to be filédl the form retained in the Company’s recordsspant to Rule 433
(9), is herein called the Prospectus.” Any reference herein to the Registration Statemiat, Prospectus or a
amendment or supplement thereto shall be deemeefdo to and include the documents incorporateddigrenc
therein, and any reference herein to the terms fafi¢amendment” or “supplementVith respect to the Registrati
Statement or the Prospectus shall be deemed totoed@d include the filing after the executiondwdrof any docume
with the Commission deemed to be incorporated Breace therein. For purposes of this Agreemehtgfdrences 1
the Registration Statement, the Prospectus oryoaarendment or supplement thereto shall be deemattlude an
copy filed with the Commission pursuant to the Eimtuic Data Gathering Analysis and Retrieval Systamany
successor thereto (collective N EDGAR ).

2. Placements Each time that the Company wishes to issue ahthsePlacement Shares hereunder (ea
“ Placement”), it will notify Cowen by email notice (or othenethod mutually agreed to in writing by the paities*”
Placement Notice”) containing the parameters in accordance with witicdesires the Placement Shares to be
which shall at a minimum include the number of Btaent Shares, the time period during which saleseqjuested
be made, any limitation on the number of Placen@hdres that may be sold in any one Trading Daydédimed ir
Section 3) and any minimum price below which sales may mointade, a form of which containing such minin
sales parameters necessary is attached her&chesiule 1. The Placement Notice shall originate from anythe
individuals from the Company set forth 8chedule 2attached heretfwith a copy to each of the other individuals fi
the Company listed on such schedule), and shakduressed to each of the individuals from Cowenfah or
Schedule 2, as sucltschedule 2may be amended from time to time. The Placemenicdlahall be effective up:
receipt by Cowen unless and until (i) in accordanith the notice requirements set forth in SecdgnCowen decline
to accept the terms contained therein for any reasdts sole discretion, (ii) the entire amouhtlee Placement Shali
have been sold, (iii) in accordance with the notiequirements set forth in_Section, 4he Company suspends
terminates the Placement Notice, (iv) the Compasyeas a subsequent Placement Notice with paransefeessedin
those on the earlier dated Placement Notice, othfg)Agreement has been terminated under the giomg ofSectior
11. The amount of any discount, commission or otleenmensation to be paid by the Company to Cowemmectiol
with the sale of the Placement Shares shall bauleaésl in accordance with the terms set fortiSamedule 3. It is
expressly acknowledged and agreed that neitheCtmapany nor Cowen will have any obligation whatsyewith
respect to a Placement or any Placement Sharessuame until the Company delivers a Placement BoticCowen ar
Cowen does not decline such Placement Notice porsadhe terms set forth above, and then only upon
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the terms specified therein and herein. In the eo€a conflict between the terms of this Agreememd the terms of
Placement Notice, the terms of the Placement Natiteontrol.

3. Sale of Placement Shares by Cow8mbject to the terms and conditions herein sehfarpon th
Companys issuance of a Placement Notice, and unless theofdhe Placement Shares described therein hex
declined, suspended, or otherwise terminated iordance with the terms of this Agreement, Cowen,tlie perio
specified in the Placement Notice, will use its ooencially reasonable efforts consistent with itsnmal trading an
sales practices and applicable state and fedeva) falles and regulations and the rules of The NAQIlobal Marke
(* Nasdaqg”) to sell such Placement Shares up to the amountfiggem such Placement Notice, and otherwis
accordance with the terms of such Placement Nottmven will provide written confirmation to the Cpany
(including by email correspondence to each of tigdviduals of the Company set forth &chedule 2, if receipt o
such correspondence is actually acknowledged byo&itye individuals to whom the notice is sent,estthan via auto-
reply) no later than the opening of the Trading e/ defined below) immediately following the TnagliDay on whic
it has made sales of Placement Shares hereundiegdetrth the number of Placement Shares soldumh glay, th
compensation payable by the Company to Cowen puatsogSection 2vith respect to such sales, and the Net Prou
(as defined below) payable to the Company, withtamization of the deductions made by Cowen (asfah in
Section 5(a)jrom the gross proceeds that it receives from sadds. Subject to the terms of a Placement Ndfioajer
may sell Placement Shares by any method permiitdavibb deemed to be an “at the marketfering as defined in Ru
415 of the Securities Act, including without lintitan sales made through Nasdaq, on any other egistading marke
for the Common Stock or to or through a market malkexpressly authorized by the Company in a &aent Notice
Cowen may also sell Placement Shares in negotiadé@dactions. Notwithstanding the provisions_oftec6(nn),
Cowen shall not purchase Placement Shares fomitisazcount as principal unless expressly authotiaetb so by th
Company in a Placement Notice. The Company ackrinyele and agrees that (i) there can be no assuttztc€owe!
will be successful in selling Placement Shares,(@nh@owen will incur no liability or obligationa the Company or ai
other person or entity if it does not sell Placetn®hares for any reason other than a failure by €low use i
commercially reasonable efforts consistent withnissmal trading and sales practices to sell suaelsdPhent Shares
required under this_Section .3For the purposes hereof,Ttading Day " means any day on which the Company
Common Stock is purchased and sold on the prinoizaket on which the Common Stock is listed or gdoDuring
the term of this Agreement, neither Cowen nor anysaffiliates or subsidiaries shall engage jrafiy short sale of a
security of the Company, (ii) any sale of any segwf the Company that Cowen does not own or aadg svhich i
consummated by the delivery of a security of then@any borrowed by, or for the account of, Cower(iior any
marketmaking, bidding, stabilization or other tradingiaity with respect to the Common Stock or relatextivhtive
securities if such activity described in clausgs({i) or (iii) is prohibited under Regulation M other antimanipulatiol
rules under the Securities Act.

4. Suspension of Sales

(@) The Company or Cowen may, upon notice taother party in writing (including by email correspmenc
to each of the individuals of the other party smthf on Schedule 2, if receipt of such correspondence is actt
acknowledged by any of the individuals to whom the
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notice is sent, other than via autply) or by telephone (confirmed immediately byifiable facsimile transmission
email correspondence to each of the individualghef other party set forth o8chedule 2), suspend any sale
Placement Sharegrovided, however that such suspension shall not affect or impgiree partys obligations wit
respect to any Placement Shares sold hereundet@tioe receipt of such notice. Each of the Paudigrees that no st
notice under this_Section ghall be effective against the other unless it &lento one of the individuals named
Schedule 2hereto, as such schedule may be amended in whibngtime to time.

(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of tlAgreement, during any period in which the Compasyn
possession of material ngrublic information, the Company and Cowen agree (ipao sale of Placement Shares
take place, (ii) the Company shall not requeststide of any Placement Shares, and (iii) Cowen sioalbe obligated
sell or offer to sell any Placement Shares.

(c) If either Cowen or the Company has reasdreteve that the exemptive provisions set fortRule 101(c)
(1) of Regulation M under the Exchange Act aregatisfied with respect to the Common Stock, it Igmamptly notify
the other party, and Cowen may, at its sole dignresuspend sales of the Placement Shares undeAgheemen
Cowen shall calculate on a weekly basis the avedaijg trading volume (as defined by Rule 100 ofgRation M
under the Exchange Act) of the Common Stock.

5. Settlement.

(@) Settlement of Placement Sharednless otherwise specified in the applicable &iaent Notice
settlement for sales of Placement Shares will oocuthe third (3¢) Trading Day (or such earlier day as is indt
practice for regular-way trading) following the éain which such sales are made (eachSattlement Date” and thi
first such settlement date, the=irst Delivery Date ). The amount of proceeds to be delivered to the Cagpa ¢
Settlement Date against receipt of the PlacemeateStsold (the Net Proceeds’) will be equal to the aggregate si
price received by Cowen at which such PlacementeShaere sold, after deduction for (i) Congrommissior
discount or other compensation for such sales payap the Company pursuant to Sectiome&reof, (i) any othe
amounts due and payable by the Company to Coweruhéer pursuant to Section 7(gxpenses) hereof, and (iii) ¢
transaction fees imposed by any governmental &resgllatory organization in respect of such sales.

(b) Delivery of Placement Share®n or before each Settlement Date, the Compalhyawiwill cause it:
transfer agent to, electronically transfer the &haent Shares being sold by crediting Cowen’s cdesignees accour
(provided Cowen shall have given the Company writtetice of such designee at least one Trading [y to the
Settlement Date) at The Depository Trust Companyuidsh its Deposit and Withdrawal at Custodian Sysbe by suc
other means of delivery as may be mutually agrgxech loy the parties hereto which in all cases di@freely tradeabl
transferable, registered shares in good deliverisla. On each Settlement Date, Cowen will delithex related Ne
Proceeds in same day funds to an account desighgtdte Company on, or prior to, the SettlementeD&owen wil
be responsible for providing DWAC instructions ostructions for delivery by other means with regardhe transfe
of Placement Shares being sold. The Company atiraes the Company, or its transfer agent (if agdble),
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defaults in its obligation to deliver duly autha@ Placement Shares on a Settlement Date (otheratha result of
failure by Cowen to provide instructions for deliyg the Companygrees that in addition to and in no way limitihg
rights and obligations set forth in Section 9faflemnification and Contribution) hereto, it w(l) hold Cowen harmle:
against any loss, claim, damage, or reasonableindexcted expense (including reasonable legal feg@®apenses),

incurred, arising out of or in connection with suwdgfault by the Company and (ii) pay to Cowen (aithduplication
any commission, discount, or other compensatiomhtich it would otherwise have been entitled absech default.

6. Representations and Warranties of the Compdixcept as disclosed in the Registration Statermettie
Prospectus, the Company represents and warraraadaagrees with, Cowen that as of the date ofAgieement ar

as of each Applicable Time (as defined in Sectid@}, unless otherwise provided:
(@) Compliance with Registration Requiremeni&he Registration Statement has been filed anddbs

declared effective by the Commission under the S@siI Act prior to the issuance of any Placementidé¢ by th
Company. The Company has complied to the Commissisatisfaction with all requests of the Commissior
additional or supplemental information. No stopesrduspending the effectiveness of the Registr&tatement or ar
Rule 462(b) Registration Statement is in effect aagroceedings for such purpose have been ireslitot are pendir
or, to the knowledge of the Company, are conteraglatr threatened by the Commission. The Companytsibe
requirements for use of Form-% under the Securities Act. The sale of the Placer®hares hereunder meets
requirements of General Instruction 1.B.1 of Forf8.S

(b) No Misstatement or OmissianThe Registration Statement, when it becomes @ffecand th
Prospectus, and any amendment or supplement thenetthe date of such Prospectus when filed withply ol
complied and, as amended or supplemented, if aigdc will comply in all material respects with tBecurities Ac
Each of the Registration Statement, any Rule 46R@pistration Statement and any pelective amendment there
at the time it became effective, complied and, fasach of the Settlement Dates, if any, will complyall materia
respects with the Securities Act and did not asdyfeeach of the Settlement Dates, if any, will cottain any untrt
statement of a material fact or omit to state aenmt fact required to be stated therein or necgsta make th
statements therein not misleading. The Prospeatuamended or supplemented, as of its date, didntas of each
the Settlement Dates, if any, will not contain amtrue statement of a material fact or omit toestatmaterial fa
necessary in order to make the statements therethe light of the circumstances under which tegre made, n
misleading. The representations and warrantiegosttt in the two immediately preceding sentencesndbapply t
statements in or omissions from the Registratioamte®tent, any Rule 462(b) Registration Statementany post-
effective amendment thereto, or the Prospectuangramendments or supplements thereto, made anceliupon ar
in conformity with information relating to Cowenrfiushed to the Company in writing by Cowen exprgedsl use
therein. There are no contracts or other docunreqisired to be described in the Prospectus or fiddikas exhibits t
the Registration Statement which have not beenridbestor filed as required.

(c) Exchange Act Compliancel'he documents incorporated or deemed to be incatgd by reference
the Prospectus, at the time they were or hereaféefiled with the
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Commission, complied and will comply in all maténaspects with the requirements of the Exchangg &ud, whe
read together with the other information in thedpextus, at the Settlement Dates, will not cordaimuntrue stateme
of a material fact or omit to state a material f&cjuired to be stated therein or necessary to iek&act required to |
stated therein or necessary to make the statertientsn, in the light of the circumstances undeicithey were mad
not misleading.

(d) Offering Materials Furnished to Coweiithe Company has delivered to Cowen one comptgig of
the Registration Statement and a copy of each obs® certificate of experts filed as a part tbérand conforme
copies of the Registration Statement (without eix$liband the Prospectus, as amended or supplementeslict
guantities and at such places as Cowen has redgaoagbested.

(e) Distribution of Offering Material by the Comma. The Company has not distributed and will
distribute, prior to the completion of Cowsndistribution of the Placement Shares pursuarnhit Agreement, ar
offering material in connection with the offeringpchsale of the Placement Shares other than the&uts or th
Registration Statement or any free writing prospedas defined in Rule 405 under the Securitieg Astiewed an
consented to by Cowen.

() The Sales Agreementhis Agreement has been duly authorized, execaneddelivered by, and i
valid and binding agreement of, the Company, eefabte against the Company in accordance with riilsseexcept ¢
rights to indemnification hereunder may be limiteg applicable law and except as the enforcemergafienay b
limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganizatiompratorium or other similar laws relating to oreaffing the right
and remedies of creditors or by general equitabieiples.

(9) Authorization of the Common StocK he Placement Shares, when issued and deliveriédhe duly
authorized for issuance and sale pursuant to tgieément and, when issued and delivered by the @oynagain:
payment therefor to Cowen pursuant to this Agregmesil be duly authorized, validly issued, fullyap anc
nonassessable.

(h) No Applicable Registration or Other SimilargRis. There are no persons with registration or ¢
similar rights to have any equity or debt secuwsitiegistered for sale under the Registration Stateor included in tt
offering contemplated by this Agreement, exceptsiorh rights as have been duly waived.

0] Ineligible Issuer StatusThe Company is not an “ineligible issuex$ defined in Rule 405 under
Securities Act, including (x) the Company or anypsdiary of the Company in the preceding three yeet havin
been convicted of a felony or misdemeanor or hatiegn made the subject of a judicial or administeatiecree ¢
order as described in Rule 405 under the Secutatsand (y) the Company in the preceding threeyeat havin
been the subject of a bankruptcy petition or inspby or similar proceeding, not having had a regfisin statement |
the subject of a proceeding under Section 8 oBieurities Act and not being the subject of a pedoeg under Sectic
8A of the Securities Act in connection with theeasfhig of the Placement Shares, all as describ&iiia 405 under tf
Securities Act.

()] Good Standing of the Comparhe Company has been duly incorporated and isiegiand in goo
standing under the laws of the State of Delawait, @orporate power
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and authority to own its properties and conducbiisiness as described in the Prospectus; anddhgpahy is dul
gualified to do business as a foreign corporatiogaod standing in all other jurisdictions in whiith ownership ¢
lease of property or the conduct of its businegsiires such qualification, except where any sudbri&ato be so dul
qualified or in good standing would not, individiyabr in the aggregate, reasonably be expecteddoltrin a materi.
adverse effect on the condition (financial or oivise), results of operations, business, propedregrospects of tt
Company and its subsidiaries, taken as a wholeMatérial Adverse Effect”).

(K) Subsidiaries Each subsidiary of the Company has been dulyrparated and is existing and in g
standing under the laws of the jurisdiction ofiftsorporation, with power and authority (corporatel other) to own i
properties and conduct its business as describt#tiRrospectus; and each subsidiary of the Comigasiyly qualifiec
to do business as a foreign corporation in gooddstg in all other jurisdictions in which its owséip or lease «
property or the conduct of its business requireh guualification, except where any such failurdéoso duly qualifie
or in good standing would not, individually or imetaggregate, reasonably be expected to resulMaterial Advers
Effect; all of the issued and outstanding capitatls of each subsidiary of the Company has beey authorized ar
validly issued and is fully paid and nonassessadntel, the capital stock of each subsidiary ownedhgyCompan
directly or through subsidiaries, is owned frearfriiens, encumbrances and defects that would afffiectalue there:
or interfere with the operation of such subsidmne the Company’s exercise of ownership righté\neigard thereto.

() Capital Stock MattersAll of the outstanding shares of capital stockid Company have been d
authorized; the authorized equity capitalizatiotha&f Company is as set forth in the Prospectusiusditanding shares
capital stock of the Company are validly issuedlyfpaid and nonassessable; all outstanding shareapital stock ¢
the Company conform, and the Placement Shares, Wiegnhave been delivered and paid for in accorelavith this
Agreement, will conform, in all material respeatstihe information thereof in the Prospectus; tleeldtolders of th
Company have no preemptive rights with respechéoRlacement Shares; and none of the outstandargssbf capit:
stock of the Company have been issued in violaifaamy preemptive or similar rights of any secuhtider.

(m) Finders Fee. Except as disclosed in the Prospectus, therenareontracts, agreements
understandings between the Company and any pehnsdrwbuld give rise to a valid claim against then(pany o
Cowen for a brokerage commission, findefiee or other like payment in connection with &naysactions contemplai
by this Agreement.

(n) Absence of Further Requirement®o consent, approval, authorization, or order af filing or
registration with, any person (including any gowveemtal agency or body or any court) is required fioe
consummation of the transactions contemplated isyAgreement in connection with the offering, isste and sale
the Placement Shares by the Company, except sutéivasbeen obtained, or made and such as may beecqgnde
state securities or blue sky laws and from the i@ Industry Regulatory Authority FINRA 7).
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(o) Title to Property Except as disclosed in the Prospectus, the Coyngadh its subsidiaries have g«
and marketable title to all real properties and#ier properties and assets owned by them, in easdhfree from lien
charges, encumbrances and defects that would @lfteaifect the value thereof or materially integfewith the us
made or to be made thereof by them and, excepisakskd in the Prospectus, the Company and itsidiabes hol
any leased real or personal property under valkitleariorceable leases with no terms or provisioaswould materiall
interfere with the use made or to be made thergdfieém.

(p) Absence of Defaults and Conflicts Resultingnir Transaction. The execution, delivery a
performance of this Agreement, and the issuancesaledof the Placement Shares will not resultlimesach or violatio
of any of the terms and provisions of, or constitatdefault or a Debt Repayment Triggering Evesitd@ined below
under, or result in the imposition of any lien, d@or encumbrance upon any property or asseteed@ompany or at
of its subsidiaries pursuant to, (i) the chartebyptaws of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, &y statute, rul
regulation or order of any governmental agencyamtybor any court, domestic or foreign, having jdigcsion over th
Company or any of its subsidiaries or any of tipeaperties, or (iii) any agreement or instrumenivtoch the Compar
or any of its subsidiaries is a party or by whibb Company or any of its subsidiaries is boundowxtiich any of th
properties of the Company or any of its subsidgarsesubject, except as disclosed in the Prospectdsexcept that
the case of clauses (ii) and (iii), where any sbobach, violation or default would not reasonabdy dxpected t
individually or in the aggregate, have a MaterialvArse Effect; a Debt Repayment Triggering Event” means an
event or condition that gives, or with the givinignotice or lapse of time would give, the holderaoly note, debentu
or other evidence of indebtedness (or any perstingaon such holdes’ behalf) the right to require the repurch
redemption or repayment of all or a portion of suatebtedness by the Company or any of its subsidia

(@) Absence of Existing Defaults and Conflictdleither the Company nor any of its subsidiargesn
violation of its respective charter or byws or in default (or with the giving of notice tapse of time would be
default) under any existing obligation, agreementenant or condition contained in any indentuoanl agreemet
mortgage, lease or other agreement or instrumenhich any of them is a party or by which any arthis bound or 1
which any of the properties of any of them is sabjexcept such defaults that would not, indivithuar in the
aggregate, result in a Material Adverse Effect.

(n Possession of Licenses and Permitse Company and its subsidiaries possess, and ammplianc
with the terms of, all certificates, authorizatipfranchises, licenses and permits, including, euitHimitation, from th
U.S. Food and Drug Administration EDA ”) and equivalent foreign regulatory authoritied.(€enses”) necessary ft
the conduct of the business now conducted by tleswept as disclosed in the Prospectus and excegrevwhe failur
to so possess or be in compliance would not redédpha expected to, individually or in the aggregdtave a Materi
Adverse Effect, and have not received any noticgroteedings relating to the revocation or modiiara of an)
Licenses that, if determined adversely to the Compma any of its subsidiaries, would individually ia the aggrega
have a Material Adverse Effect.
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(s) Absence of Labor DisputeNo labor dispute with the employees of the Compan any of it
subsidiaries exists or, to the knowledge of the Gamy, is imminent that would reasonably be expettetiave
Material Adverse Effect.

(®) Intellectual PropertyThe Company and its subsidiaries own, possess, th@veight to use or ci
acquire on reasonable terms sufficient trademarde names, patent rights, copyrights, domain satieenses, tra
secrets, inventions, technology, kntwavw and other intellectual property and similahtgy including registrations a
applications for registration thereof (collectivelyintellectual Property Rights ) reasonably necessary or materi:
the conduct of the business now conducted or pemposthe Prospectus to be conducted by them. Exasegisclose
in the Prospectus, the expected expiration of armh dntellectual Property Rights would not, indiwadly or in the
aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect. Excemtisclosed in the Prospectus (i) to the Compakgowledge, the
are no rights of third parties to any of the Irgetlal Property Rights owned or purported to beemoy the Compat
or its subsidiaries (other than Intellectual Prop&ights nonexclusive licenses granted by the Company to itspe
in the ordinary course of business); (ii) to thexany’s knowledge, there is no infringement, misapprdionma breact
default or other violation, or the occurrence oy awent that with notice or the passage of timeld:@onstitute any «
the foregoing, by any third party of any of theeltgctual Property Rights of the Company or anyt®fsubsidiarie:
(ii) there is no pending or, to the Compasiknowledge, threatened action, suit, proceedingaam by any third par
challenging the Company’s or any of its subsid&nghts in or to, or the violation of any of thenes of, any of the
Intellectual Property Rights and the Company isnara of any facts which would form a reasonablesoi@s any suc
claim; (iv) there is no pending or, to the Comparknowledge, threatened action, suit, proceedirgdaam by any thir
party challenging the validity, enforceability aope of any Intellectual Property Rights of the @amy or any of i
subsidiaries and the Company is unaware of anyg fabich would form a reasonable basis for any sil@im; (v) ther
is no pending or, to the Compasyknowledge, threatened action, suit, proceedingaam by any third party that t
Company or any of its subsidiaries infringes, m@apriates or otherwise violates or conflicts wahy Intellectue
Property Rights or other proprietary rights of aimyd party and the Company is unaware of any oféerwhich wouli
form a reasonable basis for any such claim; anjdh@me of the Intellectual Property Rights usedhed for use by tt
Company or any of its subsidiaries in their bussesshas been obtained or is being used or helgs®by the Compa
or any of its subsidiaries in violation of any a@attual obligation binding on the Company or anyte®subsidiaries
in violation of any rights of any third party, extein each case covered by clauses (iy}-such as would not,
determined adversely to the Company or any of utssiliaries, individually or in the aggregate, haveMateria
Adverse Effect.

(u) Compliance with Environmental Law$Except as disclosed in the Prospectus, neitteeCimpan
nor any of its subsidiaries is in violation of astatute, any rule, regulation, decision or ordeay government
agency or body or any court, domestic or foreigiating to the use, disposal or release of hazardotoxic substanc
or relating to the protection or restoration of #@vironment or human exposure to hazardous oc tewbstance
(collectively, “ environmental laws”), owns or operates any real property contaminatetl amy substance that
subject to any environmental laws, is liable foy afif-site disposal or contamination pursuant to any renmente
laws, or is subject to any claim relating to anyimmmental laws, which violation, contaminatiorghlility or clain
would individually or in the aggregate have a Miger
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Adverse Effect; and the Company is not aware off@ending investigation which would reasonably bpeeted to lee
to such a claim.

(v) No Price Stabilization or Manipulatiorhe Company has not taken, directly or indireclyy actio
that is designed to or that has constituted orwmatld reasonably be expected to cause or restitteirstabilization ¢
manipulation of the price of any security of then@many to facilitate the sale or resale of the Rtea® Shares.

(w) Statistical and MarkdRelated Data Any third-party statistical and markeglated data included
incorporated by reference in the Registration $tatd or Prospectus are based on or derived froncesuhat th
Company believes to be reliable and accurate.

(x) Internal Controls and Compliance with the SadsOxley Act. Except as set forth in the Prospec
the Company, its subsidiaries and the Company’'srBaéd Directors (the “Board ”) are in compliance with tl
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (SarbanesOxley ") and all applicable rules of The NASDAQ Global Mat (“
Exchange Rules’). The Company maintains a system of internal contriolduding, but not limited to, disclost
controls and procedures, internal controls ovemoactng matters and financial reporting, and legadl regulator
compliance controls (collectively, Ihternal Controls ") that comply with SarbaneSxley, the Securities Act, t
Exchange Act, the rules and regulations of the Cmsion, the auditing principles, rules, standardd @ractice
applicable to auditors of “issuers” (as definedSarbane€xley) promulgated or approved by the Public Cony
Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB ") and the Exchange Rules (collectively, th&é&curities Laws”) and ar
sufficient to provide reasonable assurances thatafisactions are executed in accordance with geanants genere
or specific authorizations, (ii) transactions aeearded as necessary to permit preparation of dinhstatements
conformity with U.S. Generally Accepted AccountiRgnciples (“GAAP ") and to maintain accountability for ass
(i) access to assets is permitted only in accocdawith managemerst’general or specific authorization and (iv)
recorded accountability for assets is compared thighexisting assets at reasonable intervals aptbppate action
taken with respect to any differences. The Inter@ahtrols are overseen by the Audit Committee (thAudit
Committee ) of the Board in accordance with Exchange Rules.tipany has not publicly disclosed or reporte
the Audit Committee or the Board, and within thextn@0 days the Company does not reasonably expegtithlicly
disclose or report to the Audit Committee or theaBh material weakness, change in Internal Contftbiat ha
materially affected or is reasonably likely to matky affect the Companyg’ Internal Controls), or fraud involvi
management or other employees who have a signifioéin Internal Controls (each, arrternal Control Event "),
any violation of, or failure to comply with, the Geities Laws, or any other matter which, if detered adversel
would have a Material Adverse Effect.

(y) Absence of Accounting Issue€xcept as set forth in the Prospectus, the AGdinmittee is nc
reviewing or investigating, and neither the Compangdependent auditors nor its internal auditorseelr@commende
that the Audit Committee review or investigate,a@ding to, deleting, changing the application af,changing th
Company’s disclosure with respect to, any of thenffanys material accounting policies; (ii) any matter @hicoulc
result in a restatement of the Companfyhancial statements for any annual or interimgaeduring the current or pri
three fiscal years; or (iii) except as disclose@€twen, any Internal Control Event.
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(2) Litigation . Except as disclosed in the Prospectus, there@ggending actions, suits or proceed
(including any inquiries or investigations by argud or governmental agency or body, domestic cgifim) against ¢
affecting the Company, any of its subsidiaries y af their respective properties that, if deteradiradversely to tl
Company or any of its subsidiaries, would indivillijp@r in the aggregate have a Material Adverseeé&if or wouli
materially and adversely affect the ability of hempany to perform its obligations under this Agneeat, or which ai
otherwise material in the context of the sale & tlacement Shares; and no such actions, suitsooegxling
(including any inquiries or investigations by angud or governmental agency or body, domestic oei¢m) ar
threatened or, to the Company’s knowledge and éxaegisclosed to Cowen, contemplated.

(aa) Financial Statements The financial statements incorporated by refezent the Registratic
Statement and the Prospectus present fairly immallerial respects the financial position of the @any and it
consolidated subsidiaries as of the dates showrrendresults of operations and cash flows forghgods shown, ai
such financial statements have been prepared ioroity with GAAP applied on a consistent basis.

(bb) No Material Adverse Change in Businegsxcept as disclosed in the Prospectus, subsetmidind
respective dates as of which information is givethe Prospectus: (i) there has been no changanyadevelopment
event involving a prospective change, in the caowliffinancial or otherwise), results of operatiobgsiness, properti
or prospects of the Company and its subsidiared®n as a whole, that is material and adverseeXagpt as disclos
in or contemplated by the Prospectus, there has heelividend or distribution of any kind declar@aid or made &
the Company on any class of its capital stock; @idexcept as disclosed in or contemplated by Pnespectus, the
has been no material adverse change in the capatek, short-term indebtedness, Idegn indebtedness, net cur
assets or net assets of the Company and its sabsgli

(co) Investment Company ActThe Company is not and, after receipt of paynfentthe Placeme
Shares and the application of the proceeds thadescribed in the Prospectus, will not be anegstment company”
as defined in the Investment Company Act of 194(raended (thelhvestment Company Act”).

(dd) Taxes. The Company and each of its subsidiaries haed flll federal, state, local and foreign
returns required to be filed through the date &f Agreement (taking into account applicable extars (except whe
the failure to file would not, individually or irhé aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect) an Ipaid all taxe
required to be paid thereon (except for cases iiciwthe failure to pay would not have a Materialvacse Effect, o
except as currently being contested in good faiith #@r which reserves required by GAAP have beeated in th
financial statements of the Company), and no tdicidacy has been determined adversely to the Cogpaany of it
subsidiaries which has had (nor does the Companamp of its subsidiaries have any notice or knolgée of any ta
deficiency which could reasonably be expected tddiermined adversely to the Company or its susseti and whic
could reasonably be expected to have) a Materiakisd Effect.
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(ee) Insurance The Company and its subsidiaries are insurechbyrers with appropriately rated cla
paying abilities against such losses and risks ianguch amounts as the Company has reasonablyndeés ar
prudent and customary for the businesses in whiely are engaged; to the Companknowledge, all policies
insurance and fidelity or surety bonds insuring @@mpany or any of its subsidiaries or their reipediusinesse
assets, employees, officers and directors arellifioiiwe and effect; the Company and its subsidmare in complian
with the terms of such policies and instrumentalirmaterial respects; and there are no claimshbyGompany or ai
of its subsidiaries under any such policy or insieat as to which any insurance company is denyieglity or
defending under a reservation of rights clausetheeithe Company nor any such subsidiary has befrsed an
insurance coverage sought or applied for; and eeite Company nor any such subsidiary has anypmesbeliev
that it will not be able to renew its existing in@nce coverage as and when such coverage expitesobtain simile
coverage from similar insurers as may be necedsacpntinue its business at a cost that would @meeha Materi:
Adverse Effect, except as set forth in or contemaplan the Prospectus.

(ff) Independent AccountantsPricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, who have expressad dpinion with
respect to the financial statements (which termused in this Agreement includes the related ndteseto) an
supporting schedules filed with the Commission armbrporated by reference as a part of the Registr&tatemet
and the Prospectus, is an independent registerblic ppccounting firm as required by the Securithes and thi
Exchange Act.

(99) Anti-Corruption. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiarieaftliates, nor, to the Compary’
knowledge, any director, officer, or employee, agent or representative of the Company or of anysaubsidiarie
or affiliates, has taken or will take any actionfimtherance of an offer, payment, promise to payauthorization ¢
approval of the payment or giving of money, propedifts or anything else of value, directly or irattly, to an
“government official” (including any officer or ergyee of a government or governmentned or controlled entity
of a public international organization, or any persacting in an official capacity for or on behalf any of th
foregoing, or any political party or party officiat candidate for political office) to influencefiofal action or secure
improper advantage; and the Company and its sagdiand affiliates have conducted their busireesseomplianc
with applicable antecorruption laws and have instituted and maintaid anll continue to maintain policies a
procedures designed to promote and achieve consplianth such laws and with the representation aadramty
contained herein.

(hh) Anti-Money Laundering The operations of the Company and its subsidiagi® and have be
conducted at all times in compliance with all apglile financial recordkeeping and reporting requésts, includin
those of the Bank Secrecy Act, as amended by Titlef the Uniting and Strengthening America by ding
Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstiiterrorism Act of 2001 (USA PATRIOT Act), and theplicabl
anti-money laundering statutes of jurisdictions whewre @ompany and its subsidiaries conduct business;ulles an
regulations thereunder and any related or similest regulations or guidelines, issued, admirester enforced by ai
governmental agency (collectively, theAhti-Money Laundering Laws ”), and no action, suit or proceeding by
before any court or governmental agency, authority
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or body or any arbitrator involving the Companyamy of its subsidiaries with respect to the Avitthey Launderin
Laws is pending or, to the best knowledge of thenany, threatened.

(i) Economic Sanctions (i) Neither the Company nor any of its subsidgiarinor any director, officer,
employee thereof, nor, to the Companighowledge, any agent, affiliate or representadivihe Company or any of
subsidiaries, is an individual or entityRerson”) that is, or is owned or controlled by a Persoat tis:

(A) the subject of any sanctions administered doreed by the U.S. Department of Treassr@ffice o
Foreign Assets Control, the United Nations Secu@guncil, the European Union, Her Majesty’
Treasury, or other relevant sanctions authorityi¢ctvely, “ Sanctions”), nor

(B) located, organized or resident in a countrytesritory that is the subject of Sanctions (inchg
without limitation, Cuba, Iran, North Korea, Sudamd Syria).

(i) The Company will not, directly or indirectlyse the proceeds of the offering, or lend, contellmw otherwis
make available such proceeds to any subsidianyt, y@nture partner or other Person:

(A) to fund or facilitate any activities or busisesf or with any Person or in any country or tergitthat
at the time of such funding or facilitation, is thabject of Sanctions; or

(B) in any other manner that will result in a vitde of Sanctions by any Person (including any &
participating in the offering, whether as underamitagent, advisor, investor or otherwise).

(i) For the past 5 years, the Company and itssgliries have not knowingly engaged in, are now
knowingly engaged in, and will not engage in, aeglohgs or transactions with any Person, or in@untry o
territory, that at the time of the dealing or tractson is or was the subject of Sanctions.

an eXtensible Business Reporting Languagke interactive data in eXtensible Business Repg
Language included or incorporated by referencénénRegistration Statement fairly presents the médion called fc
in all material respects and has been prepareddordance with the Commissi@ntules and guidelines applica
thereto.

(kk) Regqulatory MattersThe Company and its subsidiaries have operatd ésspective businesses
are currently in compliance with all applicableasyl regulations and policies of the FDA, exceptrelibe failure to <
operate or be in compliance would not reasonablgX¥pected to have a Material Adverse Effect. Anyichl trials an
human studies conducted by the Company and, tkribeledge of the Company, any clinical trials angnan studie
conducted on behalf of the Company or in which @mmpany has participated were and, if still pendag bein
conducted in accordance with standard medical aihtific research procedures and any applicaldsruegulatior
and policies of the jurisdiction in which such Isiand studies are
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being conducted, except where the failure to bemsulucted would not reasonably be expected to haWMateria
Adverse Effect.

(In Compliance with LawsThe Company has not been advised, and has nonréadelieve, that it al
each of its subsidiaries are not conducting busimesompliance with all applicable laws, rules aadulations of th
jurisdictions in which it is conducting businesgcept where failure to be so in compliance would result in
Material Adverse Effect.

(mm) No Reliance The Company has not relied upon Cowen or legahsel for Cowen for any leg
tax or accounting advice in connection with theedffg and sale of the Placement Shares.

(nn) Cowen PurchasesThe Company acknowledges and agrees that Cowsemfuamed the Compa
that Cowen may, to the extent permitted under theuBties Act and the Exchange Act, purchase atidskares c
Common Stock for its own account while this Agreatris in effectprovided, thathe Company shall not be deeme
have authorized or consented to any such purcloasedes by Cowen.

Any certificate signed by an officer of the Compamgd delivered to Cowen or to counsel for Cowecoinnection wit
this Agreement shall be deemed to be a represemtatid warranty by the Company, as applicable,awed as to tr
matters set forth therein.

The Company acknowledges that Cowen and, for pegokthe opinions to be delivered pursuant toiGedthereof
counsel to the Company and counsel to Cowen, iy wupon the accuracy and truthfulness of the foireg
representations and hereby consents to such relianc

7. Covenants of the Companyrhe Company covenants and agrees with Cowen that:

€) Reqistration Statement Amendmen#dter the date of this Agreement and during aasiqud in whict
a Prospectus relating to any Placement Sharegusree to be delivered by Cowen under the Secariiet (including
in circumstances where such requirement may befigalti pursuant to Rule 172 under the Securities), Aok the
Company will notify Cowen promptly of the time whany subsequent amendment to the Registrationnstate othe
than documents incorporated by reference, has bleenhwith the Commission and/or has become efiectr an
subsequent supplement to the Prospectus has lbeegrafid of any request by the Commission for angraitment c
supplement to the Registration Statement or Progpaec for additional information, (ii) the Compaml prepare an
file with the Commission, promptly upon Cowsntequest, any amendments or supplements to thestRigr
Statement or Prospectus that, in Cowergéasonable opinion, may be necessary or advisaldennection with tr
distribution of the Placement Shares by Cowemoyided, however that the failure of Cowen to make such rec
shall not relieve the Company of any obligation liability hereunder, or affect Cowen’'right to rely on th
representations and warranties made by the Comipahis Agreement); (iii) the Company will not finy amendme
or supplement to the Registration Statement orgeaiss relating to the Placement Shares or a sgconvertible int
the Placement Shares unless a copy thereof hasshbantted to Cowen within a reasonable periodmétbefore th
filing and Cowen has not reasonably objected tbefgirovided, however that the failure of Cowen to make s
objection shall not relieve the Company of any gdtion or liability hereunder, or affect Cowen’s
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right to rely on the representations and warrantiesle by the Company in this Agreement) and the gaom will
furnish to Cowen at the time of filing thereof gogoof any document that upon filing is deemed tanwerporated b
reference into the Registration Statement or Paiapgexcept for those documents available via EBG#nd (iv) th
Company will cause each amendment or supplemeahet®rospectus, other than documents incorporatedference
to be filed with the Commission as required purstanhe applicable paragraph of Rule 424(b) ofSkeurities Act.

(b) Notice of Commission Stop Ordershe Company will advise Cowen, promptly afteneiteives notic
or obtains knowledge thereof, of the issuance watiened issuance by the Commission of any stogr @uspendir
the effectiveness of the Registration Statementthef suspension of the qualification of the Plageitghares fc
offering or sale in any jurisdiction, or of thetiation or threatening of any proceeding for anghspurpose; and it w
promptly use its commercially reasonable effortpitevent the issuance of any stop order or to obtaiwithdrawal i
such a stop order should be issued.

(c) Delivery of Prospectus; Subsequent Chand®asing any period in which a Prospectus relatmghe
Placement Shares is required to be delivered bye@amder the Securities Act with respect to a pendale of th
Placement Shares, (including in circumstances whiech requirement may be satisfied pursuant to RBeunder tF
Securities Act), the Company will comply with allquirements imposed upon it by the Securities Astfrom time t
time in force, and to file on or before their resipee due dates all reports and any definitive grox informatior
statements required to be filed by the Company thighCommission pursuant to Sections 13(a), 13&)15(d) or an
other provision of or under the Exchange Act. Ifidg such period any event occurs as a result aéiwthe Prospect
as then amended or supplemented would include &neustatement of a material fact or omit to stat@aterial fac
necessary to make the statements therein, in ghé &f the circumstances then existing, not mistegdor if during
such period it is necessary to amend or supplerttentRegistration Statement or Prospectus to comitly the
Securities Act, the Company will promptly notify @en to suspend the offering of Placement Sharemgsuct
period and the Company will promptly amend or sapp@nt the Registration Statement or Prospectubdaxpense
the Company) so as to correct such statement asioni or effect such compliance.

(d) Listing of Placement SharePuring any period in which the Prospectus reatio the Placeme
Shares is required to be delivered by Cowen urfueiSecurities Act with respect to a pending salthefPlaceme
Shares (including in circumstances where such regquEnt may be satisfied pursuant to Rule 172 utideSecuritie
Act), the Company will use its commercially readaleaefforts to cause the Placement Shares to tieel Is1 Nasdaq a
to qualify the Placement Shares for sale undes#uerities laws of such jurisdictions as Cowenarably designat:
and to continue such qualifications in effect sagl@as required for the distribution of the Placett&maresprovided
howeverthat the Company shall not be required in connedti@rewith to qualify as a foreign corporationdealer i
securities or file a general consent to servicgro€ess in any jurisdiction.

(e) Delivery of Registration Statement and Prosmec The Company will furnish to Cowen and
counsel (at the expense of the Company) copigseoRegistration
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Statement, the Prospectus (including all documemtsrporated by reference therein) and all amendsnam
supplements to the Registration Statement or Potigpéehat are filed with the Commission during geyiod in which
Prospectus relating to the Placement Shares isreelgio be delivered under the Securities Act (idoig all documen
filed with the Commission during such period thed deemed to be incorporated by reference then@i®ach case
soon as reasonably practicable and in such quents Cowen may from time to time reasonably reqaed, @
Cowen’s request, will also furnish copies of the Progpetd each exchange or market on which sales d?ldeemer
Shares may be maderovided, howevethat the Company shall not be required to furnish @cument (other than i
Prospectus) to Cowen to the extent such documentitable on EDGAR.

() Earnings StatementThe Company will make generally available tosécurity holders as soon
practicable, but in any event not later than 15 tm®fter the end of the Compascurrent fiscal quarter, an earni
statement covering a 12-month period that satigfiegprovisions of Section 11(a) and Rule 158 efSecurities Act.

(9) ExpensesThe Company, whether or not the transactionsetoplated hereunder are consummatt
this Agreement is terminated, in accordance withghovisions of Section lHereunder, will pay all expenses incic
to the performance of its obligations hereunderluiing, but not limited to, expenses relating ijotlfe preparatiol
printing and filing of the Registration Statementlaaach amendment and supplement thereto, of easpdetus and
each amendment and supplement thereto, (ii) theapséon, issuance and delivery of the Placementesh (iii) the
gualification of the Placement Shares under saesrlaws in accordance with the provisions_of ®ecfi(d) of this
Agreement, including filing fees (provided, howeutiat any fees or disbursements of counsel foré&ow connectic
therewith shall be paid by Cowen except as seh fior(vii) and (viii) below), (iv) the printing andelivery to Cowen (
copies of the Prospectus and any amendments olesoppts thereto, and of this Agreement, (v) the fed expens
incurred in connection with the listing or qualdigon of the Placement Shares for trading on Nas@adtransfer taxe
imposed on the issuance of Placement Sharesfi(wig fees and expenses, if any, of the Commissind the FINR;
Corporate Financing Department (including, withpess to any required review by FINRA, the reasoadbks an
expenses of Cowes’'counsel in an amount not to exceed $10,000) wipthe Company shall reimburse Cowen
the fees and disbursements of Cowen’s counsel anmaunt not to exceed $50,000.

(h)  Use of ProceedsThe Company will use the Net Proceeds as destribéhe Prospectus in the sec
entitled “Use of Proceeds.”

()  Notice of Other SalesDuring the pendency of any Placement Notice givereunder, and for 5 tradi
days following the termination of any Placementibktgiven hereunder, the Company shall provide Con@ice a
promptly as reasonably possible before it offerseath, contracts to sell, sells, grants any optorsell or otherwis
disposes of any shares of Common Stock (other Blanement Shares offered pursuant to the provisodniis
Agreement) or securities convertible into or exdeable for Common Stock, warrants or any rightpuachase «
acquire Common Stockyrovided, that such notice shall not be required in coriorawith the (i) issuance, grant or <
of Common Stock, options to purchase shares of GamB8tock or Common Stock issuable upon the exewf
options or other equity awards pursuant to anykstoc
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option, stock bonus or other stock plan or arrareggndescribed in the Prospectus, (ii) the issuaricgecurities i
connection with an acquisition, merger or salewrcpase of assets; (iii) the issuance or sale afifBon Stock pursua
to any dividend reinvestment plan that the Compaay adopt from time to time provided the implemé&ataof sucl
is disclosed to Cowen in advance; (iv) any sharegommon stock issuable upon the exchange, cororersi
redemption of securities or the exercise of wagamptions or other rights in effect or outstandiog(v) any shares
common stock, or securities convertible into orreisable for common stock, offered and sold iniagtely negotiate
transaction to vendors, customers, investors,egff@partners or potential strategic partners dahdraise conducted
a manner so as not to be integrated with the offiesf common stock hereby.

() Change of Circumstance$he Company will, at any time during the pendeatg Placement Noti
or sell Placement Shares, advise Cowen promptdy éfshall have received notice or obtained knogéethereof,
any information or fact that would alter or aff@ciany material respect any opinion, certificagdtdr or other docume
provided to Cowen pursuant to this Agreement.

(K) Due Diligence CooperatianThe Company will cooperate with any reasonable diligence revie
conducted by Cowen or its agents in connection Wité transactions contemplated hereby, includinghaowi
limitation, providing information and making avdla documents and senior corporate officers, durgglar busine:
hours and at the Company’s principal offices, aw€lomay reasonably request.

() Required Filings Relating to Placement of Baent SharesThe Company agrees that on such ¢
as the Securities Act shall require, the Comparly (Wifile a prospectus supplement with the Consros under th
applicable paragraph of Rule 424(b) under the SesIAct (each and every filing under Rule 424}, Filing Date
"), which prospectus supplement will set forth, witttie relevant period, the amount of Placement Shenelsthroug
Cowen, the Net Proceeds to the Company and theamsapion payable by the Company to Cowen with gpesucl
Placement Shares, and (ii) deliver such numberopfes of each such prospectus supplement to eattiaege ¢
market on which such sales were effected as magduered by the rules or regulations of such exgkasr market.

(m) Representation Dates; Certificatén or prior to the First Delivery Date and eaaietduring the ter:
of this Agreement the Company (i) files the Prospecelating to the Placement Shares or amendspmements tt
Registration Statement or the Prospectus relatirthe Placement Shares (other than a prospectypdesugnt filed i
accordance with Section 76§ this Agreement) by means of a post-effective raangent, sticker, or supplement
by means of incorporation of document(s) by refeeeto the Registration Statement or the Prospeetating to th
Placement Shares; (ii) files an annual report ommFd0K under the Exchange Act following the executiontloik
Agreement; (iii) files its quarterly reports on Forl0-Q under the Exchange Act; or (iv) files a mmm Form 8K
containing amended financial information (othernttean earnings release or other information “furath under th
Exchange Act (each date of filing of one or mordh& documents referred to in clauses (i) throughghall be &'
Representation Dat€’ ); the Company shall furnish Cowen (but in the caselaise (iv) above only if (1) a Placerr
Notice is pending, (2) Cowen reasonably determihasthe information contained in such Fc
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8-K is material to a holder of Common Stock and (8Mén requests such certificate within three (3)sdafger th
filing of such Form 8-K with the Commission) withcartificate, in the form attached hereto as Exhifin) within three
(3) Trading Days of any Representation Date if estegd by Cowen. The requirement to provide a a=até under th
Section 7(m)shall be automatically waived for any Representafdate occurring at a time at which no Placer
Notice is pending, which waiver shall continue Uuttte earlier to occur of the date the Companyveed a Placeme
Notice hereunder (which for such calendar quartetl e considered a Representation Date) and Rk atcurrin
Representation Dat@rovided, however, that such waiver shall not apply for any Represgon Date on which tl
Company files its annual report on Form KONotwithstanding the foregoing, if the Companysequently decides
sell Placement Shares following a Representatioe Bden the Company relied on such waiver and didpnovide
Cowen with a certificate under this Section 7(nthen before the Company delivers the Placemetic&or Cowe
sells any Placement Shares, the Company shallggdwen with a certificate, in the form attachedeto as Exhibit 7
(m), dated the date of the Placement Notice.

(n) Legal Opinion. On or prior to the First Delivery Date and withimree (3) Trading Days of e
Representation Date with respect to which the Comyps obligated to deliver a certificate in therfoattached here
as_Exhibit 7(mYor which no waiver is applicable, the Company kbauise to be furnished to Cowen a written opi
or statement of Cooley LLP (* Company Counelor other counsel reasonably satisfactory to Cowated the da
that the opinion is required to be delivered, sasally similar to the form attached hereto_as iBitv(n)(i) modified
as necessary, to relate to the Registration Staeared the Prospectus as then amended or supplemprvided
however, the Company shall not be required to furnish sungh opinion or statement if the Company doesntend tc
deliver a Placement Notice in such calendar quantél such time as the Company delivers its ndat&ment Notice
provided, further, that the Companyg’ obligation to have Company Counsel furnish a tregassurance statemen
conditioned upon counsel to Cowen furnishing a hegassurance statement dated as of the samealatesprovided,
however, that in lieu of such opinions for subsequent [Repntation Dates, counsel may furnish Cowen widttar (
“ Reliance Letter”) to the effect that Cowen may rely on a priorrapn delivered under this Section 7(n)the sam
extent as if it were dated the date of such I€arcept that statements in such prior opinion dhaltieemed to relate
the Registration Statement and the Prospectus asded or supplemented at such Representation Date).

(0) Comfort Letter. On or prior to the First Delivery Date and withimree (3) Trading Days of ec
Representation Date with respect to which the Comps obligated to deliver a certificate in therfoattached here
as _Exhibit 7(m)for which no waiver is applicable, the Company kleause its independent accountants to fu
Cowen a letter (thé Comfort Letter ” ), dated the date that the Comfort Letter is deliveredorm and substan
satisfactory to Cowen, (i) confirming that they areindependent registered public accounting firthivw the meanin
of the Securities Act and the PCAOB, (ii) statiag,of such date, the conclusions and findings o $iim with respec
to the financial information and other matters oadily covered by accountants’ “comfort lettersd Cowen i
connection with registered public offerings (thestfisuch letter, the Initial Comfort Letter " ) and (iii) updating th
Initial Comfort Letter with any information that witdl have been included in the Initial Comfort Letbad it been give
on such date and modified as necessary to relateetdRegistration Statement and the Prospectuapended ar
supplemented to the date of such letter.
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(p) Market Activities. The Company will not, directly or indirectly, (idke any action designed to ce
or result in, or that constitutes or might reasdydde expected to constitute, the stabilizatiom@nipulation of th
price of any security of the Company to facilitite sale or resale of the Common Stock or (ii), &&dl for, or purchas
the Common Stock in violation of Regulation M, aaypanyone any compensation for soliciting purchasfethe
Placement Shares other than Cowen; provided, hawévat the Company may bid for and purchase shaiéts
common stock in accordance with Rule 10b-18 untieiEixchange Act.

(@) Insurance The Company and its subsidiaries shall maint@irgaused to be maintained, insuranc
such amounts and covering such risks as is reasoaa) customary for the business for which ingaged.

(n Compliance with Laws The Company and each of its subsidiaries shaihtaia, or cause to |
maintained, all material environmental permitsgiises and other authorizations required by fedstiate and local la
in order to conduct their businesses as descriélei Prospectus, and the Company and each afbtsdsaries she
conduct their businesses, or cause their businés$esconducted, in substantial compliance witthguermits, licens:
and authorizations and with applicable environmelatas, except where the failure to maintain oritheomplianc
with such permits, licenses and authorizationsatook reasonably be expected to result in a Mdtadaerse Effect.

(s) Investment Company AcfThe Company will conduct its affairs in such anmer so as to reasona
ensure that neither it nor its subsidiaries willdsebecome, at any time prior to the terminatiortha$ Agreement, ¢
“investment company,’as such term is defined in the Investment Compary, Assuming no change in
Commission’s current interpretation as to entitiest are not considered an investment company.

(®) Securities Act and Exchange ActThe Company will use its best efforts to complithwall
requirements imposed upon it by the Securities & the Exchange Act as from time to time in fose,far a
necessary to permit the continuance of sales alealings in, the Placement Shares as contempigtélae provision
hereof and the Prospectus.

(u) No Offer to Sell Other than the Prospectus or a free writing peos (as defined in Rule 405 ur
the Securities Act) approved in advance by the Gomppmand Cowen in its capacity as principal or adgereunde
neither Cowen nor the Company (including its agents representatives, other than Cowen in its ¢gpas such) wi
make, use, prepare, authorize, approve or refeanio written communication (as defined in Rule 4G%ler the
Securities Act), required to be filed with the Corssion, that constitutes an offer to sell or stditon of an offer t
buy Common Stock hereunder.

(v) Sarbane®xley Act. The Company and its subsidiaries will use thestlefforts to comply with &
effective applicable provisions of the Sarbanese@¥ct.

8. Conditions to Coweis Obligations The obligations of Cowen hereunder with respeet Placement w
be subject to the continuing accuracy and compésterof the representations and warranties madéebyzompan
herein, to the due performance by the Companysobliligations hereunder, to the completion by Cowkia du
diligence review
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satisfactory to Cowen in its reasonable judgmentl ® the continuing satisfaction (or waiver by @owin its sol
discretion) of the following additional conditions:

@) Reqistration Statement Effectiv&he Registration Statement shall have becometeféeand shall k
available for the sale of all Placement Sharesetoptated to be issued by any Placement Notice.

(b) No Material Notices None of the following events shall have occuraad be continuing: (i) rece
by the Company or any of its subsidiaries of amyuesst for additional information from the Commissiar any othe
federal or state governmental authority duringpgbeod of effectiveness of the Registration Stateimnde response
which would require any postffective amendments or supplements to the Reti@tr&tatement or the Prospec
(ii) the issuance by the Commission or any othdefal or state governmental authority of any stafepsuspendir
the effectiveness of the Registration Statemerth@rinitiation of any proceedings for that purpo@e); receipt by th
Company of any notification with respect to thepgrssion of the qualification or exemption from diietion of any
of the Placement Shares for sale in any jurisdictiothe initiation or threatening of any proceedfar such purpos
(iv) the occurrence of any event that makes anenatstatement made in the Registration Statemmetite Prospect
or any material document incorporated or deemdzktmcorporated therein by reference untrue inraaterial respe
or that requires the making of any changes in tegistration Statement, the Prospectus or such dectsnso that,
the case of the Registration Statement, it will cantain any materially untrue statement of a nmtéact or omit t
state any material fact required to be stated thenenecessary to make the statements thereimisb¢ading and, th
in the case of the Prospectus, it will not contiry materially untrue statement of a material tacomit to state ar
material fact required to be stated therein or s&aey to make the statements therein, in the bftie circumstanc
under which they were made, not misleading.

(c) No Misstatement or Material OmissionCowen shall not have advised the Company the
Registration Statement or Prospectus, or any amendan supplement thereto, contains an untruenstteof fact the
in Cowen’s reasonable opinion is material, or orutstate a fact that in Cowenodpinion is material and is requirec
be stated therein or is necessary to make therstats therein not misleading.

(d) Material ChangesExcept as contemplated in the Prospectus, ofodesd in the Compang’report
filed with the Commission, there shall not have rbe@y material adverse change, on a consolidateis,ba th
authorized capital stock of the Company or any Malté\dverse Effect or any development that coddsonably L
expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

(e) Company Counsel Legal OpiniorCowen shall have received the opinions of Comp@oynse
required to be delivered pursuant Section ofmpr before the date on which such delivery ohsojinion is require

pursuant to Section 7(n)

) Cowen Counsel Legal Opinioi€owen shall have received from Davis Polk & WasetWwLP, counse
for Cowen, such opinion or opinions, on or befdre date on which the delivery of the Company Colueg@l opinior
is required pursuant to Section 7(with respect
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to such matters as Cowen may reasonably requirm,tled Company shall have furnished to such coussel
documents as they request for enabling them toyga®s such matters.

(9) Comfort Letter. Cowen shall have received the Comfort Letter megluto be delivered pursui
Section 7(opn or before the date on which such delivery ohdDomfort Letter is required pursuant to Section) 7(

(h) Representation Certificat€€owen shall have received the certificate reguicebe delivered pursuz
to Section 7(mpn or before the date on which delivery of suchifteaite is required pursuant to Section 7(m)

(1) Secretars Certificate. On or prior to the First Delivery Date, Cowen lshave received a certifica
signed on behalf of the Company by its corporater&ary, in form and substance satisfactory to Gowaed it:
counsel.

()] No SuspensionTrading in the Common Stock shall not have bemspeanded on Nasdag.

(K) Other Materials On each date on which the Company is requiredktver a certificate pursuant
Section 7(m), the Company shall have furnished to Cowen sugirogpiate further information, certificates
documents as Cowen may have reasonably requedtezlich opinions, certificates, letters and othecuments she
have been in compliance with the provisions herébé Company will furnish Cowen with such conforntgies ¢
such opinions, certificates, letters and other doents as Cowen shall have reasonably requested.

()] Securities Act Filings MadeAll filings with the Commission required by Rud€4 under the Securiti
Act to have been filed prior to the issuance of &iggcement Notice hereunder shall have been mattenwthe
applicable time period prescribed for such filingRule 424.

(m) Approval for Listing The Placement Shares shall either have beepgipaed for listing on Nasde
subject only to notice of issuance, or (ii) the amy shall have filed an application for listingtbé Placement Sha
on Nasdagq at, or prior to, the issuance of anyePf@nt Notice.

(n) No Termination EventThere shall not have occurred any event that évpalmit Cowen to termine
this Agreement pursuant to Section 11(a)

9. Indemnification and Contribution

@) Company IndemnificationThe Company agrees to indemnify and hold harn@esgen, the directot
officers, partners, employees and agents of Cowereach person, if any, who (i) controls Cowen imitihe meanin
of Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 2the Exchange Act, or (ii) is controlled by onisder common contr
with Cowen (a “Cowen Affiliate ") from and against any and all losses, claims, lizsl expenses and dama
(including, but not limited to, any and all reasbleainvestigative, legal and other expenses indumeconnection witt
and any and all amounts paid in settlement (in @zswe with Section 9(g)of,
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any action, suit or proceeding between any of titemnified parties and any indemnifying partiesbetween an
indemnified party and any third party, or otherwise any claim asserted), as and when incurred;hich Cowen, ¢
any such person, may become subject under the itesuxct, the Exchange Act or other federal oteststatutory lay
or regulation, at common law or otherwise, ins@@aisuch losses, claims, liabilities, expenses wradas arise out of
are based, directly or indirectly, on (x) any uetsiatement or alleged untrue statement of a rahfadt contained

the Registration Statement or the Prospectus oraamgndment or supplement to the Registration Statemor th
Prospectus or in any free writing prospectus oang application or other document executed by obelmalf of th
Company or based on written information furnishgdbon behalf of the Company filed in any jurigdia in order t
gualify the Common Stock under the securities |dveseof or filed with the Commission, or (y) the ission or allege
omission to state in any such document a matex@lrequired to be stated in it or necessary toentlaé statements ir
not misleadingprovided, however, that this indemnity agreement shall not applyh® extent that such loss, cla
liability, expense or damage arises from the séléhe Placement Shares pursuant to this Agreemahtisacause
directly or indirectly by an untrue statement orission made in reliance upon and in conformity withitten
information relating to Cowen and furnished to tbempany by Cowen expressly for inclusion in anyutoent a
described in clause (x) of this Section 9(ajhis indemnity agreement will be in addition toyaliability that the
Company might otherwise have.

(b) Cowen IndemnificationCowen agrees to indemnify and hold harmless thragany and its directc
and each officer of the Company that signed theidRagjon Statement, and each person, if any, ihoo(trols th
Company within the meaning of Section 15 of theuiies Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act oxi@ controllec
by or is under common control with the Company @dmpany Affiliate ") against any and all loss, liability, cla
damage and expense described in the indemnity inedtan _Section 9(a) as incurred, but only with respect to un
statements or omissions, or alleged untrue statesm@n omissions, made in the Registration Statenfentany
amendments thereto) or the Prospectus (or any ameidor supplement thereto) in reliance upon ancbimformity
with written information relating to Cowen and fished to the Company by Cowen expressly for inolusn an
document as described in clause (x) of Section.9(a)

(©) Procedure Any party that proposes to assert the right tandemnified under this_Section \ill,
promptly after receipt of notice of commencemenay action against such party in respect of whidtaim is to b
made against an indemnifying party or parties urties Section 9, notify each such indemnifying party of
commencement of such action, enclosing a copylqiagders served, but the omission so to notify sadiemnifying
party will not relieve the indemnifying party fro() any liability that it might have to any indenfieid party otherwis
than under this Sectionghd (ii) any liability that it may have to any indeified party under the foregoing provisior
this Section Qinless, and only to the extent that, such omissaenlts in the forfeiture of substantive rightsdefense
by the indemnifying party. If any such action i®bght against any indemnified party and it notifies indemnifyin:
party of its commencement, the indemnifying partil lae entitled to participate in and, to the extémat it elects b
delivering written notice to the indemnified pagyomptly after receiving notice of the commencemanthe actio
from the indemnified party, jointly with any otherdemnifying party similarly notified, to assumestdefense of tt
action, with counsel reasonably satisfactory toitidemnified party,
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and after notice from the indemnifying party to timelemnified party of its election to assume thdedse, th
indemnifying party will not be liable to the indeified party for any legal or other expenses ex@spprovided belo
and except for the reasonable costs of investigatidsequently incurred by the indemnified partgannection wit
the defense. The indemnified party will have thghtito employ its own counsel in any such actiom, the fees
expenses and other charges of such counsel wét bee expense of such indemnified party unlesshidemploymel
of counsel by the indemnified party has been awthdrin writing by the indemnifying party, (2) tiedemnified part
has reasonably concluded (based on advice of chuthe¢ there may be legal defenses available toribthe
indemnified parties that are different from or ihd@ion to those available to the indemnifying pakB) a conflict o
potential conflict exists (based on advice of calirie the indemnified party) between the indemdifgarty and th
indemnifying party (in which case the indemnifyipgrty will not have the right to direct the defermdesuch action ¢
behalf of the indemnified party) or (4) the indefgimg party has not in fact employed counsel tawass the defense
such action within a reasonable time after recgivintice of the commencement of the action, in edalvhich case
the reasonable fees, disbursements and other shafgsunsel will be at the expense of the indeymmgf party o
parties. It is understood that the indemnifyingtpar parties shall not, in connection with any ggeding or relate
proceedings in the same jurisdiction, be liabletifigr reasonable fees, disbursements and othereshafgnore than ol
separate firm admitted to practice in such jurisdicat any one time for all such indemnified pawtyparties. All suc
fees, disbursements and other charges will be raiseldl by the indemnifying party promptly as theg ecurred afte
the indemnifying party receives a written invoietating to fees, disbursements and other chargesasonable dete
An indemnifying party will not, in any event, balile for any settlement of any action or claim e#d without it
written consent. No indemnifying party shall, withahe prior written consent of each indemnifiedtyasettle o
compromise or consent to the entry of any judgnreany pending or threatened claim, action or pedagg relating t
the matters contemplated by this Sectiofwdether or not any indemnified party is a partgréio), unless su
settlement, compromise or consent includes an wuhtional release of each indemnified party fromlialbility arising
or that may arise out of such claim, action or peating.

(d) Contribution. In order to provide for just and equitable cdmition in circumstances in which -
indemnification provided for in the foregoing paraghs of this Section i8 applicable in accordance with its terms
for any reason is held to be unavailable from tlenfany or Cowen, the Company and Cowen will coutelio th:
total losses, claims, liabilities, expenses andafges (including any investigative, legal and otlsgrenses reasona
incurred in connection with, and any amount paidettlement of, any action, suit or proceedingror elaim asserte
but after deducting any contribution received bg @ompany from persons other than Cowen, such @ wh
control the Company within the meaning of the Sidesr Act, officers of the Company who signed thegRtratiol
Statement and directors of the Company, who alsp Imealiable for contribution) to which the Compaayd Cowe
may be subject in such proportion as shall be gp@i® to reflect the relative benefits receivedhsy Company on tl
one hand and Cowen on the other. The relative lisrreteived by the Company on the one hand andeGaw th
other hand shall be deemed to be in the same propas the total Net Proceeds from the sale oPlaeement Shar
(before deducting expenses) received by the Compaay to the total compensation received by Cowem the sal
of Placement Shares on behalf of the Companyulfobly if, the allocation provided by the foreggieentence is n
permitted by

23

#86897608v8




applicable law, the allocation of contribution sz made in such proportion as is appropriateefieet not only th
relative benefits referred to in the foregoing sent but also the relative fault of the Companyth@one hand, a
Cowen, on the other, with respect to the statementsmission that resulted in such loss, claimjility, expense ¢
damage, or action in respect thereof, as well go#rer relevant equitable considerations with eespo such offerini
Such relative fault shall be determined by refeeetw, among other things, whether the untrue argetil untru
statement of a material fact or omission or allegenission to state a material fact relates to mftion supplied by tt
Company or Cowen, the intent of the parties and tieative knowledge, access to information angarfunity tc
correct or prevent such statement or omission.ddmpany and Cowen agree that it would not be jodtezjuitable

contributions pursuant to this Section 9¢@#re to be determined by pro rata allocation orahy other method

allocation that does not take into account thetable considerations referred to herein. The ampaitt or payable t
an indemnified party as a result of the loss, cldiability, expense, or damage, or action in respeereof, referred

above in this Section 9(dhall be deemed to include, for the purpose of S@stion 9(d) any legal or other expen:
reasonably incurred by such indemnified party inretion with investigating or defending any sucham or claim t
the extent consistent with Section 9f@reof. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisionstlut Section 9(d) Cower
shall not be required to contribute any amountdicess of the commissions received by it underAlgieement and r
person found guilty of fraudulent misrepresentajaithin the meaning of Section 11@f the Securities Act) will k
entitled to contribution from any person who was goilty of such fraudulent misrepresentation. parposes of th
Section 9(d), any person who controls a party to this Agreenwattiin the meaning of the Securities Act, and
officers, directors, partners, employees or agehtSowen, will have the same rights to contributamthat party, at
each officer of the Company who signed the RedistrtaStatement will have the same rights to contrdn as th
Company, subject in each case to the provisionsdfieAny party entitled to contribution, promptiftex receipt c
notice of commencement of any action against swety pn respect of which a claim for contributioraynbe mad
under this Section 9(d)will notify any such party or parties from whomntribution may be sought, but the omissic
so notify will not relieve that party or partie®fn whom contribution may be sought from any otHdigation it or the’
may have under this Section 9@Rcept to the extent that the failure to so natifigh other party materially prejudic
the substantive rights or defenses of the partyn frehom contribution is sought. Except for a setdaimentered in
pursuant to the last sentence of Section Bécgof, no party will be liable for contribution tvirespect to any action
claim settled without its written consent if su@nsent is required pursuant to Section &@reof.

10. Representations and Agreements to Survive Delivefyie indemnity and contribution agreem:
contained in Section 8f this Agreement and all representations and wéegs of the Company herein or in certific:
delivered pursuant hereto shall survive, as ofrthespective dates, regardless of (i) any investiganade by or c
behalf of Cowen, any controlling persons, or thenpany (or any of their respective officers, direstor controlling
persons), (ii) delivery and acceptance of the Pere Shares and payment therefor or (iii) any teatnon of thi
Agreement.

11. Termination.
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(@) Cowen shall have the right by giving notice heseinafter specified at any time to terminate
Agreement if (i) any Material Adverse Effect, oryadevelopment that could reasonably be expecteckgalt in
Material Adverse Effect, has occurred that, in b@sonable judgment of Cowen, may materially imgear ability o
Cowen to sell the Placement Shares hereundeth¢iilCompany shall have failed, refused or beenlartalperform an
agreement on its part to be performed hereunqevided, howevein the case of any failure of the Company to de
(or cause another person to deliver) any certiboatopinion, or letter required under _Sectiagtisn) , 7(n), or 7(0),
Cowens right to terminate shall not arise unless sugbrtato deliver (or cause to be delivered) congstor more the
thirty (30) days from the date such delivery waguieed; or (iii) any other condition of Cowenbbligations hereunc
is not fulfilled, or (iv), any suspension or limiian of trading in the Placement Shares or in s@eargenerally o
Nasdag shall have occurred. Any such terminatiail &ie without liability of any party to any othparty except th
the provisions of Section 7(dExpenses), Section @ndemnification and Contribution), Section {Representatiol
and Agreements to Survive Delivery), Section(Afplicable Law; Consent to Jurisdiction) and Saatl7(Waiver o
Jury Trial) hereof shall remain in full force anfleet notwithstanding such termination. If Cowerats to termina
this Agreement as provided in this Section 11(&pwen shall provide the required notice as spetiin Section 1.
(Notices).

(b) The Company shall have the right, by giving (#0) days notice as hereinafter specified to teate
this Agreement in its sole discretion at any tirfterathe date of this Agreement. Any such termorashall be withot
liability of any party to any other party excepaththe provisions of Section 7(g¥ection 9 Section 1Q Section 1Gnc
Section 17/ereof shall remain in full force and effect notwgitanding such termination.

(©) Cowen shall have the right, by giving ten (D@)ys notice as hereinafter specified to terminhis
Agreement in its sole discretion at any time aftex date of this Agreement. Any such terminatioallshe withou
liability of any party to any other party excepathhe provisions of Section 7(g$Hection 9 Section 1Q Section 1@nc
Section 17/ereof shall remain in full force and effect notwgitanding such termination.

(d) Unless earlier terminated pursuant to this iSecil, this Agreement shall automatically termir
upon the issuance and sale of all of the Place®keates through Cowen on the terms and subjecetodhditions s:
forth herein;providedthat the provisions of Section 7(g¥ection 9 Section 10 Section 1Gnd_Section 1Fhereof sha
remain in full force and effect notwithstanding Buermination.

(e) This Agreement shall remain in full force aritbet unless terminated pursuant to Sections 1,1(a),
(c), or (d)above or otherwise by mutual agreement of the g@mrovided, howeverthat any such termination
mutual agreement shall in all cases be deemedaddar that_Section 7(g) Section 9, Section 10, Section 16anc
Section 17shall remain in full force and effect. Upon terntina of this Agreement, the Company shall not hawg
liability to Cowen for any discount, commission other compensation with respect to any PlacemeateShnc
otherwise sold by Cowen under this Agreement, exedf respect to reimbursement of expenses putdoddection 7

(9).
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) Any termination of this Agreement shall be efiee on the date specified in such notice of teation
provided, howeveithat such termination shall not be effective uthté close of business on the date of receipt df
notice by Cowen or the Company, as the case maif bach termination shall occur prior to the Satient Date fc
any sale of Placement Shares, such Placement 3eiésettle in accordance with the provisionthef Agreement.

12.  Notices. All notices or other communications required errpitted to be given by any party to any o
party pursuant to the terms of this Agreement dbalin writing, unless otherwise specified in tAigreement, and
sent to Cowen, shall be delivered to Cowen at Coamh Company, LLC, 599 Lexington Avenue, New Ydky
10022, fax no. 646-562124, Attention: General Counsel; or if sent to @@mpany, shall be delivered to Reve
Therapeutics, Inc., 7555 Gateway Boulevard, New@lifornia 94560 fax no. (510) 74401, attention: Laure
Silvernail, with a copy to Cooley LLP, fax no. (§5849-7400, attention: Gordon K. Ho. Each party to thggdemer
may change such address for notices by sendirgetpdrties to this Agreement written notice of & aeldress for sus
purpose. Each such notice or other communicatiail bb deemed given (i) when delivered personailipyoverifiable
facsimile transmission (with an original to followh or before 4:30 p.m., New York City time, on asiess Day (:
defined below), or, if such day is not a Busineay bn the next succeeding Business Day, (ii) omthé Business D:
after timely delivery to a nationally-recognizedeonight courier and (iii) on the BusineBgy actually received
deposited in the U.S. mail (certified or registenadil, return receipt requested, postage prepé&iat).purposes of tk
Agreement, “Business Day’ shall mean any day on which the NYSE and commebaaks in the City of New Yo
are open for business.

13. Successors and Assign$his Agreement shall inure to the benefit of &edbinding upon the Compe
and Cowen and their respective successors andffth@tes, controlling persons, officers and direxs referred to i
Section Shereof. References to any of the parties contaméis Agreement shall be deemed to include tlheessor
and permitted assigns of such party. Nothing ia &greement, express or implied, is intended tdexampon any par
other than the parties hereto or their respectiveeessors and permitted assigns any rights, res)eoldigations ¢
liabilities under or by reason of this Agreementcept as expressly provided in this Agreement. idgiparty ma
assign its rights or obligations under this Agreemaithout the prior written consent of the otherty; provided,
however, that Cowen may assign its rights and obligatibeseunder to an affiliate of Cowen without obtagniie
Company’s consent.

14. Adjustments for Share Splits The parties acknowledge and agree that all stedaéed numbe
contained in this Agreement shall be adjusted ke tato account any share split, share dividendionilar ever
effected with respect to the Common Stock.

15. Entire Agreement; Amendment; Severabilityrhis Agreement (including all schedules and eix$
attached hereto and Placement Notices issued pursaeeto) constitutes the entire agreement andrsages all oth
prior and contemporaneous agreements and undegtaloth written and oral, among the parties hengtio regard t
the subject matter hereof. Neither this Agreememtany term hereof may be amended except pursoaatviritter
instrument executed by the Company and Cowen.dretlent that any one or more of the provisionsanat hereir
or the application thereof in any circumstancéall invalid, illegal or unenforceable as writtgnabcourt of compete
jurisdiction, then such provision shall be gi
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full force and effect to the fullest possible exttémat it is valid, legal and enforceable, and tenainder of the terr
and provisions herein shall be construed as if sondilid, illegal or unenforceable term or provisiwas not containe
herein, but only to the extent that giving effeztsuch provision and the remainder of the termsgangisions here«
shall be in accordance with the intent of the parés reflected in this Agreement.

16. Applicable Law; Consent to JurisdictionThis Agreement shall be governed by, and condtin
accordance with, the internal laws of the Stat®lefv York without regard to the principles of coof$ of laws. Eac
party hereby irrevocably submits to the rexclusive jurisdiction of the state and federalrt®sitting in the City ¢
New York, borough of Manhattan, for the adjudicatmf any dispute hereunder or in connection withh sansactio
contemplated hereby, and hereby irrevocably wamed,agrees not to assert in any suit, actionargading, any clai
that it is not personally subject to the jurisaatiof any such court, that such suit, action oceealing is brought in
inconvenient forum or that the venue of such sadtjon or proceeding is improper. Each party heretgvocabl
waives personal service of process and consenpsoiess being served in any such suit, action ocgading b
mailing a copy thereof (certified or registered Imeaturn receipt requested) to such party at thdress in effect fc
notices to it under this Agreement and agreessihett service shall constitute good and sufficientise of process a
notice thereof. Nothing contained herein shall berded to limit in any way any right to serve precgsany manni
permitted by law.

17.  Waiver of Jury Trial The Company and Cowen each hereby irrevocablyegany right it may have
a trial by jury in respect of any claim based umonarising out of this Agreement or any transactomtemplate
hereby.

18.  Absence of Fiduciary Relationshiffhe Company acknowledges and agrees that:

@) Cowen has been retained solely to act as aglest in connection with the sale of the Commorck
and that no fiduciary, advisory or agency relatiopdetween the Company and Cowen has been createdpect ¢
any of the transactions contemplated by this Agexgmrrespective of whether Cowen has advised @dvising th
Company on other matters;

(b) the Company is capable of evaluating and utaedsng and understands and accepts the terms
and conditions of the transactions contemplatethisyAgreement;

(c) the Company has been advised that Cowen aatfiliates are engaged in a broad range of tramss
which may involve interests that differ from thasfethe Company and that Cowen has no obligatiodigolose suc
interests and transactions to the Company by vofuy fiduciary, advisory or agency relationskapp

(d) the Company waives, to the fullest extent ptediby law, any claims it may have against Covier
breach of fiduciary duty or alleged breach of fidug duty and agrees that Cowen shall have nalilialfiwhether direc
or indirect) to the Company in respect of suchdadiary claim or to any person asserting a fidyc@uty claim ol
behalf of or in right of the Company, including&tbolders, partners, employees or creditors ofQepany.
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19. Counterparts This Agreement may be executed in two or morentaparts, each of which shall
deemed an original, but all of which together slealhstitute one and the same instrument. Delivérgnoexecute
Agreement by one party to the other may be madadsimile transmission.

20. Definitions. As used in this Agreement, the following term tres meaning set forth below:

@) “ Applicable Tim& means the date of this Agreement, each Represaniaate, the date on whicl
Placement Notice is given, and any date on whielséthent Shares are sold hereunder.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Blank]
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If the foregoing correctly sets forth the underdiag between the Company and Cowen, please saaiedit th
space provided below for that purpose, whereup@ndtter shall constitute a binding agreement betwthe Compai
and Cowen.

Very truly yours,

COWEN AND COMPANY, LLC

By: _/s/ Grant Miller
Name: Grant Miller
Title: Managing Director

ACCEPTED as of the date
first-above written:

REVANCE THERAPEUTICS, INC.
By: _/s/ L. Daniel Browne

Name: L. Daniel Browne
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
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SCHEDULE 1

FORM OF PLACEMENT NOTICE

From: [

Cc: [

To: [ ‘

Subject:  Cowen at the Market Offering—Placeniéoiice

Gentlemen:

Pursuant to the terms and subject to the condittmméained in the Sales Agreement between Revaheeapeutic:
Inc. (the “_.Company), and Cowen and Company, LLC (* Cow®ndated March 4, 2015 (the_* Agreeméint| hereby
request on behalf of the Company that Cowen selbyg shares of the Comparsytommon stock, par value $0.001
share, at a minimum market price of $ pareshSales should begin on the date of this Naiiog sha
continue until [DATE] [all shares are sold].
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SCHEDULE 2

Such individuals as the Board of Directors of ttmrpany may authorize, following authorization oflsiPlacement
Notice by the Board of Directors or a duly authedzommittee therea

#86897608v8




SCHEDULE 3

Compensation

Cowen shall be paid compensation equal to 3% ofitbes proceeds from the sales of Common Stoclupntgo the
terms of this Agreement.
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SCHEDULE 4

Schedule Of Subsidiaries

Name Jurisdiction of Organization
Revance Therapeutics LTD England and Wales
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Exhibit 7(n)(i)

MATTERS TO BE COVERED BY INITIAL OPINION OF
Cooley LLP

[Circulated Separately]
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Exhibit 7(n)(ii)

Matters to be covered by Opinion of Cooley LLP

[Circulated Separately]
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Exhibit 7(m)

OFFICER CERTIFICATE

The undersigned, the duly qualified and elected , ®evance Therapeutics, Inc.(*
Company”), a Delaware corporation, does hereby certify in stegbacity and on behalf of the Company, pursue
Section 7(m)f the Sales Agreement dated March 4, 2015 (tBalés Agreement) between the Company and Co\
and Company, LLC, that to the best of the knowlealgdae undersigned:

(i) The representations and warranties of then@any in_Section ©f the Sales Agreement (A) to the ex
such representations and warranties are subjepidlifications and exceptions contained thereiatie) to materialit
or Material Adverse Effect, are true and correctaml as of the date hereof with the same force edfett as i
expressly made on and as of the date hereof, exgefitose representations and warranties thatkspelely as of
specific date and which were true and correct asuoh date, and (B) to the extent such representatind warranti
are not subject to any qualifications or excepti@me true and correct in all material respectsfabe date hereof as
made on and as of the date hereof with the same ford effect as if expressly made on and as afdtehereof exce
for those representations and warranties that spalaky as of a specific date and which were tmnek @rrect as of su
date; and

(i) The Company has complied with all agreemseantd satisfied all conditions on its part to begrened o
satisfied pursuant to the Sales Agreement at or pithe date hereof.

By:

Name:
Title:

Date:
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémt¢lee Registration Statement on Form8$Nos. 333- 193963 and 333-198499) of
Revance Therapeutics Inc. of our report dated Mar@015 relating to the financial statements, Whippears in this Form 18.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, California

March 4, 2015



CERTIFICATIONS

[, L. Daniel Browne, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fRevance Therapeutics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or dmn#ttate a material fact necessary to mak
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegoks presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintainiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedorecaused such disclosure controls and procsdorge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig toeriod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financégarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargading the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with geneeabepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presenteisi report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thegggnt's internal control over financial reportititat occurred during the registramthos
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourthdisguarter in the case of an annual report) thatnhaterially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intexl control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) alndave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmiifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 4, 2015

/sl L. Daniel Browne

L. Daniel Browne

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




CERTIFICATIONS

I, Lauren P. Silvernail, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fRevance Therapeutics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or dmn#ttate a material fact necessary to mak
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegoks presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintainiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedorecaused such disclosure controls and procsdorge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig toeriod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financégarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargading the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with geneeabepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presenteisi report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thegggnt's internal control over financial reportititat occurred during the registramthos
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourthdisguarter in the case of an annual report) thatnhaterially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intexl control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) alndave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmiifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 4, 2015

/sl Lauren P. Silvernalil
Lauren P. Silvernalil

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to the requirement set forth in Rule 18@lof the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, asrated (the “Exchange Act”), and
Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the Udiftates Code (18 U.S.C. §1350), L. Daniel Brov@teef Executive Officer of Revance
Therapeutics, Inc. (the “Company”), hereby cerifibat, to the best of his knowledge:

1. The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for tleeigd ended December 31, 2014 (the “Annual Repaxt"hich this
Certification is attached as Exhibit 32.1,fully colies with the requirements of Section 13(a) orti®ecl5(d) of the Exchange Act,
and

2. The information contained in the Annual Reportlfapresents, in all material respects, the finanmiadition and results of operatio

of the Company.

In Witness Whereof, the undersigned has set his hand hereto as df'ith@y of March, 2015.

/s/ L. Daniel Browne
L. Daniel Browne
President and Chief Executive Officer

“This certification accompanies the Form 10-K toiethit relates, is not deemed filed with the Seiesiand Exchange Commission and is not
to be incorporated by reference into any filindR@vance Therapeutics, Inc. under the SecuritieoAt933, as amended, or the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether madedefafter the date of the Form K- irrespective of any general incorporation laage
contained in such filing.”



CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to the requirement set forth in Rule 18@lof the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, asrated (the “Exchange Act”), and
Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the Udiftates Code (18 U.S.C. §1350), Lauren P. SilMe@hief Financial Officer of Revance
Therapeutics, Inc. (the “Company”), hereby cersifibat, to the best of her knowledge:

1. The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for tleeigd ended December 31, 2014 (the “Annual Repaxt"hich this
Certification is attached as Exhibit 32.2,fully cplies with the requirements of Section 13(a) orti®ecl5(d) of the Exchange Act,
and

2. The information contained in the Annual Reportlfapresents, in all material respects, the finanmiadition and results of operatio

of the Company.

In Witness Whereof, the undersigned has set her hand hereto as df"ttey of March, 2015.

/s/ Lauren P. Silvernail
Lauren P. Silvernail
Chief Financial Officer

“This certification accompanies the Form 10-K toiethit relates, is not deemed filed with the Seiesiand Exchange Commission and is not
to be incorporated by reference into any filindR@vance Therapeutics, Inc. under the SecuritieoAt933, as amended, or the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether madedefafter the date of the Form K- irrespective of any general incorporation laage
contained in such filing.”



